



University of Groningen

Catalytic asymmetric synthesis of heterocycles

Teichert, Johannes Florian

IMPORTANT NOTE: You are advised to consult the publisher's version (publisher's PDF) if you wish to cite from it. Please check the document version below.

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Publication date: 2011

Link to publication in University of Groningen/UMCG research database

Citation for published version (APA): Teichert, J. F. (2011). Catalytic asymmetric synthesis of heterocycles Groningen: University of Groningen

Copyright Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download or to forward/distribute the text or part of it without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license (like Creative Commons).

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Downloaded from the University of Groningen/UMCG research database (Pure): http://www.rug.nl/research/portal. For technical reasons the number of authors shown on this cover page is limited to 10 maximum.

Catalytic Asymmetric Synthesis of Heterocycles

Johannes Florian Teichert

The work described in this thesis was carried out at the Stratingh Institute for Chemistry, Groningen, The Netherlands.

The work was financially supported by the Dutch National Research School Combination Catalysis Controlled by Chemical Design (NRSC-Catalysis).

Printed by: Ipskamp Drukkers, Enschede, The Netherlands

Cover design: Photograph taken by Nopporn Ruangsupapichat. Artwork by Pieter Bos.

RIJKSUNIVERSITEIT GRONINGEN

Catalytic Asymmetric Synthesis of Heterocycles

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van het doctoraat in de Wiskunde en Natuurwetenschappen aan de Rijksuniversiteit Groningen op gezag van de Rector Magnificus, dr. E. Sterken, in het openbaar te verdedigen op vrijdag 25 maart 2011 om 16.15 uur

door

Johannes Florian Teichert

geboren op 7 juli 1980 te Hamburg, Duitsland

Promotor	:	Prof. dr. B. L. Feringa
Beoordelingscommissie	:	Prof. dr. G. Helmchen Prof. dr. Ir. A. J. Minnaard Prof. dr. J. G. Roelfes

"Scientists are a friendly, atheistic, hard-working, beer-drinking lot whose minds are preoccupied with sex, chess and baseball when they are not preoccupied with science."

Yann Martel, Life of Pi

Table of contents	
Chapter 1 – Introduction	1
1. Chiral Heterocycles	2
2. Synthetic approaches to chiral heterocycles	3
3. Asymmetric transition metal-catalyzed reactions	3
4. Synthesis of chiral heterocycles with phosphoramidite ligands	4
4.1 Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition reactions	4
4.2 Asymmetric allylic substitution reactions	7
4.3 Miscellaneous reactions	15
5. Aim and outline of this thesis	17
6. References	18
Chapter 2 - Catalytic Asymmetric Synthesis of 2,5-Naphthylpyrrolidine	23
1. Introduction	24
2. Goal	28
3. Results and Discussion	30
3.1 Synthesis of starting materials	30
3.2 Ir-catalyzed double allylic amination	31
3.3 Ring-closing metathesis to give chiral pyrrolines	33
3.4 Reduction of the double bond	34
3.5 Synthesis of the corresponding phosphoramidite ligands	38
4. Conclusions	39
5. Experimental section	39
6. References	46
Chapter 3 - Iridium-catalyzed allylic amidation - Asymmetric Synthesis of Tetrahydroisoquinolines and Saturated <i>N</i> -Heterocycles	49
1. Introduction	50
1.1 Tetrahydroisoquinolines	50
1.2 Synthetic approaches to chiral tetrahydroisoquinolines	51
2. Goal	53
3. Results and Discussion	54
3.1 Synthetic approach	54

3.2 Synthesis of starting materials	55
3.3 Catalyst optimization	58
3.4 Substrate scope	62
3.5 Deprotection of the trifluoroacetamide	67
3.6 Application of chiral tetrahydroisoquinolines in synthesis	68
3.7 Intermolecular allylic amidation	73
4. Conclusions and Future prospects	74
5. Experimental Section	75
6. References	90
Chapter 4 - Synthetic Approaches towards β-Carbolines	95
1. Introduction	96
2. Goal	99
3. Results and discussion	99
3.1 The direct allylic amination approach	100
3.2 The allylic amidation approach	111
4. Conclusions	120
5. Experimental section	121
6. References	134
Chapter 5 - Asymmetric Allylic Alkylation in Combination with Ring- Closing Metathesis for the Preparation of chiral <i>N</i> -Heterocycles	137
1. Introduction	138
2. Goal	142
3. Results and Discussion	143
3.1 Synthesis of starting materials	143
3.2 Cu-catalyzed allylic alkylation of allyl bromides bearing terminal olefins substituents	145
3.3 Cu-catalyzed allylic alkylation of allyl bromides bearing terminal alkyne substituents	146
3.4 Cu-catalyzed allylic alkylation of cinnamide 44	147
3.5 Ring-closing metathesis of chiral diolefins	150
3.6 Ring-closing ene-yne metathesis of chiral terminal alkynes	151

3.7 Role of the ethene atmosphere for the ene-yne metathesis	153
3.8 Ring-closing metathesis for the synthesis of a chiral lactam	154
4. Conclusions and future prospects	155
5. Experimental Section	157
6. References	170
Chapter 6 - Catalytic Asymmetric Conjugate Addition of Grignard Reagents to Coumarins – Synthesis of Versatile Chiral Building Blocks	173
1. Introduction	174
1.1 Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition of organometallic reagents	174
1.2 Asymmetric Cu-catalyzed conjugate reduction reactions	174
 1.3 Rh-catalyzed asymmetric conjugate addition of boronic acids to coumarins 	' 176
2. Goal	177
3. Results and Discussion	178
3.1 Catalyst screening and optimization	178
3.2 Scope of Grignard reagents	181
3.3 Coumarin Scope	183
3.4 Synthesis of coumarins	185
3.5 Trapping of intermediates / nucleophilic ring opening	186
4. Conclusion and Future Prospects	187
5. Experimental section	188
6. References	200
Chapter 7 - Ni-catalyzed Reductive Coupling Reactions – Application of Phosphoramidite Ligands bearing chiral <i>N</i> -Heterocycles	203
1. Introduction	204
2. Goal	207
3. Results and Discussion	210
3.1 Initial screening results	210
3.3 Screening of reducing agents	213
3.4 Screening of solvents	215

3.5 Ligand screening	216
3.6 Mechanistic studies	222
4. Conclusions and Future Prospects	230
5. Experimental Section	231
6. References	232
English Summary	235
Nederlandse Samenvatting	239
Deutsche Zusammenfassung	243
Acknowledgements	247

Chapter 1 Asymmetric Synthesis of Chiral Heterocycles

A selection of enantioselective synthetic approaches to chiral heterocycles is presented. The focus lies on catalytic asymmetric transformations with transition metal catalysts. Chiral phosphoramidite ligands serve as the vantage point as they have been applied to a wide variety of asymmetric catalytic reactions.

Parts of this chapter have been published: Teichert, J.F.; Feringa, B.L. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2010**, *49*, 2486 - 2528.

1. Chiral Heterocycles

Many naturally occuring compounds with biological activity posess chiral heterocycles as structural elements. Some illustrative examples are displayed in Figure 1. Laurenditerpenol (1), containing a bicyclic tetrahydrofuran moiety, was found to be a small molecule suppressor of tumor growth in human breast tumor cells.^{1,2} The substituted chiral piperidine alkaloid³ coniin (2) is a potent neurotoxin which acts by blocking the nicotinic receptor in the post-synaptic membrane.⁴ Complex opoid alkaloid morphine (3) is used as a potent painkiller.⁴ It posesses both a nitrogen- and an oxygen-containing heterocycle. Artemisinin (4) bears a rare example of a naturally occuring peroxide, which is key to its anti-malarial activity, even though the exact mode of action is still subject of discussion.⁵⁻⁹ Finally, synthetic chiral piperidine paroxetine (5) is a selective serotonine reuptake inhibitor antidepressant (SSRI), and one of the 100 best selling drugs worldwide.^{10,11}



Figure 1 Some biologically active compounds bearing chiral heterocycles

The broad range of biological activites of chiral heterocyclic compounds makes them valuable and interesting targets for organic synthesis, both from the industrial as well as academic perspective. On the one hand, large-scale and cost-effective synthesis is of major interest, whereas on the other hand, method-development or structural confirmation might be the main focus of researchers. This holds true not only for naturally occuring products, but also for synthetic analogues thereof or *de novo* designed biologically active compounds.

2. Synthetic approaches to chiral heterocycles

When the synthesis of a chiral molecule, for example a chiral heterocyclic structure, is envisaged, a variety of approaches can be followed to introduce the stereogenic centers.¹²⁻¹⁴ The most common include racemic synthesis followed by separation of enantiomers, synthesis based on the chiral pool or enantioselective synthesis.¹⁵⁻¹⁸ Each of these approaches has its advantages and there is no general gold-standard. Rather, the strategic use and combination of these methods, before the background of cost-effectiveness and synthetic difficulty, seems to be the ideal approach to a particular target.¹⁹⁻²¹ In the following, the focus shall be on of the major approaches to enantioselective synthesis, namely asymmetric catalysis.

3. Asymmetric transition metal-catalyzed reactions

The field of asymmetric transition metal-catalysis is wide,¹⁵ and has been recognized by the 2001 chemistry Nobel prize,²²⁻²⁴ which awarded the development of "*chirally catalyzed*" reactions.²⁵ The notion of introducing stereogenic centers using metal-catalysts bearing chiral ligands has some advantages: Ideally, a very small amount of chiral catalyst is sufficient for the synthesis of a large quantity of a chiral product. In the case where both enantiomers of the chiral catalyst of interest are available, both enantiomers of the desired product can be synthesized selectively. Catalyst optimization by ligand screening opens up the possibility to quickly select, optimize and improve the asymmetric transformation.

Over the years, some so-called "privileged ligands" have emerged, which can be successfully applied to many different asymmetric transformations.²⁶ In the following section, asymmetric catalysis with chiral phosphoramidite ligands will be discussed. On the one hand, this showcases the versatility of this class of ligands, which can partly be attributed to their modular setup and the resulting facile diversification. On the other hand, as these types of ligands have been applied to a wide variety of reactions,²⁷⁻³² they serve as a good example and overview for the wide applicability and synthetic usefulness of asymmetric transition metal catalysis in general. In the following section, some applications of phosphoramidites in the synthesis of key chiral building blocks for the synthesis of chiral heterocycles will be discussed.

4. Synthesis of chiral heterocycles with phosphoramidite ligands

In this section, a selection of catalytic asymmetric transformations is presented, which are based on phosphoramidite-transition metal complexes as chiral catalysts for the synthesis of chiral heterocycles. This section is subdivided by reaction mechanisms; starting off with the Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition reaction (see section 4.1). This transformation employs organometallic reagents as carbon nucleophiles, therefore it mostly makes use of heterocycles are envisaged. A different approach can be taken when the allylic substitution reaction is chosen (see section 4.2): especially the Ir-catalyzed allylic substitution, which accepts a wide variety of heterocycles. Other than the transition metal-catalyzed conjugate addition, which is mainly restricted to the use of carbon nucleophiles, the heteroatom can be introduced directly through this methodology and has led to many examples of syntheses of chiral heterocycles (*vide infra*). Finally, a selection of asymmetric catalytic approaches based on other mechanisms is discussed (section 4.3).

4.1 Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition reactions

The asymmetric conjugate addition reaction ranks among the most studied synthetic transformation in the last decades.³³⁻³⁷ Especially the development of an effective enantioselective copper-catalyzed conjugate addition of organometallic reagents has for a long time been a major challenge in synthetic chemistry.^{27,38-43} In this transformation, the nucleophile is transferred to the β-position of an α ,β-unsaturated system **6** (*e.g.* an enone) to yield a stabilized carbanion **7** (Scheme 1). This intermediate can subsequently be protonated, yielding β-chiral product **8** or it can be quenched by addition of another electrophile to provide chiral compounds **9** with vicinal stereocenters.



Scheme 1 Conjugate addition

A well-known problem that had to be overcome was the high affinity of organometallic reagents towards the 1,2-addition directly to the electron withdrawing group. This catalytic asymmetric conjugate addition methodology has successfully been developed for a wide variety of substrates (*e.g.* enones, α , β -unsaturated esters, nitroalkenes, etc.) and organometallic nucleophiles (Grignard reagents, organozinc, and -aluminium compounds) and furthermore has been applied to numerous natural product syntheses.^{33-40,44} Two representative examples are discussed in the following section.

Asymmetric synthesis of chiral heterocycles bearing quaternary centers

The copper-catalyzed conjugate addition of diethylzinc to enones was applied to derivatives of Meldrum's acid, yielding derivatives of β -substituted carboxylic acids.⁴⁵ This transformation was extended to arylalkylidene derivatives of Meldrum's acid **10**, carrying two substituents at the olefin moiety (Scheme 2).⁴⁶ With phosphoramidite ligand **L1** the addition products **11** were obtained in excellent yields and *ee* values up to 95%. This reaction furnishes an attractive route for the synthesis of chiral quaternary carbon atoms⁴⁷⁻⁵³ and has recently been applied to the asymmetric synthesis of chiral succinimides **12** and chiral γ -butyrolactones **13** and **14**.⁵⁴



Scheme 2 Conjugate addition to derivatives of Meldrum's acid

Asymmetric synthesis of myrtine

The copper-catalyzed asymmetric conjugate addition reaction with trialkylaluminum reagents to enones^{28,55-62} has been applied in the first catalytic asymmetric synthesis of the alkaloid myrtine (**17**),⁶³ which has been isolated from heather plants⁶⁴ (Scheme 3). For the key step, introducing the first stereogenic center, a copper-catalyzed addition of trimethylaluminum to **15** with phosphoramidite ligand **L2** was employed to achieve high yields and stereoselectivites. The conjugate addition product **16** was formed with excellent enantioselectivity.



Scheme 3 Catalytic enantioselective synthesis of myrtine

4.2 Asymmetric allylic substitution reactions

The allylic substitution, especially the methodology based upon palladium catalysis, is a reaction of major significance for the generation of chiral, multifunctional building blocks and ranks among the key transformations for organic synthesis.65-71 One of the typical features of the palladium-catalyzed reaction is that 'soft' nucleophiles such as malonates are transferred directly to the allyl-complex 19, whereas 'hard' nucleophiles like organozinc or Grignard reagents are proposed as being transmetalated to palladium to give allyl-palladium complex 20 prior to C-C bond formation (Scheme 4).^{70,71} Thus a different outcome for the products 21/22 of the substitution reaction occurs for the different types of nucleophiles. Contrary to the conjugate addition reactions (vide supra), the phosphoramidite to metal ratio required for the best results in terms of enantioselectivity is 1:1, not depending on which metal is employed as catalyst (Cu, Ir or Pd). It should be noted that the leaving group in the allylic substitutions is different for the various catalytic systems. Whereas the Cu/phosphoramidite catalysts perform best with allylic halides (CI or Br),^{37,72} the related Cu/ferrocenyl-based bisphosphine catalysts³⁵ strictly require bromides as leaving groups for best performance. Asymmetric allylic substitutions with chiral Cu/NHC complexes employ allylic phosphonates as leaving groups⁷³; Pd-catalyzed allylic substitutions generally use allylic acetates, carbonates or benzoates^{65,66,68-71} and the Ir/phosphoramidite catalysts give the best results with allylic carbonates.⁷⁴ This sensitivity with regard to the leaving group in allylic substitution reactions could stem from the different structural requirements of the catalysts as well as from the different acidities of the various leaving groups.



Scheme 4 Allylic substitution

Pd-catalyzed allylic substitutions

The Tsuji-Trost palladium-catalyzed allylic substitution is a well-established transformation to yield important, multifunctional chiral building blocks for organic synthesis and has been the key step in numerous total syntheses.^{65,66,68-71} In recent years, phosphoramidite ligands have been applied to these palladium-catalyzed reactions.

Asymmetric total synthesis of γ-lycorane

The highest enantioselectivities so far with the Pd/phosphoramidite catalytic system in allylic substitutions were obtained in the desymmetrization reactions of dibenzoylcyclohexene **23** (Scheme 5).⁷⁵ In order to synthesize the naturally occuring alkaloid γ -lycorane **26**, malonate derivative **24** was employed as carbon nucleophile. With phosphoramidite ligand L3, excellent *ee* values up to 99% for cyclohexene **25**, a key precursor to **26**, were reached. Unfortunately, the stereogenic center of the malonate moiety could not be installed with high diasteroselectivity due to epimerization.



Scheme 5 Desymmetrization based on Pd-catalyzed allylic substitution

Pd-catalyzed [3+2] trimethylenemethane cycloadditons

The closely related palladium-catalyzed [3+2] cycloaddition of a trimethylenemethane unit is a marvellous and extremely useful transformation to provide 5-membered cyclic compounds and the development of an asymmetric variant has long been a highly warranted goal.⁷⁶

Recently, an asymmetric Pd-catalyzed [3+2] trimethylenemethane cycloaddition of 3-acetoxy-2-trimethylsilyl-methylpropene 27 to various Michael acceptors 28 in the presence of phosphoramidite ligands was disclosed.⁷⁷ The application of phosphoramidites to this particular transformation marks a major breakthrough, as catalysts based on these chiral ligands achieve for the first time high enantioselectivities. The reaction mechanism is noteworthy, as it combines transition-metal chemistry, through metal-allyl species, with the 1,3-dipolar cycloaddtions. The mechanism can be exemplified with the transformation depicted in Scheme 6. Substituted allyl acetate 27 can form a Pd-allyl complex through oxidative addition, the leaving group (in this case the acetate) is reacting further, and attacks the TMS group. The Si-C bond is then cleaved, leaving zwitterionic complex **29** behind. This carbanion, together with the positively charged Pd-allyl moiety, now forms the 1,3-dipolar partner for the subsequent cycloaddition with an olefin (28) or another unsaturated substrate. This reaction gave important multifunctionalised. chiral cyclopentanes 30 in good overall vields and enantioselectivities (up to 84%, 84% ee). However, further research is needed to improve the enantioselectivities for these transformations. **L4** proved to be the preferred ligand for this transformation (Scheme 6). The choice of ligand proved to be crucial in order to create the steric constraints at the palladium catalyst required for high selectivities (compare also Chapter 2) in the outer-sphere addition⁷⁶ distal from the coordinating ligand of the intermediate **29** to the olefin. Equally good results were obtained for the reaction with aryl- and alkylidene tetralones as Michael acceptors as well as with imines.⁷⁸



Scheme 6 Pd-catalyzed [3+2] trimethylenemethane cycloaddition

This method was successfully extended to accomplish the synthesis of important intermediates including spirocyclic oxindole cyclopentanes **33** and **34**.⁷⁹ Oxindoles **31** were reacted with allylic acetate **32** to yield the spirocyclic compounds **33** and **34** in excellent yields and stereoselectivities (up to 99% *ee*) (Scheme 7). Just as in the aforementioned example, the choice of the phosphoramidite ligand proved to be critical. With 1-naphthyl-pyrrolidine-derived **L6**, compound **33** was the favoured product (reaching diastereoselectivities **33/34**: >20:1), whereas with the 2-naphthyl-derived ligand **L5** diastereoisomer **34** (**33/34**: 1:6) was obtained. The authors claim that the origin of this selectivity lies in the different steric demands of the two ligands that results in a different approach of **31** to the intermediate palladium-complex either from the *re* or the *si* face.



Scheme 7 Pd-catalyzed [3+2] cycloaddition with oxindole substrates

Ir-catalyzed allylic substitutions

Iridium-catalyzed substitution reactions have gained much attention over the last years.^{74,80-83} In fact, next to the copper-catalyzed conjugate addition, the iridium-catalyzed allylic substitution has been one of the most prominent reactions in general for which phosphoramidite ligands were applied. The first appearance of this reaction employing phosphoramidites as chiral ligands was as early as 1999, when the iridium-catalyzed allylic alkylation of allylic acetates **35** (LG = OAc) with sodium malonates to form **36** was reported (Scheme 8).⁸⁴ Although, with some exceptions, low enantioselectivities were observed at that time, the transformation set the stage for numerous important iridium-based methods developed in recent years. One important feature of the iridium-catalyzed allylic substitution is that it allows for the application of carbon-, oxygen-, sulfur- as well as nitrogen-based nucleophiles to give **36** to **38** (Scheme 8); even ammonia can be employed as nitrogen-nucleophile.⁸⁵⁻⁹¹



Scheme 8 Ir-catalyzed allylic substitution

Mechanistic studies and identification of the active Ir catalyst

Elaborate studies of this transformation were carried out, focussing on the origin of regio- and stereoselectivity as well as on the influence of different phosphoramidite ligands.^{92,93} However, the reaction mechanism and the active species involved remained largely unclear, and the desired optically active products were only obtained when LiCl was employed as an additive. The presence of halide ions ensured fast σ - π isomerization of the intermediate Ir-allyl complex,^{94,95} and thus higher control of the stereoselectivity by the chiral phosphoramidite ligand. It was not until 2003 that the non-innocence of the amine moiety of the phosphoramidite ligand L1 was discovered when studying the related allylic amination and etherification reaction,^{96,97} thus paving the way for more sophisticated catalyst desian.98 These investigations showed that, under basic conditions. phosphoramidite ligand (S,S,S)-L1 forms iridacycle **39** from the iridium(I) precursor via a C-H activation of a methyl group in the amine moiety of the phosphoramidite (Scheme 9). Remarkable is the fact that only the (S,S,S)-L1 diastereoisomer undergoes this activation and can subsequently serve as a good catalyst for the iridium-catalyzed allylic substitution reaction. This is in contrast to the conjugate addition reactions (vide supra), where the (S,R,R)-L1 isomer was the preferred ligand.



Scheme 9 Cyclometalation of L1

Since the allylic substitution furnishes a stereogenic center with a heteroatom and a neighbouring terminal double bond, ideal starting points for further synthesis, the transformation with *O*- or *N*-nucleophiles is perfectly suited to be applied in the synthesis of chiral heterocycles. This has been demonstrated by a variety of total syntheses which rely on the Ir-catalyzed allylic substitution methodology as key steps.⁹⁹⁻¹⁰⁵ Some target molecules are depicted in Figure 2, two representative syntheses are discussed in more detail below (see Scheme 10 and Scheme 11).



43 prostaglandin TEI-9826



Asymmetric synthesis of nicotine

A total synthesis of nicotine (47) was reported based on the allylic amination as the key step to introduce the desired chiral amine (Scheme 10).¹⁰⁶ In this synthetic route, allylic carbonate 44 was reacted with allylamine 45 in the presence of an iridium/phosphoramidite catalytic system to give the corresponding chiral diallylamine 46. With ligand $L7^{107}$ allylic amine 46 was formed in moderate yield but with excellent regio- and stereoselectivity. This secondary amine served as the key chiral building block and was transformed into nicotine 47 in a few steps.



Scheme 10 Total synthesis of (-)-(S)-nicotine

An iridium/phosphoramidite-catalyzed etherification was used as one of the key steps in a total synthesis of centrolobine (**51**) (Scheme 11).⁹⁹ For the total synthesis, the Cu-alkoxide of cyclopentenol **48** was reacted with allyl carbonate **49** in the presence of a $Ir/L8^{108}$ complex to yield the corresponding branched allylic ether **50** with excellent *ee*. The use of the copper alkoxide had been found to be crucial with regards to the branched/linear selectivity and the enantioselectivity for the reaction of secondary alkoxides.¹⁰⁹ Compound **50** could be transformed into centrolobine **51** in a few steps.



Scheme 11 Asymmetric synthesis of centrolobine

4.3 Miscellaneous reactions

In this section, some reactions leading to chiral heterocycles will be discussed, that do not employ the abovementioned conjugate addition or allylic substitution mechanisms, but nevertheless serve as good examples for the effective construction of chiral heterocycles.

Rh-catalyzed [2+2+2] cycloaddition reactions

A new intermolecular rhodium-catalyzed [2+2+2] cycloaddition of a variety of aryl acetylenes **53** and alkenyl isocyanates **53** was discovered (Scheme 12).^{110,111} Using TADDOL-derived phosphoramidite ligand **L9**, the nitrogen-bridged bicyclic enones **54** and **55** were obtained with *ee*'s up to 94%. The predominant product **54** was obtained exlusively when donor-substituted arylacetylenes **52** were used. Heterocycle **54** could be used as the key chiral building block for the synthesis of lasubine II (**56**), a natural alkaloid found in the tree *Lagerstroemia subcostata*.¹¹² The Rh-catalyzed asymmetric [2+2+2] cycloaddition has recently been extended to *gem*-disubstituted olefins, rendering this method suitable for the preparation of quaternary stereogenic centers.¹¹³ Further extensions include the use of internal alkynes^{114,115} and carbodiimides¹¹⁶ as substrates, and the expansion to a related [4+2+2] cycloaddition.¹¹⁷



Scheme 12 Rh-catalyzed [2+2+2] cycloaddition

Ag-catalyzed 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition reactions

The first successful catalytic application of a phosphoramidite-silver complex was also recently reported.¹¹⁸ A silver-catalyzed 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of aryl-substituted iminoglycinates **57** and activated olefins such as *tert*-butyl acrylate **58**¹¹⁹ furnished proline derivatives **59**. With phosphoramidite **L1** (compare Scheme 2) a variety of pyrrolidines **59** with multiple stereogenic centers were obtained, with generally good yields and excellent stereoselectivities (Scheme 13).



Scheme 13 Ag-catalyzed 1,3-diploar cycloaddition

5. Aim and outline of this thesis

As chiral heterocyclic compounds are of major importance through their biological activities, selective synthetic routes towards these targets are highly warranted, especially if a possible natural source cannot be exploited in large quantities. Furthermore, many non-natural pharmaceuticals bear chiral heterocycles as key structural elements. Therefore, the development of new synthetic routes towards these structures is of major importance for organic synthesis.

The aim of this thesis was to develop new catalytic asymmetric transformations for the synthesis of chiral heterocycles. Ideally, the corresponding chiral heteroatomcontaining building blocks should become available in high yields and stereoselectivities. Furthermore, since our approach is based on chiral metalcomplexes, both enantiomers of the desired products should become available.

Our approach was based on catalytic asymmetric methodology developed in our laboratories as well as chiral catalysts known in the literature. Starting from the established methods, also new catalytic asymmetric transformations were developed. In chapter 2, the asymmetric synthesis of 2,5-arylpyrrolidines employing Ir-catalyzed allylic amination with ammonia is described. The extension of this work can be found in chapter 3, where the development of the first asymmetric Ir-catalyzed intramolecular allylic amidation is described. Chiral tetrahydroisoquinolines, important chiral building blocks as well as 5- to 7membered saturated N-heterocycles could be obtained via this new approach. The attempted extension of this to the asymmetric synthesis of chiral β-carboline compounds is described in chapter 4. Related chiral saturated N-heterocycles with various ring sizes could be obtained via a complementary route employing a combination of Cu-catalyzed asymmetric allylic alkylation and ring-closing metathesis. This project is described in chapter 5. During the course of this research, also an approach to chiral oxygen-containing heterocycles was developed: the access to chiral coumarin dervatives using Cu-catalyzed conjugate additions of Grignard reagents employing a Cu/bisphosphine catalyst is discussed in chapter 6. The reaction intermediates of these reactions were found to be good starting points for a variety of reactions to give, among others, formal conjugate addition products of α , β -unsaturated amides. Finally, the application of phosphoramidite ligands synthesized from chiral pyrrolidines (compare chapter 2) in asymmetric Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling reactions are described in chapter 7.

6. References

- Liu, Y.; Liu, R.; Mao, S. C.; Morgan, J. B.; Jekabsons, M. B.; Zhou, Y. D.; Nagle, D. G. J. Nat. Prod. 2008, 71, 1854-1860.
- Mohammed, K. A.; Hossain, C. F.; Zhang, L.; Bruick, R. K.; Zhou, Y. D.; Nagle, D. G. J. Nat. Prod. 2004, 67, 2002-2007.
- (3) Hesse, M. *Alkaloids nature's curse or blessing?*; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2002.
- (4) Dewick, P. M. *Medicinal Natural Products A Biosynthetic Approach*; 2nd ed.; Wiley: Chichester, 2001.
- (5) Wright, C. W. Nat. Prod. Rep. 2010, 27, 961-968.
- (6) Maude, R. J.; Woodrow, C. J.; White, L. J. Drug. Dev. Res. 2010, 71, 12-19.
- (7) Kumar, V.; Mahajan, A.; Chibale, K. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **2009**, *17*, 2236-2275.
- (8) Jefford, C. W. Curr. Med. Chem. 2001, 8, 1803-1826.
- (9) Luo, X. D.; Shen, C. C. Med. Res. Rev. 1987, 7, 29-52.
- (10) Pacher, P.; Kecskemeti, V. Curr. Med. Chem. 2004, 11, 925-943.
- (11) Oh, S. J.; Ha, H. J.; Chi, D. Y.; Lee, H. K. Curr. Med. Chem. 2001, 8, 999-1034.
- (12) Koskinen, A. Asymmetric Synthesis of Natural Products; Wiley: New York, 1993.
- (13) Lin, G.-Q.; Li, Y.-M.; Chan, A. S. C. *Principles and Applications of Asymmetric Synthesis*; Wiley: New York, 2001.
- (14) Doyle, M. P. Advances in Catalytic Processes: Asymmetric Chemical Transformations; JAI Press: New York, 1995.
- (15) Jacobsen, E. N.; Pfaltz, A.; Yamamoto, H. *Comprehensive Asymmetric Catalysis* Berlin, 1999; Vol. 1-3.
- (16) Noyori, R. Asymmetric Catalysis In Organic Synthesis New York, 1994.
- (17) Christmann, M.; Bräse, S. Asymmetric Synthesis: The Essentials; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2007.
- (18) Carreira, E. M.; Kvaerno, L. *Classics in Stereoselective Synthesis*; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2009.
- (19) Enders, D.; Jaeger, K.-E. Asymmetric Synthesis with Chemical and Biological Methods; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2007.
- (20) Ojima, I. Catalytic Asymmetric Synthesis; 3rd ed.; Wiley: New York, 2007.
- (21) Berkessel, A.; Gröger, H. Asymmetric Organocatalysis: From Biomimetic Concepts to Applications in Asymmetric Synthesis; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2005.
- (22) Knowles, W. S. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 1999-2007.
- (23) Noyori, R. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 2008-2022.
- (24) Sharpless, K. B. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 2024-2032.
- (25) "The Nobel Prize in Chemistry 2001". Nobelprize.org. 4 Dec 2010 http://nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/chemistry/laureates/2001/

- (26) Yoon, T. P.; Jacobsen, E. N. Science 2003, 299, 1691-1693.
- (27) Feringa, B. L. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 346-353.
- (28) Teichert, J. F.; Feringa, B. L. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 2486-2528.
- (29) Jerphagnon, T.; Renaud, J. L.; Bruneau, C. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2004**, *15*, 2101-2111.
- (30) Eberhardt, L.; Armspach, D.; Harrowfield, J.; Matt, D. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2008**, *37*, 839-864.
- (31) Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L.; Lefort, L.; De Vries, J. G. Acc. Chem. Res. 2007, 40, 1267-1277.
- van den Berg, M.; Minnaard, A. J.; Haak, R. M.; Leeman, M.; Schudde, E. P.; Meetsma, A.; Feringa, B. L.; de Vries, A. H. M.; Maljaars, C. E. P.; Willans, C. E.; Hyett, D.; Boogers, J. A. F.; Henderickx, H. J. W.; de Vries, J. G. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2003, 345, 308-323.
- (33) Tomioka, K.; Nagaoka, Y. In *Comprehensive Asymmetric Catalysis*; Jacobsen, E. N., Pfaltz, A., Yamamoto, H., Eds. 1999, p 1105-1120.
- (34) Christoffers, J.; Koripelly, G.; Rosiak, A.; Rossle, M. Synthesis **2007**, 1279-1300.
- (35) Harutyunyan, S. R.; den Hartog, T.; Geurts, K.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. *Chem. Rev.* **2008**, *108*, 2824-2852.
- (36) Jerphagnon, T.; Pizzuti, M. G.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2009**, *38*, 1039-1075.
- (37) Alexakis, A.; Bäckvall, J. E.; Krause, N.; Pamiès, O.; Diéguez, M. *Chem. Rev.* **2008**, *108*, 2796-2823.
- (38) Arnold, L. A.; Imbos, R.; Mandoli, A.; de Vries, A. H. M.; Naasz, R.; Feringa, B. L. *Tetrahedron* **2000**, *56*, 2865-2878.
- (39) López, F.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. Acc. Chem. Res. 2007, 40, 179-188.
- (40) Alexakis, A.; Benhaim, C. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 3221-3236.
- (41) Feringa, B. L.; Naasz, R.; Imbos, R.; Arnold, L. A. In *Modern Organocopper Chemistry*; Krause, N., Ed.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2002, p 225-255.
- (42) Krause, N.; Hoffmann-Roder, A. Synthesis **2001**, 171-196.
- (43) Feringa, B. L.; de Vries, A. H. M. In Advances in Catalytic Processes: Asymmetric Chemical Transformations; Doyle, M. P., Ed.; JAI Press: New York, 1995, p 151-192.
- (44) Krause, N. E. Modern Organocopper Chemistry; Wiley: Weinheim, 2002.
- (45) Watanabe, T.; Knopfel, T. F.; Carreira, E. M. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 4557-4558.
- (46) Fillion, E.; Wilsily, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 2774-2775.
- (47) Ashimori, A.; Overman, L. E. J. Synth. Org. Chem. Jap. 2000, 58, 718-727.
- (48) Christoffers, J.; Baro, A. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2005, 347, 1473-1482.
- (49) Corey, E. J.; Guzman-Perez, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 388-401.

- (50) Denissova, I.; Barriault, L. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 10105-10146.
- (51) Fuji, K. Chem. Rev. 1993, 93, 2037-2066.
- (52) Ramon, D. J.; Yus, M. Curr. Org. Synth. 2004, 8, 149-183.
- (53) Trost, B. M.; Jiang, C. H. Synthesis **2006**, 369-396.
- (54) Wilsily, A.; Fillion, E. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 2801-2804.
- (55) Šebesta, R.; Pizzuti, M. G.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. *Adv. Synth. Cat.* **2007**, *349*, 1931-1937.
- (56) Pizzuti, M. G.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73, 940-947.
- (57) Woodward, S. Synlett 2007, 1490-1500.
- (58) Eilitz, U.; Lessmann, F.; Seidelmann, O.; Wendisch, V. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2003**, *14*, 3095-3097.
- (59) Alexakis, A.; Albrow, V.; Biswas, K.; d'Augustin, M.; Prieto, O.; Woodward, S. *Chem. Commun.* **2005**, 2843-2845.
- (60) d'Augustin, M.; Palais, L.; Alexakis, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 1376-1378.
- (61) Vuagnoux-d'Augustin, M.; Alexakis, A. Chem. Eur. J. 2007, 13, 9647-9662.
- (62) Vuagnoux-d'Augustin, M.; Kehrli, S.; Alexakis, A. Synlett 2007, 2057-2060.
- (63) Pizzuti, M. G.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2008**, *6*, 3464-3466.
- (64) Slosse, P.; Hootele, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1978, 397-398.
- (65) Trost, B. M. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 5813-5837.
- (66) Trost, B. M. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 2002, 50, 1-14.
- (67) Pfaltz, A.; Lautens, M. In *Comprehensive Asymmetric Catalysis*; Jacobsen, E. N., Pfaltz, A., Yamamoto, H., Eds. 1999, p 833-886.
- (68) Tsuji, J. Organic synthesis with palladium compounds; Springer: Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1980.
- (69) Tsuji, J. Palladium Reagents and Catalysts, Innovations in Organic Synthesis; Wiley: Chichester, 1995.
- (70) Trost, B. M.; Crawley, M. L. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 2921-2944.
- (71) Trost, B. M.; Van Vranken, D. L. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 395-422.
- (72) Falciola, C. A.; Alexakis, A. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 3765-3780.
- (73) van Veldhuizen, J. J.; Campbell, J. E.; Giudici, R. E.; Hoveyda, A. H. *J. Am. Chem.* Soc. **2005**, *127*, 6877-6882.
- (74) Helmchen, G.; Dahnz, A.; Dübon, P.; Schelwies, M.; Weihofen, R. *Chem. Commun.* **2007**, 675-691.
- (75) Chapsal, B. D.; Ojima, I. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 1395-1398.
- (76) Trost, B. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1986, 25, 1-20.

- (77) Trost, B. M.; Stambuli, J. P.; Silverman, S. M.; Schwörer, U. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 13328-13329.
- (78) Trost, B. M.; Silverman, S. M.; Stambuli, J. P. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2007**, *129*, 12398-12399.
- (79) Trost, B. M.; Cramer, N.; Silverman, S. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 12396-12397.
- (80) Takeuchi, R.; Kezuka, S. Synthesis 2006, 3349-3366.
- (81) Miyabe, H.; Takemoto, Y. Synlett **2005**, 1641-1655.
- (82) Takeuchi, R. Synlett **2002**, 1954-1965.
- (83) Leitner, A.; Shu, C. T.; Hartwig, J. F. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2004, 101, 5830-5833.
- (84) Bartels, B.; Helmchen, G. Chem. Commun. 1999, 741-742.
- (85) Teichert, J. F.; Feringa, B. L. Synthesis 2010, 1200-1204.
- (86) Pouy, M. J.; Leitner, A.; Weix, D. J.; Ueno, S.; Hartwig, J. F. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 3949-3952.
- (87) Pouy, M. J.; Stanley, L. M.; Hartwig, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 11312-11313.
- (88) Hartwig, J. F.; Stanley, L. M. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2010**, *asap*, DOI: 10.1021/ar100047x.
- (89) Klinkenberg, J. L.; Hartwig, J. F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, asap, DOI: 10.1002/anie.201002354.
- (90) Lyothier, I.; Defieber, C.; Carreira, E. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 6204-6207.
- (91) Defieber, C.; Ariger, M. A.; Moriel, P.; Carreira, E. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 3139 - 3143.
- (92) Bartels, B.; García-Yebra, C.; Helmchen, G. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 1097-1103.
- (93) Bartels, B.; García-Yebra, C.; Rominger, F.; Helmchen, G. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* **2002**, 2569-2586.
- (94) Kawatsura, M.; Uozumi, Y.; Hayashi, T. Chem. Commun. 1998, 217-218.
- (95) Burckhardt, U.; Baumann, M.; Togni, A. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1997, 8, 155-159.
- (96) Ohmura, T.; Hartwig, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 15164-15165.
- (97) López, F.; Ohmura, T.; Hartwig, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 3426-3427.
- (98) Kiener, C. A.; Shu, C. T.; Incarvito, C.; Hartwig, J. F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2003**, *125*, 14272-14273.
- (99) Böhrsch, V.; Blechert, S. Chem. Commun. 2006, 1968-1970.
- (100) Lee, J. H.; Shin, S.; Kang, J.; Lee, S. G. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 7443-7446.
- (101) Förster, S.; Helmchen, G. Synlett 2008, 831-836.

- (102) Gnamm, C.; Franck, G.; Miller, N.; Stork, T.; Brodner, K.; Helmchen, G. Synthesis **2008**, 3331-3350.
- (103) Dübon, P.; Schelwies, M.; Helmchen, G. Chem. Eur. J. 2008, 14, 6722-6733.
- (104) Schelwies, M.; Dubon, P.; Helmchen, G. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2006**, *45*, 2466-2469.
- (105) Streiff, S.; Welter, C.; Schelwies, M.; Lipowsky, G.; Miller, N.; Helmchen, G. *Chem. Commun.* **2005**, 2957-2959.
- (106) Welter, C.; Moreno, R. M.; Streiff, S.; Helmchen, G. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 3266-3268.
- (107) Alexakis, A.; Rosset, S.; Allamand, J.; March, S.; Guillen, F.; Benhaim, C. Synlett 2001, 1375-1378.
- (108) Unfortunately, the position of the naphthyl substitution in **L8** was not reported. Based on ref. 108 however, it is assumed to be 1-naphthyl.
- (109) Shu, C. T.; Hartwig, J. F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 4794-4797.
- (110) Yu, R. T.; Rovis, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 12370-12371.
- (111) Dalton, D. M.; Oberg, K. M.; Yu, R. T.; Lee, E. E.; Perreault, S.; Oinen, M. E.; Pease, M. L.; Malik, G.; Rovis, T. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2009**, *131*, 15717-15728.
- (112) Fuji, K.; Yamada, T.; Fujita, E.; Murata, H. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **1978**, *26*, 2515-2521.
- (113) Lee, E. E.; Rovis, T. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 1231-1234.
- (114) Friedman, R. K.; Rovis, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 10775-10782.
- (115) Oinen, M. E.; Yu, R. T.; Rovis, T. Org. Lett. 2009, 11, 4934-4937.
- (116) Yu, R. T.; Rovis, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 3262-3263.
- (117) Yu, R. T.; Friedman, R. K.; Rovis, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 13250-13251.
- (118) Nájera, C.; Retamosa, M. D.; Sansano, J. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 6055-6058.
- (119) For clarity, only tert-butyl acrylate is shown here.

Chapter 2

Catalytic Asymmetric Synthesis of 2,5-Naphthylpyrrolidine

A novel, straightforward fully catalytic asymmetric synthesis of chiral 2,5naphthylpyrrolidine based upon an iridium-catalyzed double allylic amination with ammonia has been developed. The products are available in high yields and enantioselectivities.

Parts of this chapter have been/will be published:

Teichert, J.F.; Feringa, B.L. Synthesis, 2010, 7, 1200-1204.

Teichert, J.F.; den Hartog, T.; Hanstein, M.; Smit, C.; ter Horst, B.; Hernández-Olmos, V.; Feringa, B.L., Minnaard, A.J. *ACS Catal.*, accepted for publication.

1. Introduction

Chiral 2,5-disubstituted pyrrolidines **1** (Figure 1) are versatile chiral compounds that have been used for a large variety of asymmetric transformations. For example, they have been employed as chiral C_2 -symmetric auxiliaries¹ for the asymmetric synthesis of α -amino acids through α -alkylation of glycine derivatives² or stereoselective iodolactonization.³ Furthermore, derivatives of 2,5-chiral pyrrolidines have been shown to act as stereodirecting auxiliaries in asymmetric Wittig rearrangements.⁴ In catalytic asymmetric transformations, these compounds have been used as chiral ligands for the asymmetric addition of diethylzinc to aldehydes⁵ or in palladium-catalyzed allylic alkylation reactions.^{6,7}



Figure 1 Chiral 2,5-disubstituted pyrrolidines

More recently, chiral 2,5-disubstituted pyrrolidines have been shown to be efficient organocatalysts for a variety of asymmetric transformations such as Michael additions⁸ and α -halogenation of aldehydes and ketones.⁹⁻¹¹ As an example, the α -chlorination of aldehydes is depicted in Scheme 1.¹⁰ When aldehydes **2** were reacted with NCS (**3**) as the chlorine source in the presence of catalytic amounts of 2,5-phenylpyrrolidine **4**, the corresponding α -chlorinated aldehydes **5** were isolated in up to excellent yields and enantioselectivities.



Scheme 1 Organocatalytic asymmetric α-chlorination of aldehydes

Phosphoramidite ligands^{12,13} prepared from chiral 2,5-disubstituted pyrrolidines were reported to give high enantioselectivities in asymmetric palladium-catalyzed [3+2] trimethylenemethane cycloadditions (see also Chapter 1).¹⁴⁻¹⁷ This methodology represents an elegant route towards cyclic compounds, including heterocycles.^{16,17} When allyl acetate **6** was reacted with Boc-protected imines **7** in

the presence of a Pd/L1 complex, the corresponding chiral pyrrolidines **8** were accessible in high yields and enantioselectivities (Scheme 2). It was shown that the phosphoramidites derived from chiral 2,5-arylpyrrolidines such as L1 were key to achieve high enantioselectivities for this transformation. Replacement of the naphthyl substitutents on the pyrrolidine with phenyl groups led to a dramatic drop in enantioselectivity (to 35% *ee* for **5** (Ar = Ph)). Ligand L1 thus creates a unique chiral environment around the catalytically active metal atom upon coordination.¹⁷



Scheme 2 Pd-catalyzed asymmetric [3+2] trimethylenemethane addition with imines

Although a few synthetic routes towards chiral 2,5-arylpyrrolidines are known,¹⁸⁻²² they do not include the preparation of sterically demanding aryl-substituted pyrrolidines **1**, such as naphthyl-subsituted ones. A report employing asymmetric borane reduction of 1,4-diketones specifically highlights the elusiveness of these substrates in undergoing reduction.²¹

Approaches based upon the enantioselective deprotonation/arylation of Bocprotected pyrrolidines utilizing organolithium reagents and naturally occurring (-)sparteine have been disclosed.²²⁻²⁴ One example of a sparteine-mediated asymmetric lithiation of *N*-Boc-pyrrolidine **9** followed by a Negishi coupling in a one-pot protocol has been reported (Scheme 3).²² When **9** was lithiated in the presence of (-)-sparteine (**10**), then transmetalated to zinc and a subsequent Negishi coupling with phenylbromide was carried out, chiral 2-phenyl-pyrrolidine **11** was isolated in very good yields and enantioselectivity. The same reaction could be carried out on **11** once more to give the corresponding 2,5-diphenyl pyrrolidine **12**. These transformations have been reported to work well with a variety of aromatics, however, the possibility to construct naphthyl-substituents (precursors for **L1**) was not disclosed. The use of an enantiomerically pure stoichiometric reagent such as **10** renders this method not attractive in terms of atom economy. Moreover, since only one enantiomer of sparteine (**10**) is available, only one enantiomer of the
products **11** and **12** is accessible through this approach; a drawback when chiral ligands such as **L1** derived from chiral pyrrolidines are employed in the synthesis of complex target molecules where a particular stereoisomer is desirable.





A catalytic enantioselective synthesis of chiral 2,5-naphthylpyrrolidines based on the reduction of 1,4-diketones with chiral cobalt-salen complexes was reported.²⁵ 1,4-Diketone 13^{26} could be selectively reduced to the chiral 1,4-diol 15 in the presence of a chiral Co-salen complex 14, employing NaBH₄ as the reducing agent (Scheme 4). For this reaction to proceed with high yields and enantioselectivities, it is important that tetrahydrofuryl alcohol (THFA) and NaBH₄ are premixed, since this will form a NaBH_x(THFA) adduct, which ensures high selectivities and reactivities.²⁷ With diol 15 in hand, it could be transformed to the corresponding *N*-allylpyrrolidine 16 in good yields, followed by a deprotection of the allyl moiety with Wilkinsons's catalyst to give the desired chiral 2,5-dinaphthylpyrrolidine 17 in good yields and excellent enantioselectivity.



Scheme 4 Reported synthesis of 2,5-dinaphthylpyrrolidine

Unfortunately, in our hands, these results were not reproducible or not practicable for the synthesis of naphthyl-substituted pyrrolidine **17** for a variety of reasons. First, the synthesis of the chiral salen ligand of 14 could not be achieved, as the literature procedures²⁸ turned out to be not reproducible in our hands. The optically active cobalt complex 14 is commercially available, so we could still attempt the asymmetric synthesis of 17 (Scheme 5). The Co-catalyzed asymmetric reduction of 13 could be rendered feasible only if higher temperatures than reported were employed. In our hands, carrying out the synthesis at -40 °C, as reported, led to no conversion of 13. When we raised the temperature to -20 °C, we could isolate chiral diol **14** in low yields but with enantioselectivities close to the ones previously reported. The following transformation to the N-protected pyrrolidine 16 turned out to be not reproducible either: under the reported conditions, no reaction to 16 was observed, in our hands, the best results were found when solvents, reactions times and temperatures were changed to more drastic conditions. However, even then chiral pyrrolidine **16** was only isolated in trace amounts. The following deprotection of the allylamine moiety of 16 to give pyrrolidine 17 did not occur at all under the published conditions and could furthermore not be rendered feasible with a variety of other deprotection conditions. With these disappointing results in hand, we decided to abandon this synthetic route, as it was not a useful one to obtain chiral 2.5-dinaphthylpyrrolidine **17** in reasonable amounts.



Scheme 5 Attempted synthesis of 17

2. Goal

We were interested in the application of sterically very demanding phosphoramidite ligands **L1** for the use in Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling reactions (see Chapter 7), as we expected them to improve the enantioselectivity in those transformations. Therefore, we were interested in a synthetic pathway towards C_2 -symmetric chiral pyrrolidines. As the only literature procedure was not reproducible in our hands (see Scheme 4 and Scheme 5), we sought to develop a new synthetic route towards chiral 2,5-diarylpyrrolidines that would provide the products in high optical purity. Ideally this new approach would furnish both enantiomers of the envisaged products. With foresight to possible applications as parts of chiral ligands or as organocatalysts, both enantiomers of the chiral diarylpyrrolidines should be available.

A study regarding the direct allylic amination with ammonia was disclosed,²⁹ in which the authors found not the anticipated monoamination of cinnamyl carbonate **18** to chiral allylamine **20** in the presence of catalytic amounts of iridacycle **19**, but reaction towards the secondary diallylamine **21** (Scheme 6). This observation stems most probably from the fact that primary amine **20** is a much better nucleophile with regard to Ir-catalyzed allylic amination than ammonia itself. Hence, no traces of the reaction intermediate **20** were observed in the reaction mixture. Nevertheless, the disubstituted product **21** was isolated in excellent yield and stereoselectivities.



Scheme 6 Ir-catalyzed double allylic amination with ammonia

We decided to make use of this – originally unwanted – diallylation reaction of allylic carbonates **22** with ammonia and use diallylamines **23** as possible starting points for the synthesis of chiral 2,5-diarylpyrrolidines. With chiral compounds **23** in hand, ring-closing metathesis would lead to the corresponding diarylpyrrolines **24**, subsequent reduction of the double bond would furnish the desired diarylpyrrolidines **25** (Scheme 7). Since the two stereogenic centers are constructed early in the synthesis, it is a prerequisite that the subsequent reactions do not compromize the stereochemistry generated at the α -position of the nitrogen atom. This is especially important for the hydrogenation step to give **25**, since many transition metal-based hydrogenation protocols are known to jeopardize stereogenic allylic centers.³⁰⁻⁴⁰



Scheme 7 Anticipated synthetic route

Since both enantiomers of the phosphoramidite ligand **L2** are readily available, also both enantiomers of **25** should be accessible, which is a major advantage over the previously mentioned synthetic routes (*vide supra*).

3. Results and Discussion

When we started off to probe the viability of the anticipated synthetic route to diarylpyrrolidines, we chose to use the 2-naphthyl-substituted pyrrolidines **26** and **27** as targets to develop and optimize the synthesis (Figure 2). The corresponding phosphoramidite ligand had shown remarkable effects in the asymmetric Pd-catalyzed [3+2] trimethylenemethane addition reaction (*vide supra*).^{15,17} Furthermore, *ortho*-methoxyphenyl-derived pyrrolidine **27** should be an interesting chiral building block for phosphoramidite ligands, as *ortho*-methoxy substituents often show remarkable effects in comparison with the corresponding phenyl substituents in chiral phosphoramidite ligands in various catalytic asymmetric transformations.¹³



Figure 2 Envisaged target structures

3.1 Synthesis of starting materials

Allylic carbonates **32**, starting materials for the double allylic amination with ammonia, with a 2-naphthyl and a *ortho*-methoxyphenyl moiety were synthesized in a straightforward manner (Scheme 8). Allylic alcohol **29a** was prepared from the corresponding α , β -unsaturated aldehyde **28** by reduction with DIBAL-H. For naphthyl-substituted substrate **32b**, we started with naphthaldehyde **30**, which was converted to the corresponding α , β -unsaturated ester **31** by Horner-Wadsworth-Emmons reaction⁴¹ in good yield (75%). Subsequent reduction of the ester to the allylic alcohol **29b** proceeded in moderate yield. Both allylic alcohols **29** could smoothly be transformed to the corresponding allylic carbonates **32**.

Asymmetric Synthesis of Naphthylpyrrolidine



Scheme 8 Synthesis of allylic carbonates

At a later stage of this project, a shorter route to **32b** was developed; commercially available 2-vinylnaphthalene **33** could be transformed to the corresponding allylic carbonate by cross-metathesis with Hoveyda-Grubbs 2nd generation catalyst⁴² with dicarbonate **34** in very good yield (Scheme 9). The dicarbonate **34** ensured full conversion to **32b**, since cross metathesis of **33** with the corresponding allyl methyl carbonate under similar reaction conditions led to low conversion to **32b** and dicarbonate **34** was isolated as the major product.⁴³



Scheme 9 Alternative synthesis of allylic carbonate 32b

3.2 Ir-catalyzed double allylic amination

When the allylic amination of allylic carbonates was studied with (S,S,S)-19 as catalyst, we were delighted to find that **32a** and **32b** were converted smoothly to the corresponding amines **35** (Scheme 10). **35b** was isolated with excellent stereoselectivities and yields after 16 hours, whereas diallylamine **35a** was formed in slightly lower yields, however, with the same results in terms of stereoselectivity.



Scheme 10 Ir-catalyzed allylic amination

A few factors have been found to be influential on the outcome of this transformation, which has been optimized with the transformation of substrate **32b**:

Catalyst loading

It was found that with 2.0 mol% of (S, S, S)-**19** the reaction proceeded with the same outcome with regards to stereoselectivity, but with considerably lower conversion of **32b** (~40% conversion, as judged by ¹H NMR). Adding the catalyst in four batches of 0.5 mol% over a period of 4 hours did not improve the conversion, indicating that the catalyst stays active in the reaction mixture.

Temperature

The reaction was also run at elevated temperature (50 °C), and did show faster conversion to the desired product **35b** with equally good enantioselectivities, however, still 6.0 mol% of (S,S,S)-**19** were necessary to ensure full consumption of allylic carbonate **32b**. For practical reasons, the reactions were run at ambient temperature in the following.

Concentration

The amounts of solvents proved to be influential on the conversion of **32** as well. In a typical experiment, a NH₃ solution in EtOH was added to the allylic carbonate to give a ~0.7 molar suspension. Carbonates **32** do not dissolve well in the ammonia solution, so THF was added until all carbonate was dissolved (typically at a ratio EtOH/THF 2:1) and the reaction mixture stirred overnight, which ensured full conversion of **32**. If more THF was added (exceeding ratios EtOH/THF 1:1), the reaction would still take place with the same stereoselectivities, however, with considerably lower conversion. From this observation, it can be concluded that a too low concentration of the nucleophile (NH₃) is detrimental in terms of conversion. It is improbable that the catalyst loses its activity because of the higher ratio of THF, as this is the solvent of choice for most of the Ir/phoshoramiditecatalyzed allylic substitutions.¹³

It should be noted that the enantioselectivity of **35** was determined by comparison of both enantiomers of **35** by chiral HPLC, since a direct racemic allylic amination was not available. (*i.e.* no non-chiral phosphoramidite-based iridacycle has been synthesized) At the same time, this served as an example that both enantiomers of **35** are available through this allylic amination protocol. The absolute configuration of **35b** was later assigned by comparison of the NMR data and optical rotation of phosphoramidite **L1**, synthesized from chiral pyrrolidine **26** (*vide infra*) with literature.¹⁷ The absolute configuration of **35a** was then assigned in analogy to **35b**.

3.3 Ring-closing metathesis to give chiral pyrrolines

With chiral diallylamines **35** in hand, we went on to investigate the following ringclosing metathesis towards the corresponding chiral pyrrolines **37**. Ring-closing metathesis of **35b** was initially examined with Mo-based catalysts, since they were reported to exert catalytic activity with unprotected secondary amines (Scheme 11).⁴⁴ In our case however, employing catalytic amounts of the Schrock-Hoveyda catalyst **36**, no turnover of **35b** was observed, which we attribute to the steric constraints of **35b**.



Scheme 11 Attempted ring-closing metathesis with Mo-based catalyst

Ring-closing metathesis of **35** based upon ruthenium catalysts is hampered by the potential donor abilities of the nitrogen in **35**, so we decided to convert **35b** to the corresponding HBr salt to conceal this functionality. This approach had been employed successfully in the literature.⁴⁵⁻⁴⁷ We then probed the ring-closing

metathesis of 35b•HBr with Hoveyda-Grubbs 2nd generation catalyst, which had been reported to be the catalyst of choice for the formation of pyrrolines. 42,45,47,48 Employing elevated temperatures (1,2-dichloroethane at reflux) and 4.0 mol% Hoveyda-Grubbs 2nd generation catalyst, chiral pyrroline **37** was obtained in 79% vield (Scheme 12), Importantly, 37 was formed without loss of ee, Noteworthy is the fact that the corresponding HCI salt of 35b led to decomposition of the starting material under reaction conditions. This particular behaviour had been observed in previous studies.⁴⁵ and the origin of this effect is unclear. With other Grubbs or Hoveyda-Grubbs (1st or 2nd generation) catalysts **37** was obtained in lower yields. Several factors are influencing the positive outcome of this reaction: The HBr salt of **35b** has to be thoroughly dried, so that no traces of acetic acid are present (HBr was employed as a solution in acetic acid). Secondly, the catalyst has to be added in two batches of 2.0 mol% each, since rapid catalyst deactivation was observed. Furthermore, to achieve high isolated vields, a two step procedure has to be followed: After cooling down, the first batch of the product can just be filtered off and washed with acetone. Like this, analytically pure HBr salt of 37 is obtained (~60%). However, it turned out that not all **37**•HBr was precipitated as after workup of the reaction mixture, a second part of the product was obtained after deprotection of the salt and purification by column chromatography. It is important that the column is run not too slow, since decomposition of 37 during chromatography is observed. The combined batches after filtration and column chromatography amount for the reported 79% yield. As will be seen in the following section, the reduction of the double bond is carried out with an excess of base, so that deprotection of the HBr salt of 37 poses no problems.



10,00,00,00

Scheme 12 Ring-closing metathesis with Ru-based catalyst

3.4 Reduction of the double bond

The subsequent reduction of the olefin in pyrroline **37** was first attempted by homogenous Rh-catalysed hydrogenation⁴⁹ (Scheme 13), but here also, the unprotected amine suppressed any conversion. The hydrogenation of the

corresponding HBr salt of **37** under the same conditions turned out to be unfruitful as well.



Scheme 13 Attempted hydrogentation of 37

Since heterogeneous hydrogenation with palladium on solid supports is known to racemize allylic amines,³⁰⁻⁴⁰ we refrained from applying this methodology into our synthesis. Instead, we were investigating the use of diimide (**39**) as reducing agent⁵⁰ for the double bond of pyrroline **37**. Diimide (or diazene) itself is unstable, as it readily disproportionates to hydrazine **38** and dinitrogen (Scheme 14). However, when formed *in situ*, it can be used as a reducing agent for non-polarized double bonds, diimid itself being oxidized to dinitrogen, leaving the reduced product **41** behind.⁵⁰ The most important feature of this reduction protocol is the fact that it is assumed to proceed via a concerted mechanism with a six-membered transition state **40**. This fact makes the use of this methodology inobjectionable for the reduction of double bonds bearing α -stereogenic centers.



Scheme 14 Reduction with diimide / disproportionation of diimide

It had been reported in the literature that diimide can be generated *in situ* under basic conditions from *ortho*-nitrobenzenesulfonylhydrazide (NBSH, **42**)^{51,52} or tosylhydrazine (**43**)^{53,54} and directly used as mild reducing agents for olefins. We tried both conditions on chiral pyrroline **37**, but neither of the reactions led to conversion of **37** (Scheme 15), as in both cases, the starting material was isolated unreacted. This is possibly due to the short lifetime of diimide under the given reaction conditions. Effectively, the concentration of diimide **39** has to be higher to ensure reduction of the sterically demanding substrate **37**.



Scheme 15 Attempted reduction of 37 with diimide

In our institute, a metal-free reduction of olefins based on catalytic formation of diimide **39** from cheap and readily available hydrazine with riboflavin-derived catalyst **44** and molecular oxygen has been developed.⁵⁵ In this reaction, **44** oxidizes hydrazine to the actual reducing agent, diimide **39**, and then gets reoxidized by molecular oxygen (Scheme 16). The actual role of the organocatalyst **44** on the double bond reduction is therefore of indirect nature.



Scheme 16 Organocatalytic reduction of double bonds

Catalyst **44** can be synthesized in a one-step procedure from riboflavine. When we applied the standard reaction conditions⁵⁵ to the reduction of **37** (Table 1), no conversion to **26** was observed, most probably due to the insolubility of **37** in ethanol (Table 1, entry 1). When the same reaction was carried out in a mixture of dichloromethane and ethanol to ensure solubility of **37**, we observed that the corresponding pyrrolidine **26** was formed, albeit in very low yields (Table 1, entry 2). Raising the catalyst loading to 50.0 mol% led to a significant increase in conversion of **37** (Table 1, entry 3). It is important to note that even with comparatively high catalyst loading of **44** we can still speak of an efficient catalyst,

since **44** is only catalytically converting hydrazine **38** to diimide **39**, which in turn facilitates the double bond reduction. Riboflavine **44** has thus no direct effect on the transformation of **37**. We found that when the catalyst and hydrazine were added slowly (over a period of 10 hours via syringe pump) to the reaction mixture, a remarkable increase in conversion was observed (Table 1, entry 4). Finally, full conversion to **26** was obtained with 1.0 eq. of riboflavine **44** with respect to pyrroline **37** (Table 1, entry 5). As expected, the corresponding pyrrolidine **26** was formed without loss of *ee*. Furthermore, as this transformation is carried out in basic conditions, also the HBr salt of **37**, which was obtained from the previous reaction, could be employed directly.

Table 1 Reduction of 37 with riboflavine organocatalyst 44

		44 excess H₂NNH₂+H₂O O₂ (1 atm) ➤ rt		
Entry	Solvent	Amount of 44	Conversion ^a	
1	EtOH	10	n.d.	
2	CH ₂ Cl ₂ /EtOH 1:1	10	traces	
3	CH ₂ Cl ₂ /EtOH 1:1	50 ^b	50%	
4	CH ₂ Cl ₂ /EtOH 1:1	50 ^c	80%	
5	CH ₂ Cl ₂ /EtOH 1:1	100 ^c	full ^d	

^aDetermined by ¹H NMR. ^b**44** and hydrazine hydrate added in 5 min. ^c**44** and hydrazine hydrate added slowly over a period of 10 h. ^d81% isolated yield.

The success of the slow-addition protocol for this demanding substrate with regards to reduction of the double bond can be explained by the fact that the catalyst **44** as well as diimide (**39**) have a limited lifetime under the given reaction conditions. The active concentration of the reducing agent is effectively lowered during the reaction by diimide disproportionation to dinitrogen and hydrazine (see Scheme 14).^{56,57} By adding the organocatalyst **44** and hydrazine **38** slowly to the mixture, the active concentration of diimide (**39**) stays constant during the reaction, allowing for higher turnover of the reduction of sterically demanding substrates. This new protocol has also been used successfully in the reduction of other olefins bearing α -stereogenic centers.⁵⁸

3.5 Synthesis of the corresponding phosphoramidite ligands

With chiral 2,5-naphthylpyrrolidine in hand, we went on to synthesize the corresponding phosphoramidite ligand L1. When 26 was reacted in the presence of phosphochloridite 45,⁵⁹ the corresponding phosphoramidite ligand L1 was obtained in 60% yield (Scheme 17). It is important to note that the triethylamine used has to be freshly distilled over CaH₂ for this transformation to proceed smoothly. Failure to do this resulted in rapid hydrolysis of phosphochloridite 45 and therefore no conversion of pyrrolidine 26. The analytical data of L1 served as basis for the determination of the absolute configuration of 26 and thus also its precursors by comparison with literature data.¹⁷ It can be said that the Ir-catalyzed double allylic amination with ammonia employing (*S*,*S*,*S*)-19 as catalyst gives the corresponding (*S*,*S*)-products 35, such as displayed in the previous schemes. It is important to note that the attempted synthesis of the (*R*,*S*,*S*)-diastereomer of L1 gave only traces of product via this synthetic route, indicating that the (*S*,*S*,*S*)-diastereomer of L1 is sterically favoured.



Scheme 17 Synthesis of phosphoramidites L1 (only the S-diastereomer of BINOL is displayed)

The synthetic intermediate pyrroline **37** could also be transformed to a phosphoramidite ligand. For this reaction to occur, a different synthetic procedure was chosen. First, pyrroline **37** was transformed to the corresponding Li-amide, and then reacted with phosphochloridite **45** to give the phosphoramidite **L3** in moderate yields (Scheme 18). It should be noted that the purification of phosphoramidites **L1** and **L3** is difficult due to their instability on silicagel, which leads to decomposition to the corresponding starting materials, pyrroline **37** or pyrrolidine **26**, respectively, during purification. Therefore, column chromatography has to be carried out quickly with high polarity of the eluent.



Scheme 18 Synthesis of phosphoramidite L3

4. Conclusions

In summary, we have developed a new, concise catalytic asymmetric synthetic route towards chiral 2,5-diarylpyrrolidines. The key step of this synthetic route is a double asymmetric allylic amination with ammonia catalyzed by an iridium/phosphoramidite complex. This is a powerful reaction which creates two stereogenic centers in one transformation in high stereoselectivities, at the same time, it is atom-economic in terms of the nitrogen nucleophile used, namely ammonia. All steps of the pyrrolidine synthesis are high yielding and both enantiomers of the products are available through this novel pathway. The latter is a clear advantage over the existing sparteine-mediated processes. Furthermore, with the exception of salt formation of **35**, the synthesis is protecting group free.

We successfully employed this new synthetic route to prepare the corresponding pyrrolidine- and pyrroline-based phosphoramidite ligands **L1** and **L3**.

Along the way, we have optimized the protocol for the organocatalytic reduction of double bonds employing a riboflavine catalyst. With the new reaction protocol for the riboflavine-catalyzed reduction of double bonds, also sterically demanding and compounds prone to racemization under hydrogenative conditions can be reduced smoothly without endangering any stereogenic center.

5. Experimental section

General

Starting materials were purchased from Acros, Sigma-Aldrich or Strem and were used as received unless stated otherwise. All solvents were reagent grade and, if

necessary, dried and distilled prior to use. Toluene was distilled over Na, THF and diethylether were distilled over Na/benzophenone. Column chromatography was performed on silica gel (Silicycle SiliaFlash P60, 230-400 mesh). TLC was performed on silica gel 60/Kieselguhr F254. ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on a Varian Gemini 200, a Varian VXR300 (299.97 MHz for ¹H, 75.48 MHz for ¹³C) or a Varian AMX400 (399.93 MHz for ¹H, 100.59 MHz for ¹³C) spectrometer. Chemical shifts are reported in δ values (ppm) relative to literature values of solvents and reference compounds.⁶⁰ The following abbreviations are used to indicate multiplicity: s (singlet), d (doublet), t (triplet), g (guartet), m (multiplet), br (broad). Mass spectra (HRMS) were performed on a Orbitrap system from Thermo Scientific. HPLC analysis was performed on a Shimadzu HPLC system equipped with two LC-10AD vp solvent delivery systems, a DGU-14 A degasser, a SIL-10AD vp auto injector, an SPD-M10 A vp diode array detector, a CTO-10 A vp column oven and an SCL-10A vp system controller by using the columns indicated for each compound separately. All glassware was flame-dried prior to use unless noted otherwise. Phosphochloridite 45⁵⁹, Iridacycle 19^{29,61} and riboflavin **44**⁵⁵ were synthesized according to literature procedures.

(E)-3-(2-Methoxyphenyl)prop-2-en-1-ol 29a



dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (50 ml) and cooled to -78 °C, then 1.50 eq. diisobutylaluminum hydride (18.50 ml, 18.50 mmol) solution (c = 1.0 M in CH_2CI_2) was added dropwise. The mixture was allowed to warm to ambient temperature and stirred for 16 h. After completion of the reaction, as judged by TLC, 50 mL of a saturated solution of Rochelle's salt

(potassium sodium tartrate) was added and the resulting slurry stirred at rt for 2 h. The mixture was then extracted with Et₂O (3x 20 mL) and washed with water (2x 30 mL). The combined organic phases were dried over MgSO₄ and all volatiles were removed in vacuo to give (E)-3-(2-methoxyphenyl)prop-2-en-1-ol 29a (2.025 g, 12.33 mmol, guant.) as a colourless oil. The product was used directly in the next reaction without further purification.

(E)-Ethyl 3-(naphthalen-2-yl)acrylate 31

According to a literature procedure,⁴¹ 1.0 eq. triethyl phosphonoacetate (3.97 ml,



20.0 mmol) was dissolved in 75 mL dry THF at rt. Then, 1.0 eq methylmagnesium bromide (6.67 ml, 20.0 mmol) solution (c = 3.0 M) was added dropwise via syringe. The solution was stirred at r.t. for 15 min. Then, a solution of 1.1 eq. naphthaldehyde 30 (3.44 g, 22.0 mmol) in 25 mL dry THF was added slowly through a syringe. The resulting yellow mixture was

heated at reflux for 16 h. After cooling to rt, the reaction was guenched by addition of sat, ag, NH₄Cl solution (50 ml). The mixture was extracted with diethvl ether (3x 25 mL), dried over MgSO₄, and subsequently, all volatiles were removed *in vacuo* to yield a yellow solid. The crude product was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 800:15, R_f = 0.2 in pentane/EtOAc 100:1) to yield 3.39 g (15.0 mmol, 75%) of the desired product **31** as a white powder. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.94 (s, 1H), 7.90 – 7.80 (m, 4H), 7.67 (dd, *J* = 8.6, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 7.56 – 7.47 (m, 2H), 6.55 (d, *J* = 16.0 Hz, 1H), 4.29 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.39 – 1.33 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 3H). HRMS-ESI⁺: *m*/*z* [M+H]⁺ calcd for C₁₅H₁₅NO₂: 227.1067; found: 227.1065

(E)-3-(Naphthalen-2-yl)prop-2-en-1-ol 29b

OH

(E)-Ethyl 3-(naphthalen-2-yl)acrylate 31 (1.0 eq., 9.866 g, 43.6 mmol) was



29b

dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (50 ml) and cooled to -78 °C. To this solution, 2.4 eq. diisobutylaluminum hydride (105 ml, 105 mmol) solution (c = 1.0 in CH₂Cl₂) was added dropwise. The reaction mixture was stirred for 1 h at the same temperature. When TLC analysis showed complete dissappearence of the starting material, the

reaction mixture was warmed to rt and a 100 mL sat. solution of Rochelle's salt was added carefully to quench the reaction. This mixture was stirred vigorously at rt for 3 h. This mixture was extracted with CH_2Cl_2 (3x 50 mL). The combined organic phases were dried over MgSO₄ and all volatiles were removed *in vacuo* to yield (*E*)-3-(naphthalen-2-yl)prop-2-en-1-ol **29b** (5.46 g, 29.6 mmol, 68 %) as a white powder. This was used without further purification. (R_f = 0.25 in Pentane / EtOAc 40:1) ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.82 (ddd, *J* = 13.5, 8.2, 3.7 Hz, 3H), 7.74 (s, 1H), 7.61 (dd, *J* = 8.6, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 7.52 – 7.41 (m, 2H), 6.79 (d, *J* = 15.9 Hz, 1H), 6.50 (dt, *J* = 15.9, 5.7 Hz, 1H), 4.39 (td, *J* = 5.8, 1.4 Hz, 2H), 1.49 (t, *J* = 5.9 Hz, 1H). HRMS-ESI⁺: *m*/*z* [M+H⁺-H₂O] calcd for C₁₃H₁₁: 167.0855; found: 167.0852.

(Z)-But-2-ene-1,4-diyl dimethyl dicarbonate 3462

(Z)-But-2-ene-1,4-diol (1.0 eq., 5.0 ml, 60.7 mmol), 2.0 eq. pyridine (9.82 ml, 121



mmol) were dissolved in CH_2Cl_2 (50 ml) at 0 °C, then 2.2 eq. chloro methylformiate (10.32 ml, 134 mmol) were added dropwise and the mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature. After TLC showed full conversion (~1 h), the mixture was extracted 3x with aq. HCl (2N) and the resulting

organic phases were dried over Na₂SO₄. After removal of all volatiles *in vacuo*, (*Z*)but-2-ene-1,4-diyl dimethyl dicarbonate **34** (11.91 g, 58.3 mmol, 96 %) was isolated as a white solid. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 5.75 – 5.67 (m, 2H), 4.69 – 4.63 (m, 4H), 3.70 – 3.65 (m, 6H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 155.28, 127.74, 62.90, 54.61. HRMS-ESI⁺: *m/z* [M+Na⁺] calcd for C₁₈H₁₂O₆Na: 227.0526; found: 227.0535.

General procedure for the synthesis of allylic carbonates 32:

To a solution of allyl alcohol **29** (1.0 eq.) and pyridine (2.2 eq.) in CH_2Cl_2 (20 mL/mmol) methyl chloroformate (2.0 eq.) was added dropwise at 0 °C. After 5 min. the solution was warmed to room temperature and was stirred for 1 h. Then, it was washed with aq. HCl (2N) (3x 5 mL/mmol) and dried over Na_2SO_4 . The corresponding products **32** were obtained as a white solid after evaporation of the solvent.

(E)-3-(2-Methoxyphenyl)allyl methyl carbonate 32a

According to the general procedure, 1.00 eq. (E)-3-(2-methoxyphenyl)prop-2-en-1-



ol **29a** (2.025 g, 12.33 mmol) was transformed to (*E*)-3-(2-methoxyphenyl)allyl methyl carbonate **32a** (2.20 g, 9.90 mmol, 80 %) as a white powder. ¹H NMR (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.43 (dd, *J* = 7.6, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 7.32 – 7.15 (m, 1H), 6.97 (d, *J* = 4.2 Hz, 1H), 6.88 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 6.49 – 6.18 (m, 1H), 4.89 – 4.71 (m, 2H),

3.84 (s, 3H), 3.80 (s, 3H). HRMS-ESI⁺: m/z [M-OCO₂Me] calcd for C₁₁H₁₀O: 147.0810; found: 147.0804.

(E)-Methyl 3-(naphthalen-2-yl)allyl carbonate 32b⁶³

2-Vinylnaphthalene 33 (1.00 eq., 0.154 g, 1.00 mmol) was dissolved in 10 mL



, 0.154 g, 1.00 mmol) was dissolved in 10 mL CH_2Cl_2 at room temperature and butenedimethylcarbonate **34** (2.00 eq., 0.409 g, 2.00 mmol) were added. Then, a solution of 5 mol% Hoveyda-Grubbs 2nd generation catalyst (0.031 g, 0.05 mmol) in 0.5 mL CH_2Cl_2 was added and the reaction mixture was heated at

reflux for 16 h. After cooling, all volatiles were removed *in vacuo* to give a browngreen solid. This was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 20:1, $R_f = 0.8$ in pentane/EtOAc 10:1) to give **32b** as a white powder (0.218 g, 0.9 mmol, 90%). ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 7.90 - 7.72$ (m, 4H), 7.60 (m, 1H), 7.48 (m, 2H), 6.86 (d, J = 15.9 Hz, 1H), 6.43 (dt, J = 15.8, 6.4 Hz, 1H), 4.86 (dd, J = 6.4, 1.2 Hz, 2H), 3.85 - 3.82 (s, 2H). ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 155.66$, 134.85, 133.44, 133.42, 133.20, 128.28, 128.05, 127.64, 127.01, 126.33, 126.15, 123.41, 122.70, 68.46, 54.85. HRMS-ESI⁺: *m/z* [M-OCO₂Me]⁺ calcd for C₁₃H₁₁: 167.0861; found: 167.0853.

(S)-Bis((S)-1-(2-methoxyphenyl)allyl)amine 35a

(E)-3-(2-Methoxyphenyl)allyl methyl carbonate 32a (1.0 eq., 0.027 g, 0.121 mmol)



35a

and 0.06 eq. (S,S,S)-**19** (0.010 g, 7.25 µmol) were mixed in a dried Schlenk tube and 1 mL ammonia in EtOH (c = 2.0 M) was added. THF was added until all starting materials were dissolved (~0.7 mL). The reaction was stirred for 16 h at rt. The conversion was

42

checked by TLC analysis. After full conversion was reached, all volatiles were removed *in vacuo* to yield the crude product, which was further purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, Pet-ether 40-60/EtOAc 20:1 + 1% NEt₃, R_f = 0.45 in Pet-ether 40-60/ EtOAc 10:1) to yield (*S*)-bis((*S*)-1-(2-methoxyphenyl)allyl)amine **35a** as a white solid (0.033 g, 0.106 mmol, 88 %, 99% ee). ¹H NMR (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.33 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 7.29 – 7.14 (m, 2H), 7.06 – 6.78 (m, 4H), 6.23 – 5.81 (m, 2H), 5.26 – 4.94 (m, 4H), 4.53 (t, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 3.77 (s, 3H), 3.75 (s, 3H), 2.14 (s (br), 1H). ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.16, 140.33, 128.39, 127.82, 120.71, 114.64, 110.69, 104.99, 57.29, 55.29. HRMS-ESI⁺: *m/z* [M+H⁺] calcd for C₂₀H₂₄NO₂: 310.1802; found: 310.1800. HPLC analysis: The ee was determined by HPLC analysis, Chiralpak AD (*n*-heptane/*i*-PrOH 99:1, 200 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times (min.) *S*,*S*-enantiomer: 4.49, *R*,*R*-enantiomer: 5.03. The enantiomeric excess was obtained by comparison of both the pure enantiomers as well as a mixture of both enantiomers of **35a**.

(S)-Bis((S)-1-(naphthalen-2-yl)allyl)amine 35b

In a glovebox, (E)-methyl (3-(naphthalen-2-yl)allyl) carbonate 32b (1.00 eq., 0.242



g, 1.00 mmol) and 6.00 mol% **19** (0.083 g, 0.060 mmol) were introduced into a flamedried Schlenk tube. After sealing, the tube was taken out of the glovebox, flushed with nitrogen and 1.5 mL of a 2.0 M solution of ammonia in ethanol was added. Then, dry THF was added dropwise until all of the starting material was dissolved (~0.8 mL).

The yellow mixture was stirred at room temperature for 16 h. After full conversion was reached, as checked by TLC, all volatiles were removed *in vacuo* and the resulting yellow oil was purified by flash chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 40:1 + 1% NEt₃, R_f = 0.85 in pentane/EtOAc 10:1) to yield (*S*)-bis((*S*)-1- (naphthalen-2-yl)allyl)amine **35b** (0.166 g, 0.475 mmol, 95 % yield) as a colourless oil. $[\alpha]_D^{20} = -104.6$ (c = 1.02, CHCl₃) ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 7.97 - 7.81$ (m, 6H), 7.77 (s, 2H), 7.62 - 7.40 (m, 6H), 6.26 - 5.90 (m, 2H), 5.33 (t, *J* = 1.4 Hz, 1H), 5.28 - 5.21 (m, 2H), 5.20 - 5.15 (m, 1H), 4.41 (d, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 2H), 3.86 (s (br), 1H). ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 140.80$, 140.01, 133.45, 132.85, 128.29, 127.81, 127.63, 126.13, 125.98, 125.64, 125.61, 115.23, 62.28. HRMS-ESI⁺: *m/z* [M+H]⁺ calcd for C₂₆H₂₄N: 350.1909; found: 350.1901. HPLC analysis: *ee* was determined by HPLC analysis, Chiralpak AD (*n*-heptane/*i*-PrOH 95:5, 215 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times (min.) *S*,*S*-enantiomer: 4.05, *R*,*R*-enantiomer: 4.67. The enantiomeric excess was obtained by comparison of both the pure enantiomers as well as a mixture of both enantiomers of **35b**.

(2S,5S)-2,5-Di(naphthalen-2-yl)-2,5-dihydro-1H-pyrrole 37

(S)-Bis((S)-1-(naphthalen-2-yl)allyl)amine 35b (1.00 eq., 0.330 g, 0.944 mmol) was



dissolved in 10 mL EtOAc at r.t. and 5 mL hydrogen bromide solution (32% in AcOH) was added. After stirring for 5 min, all volatiles were removed *in vacuo* and the yellow oil was dried under vacuum for 16 h to yield a pale yellow solid. This was

dissolved in decassed DCE (5.00 mL) and subsequently 2.0 mol% Hoveyda-Grubbs 2nd generation catalyst (0.024 g, 0.038 mmol) in 1 mL of DCE (5.00 mL) were added. This mixture was heated to reflux for 6 h. Then. 2.0 mol% of catalyst were added and the reaction mixture was heated at reflux for 16 hours. The conversion of the reaction was checked by ¹H NMR (Samples were washed with 2N ag. KOH and extracted with CH₂Cl₂). After cooling, the mixture was filtered and the resulting brown solid was washed several times with acetone to yield the HBr salt of the desired product 37 as an off-white solid after drying. The resulting organic phase was washed with 2N aq. KOH solution (3x 10 mL). After reextraction of the aqueous layers with 10 mL CH₂Cl₂, the combined organic phases were dried over Na₂SO₄ and all volatiles were removed in vacuo to yield a dark green solid. This was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, Pentane/EtOAc 20:1 + 1% NEt₃, $R_f = 0.5$ in Pentane/EtOAc 10:1) to yield (2S,5S)-2,5di(naphthalen-2-yl)-2,5-dihydro-1H-pyrrole 37 (0.240 g, 0.746 mmol, 79 % yield) as a white powder. (Combined vield from column chromatography and filtration). [a]²⁰ = -521.25 (c = 1.01, CHCl₃). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.90 - 7.80 (m, 8H), 7.54 (m, 2H), 7.52 – 7.42 (m, 4H), 6.11 (m, 2H), 5.56 (m, 2H), 2.44 (s (br), 1H). ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃); $\delta = 141.72$, 133.49, 132.91, 132.49, 128.55, 128.36. 127.83, 127.65, 126.64, 126.08, 125.67, 125.32, 125.11, 69.57. HRMS-ESI+: m/z [M+H]⁺ calcd for C₂₄H₂₀N: 322.1596; found: 322.1591. HPLC analysis: ee was determined by HPLC analysis, Chiralcel OD-H (n-heptane/i-PrOH 95.5:0.5, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times (min.) S.S-enantiomer: 9.47, R.Renantiomer: 10.29. The enantiomeric excess was obtained by comparison of both the pure enantiomers as well as a mixture of both enantiomers of 37.

(2S,5S)-2,5-Di(naphthalen-2-yl)pyrrolidine 26²⁵

(2S,5S)-2,5-Di(naphthalen-2-yl)-2,5-dihydro-1H-pyrrole 37 (1.00 eq., 0.142 g, 0.442



mmol) (or the corresponding HBr salt) was dissolved in 10 mL CH_2Cl_2 at r.t., an oxygen atmosphere was applied (1 atm) and the reaction mixture was stirred extremely vigourously. Then, via syringe pump, a solution of riboflavin catalyst **44** (0.180 g) in 10 mL ethanol and an excess hydrazine

hydrate (4.30 ml, 88.00 mmol) were added over a period of 10 h. The reaction mixture was stirred at rt for 16 h and the progress of the reaction was checked by ¹H NMR. (Samples were washed with H₂O and extracted with CH₂Cl₂.) The mixture

was washed with water (3x 10 mL), the aqueous layers were reextracted with CH_2Cl_2 (10 mL) and the organic layers combined. After drying over Na_2SO_4 , all volatiles were removed *in vacuo* to yield a pale yellow solid. This was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 20:1 + 1% NEt₃, $R_f = 0.3$ in pentane/EtOAc 10:1) to yield (2S,5S)-2,5-di(naphthalen-2-yl)pyrrolidine **26** (0.116 g, 0.358 mmol, 81 % yield) as a white powder. $[\alpha]_D^{20} = -127.9$ (c = 0.91, CHCl₃). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 7.94 - 7.82$ (m, 8H), 7.61 (dd, J = 8.5, 1.7 Hz, 2H), 7.55 - 7.42 (m, 4H), 4.82 (t, J = 6.8 Hz, 2H), 2.66 - 2.46 (m, 2H), 2.39 (s (br), 1H), 2.07 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 143.16$, 133.41, 132.63, 128.29, 127.76, 127.60, 126.03, 125.47, 124.99, 124.50, 62.47, 35.53. HRMS-ESI⁺: *m/z* [M+H]⁺ calcd for C₂₄H₂₂N: 324.1752; found: 324.1745. HPLC analysis: *ee* was determined by HPLC analysis, Chiralpak AD (*n*-heptane/*i*-PrOH 95:5, 225 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times (min.) *R*,*R*-enantiomer: 12.33, *S*,*S*-enantiomer: 15.03. The enantiomeric excess was obtained by comparison of both the pure enantiomers as well as a mixture of both enantiomers of **26**.

(S,S,S)-Phosphoramidite ligand L1¹⁷

(2S,5S)-2,5-di(naphthalen-2-yl)pyrrolidine 26 (1.00 eq., 0.085 g, 0.263 mmol),



grippinoidine **26** (1.00 eq., 0.083 g, 0.203 minior), triethylamine (5.00 eq., 0.183 ml, 1.314 mmol) and DMAP (0.01 eq., 3.2 mg, 0.027 mmol) were dissolved in 5 mL toluene and cooled to 0 °C. To this, a 0.5 molar solution of (*S*)-phosphochloridite **45** (1.20 eq., 0.631 ml, 0.315 mmol) was added dropwise. The reaction was allowed to warm up to room temperature and stirred for 16 h. Then, all volatiles were removed *in vacuo* and the residual off-white solid was purified by column chromatography. (SiO₂, Pentate / EtOAc 10:1 + 1% NEt₃, R_f = 0.9 in pentane / EtOAc 10:1) to yield phosphoramidite **L1** (0.100 g, 0.157 mmol, 60% yield) as a white powder. $[a]_0^{20} = -6.2$ (c = 0.86, CHCl₃). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 7.98 – 7.79 (m, 10H), 7.56 (m, 5H), 7.44 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 7.35 – 7.29 (m, 3H), 7.25 – 7.15 (m, 2H), 7.11 (m, 2H),

6.60 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 5.87 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 5.39 (d, J = 6.6 Hz, 2H), 2.54 (m, 2H), 1.81 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 149.48$, 149.04, 143.39, 143.29, 133.43, 132.75, 131.25, 130.19, 129.89, 128.26, 127.99, 127.70, 127.06, 126.94, 126.24, 125.70, 125.41, 125.22, 124.58, 123.98, 121.91, 120.84, 62.86, 33.23. ³¹P-NMR (162 MHz, CDCl₃): $\delta = 145.98$. HRMS-APCl⁺: m/z [M+H]⁺ calcd for C₄₄H₃₃NO₂P: 638.2249; found: 638.2245.

(S,S,S)-Phosphoramidite ligand L3

(2S,5S)-2,5-Di(naphthalen-2-yl)-2,5-dihydro-1H-pyrrole 37 (1.0 eq. 0.065 g, 0.202



mmol) was dissolved in toluene (2 ml) and cooled to -78 °C. Then, 1.0 eq. *n*BuLi (0.126 ml, 0.202 mmol) solution (c = 1.6 M) was added slowly. The reaction mixture was stirred at -78 ° for 2 h, then the lithium amide solution was added to a solution of (S)phosphorchloridite **45** (0.485 ml, 0.243 mmol) in toluene (10 mL), which was cooled to 0 °C. The mixture was stirred overnight and was allowed to warm up to rt. Subsequently, the reaction mixture was filtered through celite and all volatiles were removed *in vacuo* to yield the crude product as a yellow solid. This was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane / EtOAc 20:1 + 1% NEt₃, R_f = 0.9 in pentane / EtOAc 10:1) to yield **L3** (0.050 g, 0.079 mmol, 39%) as a white solid. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.87 (d,

 $J = 8.1 \text{ Hz}, 2\text{H}, 7.78 \text{ (dd, } J = 8.7, 5.5 \text{ Hz}, 4\text{H}, 7.61 - 7.42 \text{ (m, 12H)}, 7.32 - 7.17 \text{ (m, 6H)}, 6.21 \text{ (d, } J = 8.8 \text{ Hz}, 1\text{H}), 6.04 \text{ (s, 2H)}, 5.99 \text{ (d, } J = 8.7 \text{ Hz}, 1\text{H}), 5.86 \text{ (s, 2H)}. ^{13}\text{C}$ NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 140.29, 133.52, 133.09, 132.00, 131.24, 131.05, 130.08, 128.69, 128.46, 128.12, 127.93, 127.66, 127.62, 127.14, 126.63, 126.49, 126.21, 126.10, 125.76, 125.70, 125.56, 125.14, 124.56, 123.68, 123.14, 121.87, 120.98, 69.98. ^{31}\text{P} NMR (162 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 145.22. $[\alpha]_{\text{o}}^{20} = -12.4 \text{ (c = 0.77 in CHCl_3)}.$ HRMS-ESI⁺: m/z [M+H]⁺ calcd for C₄₄H₃₁NO₂P: 636.2105; found: 636.2105.

6. References

- (1) Whitesell, J. K. *Chem. Rev.* **1989**, *89*, 1581-1590.
- (2) Ikegami, S.; Hayama, T.; Katsuki, T.; Yamaguchi, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1986**, *27*, 3403-3406.
- (3) Kitagawa, O.; Hanano, T.; Kikuchi, N.; Taguchi, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1993**, *34*, 2165-2168.
- (4) Uchikawa, M.; Hanamoto, T.; Katsuki, T.; Yamaguchi, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1986**, 27, 4577-4580.
- (5) Shi, M.; Satoh, Y.; Masaki, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin. Trans. 1 1998, 2547-2552.
- (6) Chen, H. F.; Sweet, J. A.; Lam, K. C.; Rheingold, A. L.; McGrath, D. V. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2009**, *20*, 1672-1682.
- (7) Sweet, J. A.; Cavallari, J. M.; Price, W. A.; Ziller, J. W.; McGrath, D. V. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **1997**, *8*, 207-211.
- (8) Melchiorre, P.; Jørgensen, K. A. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 4151-4157.
- Bertelsen, S.; Halland, N.; Bachmann, S.; Marigo, M.; Braunton, A.; Jørgensen, K. A. Chem. Commun. 2005, 4821-4823.
- (10) Halland, N.; Braunton, A.; Bachmann, S.; Marigo, M.; Jørgensen, K. A. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2004**, *126*, 4790-4791.
- (11) Marigo, M.; Bachmann, S.; Halland, N.; Braunton, A.; Jørgensen, K. A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 5507-5510.

- (12) Feringa, B. L. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 346-353.
- (13) Teichert, J. F.; Feringa, B. L. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 2486-2528.
- (14) Trost, B. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1986, 25, 1-20.
- (15) Trost, B. M.; Stambuli, J. P.; Silverman, S. M.; Schwörer, U. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2006**, *128*, 13328-13329.
- (16) Trost, B. M.; Cramer, N.; Silverman, S. M. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2007**, *129*, 12396-12397.
- (17) Trost, B. M.; Silverman, S. M.; Stambuli, J. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 12398-12399.
- (18) Davis, F. A.; Song, M. S.; Augustine, A. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 2779-2786.
- (19) Pastine, S. J.; Gribkov, D. V.; Sames, D. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2006**, *128*, 14220-14221.
- (20) Aggarwal, V. K.; Sandrinelli, F.; Charmant, J. P. H. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2002**, *13*, 87-93.
- (21) Aldous, D. J.; Dutton, W. M.; Steel, P. G. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2000**, *11*, 2455-2462.
- (22) Campos, K. R.; Klapars, A.; Waldman, J. H.; Dormer, P. G.; Chen, C. Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 3538-3539.
- (23) Beak, P.; Basu, A.; Gallagher, D. J.; Park, Y. S.; Thayumanavan, S. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **1996**, *29*, 552-560.
- (24) Beak, P.; Kerrick, S. T.; Wu, S. D.; Chu, J. X. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1994**, *116*, 3231-3239.
- (25) Sato, M.; Gunji, Y.; Ikeno, T.; Yamada, T. Synthesis 2004, 1434-1438.
- (26) Nevar, N. M.; Kel'in, A. V.; Kulinkovich, O. G. Synthesis 2000, 1259-1262.
- (27) Yamada, T.; Nagata, T.; Sugi, K. D.; Yorozu, K.; Ikeno, T.; Ohtsuka, Y.; Miyazaki, D.; Mukaiyama, T. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2003**, *9*, 4485-4509.
- (28) Nagata, T.; Imagawa, K.; Yamada, T.; Mukaiyama, T. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **1995**, 68, 1455-1465.
- (29) Pouy, M. J.; Leitner, A.; Weix, D. J.; Ueno, S.; Hartwig, J. F. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 3949-3952.
- (30) Parvulescu, A.; De Vos, D.; Jacobs, P. Chem. Commun. 2005, 5307-5309.
- (31) Parvulescu, A. N.; Jacobs, P. A.; De Vos, D. E. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2007**, *13*, 2034-2043.
- Yajima, A.; Qin, Y.; Zhou, X.; Kawanishi, N.; Xiao, X.; Wang, J.; Zhang, D.; Wu, Y.; Nukada, T.; Yabuta, G.; Qi, J. H.; Asano, T.; Sakagami, Y. *Nature Chem. Biol.* 2008, *4*, 235-237.
- (33) Nishimura, T.; Guo, X. X.; Uchiyama, N.; Katoh, T.; Hayashi, T. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2008**, *130*, 1576-+.
- (34) Nakai, T.; Yajima, A.; Akasaka, K.; Kaihoku, T.; Ohtaki, M.; Nukada, T.; Ohrui, H.; Yabuta, G. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* **2005**, *69*, 2401-2408.
- (35) Dandapani, S.; Jeske, M.; Curran, D. P. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 9447-9462.
- (36) Schwartz, B. D.; Hayes, P. Y.; Kitching, W.; De Voss, J. J. *J. Org. Chem.* **2005**, *70*, 3054-3065.
- (37) Mori, K.; Ohtaki, T.; Ohrui, H.; Berkebile, D. R.; Carlson, D. A. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2004**, 1089-1096.
- (38) Smith, G. V.; Wang, Y.; Song, R.; Jackson, M. Cat. Today 1998, 44, 119-127.
- (39) Rakoff, H.; Rohwedder, W. K. *Lipids* **1992**, *27*, 567-569.
- (40) Smith, G. V.; Roth, J. A.; Desai, D. S.; Kosco, J. L. J. Cat. 1973, 30, 79-85.
- (41) Claridge, T. D. W.; Davies, S. G.; Lee, J. A.; Nicholson, R. L.; Roberts, P. M.; Russell, A. J.; Smith, A. D.; Toms, S. M. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 5437-5440.
- (42) Grubbs, R. H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 3760-3765.
- (43) Chatterjee, A. K.; Choi, T. L.; Sanders, D. P.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 11360-11370.

- (44) Malcolmson, S. J.; Meek, S. J.; Sattely, E. S.; Schrock, R. R.; Hoveyda, A. H. *Nature* **2008**, *456*, 933-937.
- (45) Weihofen, R.; Tverskoy, E.; Helmchen, G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 5546-5549.
- (46) Binder, J. B.; Blank, J. J.; Raines, R. T. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4885-4888.
- (47) Jordan, J. P.; Grubbs, R. H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 5152-5155.
- (48) Louie, J.; Bielawski, C. W.; Grubbs, R. H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2001**, *123*, 11312-11313.
- (49) *Handbook of Homogeneous Hydrogenation*; de Vries, J. G.; Elsevier, C. J., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2007.
- (50) Pasto, D. J.; Taylor, R. T. In Organic Reactions 2004, p 91-155.
- (51) Marsh, B. J.; Carbery, D. R. J. Org. Chem. 2009, 74, 3186-3188.
- (52) Haukaas, M. H.; O'Doherty, G. A. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 1771-1774.
- (53) Harrowven, D. C.; Sutton, B. J.; Coulton, S. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2003**, *1*, 4047-4057.
- (54) Harrowven, D. C.; Sutton, B. J.; Coulton, S. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 3387-3400.
- (55) Smit, C.; Fraaije, M. W.; Minnaard, A. J. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73, 9482-9485.
- (56) Tang, H. R.; McKee, M. L.; Stanbury, D. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 8967-8973.
- (57) Pasto, D. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1979**, 101, 6852-6857.
- (58) Teichert, J. F.; den Hartog, T.; Hanstein, M.; Smit, C.; ter Horst, B.; Hernandez-Olmos, V.; Feringa, B. L.; Minnaard, A. J. **2010**, submitted.
- (59) Smith, C. R.; Mans, D.; RajanBabu, T. V. Org. Synth. 2008, 85, 238-247.
- (60) Gottlieb, H. E.; Kotlyar, V.; Nudelman, A. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 7512-7515.
- (61) Kiener, C. A.; Shu, C. T.; Incarvito, C.; Hartwig, J. F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2003**, *125*, 14272-14273.
- (62) Gnamm, C.; Franck, G.; Miller, N.; Stork, T.; Brödner, K.; Helmchen, G. *Synthesis* **2008**, 3331-3350.
- (63) Stanley, L. M.; Hartwig, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 8971-8983.

Chapter 3

Iridium-catalyzed Allylic Amidation - Asymmetric Synthesis of Tetrahydroisoquinolines and Saturated *N*-Heterocycles

The first intramolecular asymmetric Ir-catalyzed allylic amidation has been developed. Using this transformation, the asymmetric synthesis of chiral nitrogencontaining heterocycles, especially tetrahydroisoquinolines is achieved in excellent yields and enantioselectivities. The products are important chiral building blocks for the synthesis of biologically active products, in particular alkaloids.

Parts of this chapter have been published: Teichert, J.F.; Fañanás-Mastral, M.; Feringa, B.L. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2011**, *123*, 714 - 717.

1 Introduction

1.1 Tetrahydroisoquinolines

Naturally occurina or synthetic compounds based the bicvclic on tetrahydroisoguinoline core are a large class of compounds which often show interesting biological activities.^{1,2} As examples. Reticuline (1) and Tubocurarine (2) are depicted (Figure 1). Reticuline is an alkaloid found in the latex of opium poppy; it has recently been suggested that it is one of the intermediates for the in vivo biosynthesis of morphine, indicating that it is an important compound related to intercellular signalling.^{3,4} Tubocurarine (2) is found in the plant extracts of the climbing plant Chondrodendron tomentosum which has been used by South American natives as arrow poison.¹ It has been used since the 1970s as anaesthetic and 2 and derivatives thereof are in use today as highly active⁵ neuromuscular blocking muscle relaxants.^{6,7}



Figure 1 Examples of biologically active chiral tetrahydroisoquinolines

In living organisms, the tetrahydroisoquinoline core is constructed via two closely related pathways, employing a Mannich-type or Pictet-Spengler-type reaction (Scheme 1):¹ Phenylethylamine precursors **3**, derived from tyrosine, are transformed to tetrahydroisoquinolines **5** either by direct condensation with an aldehyde to form **5** directly, or via the second pathway employing α -ketoacids, that runs via amino acid intermediates **4** followed by decarboxylation to yield **5**. Both pathways have been found in nature, and generally more sophisticated substitutents (R') like aryl groups are introduced as the corresponding aldehydes, whereas simpler substituents like H or Me are usually incorporated to the target structures **5** via the ketoacids.



Scheme 1 Biosynthesis of tetrahydroisoquinolines

1.2 Synthetic approaches to chiral tetrahydroisoquinolines

Tetrahydroisoguinoline compounds represent important targets for synthesis, and therefore much effort has been directed towards the development of efficient enantioselective routes to prepare these important chiral structures.⁸⁻¹³ Generally. the approaches taken from the phenylethylamine 6 follow two distinct routes, mimicking nature's approach to the same compounds.⁸ The first is via Bischler-Napieralsky cyclization of amides 7 followed by hydrogenation/reduction of the resulting iminium ion 8 to 9 and the second is by Pictet-Spengler condensation reactions of 6 with aldehydes to give 9 (Scheme 2). It should be noted that the Pictet-Spengler reaction gives better results when electron-rich aromatic compounds are employed. The Bischler-Napieralksy reaction, on the other hand, has a broader scope in this regard. Although a variety of enantioselective methods using the former approach are known, a general asymmetric Pictet-Spengler reaction to generate tetrahydroisoquinolines with high vields and enantioselectivities is not known so far.8



Scheme 2 General synthetic approaches to tetrahydroisoquinolines

Some of the reported strategies will be discussed briefly. One approach to chiral tetrahydroisoquinolines is based on an asymmetric Ru-catalyzed transfer hydrogenation of cyclic iminium ions – products of the Bischler-Napieralsky reaction - giving tetrahydroisoquinolines **12** bearing unfunctionalized 5- or 6-membered rings.^{14,15} In this case, iminium ion **11** can be converted to the corresponding chiral isoquinoline **12** (n = 1, Crispine A – vide infra) in very good yields and enantioselectivities (Scheme 3). For the asymmetric transfer hydrogenation, a Ru catalyst based on a chiral diamine was employed.



Scheme 3 Asymmetric transfer hydrogenation

An acyl-Mannich reaction to construct the related chiral dihydroisoquinolines **16** has recently been described.¹⁶ With chiral thiourea **15** in 10 mol% loading, the conversion of quinolines **13** with silyl enolether **14** to the desired chiral products **16** proceeds with generally very good yields and enantioselectivities. It has to be noted, though, that the temperature plays a critical role in this transformation and has to be carefully controlled to achieve the reported results, certainly a downside in terms of applicability. To reach the envisaged tetrahydroisoquinolines, one further reduction/hydrogenation step has to be carried out.



Scheme 4 Asymmetric acyl-Mannich reaction

A Lewis acid-catalyzed aromatic cyclization of allylamines **17** was reported.¹⁷ This transformation gives rise to the corresponding *N*-protected tetrahydroisoquinolines **18** with a terminal double bond as substituent in up to excellent yields. These compounds are valuable building blocks with a variety of possibilities for further functionalization. The substituent R' in the α -position to the nitrogen atom was found to have little influence on the diastereoselectivity. It is important to note that for this transformation, only electron-rich aromatic compounds **17** are converted to the desired products **18**. If R = Me, no turnover was found under a number of cyclization conditions. This marks an important downside of this method and the related Pictet-Spengler reaction⁸ which requires activated aromatic compounds for the ring-closing to occur.



Scheme 5 Lewis-acid catalyzed aromatic cyclizations

2 Goal

The aim of this research was to develop a transition-metal based catalytic asymmetric approach to chiral tetrahydroisoquinolines. It should be general in terms of substrate scope and thus independent of the electronic parameters of the aromatic system. In this manner, problems associated with the widely-used Pictet-Spengler reaction should be overcome. Ideally, this approach to chiral nitrogen-containing heterocycles should be general and not be limited to

tetrahydroisoquinolines alone or 6-membered *N*-heterocycles. Needless to say, the formation of both enantiomers should be feasible with high selectivity. We envisaged that an allylic substitution protocol should be able to fulfill all of the above prerequisites. Furthermore, it would furnish a stereogenic center bearing a terminal double bond, which is an ideal starting point for further synthesis. As the last requirement, if an *N*-protecting group had to be employed, it should be easily removable.

3 Results and Discussion

From related studies on β -carboline compounds (see Chapter 4), it was clear that the direct allylic amination approach was not viable, *i.e.* making use of an unprotected ethylamine moiety and employing it as nucleophile for the intramolecular allylic amination. We instead chose to employ a nitrogen-based functional group that could act both as the nucleophile for the allylic substitution as well as acting as a protecting group during the preparation of the desired starting material. As a third requirement, the protecting group should be easily removed after installation of the tetrahydroisoquinoline structure. We therefore chose the (trifluoro)acetamide as a nucleophile/protecting group for our approach.

The Ir-catalyzed asymmetric allylic substitution¹⁸⁻²³ with phosphoramidites²⁴⁻²⁸ as chiral ligands represents powerful synthetic methodology which has found application in many natural product syntheses.^{18,24} One major advantage of the asymmetric iridium-catalyzed allylic substitution is its tolerance towards a large variety of nucleophiles, including ammonia.²⁹⁻³³ Amides as nucleophiles for these transformations have only been reported in the case of potassium trifluoroacetamide as ammonia surrogate²⁹ or in allylic amidation reactions via pathways.^{34,35} decarboxvlative Apart from the aforementioned literature precedents, a general, highly selective allylic amidation had not been developed. therefore we chose to investigate the Ir-catalyzed allylic amidation for the synthesis of tetrahydroisoquinolines. Employing iridium catalysts would enable us to work at ambient temperatures with a well-understood, but still tunable catalyst system.

3.1 Synthetic approach

To synthesize the envisaged starting materials **20** for the allylic amidation, *i.e.* phenylethylamines bearing an *ortho*-allylic carbonate substituent, the approach taken was to make use of a Pd-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction to install the

allylic alcohol moiety (Scheme 6). For this, 2-iodo or 2-bromo phenylethylamine derivatives **21** had to be prepared, which could subsequently be cross-coupled to an appropriate organometallic compound. It turned out that the preparation of the 2-halophenylethylamines **21** represented the bottleneck of the synthesis, since selective *ortho*-halogenation with both electron-rich and –deficient aromatics cannot be achieved via a single methodology. Thus, one of the limitations of the scope for the preparation of tetrahydroisoquinolines via Ir-catalyzed allylic amidation as described in this chapter turned out to be the preparation of the corresponding halogenated starting materials (*vide infra*).



Scheme 6 Retrosynthetic approach

As mentioned before, the usefulness of the trifluoroacetamide group in the selected synthetic approach is twofold. First it serves as protecting group during the synthesis of the allylic carbonates **20**, whose key step relies on a Pd-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction to introduce the allylic moiety (Scheme 6). Here, unprotected amines are generally not accepted. Second, amide **20** serves as the actual nucleophile of the Ir-catalyzed allylic substitution, which furnishes the tetrahydroisoquinoline core **19**. An important property of the trifluoroacetamide group is that the secondary amine moiety could easily be deprotected without jeopardizing the adjacent sensitive allylic-benzylic stereocentre. This is a major advantage over *N*-protecting groups which have to be removed by hydrogenolysis, ^{36,37} or other harsh conditions that could endanger racemization-sensitive stereocenters.³⁸⁻⁴⁸

3.2 Synthesis of starting materials

Synthesis of the 2-halophenylethylamine derivatives

First, the commercially unavailable *ortho*-halophenylethylamine derivatives had to be synthesized. The protection of the primary amines **22** to the corresponding (trifluoro)acetamides **23** with the appropriate anhydrides was carried out (Scheme 7).



Scheme 7 Preparation of (trifluoro)acetamides 23

The choice of the appropriate jodination method was crucial with for a high vielding and regioselective transformation. With electron-rich (trifluoro)acetamides 24, simple iodination with the electrophilic reagent ICI could be achieved according to literature procedures⁴⁹ yielding the desired *ortho*-iodophenylethylamides **26** with high yields and complete regioselectivity (Scheme 8). The preparation of 27 was carried out according to a literature procedure,⁵⁰ starting from the commercially which available nitrile 25. was converted to 27 through а iodination/reduction/protection protocol in good yield.



Scheme 8 Iodination of electron-rich phenylethylamines^{49,50}

However, iodination of *para*-tolylphenylethyltrifluoroacetamide **28a** could not be carried out in a selective fashion according to the same approach due to lack of regioselectivity of the aromatic substitution, which can be attributed to the lower electron density of the aromatic ring. The same holds true for the *para*-chloro derivative **28b**. For the selective *ortho*-iodination of those two compounds, an iodination protocol employing bis(pyridine)iodonium tetrafluoroborate (IPy_2)⁵¹ was employed (Scheme 9).⁵² The corresponding iodides **29** were obtained with excellent yields and regioselectivities. Finally, for the unsubstituted

phenylethylamine derivative **30f** (see Scheme 10), the trifluoroacetamide-derivative of the commercially available bromide was used for the subsequent cross-coupling reaction.



Scheme 9 Selective Iodination with IPy₂

To prepare the corresponding allylic alcohols **31**, a Stille coupling reaction⁵³ with Etributylstannylpropenol⁵⁴ with 5.0 mol% Pd catalyst was carried out at 70 °C (Scheme 10). This coupling method was found to be the highest yielding and most reliable coupling protocol, as established in preliminary studies (see also chapter 4). Iodides **30** were smoothly converted to the allylic alcohols **31** in high yields, an exception being the electron poor para-chloro compound **31e**, with 51% isolated vield. In the case of the bromo-phenylethyltrifluoroacetamide with no further substituents on the aromatic ring, a slightly elevated temperature of 90 °C had to be used to achieve full conversion to the desired product. Already at this stage the detrimental performance of the acetamide protection group in comparison to the trifluoroacetamide group was visible, since the acetamide-protected allylic alcohol **31f** was isolated in substantially lower yield, due to the (unexpected) considerably higher polarity and subsequent difficult purification. This general trend is visible through the following transformations, further supporting the choice of trifluoroacetamide as the protecting group. Conversion of the allylic alcohols 31 to the corresponding carbonates 32 with methyl chloroformate proceeded in high vields.



Scheme 10 Stille coupling and transformation to allylic carbonates

Synthesis of the linear allylic carbonates

The synthesis of the linear allylic carbonates for the allylic amidation to give saturated *N*-heterocycles is straightforward (Scheme 11). Trifluoroacetamide (**33**) was alkylated with bromoalkenes of varying chain lengths to give the corresponding terminal alkenes **34** in excellent yields. Alkenes **34** were subsequently transformed to the allylic carbonates **35** by cross-metathesis with Z-butenediyl methyl carbonate in good yields,³¹ employing Hoveyda-Grubbs 2nd generation catalyst (Scheme 11).⁵⁵ It is important to note that for the latter reaction to occur in high yields, elevated temperatures of 70 °C were necessary. Reactions in refluxing CH₂Cl₂ gave low conversions to the corresponding carbonates **35**.



Scheme 11 Preparation of linear allylic carbonates

3.3 Catalyst optimization

Base screening

One of the most influential components of the Ir-catalyzed allylic amidation turned out to be the base. Not only were substantial changes in the conversion of the benchmark substrate **32a** observed, but the base proved to be highly influential in terms of enantioselectivity. Compound **32a** was chosen as the starting point of the investigation since the 4,5-dimethoxy substitution of **37a** is very common in naturally occuring tetrahydroisoquinoline alkaloids, but also it served as a point of 58

comparison to the related Pd-based catalytic systems.^{13,49} We set off to investigate the influence of various bases on the catalytic system, which was comprised of preformed iridacycle **36** in THF at 50 °C (Table 1).²⁰ In **36**, two phosphoramidite ligands are bound to the Ir, one in a κ^1 fashion via the P atom and one in a κ^2 fashion, where both a P and a C atom coordinate to Ir to form a five-membered iridacycle. DBU gave 70% conversion and 81% *ee* (Table 1, entry 1). With catalytic amounts of DBU the same enantioselectivity was found, however the reactions did not achieve full conversion to **37a**. Other related organic bases such as TBD and DABCO (see Table 1), which had been reported earlier in combination with Ir catalysts for allylic substitutions^{56,57} led to significantly lower or no conversion and low enantioselectivities (Table 1, entry 2). In the case of TBD, the starting material was recovered (Table 1, entry 2). Inorganic bases such as K₃PO₄ and Cs₂CO₃ (Table 1, entries 3,4) performed similarly disappointing with regard to conversion and enantioselectivities.



Table 1 Base Screening^a

Entry	Base	Conversion ^b	ee ^c
1	DBU^d	70%	81%
2	TBD ^e	n.d.	n.d.
3	K ₃ PO ₄	10%	19%
4	Cs ₂ CO ₃	15%	22%

Entry	Base	Conversion ^b	ee ^c
5	DABCO ^f	10%	31%

^a Reaction conditions: 1.0 eq. **32a** (16.9 mg, 0.05 mmol), 5.0 mol% **36** (3.45 mg, 0.0025 mmol) and 1.0 eq. base (0.05 mmol) were dissolved in 1 mL THF and stirred under a N₂ atmosphere at 50 °C for 20 h. ^bDetermined by HPLC. ^cDetermined by chiral HPLC, see experimental section. ^d1,8-Diazabicyclo[5.4.0]undec-7-ene. ^e1,5,7-Triazabicyclo[4.4.0]dec-5-ene. ^f1,4-Diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane.



From these results it became clear that the base plays a crucial role for the performance of the catalyst with regard to both turnover as well as stereodiscrimination. This seems to be in contrast with some of the previously reported allylic amination protocols which work well without a base (apart from the catalytic amounts of base necessary for the activation of the catalyst).^{20,23,57} In those cases, the alkoxide leaving group acts as an additional base to neutralize the protons of the nucleophile. One could speculate that the positively charged counterion that is formed by protonation of the base could have an influence on the allylic substitution, possibly due to a coordinating and thus activating effect of the leaving group or the nucleophile. Additional studies are clearly needed to elucidate the role of the base in allylic substitutions with iridacycles as catalysts.

Catalyst optimization

Further investigations to improve the catalytic allylic amidation were carried out. With preformed iridacycle **36** at elevated temperatures (50 °C) the reaction did not reach full conversion overnight, and the desired tetrahydroisoquinoline **37a** could be isolated in only 33% yield (Table 2, entry 1). However, we were delighted to find that an *in situ* formed iridacycle, prepared from catalytic amounts of phosphoramidite ligand **L1** and [Ir(COD)CI]₂, showed a higher activity and led to full conversion (73% yield) under the same conditions (Table 2, entry 2) with similar enantioselectivities (83% *ee*). This effect could be explained by the fact that in preformed catalyst **36**, the κ^1 -phosphoramidite has to decoordinate to liberate a coordination site for the intermediate Ir-allyl species^{22,58,59} to form. In the case of the *in situ* prepared iridacycle, only one equivalent of phosphoramidite ligand **L1**

with respect to the iridium is present, so that the last coordination site of the catalyst is most probably occupied by a solvent molecule, in our case THF. This is expected to dissociate more quickly, giving rise to a much more active catalyst. One would hypothesize that the enantioselectivity should remain the same for both catalysts, since the ligand staying on the Ir atom stays the same, which is in accordance to our observations (Table 2, entries 1,2). It has been established earlier that it is the stereogenic center of the iridacycle that governs the stereodiscrimination of the transformation.⁶⁰ Lowering the temperature (RT) did not affect the enantioselectivity but again resulted in incomplete conversion (Table 2, entry 3). Turning to the related, methoxy-substituted phosphoramidite L2,⁶¹ we found the product of the intramolecular asymmetric allylic amidation in excellent enantioselectivities (95% ee), with an even higher yield observed at room temperature (Table 2, entries 4.5). The ortho-methoxy substitution of L2 clearly has a remarkable effect on the transformation. However, it is not established whether this effect has its origin in a possible additional coordination, changes in the electronic properties or steric effects of ligand L2. Particularly noteworthy is the fact that when the corresponding acetamide was subjected to the optimized reaction conditions, no allylic amidation occurred even at elevated temperatures (Table 2, entry 6), indicating that trifluoroacetamides possess ideal electronic and/or acidic requirements for the asymmetric transformation envisaged.



Table 2 Catalyst optimization^a
3	CF ₃ (32a)	lr/L1 ^d	RT	55% ^e	80%
4	CF ₃ (32a)	lr/L2 ^d	50 °C	82%	94%
5	CF ₃ (32a)	lr/L2 ^d	RT	90%	95%
6	CH₃ (32f)	Ir/ L2 ^d	50 °C	n.d.	n.d.

^aReaction conditions: 1.0 eq. **32a** or **32f** (0.05 mmol), 5.0 mol% Ir catalyst (0.0025 mmol) and 1.0 eq. DBU (8 μ L, 0.05 mmol) were dissolved in 1 mL THF and stirred under a N₂ atmosphere at the indicated temperature until TLC showed full conversion. ^bIsolated yields. ^cDetermined by HPLC, see experimental section. ^dSee Experimental section. ^eReaction did not reach full conversion.

3.4 Substrate scope

Tetrahydroisoquinolines

To probe the substrate scope of the catalytic system, a collection of chiral tetrahydroisoquinolines were prepared, posessing the most common substitution patterns of natural products (Table 3).^{1,2} Tetrahydroisoguinolines with donor substituents, such as methoxy-, dioxo- as well as methyl groups 37a-c (Table 3, entries 1-3) were all obtained in very good yields and with excellent enantiomeric from 91 -95%. Furthermore. the excesses ranging unsubstituted tetrahydroisoquinoline 37d (Table 3, entry 4) could be isolated with similarly good results (78%, 94% ee). The reactions could be scaled up to 1 mmol scale with the same results in terms of yields and enantioselectivities. The absolute configuration of the products was established by comparison of the sign of the optical rotation of **37a** to earlier studies.¹³ The absolute configurations of the other products **37** were assigned accordingly.

Table 3 Substrate Scope Tetrahydroisoquinolines^a

	O CF ₃ 2.5 NH → OCO ₂ Me	5 mol% [Ir(COD) 5.0 mol% L2 1.0 eq. DBU IHF, 50 °C then	rt	R	N CF ₃
Entry	Product		Temp.	Yield ^b	ee ^c
1	MeO MeO	37a	rt	97%	95%
2	O CF3 CF3	37b	rt	89%	94%
3	Me CF3	37c	rt	92%	91%
4	CF ₃	37d	rt	78%	94%

^a See experimental section. ^b Isolated yields. ^c Determined by HPLC, see experimental section.

With chloro-substituted substrate **32e**, unexpected results were obtained when the Ir-catalyzed allylic amidation was attempted (Table 4). Under optimized reaction conditions (Table 4, entry 1), full conversion was observed overnight, but as the sole product the isomerized enamide **39** was isolated as a mixture of E and Z double bond isomers. The same outcome was found with a catalyst prepared from the related phosphoramidite ligand **L1** (Table 4, entry 2), albeit with slightly lower conversion, reflecting the same trends in terms of activity as found earlier. To probe whether the base had an influence on the double-bond isomerization, the reaction was carried out at ambient temperature with only catalytic amounts of DBU, which had led to lower conversion in the previously studied cases. In the case of substrate **32e**, however, full conversion to the unwanted enamide **39** was observed (Table 4, entry 3). Preformed iridacycle **36** led to no conversion of the allylic carbonate **32e**, independent of the presence of base (Table 4, entries 4,5). In

previous studies of Ir-catalyzed asymmetric allylic etherifications, a similar effect of double bond isomerization had been observed.⁶² In that case, the addition of catalytic amounts of phenylpropyne to the catalyst had been shown to prevent the unwanted isomerization from occuring. When we carried out the allylic amidation in the presence of catalytic amounts of phenylpropyne (Table 4, entry 6), still the same complete isomerization to enamide **39** was observed. It can be speculated that the electronic parameters of the substrate enabled the unwanted isomerization to take place, this would then represent a limitation of this catalytic transformation.

	NH 5.0 mol% Ir catalyst DBU THF, temp			
3	2e	38	39	
Entry	Conditions	38/39	Conversion	ee
1	2.5 mol% [lr(COD)Cl] ₂	0/100		nd
I	5.0 mol% L2 , 2.0 eq. DBU, 50 °C	0/100	Full (03 % yield)	n.u.
2	2.5 mol% [Ir(COD)CI] ₂	0/400		۳d
Z	5.0 mol% L1 , 2.0 eq. DBU, 50 °C	0/100	60% (32% yield)	n.u.
3	2.5 mol% [Ir(COD)CI] ₂	0/100	full	nd
	5.0 mol% L2 , 10 mol% DBU, rt			n.a.
4	5.0 mol% 36 (preformed), 50 °C	-	none	n.d.
5	5.0 mol% 36 (preformed)		2020	nd
	2.0 eq. DBU, 50 °C	-	none	n.u.
	2.5 mol% [Ir(COD)CI] ₂			
0	5.0 mol% L2	0/400	Full	nd
υ	20 mol% phenylpropyne	0/100		n.u.
	2.0 eq. DBU, 50 °C			

Table 4 Ir-catalyzed allylic amidation of 32e

Saturated N-heterocycles

The methodology of the asymmetric intramolecular allylic amidation could be extended to the synthesis of other chiral nitrogen-containing heterocycles. This shows the generality of this transformation, which is not limited to substrates bearing aromatic rings in the backbone. Along these lines, 5-, 6- and 7-membered chiral heterocycles **40a-c** could be synthesized (Table 5, entries 1 - 3). For these reactions to proceed smoothly, elevated temperatures of 50 °C were required to ensure full conversion. At room temperature, the reactions proceeded with the same outcome in terms of enantioselectivity, but with about 50% conversion. The reason that in the earlier case of the tetrahydroisoguinolines a lower temperature was sufficient for full conversion could be explained by the ortho-substitution of both the nucleophile as well as the allyl carbonate on the phenyl ring. In this case, the two reaction partners are spatially already closer to each other and less energy is necessary for the molecule to adopt a conformation that is beneficial for the allylic amidation to take place. This phenomenon is known in literature under the name "steric compression".⁶³ In all cases of the saturated heterocycles, however, very good to excellent enantioselectivities (up to 96% ee) were found, demonstrating the versatility of our new catalytic transformation. The actual yields of the products 40a and 40b are low due to their volatilty, however, full conversion to the desired heterocycles **40** could be established by ¹H NMR analysis of the crude reaction mixture.

		2.5 mol% [lr(COD)Cl] ₂ 5.0 mol% L2 1.0 eq. DBU		O → CF ₃	
Η.	35a-c n = 1-3	THF, 50 °C		40a-c	
Entry	Product		Yield ^b	ee ^c	
1	CF ₃	40a	56% ^{d, e}	96%	
2	CF3 OCF3	40b	68% ^{d, e}	88%	

Table 5 Substrate scope saturated N-heterocycles^a

Entry	Product		Yield ^b	ee ^c
3 ^f	CF3	40c	25% ^{d, e}	92%

^aSee experimental section. ^bIsolated yields. ^cDetermined by HPLC, see experimental section. ^dProducts are volatile. ^e100% conversion, determined by ¹H NMR. ^fA side reaction was observed, see Scheme 12.

Noteworthy is the fact that when the synthesis of chiral azepane **40c** was investigated (Table 5, entry 3), an unexpected side reaction occurred. When allylic carbonate **35c** was reacted under allylic amidation conditions at 50 °C, chiral azepane **40c** was found along with linear diene **42** as the major product (Scheme 12). The product distribution seemed to be independent of temperature (*i.e.* the same outcome was observed at room temperature) and amount of DBU employed. This side reaction was only observed for **40c** and not in the synthesis of piperidine **40b** or pyrrolidine **40a**, indicating that the mechanism of the formation of the 7-membered ring requires special spatial constraints. Therefore, the formation of the azepane is slower and the intermediate Ir-allyl species can react further in via other pathways. In the absence of the Ir-catalyst, no reaction was observed, indicating that the Ir catalyst is essential for this transformation to take place.



Scheme 12 Observed side reaction / formation of azepane

There are two possible mechanisms for the formation of the linear diene **42**. Since it was observed that the formation of **42** only takes place in the presence of the Ir catalyst, it can be assumed that the first step involves the formation of the Ir-allyl complex. This had previously been isolated and postulated as one of the key steps of Ir-catalyzed allylic substitution.^{22,58,59} After formation of the allyl-Ir-complex from allylic carbonate **35c**, the oxygen atom of the trifluoroacetate could act as a nucleophile for the allylic substitution (Scheme 13, path A); a reaction related to recent observations made in the Ir-catalyzed asymmetric allylic substitution with thiocarbamates,⁶⁴ resulting in a 9-membered heterocycle **44**, which can subsequently undergo elimination to form the linear diene **42**. Alternatively, Ir-

complex **43** could undergo β -hydride elimination to form **42** directly (Scheme 13, path B). This decomposition reaction would hint towards a relatively long-lived intermediate **43**, which could be explained by the sterically unfavoured formation of the envisaged product **44** containing a seven-membered ring. This would also explain why similar side-reactions were not observed in the synthesis of pyrrolidine **40a** and piperidine **40b**.



Scheme 13 Proposed mechanisms for the formation of diene 42

3.5 Deprotection of the trifluoroacetamide

The ease of deprotection of the products of the intramolecular asymmetric allylic amidation, *i.e.* chiral secondary trifluoroacetamides, was demonstrated with the conversion of **37a** (Scheme 14). The product was simply stirred at ambient temperature in the presence of an excess of K_2CO_3 in MeOH/H₂O to yield the corresponding chiral homoallylic amine **45** in excellent yield, without loss of *ee*. Bearing both a terminal olefin and a secondary amine, **45** is a highly versatile chiral building block for the synthesis of chiral tetrahydroisoquinoline-derived structures.



Scheme 14 Deprotection of trifluoroacetamide 30a

3.6 Application of chiral tetrahydroisoquinolines in synthesis

To demonstrate the synthetic utility of the chiral allylic amidation products **37** they were explored in synthetic studies towards natural products and biologically active compounds. In both cases, the following synthetic steps were building upon the highly functional building blocks such as **45**, making use of the secondary amine and the terminal double bond.

Attempted Synthesis of Crispine A

Crispine A (**12**) is an isoquinoline alkaloid isolated from the thistle *Carduus crispus*, from which extracts have been used in traditional Chinese medicine for the treatment of rheumatism.⁶⁵ The attempted synthesis was based on chiral tetrahydroisoquinoline **45**, which was *N*-allylated to give **46** in good yields (Scheme 15). The subsequent synthetic route comprised a ring-closing metathesis reaction with Ru-based catalysts,⁵⁵ to give the tricyclic precursor to Crispine A **47**. To finish the synthesis, a metal-free reduction of the double bond was intended,^{66,67} however, the ring-closed product was oxidized during the metathesis reaction to give pyrroline **48**. The tendency to quickly oxidize had been observed with related compounds earlier,¹⁷ and in our hands could not be prevented by changing the reaction conditions to lower temperatures and/or variation of the metathesis catalyst. The use of Mo-based metathesis catalysts⁶⁸ did not show conversion in this case.



Scheme 15 Attempted Synthesis of Crispine A

Attempted Synthesis of Almorexant

Almorexant (**51**)⁶⁹ is a potent inhibitor of the orexin neuropeptide hormones in humans, which have an influence on awakeness (Scheme 16).⁷⁰ Therefore, orexin inhibitors are used for the treatment of insomnia. It carries a chiral tetrahydroisoquinoline core next to an α -chiral amide. We chose this molecule as a potential synthetic target to demonstrate the usefulness of the Ir-catalyzed allylic amidation. From the *N*-deprotected compound **45**, a functionalization of the terminal double bond via Pd-catalyzed cross-coupling followed by a Ugi-type reaction⁷¹ should lead to **50**. It needed to be investigated in how far the stereogenic center of **49** could induce steroselectivity for the formation of the second stereocenter in **50**. Finally, reduction of the double bond^{66,67} would give rise to Almorexant (**51**).



Scheme 16 Anticipated total synthesis of almorexant (51)

Preliminary synthetic studies revealed the general feasibility of the envisaged synthesis, however, as in the previous case with Crispine A, partial oxidation of the nitrogen-containing ring of the tetrahydroisoquinoline core presented some synthetic challenge.

We started off by investigating the possibility of directly installing the paratrifluorostyrene moiety by cross-metathesis with the *N*-protected tetrahydroisoquinoline **37a**, however, all attempts with Ru-based metathesis catalysts did not lead to conversion of **37a** to **53** (Scheme 17). The fact that mainly the homodimer of **52** was found in the reaction mixture is indicative that the reactivity of the terminal olefin of **37a** is relatively low. The same low reactivity was also found in preliminary attempts to carry out a hydroboration on **37a** which led to no conversion either.



Scheme 17 Attempted cross metathesis

The functionalization of the terminal double bond of **37a** to yield styrene **55** was achieved by employing the Heck reaction. The desired product **55** could be obtained from the reaction of tetrahydroisoquinoline **37a** with iodobenzene **54** in good yield (Scheme 18). However, it should be mentioned that as a side product, the isomerized enamide **56** was found. This preliminary result indicates that some optimization of the Heck reaction conditions is still necessary. The mixture of **55** with **56** was subjected to a reduction of the internal double bond employing a metal-free flavin-catalyzed recuction protocol^{66,67} furnishing **58** in moderate yield. Again, **56** was still present in the reaction mixture. The following deprotection of the trifluoroacetamide group went smoothly, however it was accompanied by complete oxidation to the corresponding ketimine **59**. It is expected that side-product **56** also gives **59** after deprotection and isomerization (see also Scheme 19). Even under reductive deprotection conditions employing DIBAL-H, **59** was the only product isolated, indicating a very fast oxidation of the anticipated secondary amine to **59** upon contact with air.



Scheme 18 Attempted synthesis of Almorexant

To avoid oxidation of the products, the synthetic steps of reduction and deprotection were reversed (Scheme 19). When the impure mixture of the Heck reaction, namely trifluoroacetamide **55** and enamide **56**, was deprotected before the internal olefin was reduced, the desired product **60** could be found as the major product. In this case we find it as a mixture with the isomerized product **59**, which we attributed as the product of the deprotection and isomerization of **56**. This result and the outcome of the previous attempt (Scheme 17) show that, in principle, the deprotection of the trifluoroacetamide moiety is possible, however, the presence of the olefin is necessary to prevent oxidation or isomerization to unwanted side products.



Scheme 19 Deprotection of 55

The aforementioned results lead to the conclusion that a revised synthetic route should be followed to prevent any isomerization or oxidation (Scheme 20): Starting off from the deprotected tetrahydroisoquinoline **45**, which has been known to be stable towards oxidation, first the Ugi-type reaction⁷¹ to yield the amide should be carried out. The next step would be functionalization of the terminal olefin to introduce the trifluorotolyl group with subsequent reduction of the double bond. This can be carried out by the Heck reaction, which is to be optimized to prevent the formation of side-products. This route would lead to the target molecule, almorexant (**51**) avoiding oxidation-labile intermediates. As an alternative, the hydroboration of **61** and subsequent Suzuki coupling of **63** would circumvent the need for later reduction of the internal double bond.



Scheme 20 Suggested revised synthesis of Almorexant (51)

3.7 Intermolecular allylic amidation

It was anticipated that the newly developed catalyst system for the Ir-catalyzed allylic amidation could be extended to an intermolecular variant. This would bear some advantages: It would open up the possibility to introduce amines bearing a short (*i.e.* methyl or ethyl) alkyl group, which are difficult to employ in the allylic amination due to the fact that they are gaseous. Secondly, since the amines would be introduced to the new molecule bearing a trifluoroacetamide group, they would be introduced in a protected fashion. If a longer synthesis is envisaged or the allylic amidation is carried out early in the synthetic route, this could be advantageous.

The reaction of *N*-methyl trifluoroacetamide **65** with cinnamyl methyl carbonate **64** was used as the benchmark reaction to investigate this catalytic transformation (Table 6). With the Ir/L1 catalyst, full conversion of the starting material was achieved, however, the only product isolated was the isomerized enamide **67** (Table 6, entry 1). The same results were found at ambient temperature and with only catalytic amounts of base (Table 6, entries 2,3). Also the addition of catalytic amounts of phenylpropyne, as mentioned earlier, did not prevent the isomerization from taking place (Table 6, entry 4). Again, as in the case of the *para*-chloro tetrahydroisoquinoline **32** (*vide supra*), it seems that the electronic properties of the substrate govern the product distribution of this transformation. For example, the phenyl substituent could lead to the isomerization, as the double bond in **67** is stabilized through conjugation.

Ph 0 0	+ 2 N H CF ₃ 65	$\xrightarrow{\text{Ph}} CF_3 + 66$	Ph 67	
Entry	Conditions	Conversion	66 / 67	
1	2.0 eq. DBU, 50 °C	full	0/100	
2	2.0 eq. DBU, rt	~80%	0/100	
3	10.0 mol% DBU, 50 °C	full	0/100	
Λ	2.0 eq. DBU, 50 °C	full	0/100	
4	20.0 mol% phenylpropyne	Tuli	0/100	

Table 6 Intermolecular allylic amidation

4 Conclusions and Future prospects

In conclusion, we have developed a new asymmetric synthesis of chiral nitrogencontaining heterocycles, especially tetrahydroisoquinolines, which are important building blocks for the synthesis of biologically active products. Our approach is based on the first intramolecular asymmetric Ir-catalyzed allylic amidation, and the desired products are accessible in excellent yields and enantioselectivities. The trifluoroacetamide group serves two purposes in this approach; initially it is used as a protecting group during the synthesis stage of the starting materials, but further on its enhanced nucleophilicity is exploited for the key asymmetric allylic amidation step. We have also demonstrated that deprotection to the corresponding amine can be readily executed without loss of *ee*.

The applicability of the corresponding products has been demonstrated by two attempted synthesis of a naturally occuring and a biologically active product. Both syntheses did reveal the tendency of certain tetrahydroisoquinolines to oxidize. However, for the synthesis of Almorexant, preliminary studies have led to the proposal of a revised synthetic route which should not be hampered by possible oxidation of intermediates.

In the case of the attempted intermolecular allylic amidation and the attempted synthesis of *para*-chlorotetrahydroisoquinoline, where only the isomerized enamides were isolated, albeit in good yield, more work has to be done to overcome the deterioration of the desired products. The above mentioned discovery that the addition of internal alkynes could prevent a similar isomerization for an allylic etherification with Ir catalysts has recently led to the identification of a highly active Ir-ethene complex **70**, which is also capable of selective direct asymmetric amination with ammonia (Scheme 21).^{30,72} This more selective catalyst should be employed to reinvestigate the reactions which so far have led to the isomerized enamides.



Scheme 21 Direct asymmetric allylic amination with ammonia

catalytic svnthesis One disadvantage of the present asymmetric of tetrahydroisoquinolines is that the substrate scope is effectively limited by the problematic introduction of the halogens for the Stille cross-coupling, which installs the allylic alcohol moiety. Ideally, the allylic alcohol could be introduced without prior halogenation of the aromatic ring. A directed C-H activation with transition metals^{73,74} could be envisaged (Scheme 22). Again, the trifluoracetamide group could be employed: it could direct the C-H activation to the ortho position of 71, leading to the desired substitution pattern of the aromatic ring 72. In this manner, the synthetic route towards tetrahydroisoguinolines would be shortened significantly.



Scheme 22 Proposed C-H activation methodology

5 Experimental Section

General

Chromatography: Merck silica gel type 9385 230-400 mesh, TLC: Merck silica gel 60.0.25 mm. Components were visualized by UV and cerium/molybdenum staining. Progress and conversion of the reaction were determined by GC-MS (GC, HP6890: MS HP5973) with an HP1 or HP5 column (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA). Mass spectra were recorded on a AEI-MS-902 mass spectrometer (EI+) or a LTQ Orbitrap XL (ESI+). ¹H, ¹⁹F and ¹³C-NMR were recorded on a Varian AMX400 (400 and 100.59 MHz, respectively) using TMS or CFCl₃ as reference, a Varian VXR300 (300 and 75 MHz, respectively) or a Varian Gemini 200, using CDCl₃ as solvent. Chemical shift values are reported in ppm with the solvent resonance as the internal standard (CHCl₃: δ 7.26 for ¹H, δ 77.0 for ¹³C). Data are reported as follows: chemical shifts, multiplicity (s = singlet, d = doublet, t = triplet, q = quartet, br = broad, m = multiplet), coupling constants (Hz), and integration. Optical rotations were measured on a Schmidt + Haensch polarimeter (Polartronic MH8) with a 10 cm cell (c given in g/100 mL). Enantiomeric excesses (ee values) were determined by HPLC analysis using a Shimadzu LC-10ADVP HPLC equipped with a Shimadzu SPD-M10AVP diode array detector and chiral columns as indicated. Ees were determined by comparison with the corresponding chiral compounds or the mixtures of both R and S enantiomers. All reactions were carried out under a nitrogen atmosphere using oven dried glassware and using standard Schlenk techniques. CH₂Cl₂ was dried and distilled over calcium hydride, THF and Et_2O were dried and distilled over Na/benzophenone. Toluene was dried and distilled over Na. [Ir(COD)CI]₂ was purchased from Strem Chemicals, Inc.. Complex **36** was prepared according to literature.^{20,29} Ligand **L1** was prepared according to literature.⁶¹

General trifluroacetylation/acetylation protocol:

To a solution of the corresponding amine (1.0 eq.) and NEt₃ (2.0 eq.) in CH₂Cl₂ (2 mL/mmol) was added dropwise trifluoroacetic anhydride (1.2 eq.) (or acetic anhydride in the case of **30f**) at 0 °C. The mixture was stirred at this temperature for 1 h. The reaction was quenched with water (10 ml) and the mixture extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3 x 5mL). The combined organic layers were washed with brine, dried over Na₂SO₄ and concentrated under vacuum to afford the corresponding *N*-trifluoroacetyl or *N*-acetyl compound. The products were used without further purification.

Preparation of halides 30a-e

Substrate **30a** (X = I) was synthesized following literature procedures.⁴⁹ Substrate **30b** (X = I) was prepared following the general trifluoroacetylation protocol (see above) from 2-(2-iodo-3,4-methyldioxyphenyl)ethylamine which was made following literature procedures.⁵⁰ **30c** (X = I) was synthesized from **30a** using IPy_2BF_4 (which was recrystallized from CH_2CI_2/Et_2O before use) as iodinating agent following a literature procedure.⁵² Substrate **30d** (X = Br) was prepared following the general trifluoroacetylation protocol (see above) from commercial 2-bromophenethylamine. **30f** was synthesized following the same procedure as for **30a**,⁴⁹ but with *N*-acetylation instead of *N*-trifluoroacetylation (see general procedure above).

N-(4-chloro-2-iodophenethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide (30e)

In analogy to a literature procedure,⁵² 1.00 eq. *N*-(4-chlorophenethyl)-2,2,2-H trifluoroacetamide **29b** (0.126 g, 0.5 mmol) was $\sim N_{2} \sim CF_{3}$ dissolved in a mixture of CH₂Cl₂ (100 ml) and



trifluoroacetamide **29b** (0.126 g, 0.5 mmol) was dissolved in a mixture of CH_2Cl_2 (100 ml) and trifluoracetic acid (10 ml). 4.40 eq. of tetrafluorboric acid in Et_2O (0.295 ml, 2.0 mmol) was added, followed by slow addition of freshly recrystallized 2.20 eq. bispyridineiodonium tetrafluoroborate (0.371 g, 2.0 mmol). The

reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature until full conversion was reached as judged by GC/MS (~1h). Then, the reaction was quenched by addition of cold water (50 mL), the mixture was washed with saturated aq. $Na_2S_2O_3$ solution (2x 50 mL). After drying over Na_2SO_4 and removal of all volatiles *N*-(4-chloro-2-iodophenethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide **30e** (0.175 g, 0.464 mmol, 93 %) was obtained as a white solid. This material was used without further purification. ¹H

NMR (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.81 (d, J = 2.1 Hz, 1H), 7.32 – 7.20 (m, 1H), 7.10 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 6.92 (s (br), 1H), 3.57 (dd, J = 13.4, 6.8 Hz, 2H), 2.99 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.53 (q, J = 36.0 Hz), 138.94, 138.89, 133.33, 130.34, 128.74, 115.69 (q, J = 293.2 Hz),100.02, 39.67, 38.66. ¹⁹F NMR (189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -75.90. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₀H₉CIF₃INO [M+H⁺]: 377.9364, found: 377.9358.

General procedure for the synthesis of substrates 31 (Stille coupling):

To a mixture of halides **30** (1.0 eq.), *E*- β -tributylstannylpropenol⁵⁴ (1.2 eq.) and LiCl (3.0 eq.) in dry DMF (6 mL/mmol), bis(triphenylphosphine)palladium dichloride (5.0 mol%) was added under nitrogen atmosphere. The resulting solution was stirred at 70 °C for 16 h. After cooling to room temperature, the mixture was diluted with ethyl acetate (15 mL/mmol) and washed with water (4 x 10 mL/mmol). The organic layer was dried over Na₂SO₄ and concentrated under vacuum. Purification by column chromatography afforded **31** as white solids.

(*E*)-2,2,2-Trifluoro-*N*-(2-(3-hydroxyprop-1-enyl)-4,5dimethoxyphenethyl)acetamide 31a

Following the general procedure, 274 mg of 31a (0.83 mmol, 83%) were isolated



from the reaction of iodide **30a** (403 mg, 1 mmol) after purification by column chromatography using ethyl acetate/pentane 3:1 as eluent. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) $\overline{0}$ 6.96 (s, 1H), 6.93 (br s, 1H), 6.80 (dt, *J* = 15.6, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 6.60 (s, 1H), 6.17 (dt, *J* = 15.6, 5.4 Hz, 1H), 4.31 (dd, *J* = 5.4, 1.6 Hz, 2H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 3.48 (q, *J* = 6.7, 2H), 2.89 (t, *J* = 6.7, 2H), 2.52 (br s, 1H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.4 (q, J = 37.0 Hz), 148.8, 148.1, 129.5, 128.4, 127.7, 127.2, 115.8 (q, J = 287.8 Hz), 112.8, 109.3, 63.4, 55.9, 55.9, 40.9, 32.0.

(*E*)-2,2,2-Trifluoro-*N*-(2-(6-(3-hydroxyprop-1-enyl)benzo[d][1,3]dioxol-5yl)ethyl)acetamide 31b

Following the general procedure, 297 mg 31b (0.94 mmol, 78%) were isolated from



the reaction of iodide **30b** (464 mg, 1.2 mmol) after purification by column chromatography using ethyl acetate/pentane 2:1 as eluent. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 6.96 (s, 1H), 6.82 (dt, J = 15.6, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 6.61 (s, 1H), 6.46 (br s, 1H), 6.16 (dt, J = 15.6, 5.3 Hz, 1H), 5.95 (s, 2H), 4.33 (t, J = 5.3 Hz, 2H), 3.49 (q, J = 7.1Hz, 2H), 2.89 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.91 (t (br), J =5.4 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ

157.5 (q, J = 37.0 Hz), 147.4, 147.2, 130.1, 130.0, 129.8, 128.7, 127.10, 109.6,

106.4, 101.1, 63.4, 40.9, 32.4. ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = -75.98. HRMS (ESI+, *m/z*): calculated for C₁₄H₁₄F₃NO₄Na [M+Na⁺]: 340.07671, found: 340.07650.

(*E*)-2,2,2-Trifluoro-*N*-(2-(3-hydroxyprop-1-enyl)-4-methylphenethyl)acetamide 31c

Following the general procedure, 104 mg 31c (0.36 mmol, 72%) were isolated from



the reaction of iodide **30c** (178 mg, 0.5 mmol) after purification by column chromatography using ethyl acetate/pentane 2:1 as eluent. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.27 (d, *J* = 9.2 Hz, 1H), 7.07 – 6.99 (m, 2H), 6.88 (dt, *J* = 15.7, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 6.75 (s (br), 1H), 6.26 (dt, *J* = 15.7, 5.2 Hz, 1H), 4.34 (dd, *J* = 5.2, 1.2 Hz, 2H), 3.50 (q, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 2.92 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 2.33 (s, 3H), 1.87 (s (br), 1H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz.

CDCl₃) δ 157.5 (q, *J* = 36.9 Hz), 137.0, 136.1, 131.9, 131.4, 129.8, 128.7, 127.4, 127.3, 63.4, 40.8, 32.2, 21.0. The CF₃ peaks could not be detected. ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = -75.99.

(E)-2,2,2-trifluoro-N-(2-(3-hydroxyprop-1-enyl)phenethyl)acetamide 31d

Following the general procedure, heating the reaction mixture at 90 °C in this case,



108 mg **31d** (0.4 mmol, 79%) were isolated from the reaction of bromide **30d** (148 mg, 0.5 mmol) after purification by column chromatography using ethyl acetate/pentane 2:1 as eluent. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.46 (dd, *J* = 7.1, 2.3 Hz, 1H), 7.24 – 7.21 (m, 2H), 7.13 (dd, *J* = 6.7, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 6.92 (dt, *J* = 15.7, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 6.90 (s (br), 1H), 6.26 (dt, *J* = 15.7, 5.2 Hz, 1H), 4.34 (dd, *J* = 5.2, 1.6 Hz, 2H), 3.51 (q, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H),

2.96 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 2.61 (s (br), 1H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.5 (q, J = 37.1 Hz), 136.3, 134.9, 131.6, 129.9, 127.9, 127.5, 127.3, 126.7, 115.8, (q, J = 287.4 Hz), 63.3, 40.6, 32.6. HRMS (ESI+, m/z): calculated for C₁₃H₁₄F₃NO₂Na [M+Na⁺]: 296.0869, found: 296.0867.

(E)-N-(4-chloro-2-(3-hydroxyprop-1-enyl)phenethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide 31e

Following the general



procedure, (E)-N-(4-chloro-2(3-hydroxyprop-1-en-1yl)phenethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide **31e** (0.074 g, 0.240 mmol, 52%) was isolated from the reaction of iodide **30e** (175 mg, 0.46 mmol) after purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 1:1, R_f = 0.60 in pentane/EtOAc 1:1). ¹H NMR (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.41 (d, *J* = 2.0 Hz, 1H), 7.33 – 7.10 (m, 2H), 7.04 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 6.85 (d, *J* = 15.8 Hz, 1H), 6.35 – 6.14 (m, 1H), 4.33 (dd, *J* = 4.8, 1.4 Hz, 2H), 3.45 (dd, *J* = 14.8, 6.6 Hz, 2H), 3.02 – 2.85 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 137.98, 133.34, 133.09, 132.78, 131.15, 127.63, 126.44, 125.81, 62.89, 40.45, 32.06. COCF₃ signals were not observed. ¹⁹F NMR (189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -75.97. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for $C_{13}H_{13}CIF_{3}NO_{2}Na$ [M+Na⁺]: 330.0479, found: 330.0472.

(E)-N-(2-(3-hydroxyprop-1-enyl)-4,5-dimethoxyphenethyl)acetamide 31f

Following the general procedure, heating the reaction mixture at 80 °C in this case,



42 mg **31** $\overline{\mathbf{f}}$ (0.15 mmol, 30%) were isolated from the reaction of iodide **30f** (139 mg, 0.4 mmol) after purification by column chromatography using ethyl acetate/methanol 10:1 as eluent. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 6.97 (s, 1H), 6.88 (dt, *J* = 15.7, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 6.62 (s, 1H), 6.17 (dt, *J* = 15.7, 5.4 Hz, 1H), 5.71 (s (br), 1H), 4.33 (dd, *J* = 5.3, 1.4 Hz, 2H), 3.88 (s, 3H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 3.38 (q, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 2.83 (t,

J = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 2.65 (s (br), 1H), 1.94 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 170.4, 148.6, 147.8, 129.3, 128.8, 128.6, 127.7, 112.8, 109.1, 63.5, 56.0, 55.9, 40.7, 33.0, 23.3.

General procedure for the synthesis of allylic carbonates 32:

To a solution of allyl alcohol **31** (1 equiv.) and pyridine (3 equiv.) in CH_2Cl_2 (20 mL/mmol) methyl chloroformate (1.5 equiv.) was added dropwise at 0 °C. After 5 min. the solution was warmed to room temperature and was stirred for 1 h. Then, it was washed with aq. HCl (2N) (3 x 5 mL/mmol) and dried over Na_2SO_4 . The corresponding products **32** were obtained as a white solid after evaporation of the solvent.

(*E*)-3-(4,5-Dimethoxy-2-(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)phenyl)allyl methyl carbonate 32a

Following the general procedure, 280 mg of 32a (0.72 mmol, 90%) were isolated



as a white solid from the reaction of allyl alcohol **31a** (267 mg, 0.8 mmol). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 6.97 (s, 1H), 6.89 (dt, *J* = 15.6, 1.0 Hz, 1H), 6.62 (s, 1H), 6.47 (s (br), 1H), 6.11 (dt, *J* = 15.6, 6.6 Hz, 1H), 4.80 (dd, *J* = 6.6, 1.0 Hz, 2H), 3.89 (s, 3H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 3.80 (s, 3H), 3.51 (q, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 2H), 2.92 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.2 (q, *J* = 36.7 Hz), 155.7, 149.3, 148.1, 131.9,

128.3, 127.4, 123.0, 115.8 (q, *J* = 287.8 Hz), 112.7, 109.2, 68.6, 55.9, 55.8, 54.8, 40.8, 31.8.

(E)-Methyl 3-(6-(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)benzo[d][1,3]dioxol-5-yl)allyl carbonate 32b

Following the general procedure, 258 mg of 32b (0.70 mmol, 92%) were isolated



from the reaction of allyl alcohol **31b** (240 mg, 0.76 mmol). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 6.94 (s, 1H), 6.87 (dt, *J* = 15.6, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 6.62 (s, 1H), 6.59 (s (br), 1H), 6.05 (dt, *J* = 15.5, 6.5 Hz, 1H), 5.94 (s, 2H), 4.77 (dd, *J* = 6.5, 1.2 Hz, 2H), 3.79 (s, 3H), 3.47 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.88 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.2 (q, *J* = 36.9 Hz), 155.7, 148.0, 147.1, 132.0, 129.6, 128.9, 123.5, 115.8 (q, *J* = 287.7 Hz), 109.7, 106.4, 101.3,

68.5, 54.8, 40.8, 32.2. ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = -76.01. HRMS (ESI,⁺, *m/z*): calculated for C₁₆H₁₆F₃NO₆Na [M+Na⁺]: 398.0822, found: 398.0839.

(E)-Methyl 3-(5-methyl-2-(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)phenyl)allyl carbonate 32c

Following the general procedure, 114 mg of 32c (0.33 mmol, 95%) were isolated



from the reaction of allyl alcohol **31c** (101 mg, 0.35 mmol). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.26 (d, *J* = 9.3 Hz, 1H), 7.12 – 6.98 (m, 2H), 6.93 (dt, *J* = 15.7, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 6.44 (s (br), 1H), 6.18 (dt, *J* = 15.6, 6.4 Hz, 1H), 4.80 (dd, *J* = 6.4, 1.3 Hz, 2H), 3.80 (s, 3H), 3.50 (q, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 2H), 2.93 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 2H), 2.33 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.7 (q, *J* = 36.9 Hz), 155.3, 137.0, 135.1, 132.4, 132.2, 129.9, 129.3, 127.4, 125.0, 115.8 (q, *J* = 287.8 Hz), 68.5, 54.8,

40.7, 31.9, 21.0. ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = -76.02. HRMS (ESI⁺, *m/z*): calculated for C₁₆H₁₈F₃NO₄Na [M+Na⁺]: 368.1080, found: 368.1062.

(E)-methyl 3-(2-(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)phenyl)allyl carbonate 32d

Following the general procedure, 126 mg of 32d (0.38 mmol, 95%) were isolated



from the reaction of allyl alcohol **31d** (108 mg, 0.4 mmol). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.46 (dd, J = 5.7, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 7.31 – 7.18 (m, 2H), 7.14 (dd, J = 5.6, 3.6 Hz, 1H), 6.97 (dt, J = 15.7, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 6.73 (s (br), 1H), 6.18 (dt, J = 15.6, 6.4 Hz, 1H), 4.80 (dd, J = 6.4, 1.2 Hz, 2H), 3.78 (s, 3H), 3.51 (q, J = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 2.96 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.3, (q, J = 37.0 Hz), 155.7, 135.4, 135.4, 132.1,

129.9, 128.5, 127.5, 126.8, 125.3, 115.8 (q, J = 287.7 Hz), 68.4, 54.8, 40.6, 32.4. HRMS (ESI⁺, m/z): calculated for C₁₅H₁₆F₃NO₄Na [M+Na⁺]: 354.0924, found: 354.0913.

(E)-3-(5-chloro-2-(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)phenyl)allyl methyl carbonate 32e



eral procedure, (E)-3-(5-chloro-(2-(2,2,2trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)phenyl)allyl methyl carbonate **32e** (0.084 g, 0.230 mmol, 96 %) were isolated as a white solid from the reaction of allyl alcohol **31e** (74 mg, 0.24 mmol). ¹H NMR (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.42 (d, *J* = 2.1 Hz, 1H), 7.20 (dd, *J* = 8.2, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 7.05 (dd, *J* = 9.6, 5.6 Hz, 1H), 6.89 (d, *J* = 15.7 Hz, 1H), 6.79 (s (br), 1H), 6.17 (dt, *J* = 15.6,

6.2 Hz, 1H), 4.77 (dt, *J* = 10.5, 5.3 Hz, 2H), 3.86 – 3.73 (m, 3H), 3.47 (dd, *J* = 14.1, 6.9 Hz, 2H), 2.92 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.30 (q, *J* = 36.2 Hz), 155.65, 137.06, 133.81, 133.16, 131.23, 130.62, 128.29, 126.61, 126.56, 115.71 (q, *J* = 291.0 Hz), 68.00, 54.86, 40.37, 31.79. ¹⁹F NMR (189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -76.00. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for $C_{13}H_{15}CIF_3NO_4Na$ [M+Na⁺]: 388.0534, found: 388.0533.

(E)-3-(2-(2-acetamidoethyl)-4,5-dimethoxyphenyl)allyl methyl carbonate 32f

Following the general procedure, 29 mg of **32f** (0.08 mmol, 86%) were isolated from the reaction of allyl alcohol **31f** (28 mg, 0.1 mmol). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃)



I 31f (28 mg, 0.1 mmol). [']H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 6.96 (s, 1H), 6.90 (d, J = 15.6 Hz, 1H), 6.64 (s, 1H), 6.10 (dt, J = 15.5, 6.6 Hz, 1H), 5.61 (s (br), 1H), 4.79 (d, J = 6.6 Hz, 2H), 3.88 (s, 3H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 3.79 (s, 3H), 3.40 (q, J = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 2.84 (t, J = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 1.93 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 170.2, 155.7, 149.3, 147.9, 132.3, 129.6, 127.3, 122.4, 112.8, 109.0, 68.7, 55.97, 55.9, 54.8, 40.7, 32.5, 23.3.

General Procedure for the alkylation of 2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide to give 34

2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide (**33**) (1.0 eq.) was dissolved in DMF (Volume: 50 ml per 10 mmol) and added to a suspension of 1.05 eq. sodium hydride in DMF (Volume: 20 ml per 10 mmol) at 0 °C. After all gas evolution ceased, 1.05 eq. of the appropriate bromide was added and the reaction mixture was heated to 50 °C for 3 h. After the reaction showed full conversion (by TLC), 50 mL EtOAc was added and the reaction mixture was washed with water (80 mL per 10 mmol) and 2x with brine (2x 80 mL per 10 mmol). After drying over MgSO₄, all volatiles were removed under reduced pressure to give the desired alkyltrifluoroacetamides **34**. These products were used without further purification.

2,2,2-trifluoro-N-(pent-4-en-1-yl)acetamide 34a⁷⁶

Following the general procedure for the alkylation of 2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide, 1.442 O g of **34a** (7.96 mmol, 99%) were isolated as a pale Vellow oil from the reaction of 2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide

F₃C H 34a

g of **34a** (7.96 mmol, 99%) were isolated as a pale yellow oil from the reaction of 2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide **33** (0.909 g, 8.04 mmol) with 5-bromopent-1-ene (1.00 ml, 8.44 mmol). ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = 7.23 (s (br), 1H), 5.75 (ddt, *J* = 17.0, 10.2, 6.7 Hz, 1H), 5.14 –

4.84 (m, 2H), 3.39 – 3.22 (m, 2H), 2.19 – 1.95 (m, 2H), 1.78 – 1.58 (m, 3H). ¹³C NMR: (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = 157.4 (q, *J* = 36.7 Hz), 137.0, 115.8 (q, *J* = 287.2 Hz), 115.5, 39.4, 30.7, 27.7. ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = -76.21. HRMS (ESI⁺): calculated for C₇H₁₁F₃NO [M+H⁺]: 182.0787, found: 182.0784.

2,2,2-trifluoro-N-(hex-5-en-1-yl)acetamide 34b

Following the general procedure for the alkylation of 2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide, 1.352



g **34b** (6,93 mmol, 98%) were isolated as a pale yellow oil from the reaction of 2,2,2trifluoroacetamide **33** (0.799 g, 7.07 mmol) with 6bromo-1-hexene (1.00 ml, 7.42 mmol). ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = 7.30 (s (br) 1H), 5.83 – 5.59 (m, 1H), 5.11 – 4.70 (m, 2H), 3.34 – 3.22 (m, 2H), 2.09 –

2.00 (m, 2H), 1.63 – 1.48 (m, 2H), 1.47 – 1.31 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = 157.3 (q, *J* = 36.8 Hz), 137.9, 115.9 (q, *J* = 287.8 Hz), 114.8, 39.7, 33.0, 28.1, 25.8. ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = -76.10. HRMS (ESI⁺): calculated for C₈H₁₃F₃NO [M+H⁺]: 196.0944, found: 196.1103.

2,2,2-trifluoro-N-(hept-6-en-1-yl)acetamide 34c

Following the general procedure for the alkylation of 2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide, 1.294



g **34c** (6.19 mmol, 99%) were isolated as a pale yellow oil from the reaction of 2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide **33** (0.706 g, 6.25 mmol) with 7-bromohept-1-ene (1.00 ml, 6.56 mmol). ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = 6.68 (s (br), 1H), 5.92 –

5.61 (m, 1H), 5.08 - 4.84 (m, 2H), 3.40 - 3.27 (m, 2H), 2.12 - 1.97 (m, 2H), 1.67 -1.51 (m, 2H), 1.48 – 1.29 (m, 4H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) $\delta = 157.3$ (g, J =36.8 Hz), 138.4, 115.9 (g, J = 288.3 Hz), 114.6, 39.9, 33.4, 28.7, 28.3, 26.0. ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = -76.07. HRMS (ESI⁺): calculated for C₉H₁₅F₉NO [M+H⁺]: 210.1100, found: 210.2215.

General Procedure for the cross-metathesis of 34 with butendiyl dimethylcarbonate⁷⁷ to give allylic carbonates 35

Trifluoroacetamides **34a-c** (1.0 eq.) were dissolved under a N_2 atmosphere in degassed toluene (10 ml per 2 mmol), then 2.00 eq. of (Z)-but-2-ene-1,4-divl dimethyl dicarbonate were added and finally 5.0 mol% Hovevda-Grubbs 2nd generation was added. The mixture was heated to 70 °C and stirred until TLC showed full conversion (2-6 h). After cooling to ambient temperature, all volatiles were removed under reduced pressure and crude product was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, Pentane/EtOAc) to give the pure compounds 35.

(E)-Methyl (6-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)hex-2-en-1-yl) carbonate 35a



dimethylcarbonate, 1.00 g 34a (5.52 mmol) was reacted with 2.254 g butendivl dimethylcarbonate (11.04 mmol) to give 1.233 g 35a (4.58 mmol. 83%) after column chromatography $(SiO_2,$

pentane/EtOAc 10:1, $R_f = 0.20$ in Pentane/EtOAc 10:1). ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, $CDCl_3$) $\delta = 6.75$ (s (br), 1H), 5.76 (dd, J = 14.4, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 5.67 - 5.54 (m, 1H), 4.54 (d, J = 6.3 Hz, 2H), 3.75 (s, 3H), 3.34 (dd, J = 13.4, 6.7 Hz, 2H), 2.11 (dd, J = 14.2, 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.77 – 1.57 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = 157.2 (g, J = 36.7 Hz), 155.6, 135.0, 124.6, 115.8 (q, J = 289.6 Hz), 68.1, 54.7, 39.3, 29.3, 27.8. ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = -76.02. HRMS (ESI⁺): calculated for C₁₀H₁₄F₃NO₄Na [M+Na⁺]: 292.0767, found: 292.0762.

(E)-Methyl (7-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)hept-2-en-1-yl) carbonate 35b



dimethylcarbonate, 0.500 g 34b (2.56 mmol) were reacted with 1.046 g butendivl (5.12 dimethylcarbonate mmol) to give 0.573 g 35b (2.20 mmol, 79%) after column chromatography

(SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1, R_f = 0.18 in Pentane/EtOAc 10:1). ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, $CDCl_3$) δ = 7.22 (s (br), 1H), 5.87 – 5.35 (m, 2H), 4.47 (d, J = 6.2 Hz, 2H), 3.77 – 3.57 (m, 3H), 3.25 (dd, J = 13.0, 6.6 Hz, 3H), 2.15 - 1.91 (m, 2H), 1.76 - 1.24 (m, 2H), 1.76 -4H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = 157.2 (q, J = 37.1 Hz), 155.4, 136.0, 123.7, 115.8 (q, J = 290.2 Hz), 68.2, 54.4, 39.5, 31.4, 28.0, 25.5. ¹⁹F NMR: (189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = -76.15. HRMS (ESI⁺): calculated for C₁₁H₁₃F₃NO₄Na [M+Na⁺]: 306.0924, found: 306.0908.

(E)-methyl (8-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)oct-2-en-1-yl) carbonate 35c



dimethylcarbonate, 1.00 g 34c (4.78 mmol) was reacted with 1.952 g butendivl dimethylcarbonate (9.56 mmol) to give 1.023 g 35c (3.44 mmol. 72%) after column

chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1, $R_f = 0.22$ in Pentane/EtOAc 10:1). ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = 6.73 (s (br), 1H), 5.93 – 5.36 (m, 2H), 4.53 (d, J = 6.3 Hz, 2H), 3.74 (s, 3H), 3.31 (dd, J = 13.4, 6.7 Hz, 2H), 2.16 - 1.91 (m, 2H), 1.68 -1.46 (m, 2H), 1.46 – 1.17 (m, 4H), ¹³C NMR; (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = 157.2 (a, J = 36.4 Hz), 155.6, 136.6, 123.5, 115.9 (q, J = 288.5 Hz), 68.5, 54.6, 39.8, 31.9, 28.6, 28.1, 26.0. ¹⁹F NMR: (189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = -76.04. HRMS (ESI⁺): calculated for C₁₂H₁₈F₃NO₄Na [M+Na⁺]: 320.1080, found: 320.1077.

General Procedure for the Iridium-catalyzed asymmetric allylic amidation

[Ir(COD)Cl]₂ (2.5 mol%) and 5.0 mol% L2 were dissolved in dry THF (1.0 mL per 0.2 mmol) under a N₂ atmosphere. Then, 1.00 eq. DBU was added and the reaction mixture was heated at 50 °C for 30 min. Then, the solution was brought to the appropriate temperature and 1.0 eq. allylic carbonate 32 or 35 was added. The reaction mixture was stirred until TLC showed full conversion. All volatiles were removed under reduced pressure to yield the crude product as an orange oil. This was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, Pentane/EtOAc) to yield the desired trifluoroacetamide.

(S)-1-(6,7-Dimethoxy-1-vinyl-3,4-dihydroisoquinolin-2(1H)-yl)-2,2,2trifluoroethanone 37a

The title compound was prepared from 32a (117 mg, 0.30 mmol) following the



general procedure for the Ir-catalyzed asymmetric allylic amidation at room temperature. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, Pentane/EtOAc 3:1) afforded 37a (92 mg, 0.29 mmol, 95% ee, 97%) as a colourless oil as a mixture of two conformers in 3.6:1 ratio (determined by ¹H NMR at 20 °C). ¹H NMR (400

MHz, CDCl₃) δ 6.62 (s, 1H, minor), 6.60 (s, 1H, major), 6.58 (s, 1H, major), 6.55 (s, 1H, minor), 6.00 - 5.91 (m, 2H major + 1H minor), 5.44 (d, J = 4.0 Hz, 1H minor), 5.30 (dd, J = 9.9, 0.8 Hz, 1H major), 5.29 (d, J = 10.0 Hz, 1H minor), 5.12 (dd, J = 15.5, 0.8 Hz, 1H major), 5.03 (d, J = 17.1 Hz, 1H minor), 4.51 – 4.46 (m, 1H minor), 4.03 - 3.98 (m, 1H major), 3.85 (s, 3H, minor), 3.84 (s, 3H, major), 3.84 (s, 3H,

minor), 3.83 (s, 3H, major), 3.53 (ddd, J = 13.8, 12.1, 3.9 Hz, 1H major), 3.24 (td, J = 12.2, 4.2 Hz, 1H minor), 3.00 – 2.90 (m, 1H major + 1H minor), 2.76 – 2.68 (m, 1H major + 1H minor). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 155.6 (q, J = 35.8 Hz) (major), 148.6 (minor), 148.3 (major), 147.8 (major), 147.7 (minor), 136.5 (minor), 135.6 (major), 126.0 (minor), 125.3 (major), 124.7 (major), 124.4 (minor), 118.6 (major), 118.5 (minor), 116.8 (q, J = 287.9 Hz), 111.4 (minor), 111.1 (major), 110.6 (major), 110.3 (minor), 57.9 (minor), 56.0 (minor), 57.9 (minor), 28.7 (major), 27.2 (minor). ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = -68.7 (minor), -69.4 (major). HRMS (APCI+, *m/z*): calculated for C₁₅H₁₇F₃NO₃ [M+H⁺]: 316.1155, found: 316.1140. [α] $_{D}^{20}$ = + 168.3 (c = 0.85 in CHCl₃) ee determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak OJ-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 90:10, 40 °C isotherm, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 19.7 min (major), 24.7 min (minor).

(S)-2,2,2-Trifluoro-1-(5-vinyl-7,8-dihydro-[1,3]dioxolo[4,5-g]isoquinolin-6(5H)yl)ethanone 37b



The title compound was prepared from **32b** (75 mg, 0.20 mmol) following the general procedure at room temperature. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, Pentane/Et₂O 10:1) afforded **37b** (54 mg, 0.18 mmol, 94% *ee*, 89%) as a colourless oil as a mixture of two conformers in 3.5:1 ratio (determined by ¹H

NMR at 20 °C). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 6.61 (s, 1H, minor), 6.58 (s, 2H, major), 6.56 (s, 1H, minor), 6.02 – 5.88 (m, 4H major + 3H minor), 5.40 (d, J = 4.2 Hz, 1H minor), 5.30 (dd, J = 9.9, 1.0 Hz, 1H major), 5.29 (d, J = 10.1 Hz, 1H minor), 5.12 (dd, J = 15.5, 1.0 Hz, 1H major), 5.05 (d, J = 17.2 Hz, 1H minor), 4.46 - 4.39 (m, 1H minor), 4.02 - 3.94 (m, 1H major), 3.54 (ddd, J = 14.0, 11.6, 3.9 Hz, 1H major), 3.24 (td, J = 11.5, 4.7 Hz, 1H minor), 2.97 – 2.87 (m, 1H major + 1H minor), 2.75 – 2.68 (m, 1H major + 1H minor). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 155.8 (g. J = 35.8 Hz) (major). 147.3 (minor). 147.0 (major). 146.5 (major). 146.4 (minor). 136.4 (minor), 135.5 (major), 127.3 (minor), 126.5 (major), 125.8 (major), 125.6 (minor), 118.5 (major), 118.4 (minor), 116.5 (g, J = 288.0 Hz) (major), 108.6 (minor), 108.3 (major), 107.8 (major), 107.4 (minor), 101.2 (minor), 101.1 (major), 58.1 (minor), 55.9 (major), 40.0 (major), 37.9 (minor), 29.1 (major), 27.6 (minor). ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = -68.7 (minor), -69.4 (major). HRMS (APCl+, *m/z*): calculated for $C_{14}H_{13}F_3NO_3$ [M+H⁺]: 300.0842, found: 300.0839. [α] $^{20}_{p}$ = + 153.2 (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃) ee determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak AD-H: n-heptane/2propanol 98:2, 40 °C isotherm, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 23.4 min (minor), 24.7 min (major).

(S)-2,2,2-Trifluoro-1-(7-methyl-1-vinyl-3,4-dihydroisoquinolin-2(*1H*)yl)ethanone 37c

The title compound was prepared from 32c (34 mg, 0.15 mmol) following the



general procedure at room temperature. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, Pentane/Et₂O 20:1) afforded **37c** (25 mg, 0.14 mmol, 91% ee, 92%) as a colourless oil as a mixture of two conformers in 3.1:1 ratio (determined by ¹H NMR at 20 °C). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.05 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 1H major +1H

minor), 7.04 (s, 1H, major + 1H minor), 6.95 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H major +1H minor), 6.06 - 5.93 (m. 2H major + 1H minor). 5.50 (d. J = 4.0 Hz. 1H minor). 5.32 - 5.28 (m, 1H major +1H minor), 5.12 (dd, J = 16.3, 0.7 Hz, 1H major), 5.04 (d, J = 17.0 Hz, 1H minor), 4.49 – 4.44 (m, 1H minor), 4.05 – 4.00 (m, 1H major), 3.58 (ddd, J = 14.0, 11.8, 4.0 Hz, 1H major), 3.24 (td, J = 12.4, 4.7 Hz, 1H minor), 3.03 - 2.93 (m, 1H major + 1H minor), 2.84 - 2.76 (m, 1H major + 1H minor), 2.33 (s, 3H minor), 2.33 (s. 3H major). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 155.6 (q, J = 36.0 Hz) (major), 136.6 (minor), 136.3 (major), 136.1 (minor), 135.6 (major), 132.8 (major), 132.6 (minor), 130.1 (major), 130.0 (minor), 128.9 (minor), 128.6 (major), 128.5 (major), 128.2 (major), 128.1 (minor), 118.2 (major), 118.1 (minor), 116.5 (q, J = 287.7 Hz) (major), 58.3 (minor), 56.0 (major), 40.3 (major), 38.22 (minor), 28.7 (major), 27.2 (minor), 21.0 (major), 20.99 (minor). ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = -68.7 (minor), -69.4 (major). HRMS (ESI+, *m/z*): calculated for C₁₄H₁₅F₃NO [M+H⁺]: 270.1100, found: 270.1088. $[\alpha]_{D}^{20} = +152.4$ (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃) ee determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak OJ-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 99:1, 40 °C isotherm, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 13.3 min (minor), 15.2 min (major).

(S)-2,2,2-Trifluoro-1-(1-vinyl-3,4-dihydroisoquinolin-2(1H)-yl)ethanone 37d

The title compound was prepared from 32d (33 mg, 0.10 mmol) following the



general procedure at room temperature. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, Pentane/Et₂O 15:1) afforded **37d** (20 mg, 0.08 mmol, 94% ee, 78%) as a colourless oil as a mixture of two conformers in 3.4:1 ratio (determined by ¹H NMR at 20 °C). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.25 – 7.11 (m, 4H major + 4H minor), 6.05 –

5.93 (m, 2H major + 1H minor), 5.55 (d, J = 3.8 Hz, 1H minor), 5.31 (dd, J = 9.8, 1.1 Hz, 1H major), 5.30 (d, J = 10.2 Hz, 1H minor), 5.12 (dd, J = 16.5, 1.1 Hz, 1H major), 5.05 (d, J = 17.1 Hz, 1H minor), 4.51 – 4.45 (m, 1H minor), 4.08 – 4.00 (m, 1H major), 3.60 (td, J = 12.0, 4.0 Hz, 1H major), 3.33 (td, J = 12.0, 4.5 Hz, 1H minor), 3.08 – 2.98 (m, 1H major + 1H minor), 2.88 – 2.80 (m, 1H major + 1H minor), 1³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 155.6 (q, J = 36.0 Hz) (major), 136.6 (minor), 135.6 (major), 133.9 (minor), 133.6 (minor), 133.2 (major), 133.0 (major), 129.1 (minor), 128.8 (major), 128.2 (major), 127.7 (minor), 127.7 (minor), 127.3 (major), 126.6 (major), 126.5 (minor), 40.1 (major), 38.0 (minor), 29.1 (major), 27.6 (minor). ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = -68.7 (minor), -69.4 (major). HRMS (ESI+, 86

m/z): calculated for $C_{13}H_{13}F_3NO$ [M+H⁺]: 256.0944, found: 256.0941. [α] $_{D}^{20}$ = + 186.8 (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃) ee determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak OJ-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 98:2, 40 °C isotherm, 220 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 12.1 min (minor), 14.4 min (major).

1-(7-Chloro-1-ethylidene-3,4-dihydroisoquinolin-2(1H)-yl)-2,2,2trifluoroethanone 39

The title compound was prepared from 32e (0.020 g, 0.055 mmol) following the



general procedure for the Ir-catalyzed asymmetric allylic amidation at 50 °C. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, Pentane/EtOAc 20:1, R_f = 0.95 in Pentane/EtOAc 10:1) afforded 1-(7-chloro-1-ethylidene-3,4-dihydroisoquinolin-2(1H)-yl)-2,2,2-trifluoroethanone **39** (0.010 g, 0.035 mmol, 63%) as a colourless oil. **39** was isolated as a mixture of 2 isomers (ratio 1:1.3). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.53 (d, *J* =

2.1 Hz, 1H, major), 7.40 (d, J = 2.1 Hz, 1H, minor), 7.25 – 7.14 (m, 1H), 7.04 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 6.32 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 1H, major), 6.16 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 1H, minor), 5.03 – 4.77 (m, 1H), 3.33 – 3.10 (m, 2H), 2.88 – 2.71 (m, 1H), 1.85 (d, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H, minor), 1.70 (d, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H, major). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 130.43, 130.31, 130.12, 128.18, 127.86, 123.81, 123.39, 121.80, 45.10, 29.62, 27.43. Only major peaks are given. ¹⁹F NMR (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -69.21 (major), -70.20 (minor). HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₃H₁₂ClF₃NO [M+H⁺]: 290.0554, found: 290.0547.

(R)-2,2,2-Trifluoro-1-(2-vinylpyrrolidin-1-yl)ethanone 40a

The title compound was prepared from **35a** (0.100 g, 0.371 mmol) following the general procedure for the Ir-catalyzed asymmetric allylic amidation at 50 °C. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, Pentane/EtOAc 10:1, R_f = 0.75 in pentane/EtOAc 10:1) afforded **40a** (0.040 g, 0.207 mmol, 96% ee, 56%) as a colourless oil. **40a** was isolated as a mixture of 2 conformers. (ratio 1 : 2.5) ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = 5.92 – 5.53 (m, 1H), 5.28 – 4.97 (m, 2H), 4.67 (d, *J* = 4.9 Hz, 1H), 3.78 – 3.46 (m, 2H), 2.16 – 1.70 (m, 4H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = 155.4 (q, *J* = 37.1 Hz), 136.8 (minor), 135.3 (major), 116.3 (q, *J* = 287.9 Hz, major), 116.2 (q, *J* = 286.6 Hz, minor), 115.4 (major), 125.1 (minor), 60.4 (major), 59.8 (minor), 47.3 (minor), 46.6 (major), 32.3 (minor), 29.8 (major), 23.8 (major), 20.1 (minor).

NMR: (189 MHz, CDCl₃) $\delta = -70.94$ (minor), -72.71 (major). HRMS (ESI⁺): calculated for C₈H₁₁F₃NO [M+H⁺]: 194.0787, found: 194.0790. [α]_D²⁰ = 44.6 (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃). *ee* determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak AD-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 98:2, 40 °C isotherm, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 10.5 min (major enantiomer), 11.5 min (minor enantiomer).

(R)-2,2,2-Trifluoro-1-(2-vinylpiperidin-1-yl)ethanone 40b

The title compound was prepared from 35b (0.060 g, 0.212 mmol) following the

V CF₃ 40b general procedure for the Ir-catalyzed asymmetric allylic amidation at 50 °C. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, Pentane/EtOAc 20:1, R_f = 0.90 in pentane/EtOAc 10:1) afforded **40b** (0.030 g, 0.144 mmol, 88% *ee*, 68%) as a colourless oil. **40b** was isolated as a mixture of 2 conformers (ratio 1:1.7). ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = 5.95 – 5.65 (m, 1H), 5.31 (t, *J* = 11.5 Hz, 1H), 5.26 (s (br), 1H major), 5.15 (t, *J* = 16.4 Hz, 1H), 4.68 (s, 1H, minor), 4.39 (d, *J* = 12.7 Hz, 1H,

minor), 3.80 (d, J = 13.3 Hz, 1H, major), 3.24 (t, J = 13.3 Hz, 1H, major), 2.91 (t, J = 13.0 Hz, 1H, minor), 1.90 (d, J = 13.2 Hz, 1H), 1.81 – 1.60 (m, 4H), 1.58 – 1.41 (m, 1H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) $\delta = 156.8$ (q, J = 36.6 Hz), 135.2 (minor), 134.6 (major), 117.8 (minor), 117.5 (major), 116.7 (q, J = 186.9 Hz), 54.8 (minor), 51.9 (major), 42.0 (minor), 39.2 (major), 29.6 (minor), 28.3 (major), 26.0 (major), 25.3 (minor), 19.3. ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) $\delta = -68.75$ (minor), -68.79 (major). HRMS (ESI⁺): calculated for C₉H₁₂F₃NONa [M+Na⁺]: 230.0763, found: 230.0752. [α]_D²⁰ = 55.6 (c = 1.2 in CHCl₃). *ee* determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak OB-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 99.9:0.1, 40 °C isotherm, 230 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 13.5 min (minor enantiomer), 15.2 min (major enantiomer).

(R)-2,2,2-Trifluoro-1-(2-vinylazepan-1-yl)ethanone 40c

The title compound was prepared from **35c** (0.100 g, 0.336 mmol) following the general procedure for the Ir-catalyzed asymmetric allylic amidation at 50 °C. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, Pentane/EtOAc 10:1, R_f = 0.90 in pentane/EtOAc 10:1) afforded **40c** (0.019 g, 0.086 mmol, 92% ee, 25%) as a colourless oil. **40c** was isolated as a mixture of 2 conformers. (ratio 2:3) ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = 5.87 – 5.64 (m, 1H), 5.13 (dd, *J* = 19.5, 10.6 Hz, 1H), 5.05 (d, *J* = 17.3 Hz, 1H), 4.92 – 4.81 (m, 1H, minor), 4.45 (s (br), 1H, major), 4.06 (d, *J* = 13.6

Hz, 1H, major), 3.81 (d, J = 15.0 Hz, 1H, minor), 3.19 – 3.04 (m, 1H, minor), 2.82 (t, J = 12.7 Hz, 1H, major), 2.20 (ddd, J = 23.2, 15.0, 7.2 Hz, 1H), 1.98 – 1.79 (m, 2H), 1.69 - 1.46 (m, 3H), 1.30 (tt, J = 17.3, 8.7 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) $\delta = 136.7$ (major), 135.6 (minor), 114.8 (major), 114.6 (minor), 58.3 (minor), 57.9 (major), 43.1 (minor), 42.9 (major), 33.7 (major), 32.3 (minor), 30.7 (minor), 29.6 (major), 28.9 (minor), 26.6 (major), 24.8 (minor), 23.9 (major). The COCF₃ peaks could not be detected. ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) $\delta = -68.31$ (major), -68.72 (minor). HRMS (ESI⁺): calculated for C₁₀H₁₅F₃NO [M+H⁺]: 222.1100, found: 222.1103. [α]_D²⁰ = 76.8 (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃). ee determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak AS-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 99:1, 40 °C isotherm, 220 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 9.4 min (minor enantiomer), 10.0 min (major enantiomer).

2.2.2-Trifluoro-N-(octa-5.7-dienvl)acetamide 42

The title compound was prepared from 35c (0.100 g, 0.336 mmol) following the



general procedure for the Ir-catalvzed allylic asymmetric amidation 50 °C. at Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1. 0.70 Rf = in Pentane/EtOAc 10:1) afforded 42 (0.019 g, 0.086 mmol, 92% ee, 25%) as a colourless oil.

42 was isolated as a mixture of 2 isomers. (ratio 3:2) ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCI₃) δ = 6.60 (dt. J = 16.9, 10.6 Hz, 1H, major), 6.41 (s (br), 1H), 6.36 - 6.23 (m, 1H). minor), 6.13 – 5.97 (m, 1H), 5.78 – 5.59 (m, 1H, minor), 5.50 – 5.34 (m, 1H, major), 5.20 (d, J = 16.9 Hz, 1H, major), 5.16 – 5.04 (m, 1H), 4.98 (d, J = 10.1 Hz, 1H, minor), 3.36 (dd, J = 13.4, 6.7 Hz, 2H), 2.23 (q, J = 7.3 Hz, 2H, major), 2.12 (dd, J = 14.3, 7.1 Hz, 2H, minor), 1.69 – 1.53 (m, 2H), 1.51 – 1.38 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR: $(101 \text{ MHz}, \text{CDCI}_3) \delta = 157.2 \text{ (q, } J = 39.0 \text{ Hz}\text{)}, 137.0, 134.0, 131.9, 131.7, 131.4,$ 123.0. 117.5. 115.8 (g. J = 288.0 Hz). 115.3. 39.8. 31.9. 29.7. 28.41. 27.0. 26.5. 26.1. ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ = -76.00. HRMS (ESI⁺): calculated for C₁₀H₁₅F₃NO [M+H⁺]: 222.1103, found: 222.1100.

(S)-6,7-Dimethoxy-1-vinyl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydroisoguinoline 45



Trifluoroacetamide 37a (46 mg, 0.15 mmol) was dissolved in a mixture of MeOH/water (7 mL/1 mL) at room temperature. K₂CO₃ was added to the solution and the resulting mixture was stirred during 16 h. Then, MeOH was removed under vacuum, water was added (10 mL) and the aqueous solution was extracted with EtOAc (3 x 5 mL). The combined organic layer was dried over Na₂SO₄ and the solvent was removed to afford amine 45 as a white solid

(32 mg, 96%, 97% ee). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 6.58 (s, 1H), 6.57 (s, 1H), 5.93 (ddd, J = 17.4 Hz, 10.0, 7.8 Hz, 1H), 5.24 (d, J = 17.4 Hz, 1H), 5.23 (d, J =10.0 Hz, 1H), 4.40 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 3.27 - 3.19 (m, 1H), 3.06 – 2.97 (m. 1H), 2.86 – 2.77 (m. 1H), 2.67 (dt. J = 16.1, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 2.13 (s (br), 1H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 147.9, 147.3, 140.8, 128.7, 127.1, 117.5, 111.8, 110.5, 60.2, 56.2, 55.9, 41.9, 29.3. HRMS (ESI+, *m/z*): calculated for $C_{13}H_{18}NO_2$ [M+H⁺]: 220.1332, found: 220.1325. [α]_D²⁰ = + 76.0 (c = 0.5, CHCl₃). ee determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak OJ-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 98:2, 40 °C isotherm, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 30.4 min (major), 38.7 min (minor).

(S)-2-Allyl-6,7-dimethoxy-1-vinyl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydroisoquinoline 46

(S)-6,7-dimethoxy-1-vinyl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydroisoquinoline 45a (1.00 eq., 0.020 g,



0.091 mmol) was dissolved in THF (Volume: 10 ml) and cooled to -78 °C. Then 1.00 eq. BuLi solution in hexanes (c = 1.6 M) (0.057 ml, 0.091 mmol) was added dropwise and the reaction was stirred at -78 °C for 1 h. Then, 2.00 eq. allyl bromide (0.016 ml, 0.182 mmol) were added and the mixture was allowed to warm to r.t. and stirred for 16 h. The

reaction was quenched by addition of sat. aq. NH₄Cl solution (10 mL). Extraction with Et₂O (2x 30 mL) and subsequent drying of the organic phases over MgSO₄, filtration and removal of all volatiles under reduced pressure yielded the crude product. This was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1, $R_f = 0.80$ in pentane/EtOAc 8:2) to yield (S)-2-allyl-6,7-dimethoxy-1-vinyl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydroisoquinoline **46** (0.020 g, 0.077 mmol, 85 %) as a colourless oil. ¹H NMR (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 6.50 (s, 2H), 6.00 – 5.44 (m, 2H), 5.36 – 5.02 (m, 4H), 3.91 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 3.76 (s, 3H), 3.72 (s, 3H), 3.52 – 3.30 (m, 1H), 3.17 – 2.88 (m, 2H), 2.86 – 2.62 (m, 2H), 2.47 (ddd, *J* = 12.2, 7.7, 4.8 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 147.45, 146.87, 139.33, 135.32, 127.74, 126.53, 118.04, 117.58, 111.07, 110.90, 66.09, 57.39, 55.72, 55.66, 46.15, 28.11. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₆H₂₂NO₂ [M+H⁺]: 260.1645, found: 260.1640. [α]₀²⁰ = 55.2 (c = 1.1 in CHCl₃).

2,2,2-Trifluoro-N-methyl-N-(1-phenylprop-1-enyl)acetamide 67

67 was prepared in the reaction of 1.0 eq. cinnamyl methyl carbonate 64 (0.020 g,



0.104 mmol) and 2.0 eq. 2,2,2-trifluoro-*N*-methylacetamide **65** (0.026 g, 0.208 mmol) following the general procedure for the Ir-catalyzed asymmetric allylic amidation at 50 °C, employing **L1** as ligand. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, Pentane/EtOAc 20:1, $R_f = 0.60$ in Pentane/EtOAc 10:1) afforded 2,2,2-trifluoro-*N*-methyl-N-(1-phenylprop-1-en-1-yl)acetamide **67** (0.016 g, 0.066 mmol, 63%) as a colourless

oil. **67** was isolated as two double bond isomers (ratio: 1:5.5) ¹H NMR (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.60 – 7.20 (m, 5H), 6.38 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 1H, major), 6.20 (dd, *J* = 14.0, 7.0 Hz, 1H, minor), 3.23 (s, 3H, minor), 3.18 (s, 3H, major), 1.82 (d, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H, major), 1.75 (d, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 3H, minor). ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 128.86, 128.81, 128.36, 128.31, 124.72, 124.29, 37.10, 13.85. Only major peaks are given, the COCF₃ peaks were not observed. ¹⁹F NMR (189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -69.86 (minor), -69.97 (major). HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₂H₁₃F₃NO [M+H⁺]: 244.0944, found: 244.0930.

6 References

(1) Dewick, P. M. *Medicinal Natural Products - A Biosynthetic Approach*; 2nd ed.; Wiley: Chichester, 2001.

- (2) Scott, J. D.; Williams, R. M. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 1669-1730.
- (3) Kream, R. M.; Stefano, G. B. Med. Sci. Monit. 2006, 12, RA207-RA219.
- (4) Zhu, W.; Cadet, P.; Baggerman, G.; Mantione, K. J.; Stefano, G. B. *J. Immunol.* **2005**, *175*, 7357-7362.
- (5) Tubocurarine is one of the components of the lethal injection in the USA, where it serves the purpose of relaxing the heart muscle (= stop the heartbeat).
- (6) Tuba, Z.; Maho, S.; Vizi, E. S. *Curr. Med. Chem.* **2002**, *9*, 1507-1536.
- (7) Lee, C. Pharmacol. Ther. **2003**, 98, 143-169.
- (8) Chrzanowska, M.; Rozwadowska, M. D. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 3341-3370.
- (9) Siengalewicz, P.; Rinner, U.; Mulzer, J. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2008**, *37*, 2676-2690.
- (10) Vicario, J. L.; Badia, D.; Carrillo, L.; Etxebarria, J. *Curr. Org. Chem.* **2003**, *7*, 1775-1792.
- (11) Royer, J.; Bonin, M.; Micouin, L. *Chem. Rev.* **2004**, *104*, 2311-2352.
- (12) Zhou, Y. G. Acc. Chem. Res. 2007, 40, 1357-1366.
- (13) Ito, K.; Akashi, S.; Saito, B.; Katsuki, T. Synlett **2003**, 1809-1812.
- (14) Szawkalo, J.; Czarnocki, S. J.; Zawadzka, A.; Wojtasiewicz, K.; Leniewski, A.; Maurin, J. K.; Czarnocki, Z.; Drabowicz, J. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2007**, *18*, 406-413.
- (15) Szawkalo, J.; Zawadzka, A.; Wojtasiewicz, K.; Leniewski, A.; Drabowicz, J.; Czarnocki, Z. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2005**, *16*, 3619-3621.
- (16) Taylor, M. S.; Tokunaga, N.; Jacobsen, E. N. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 6700-6704.
- (17) Kinderman, S. S.; Wekking, M. M. T.; van Maarseveen, J. H.; Schoemaker, H. E.; Hiemstra, H.; Rutjes, F. *J. Org. Chem.* **2005**, *70*, 5519-5527.
- (18) Helmchen, G.; Dahnz, A.; Dübon, P.; Schelwies, M.; Weihofen, R. Chem. Commun. 2007, 675-691.
- (19) Bartels, B.; Garcia-Yebra, C.; Helmchen, G. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 1097-1103.
- (20) Kiener, C. A.; Shu, C. T.; Incarvito, C.; Hartwig, J. F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2003**, *125*, 14272-14273.
- (21) Spiess, S.; Welter, C.; Franck, G.; Taquet, J. P.; Helmchen, G. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2008**, *47*, 7652-7655.
- (22) Marković, D.; Hartwig, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 11680-11681.
- (23) Ohmura, T.; Hartwig, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 15164-15165.
- (24) Teichert, J. F.; Feringa, B. L. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 2486-2528.
- (25) Gnamm, C.; Franck, G.; Miller, N.; Stork, T.; Brodner, K.; Helmchen, G. Synthesis **2008**, 3331-3350.
- (26) Dübon, P.; Schelwies, M.; Helmchen, G. Chem. Eur. J. 2008, 14, 6722-6733.
- (27) Welter, C.; Moreno, R. M.; Streiff, S.; Helmchen, G. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 3266-3268.
- (28) Förster, S.; Helmchen, G. Synlett **2008**, 831-836.
- (29) Pouy, M. J.; Leitner, A.; Weix, D. J.; Ueno, S.; Hartwig, J. F. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 3949-3952.
- (30) Pouy, M. J.; Stanley, L. M.; Hartwig, J. F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2009**, *131*, 11312-11313.
- (31) Teichert, J. F.; Feringa, B. L. Synthesis 2010, 1200-1204.
- (32) Lyothier, I.; Defieber, C.; Carreira, E. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2006**, *45*, 6204-6207.
- (33) Defieber, C.; Ariger, M. A.; Moriel, P.; Carreira, E. M. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2007**, *46*, 3139 3143.
- (34) Singh, O. V.; Han, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 774-775.
- (35) Singh, O. V.; Han, H. S. Org. Lett. **2007**, *9*, 4801-4804.
- Welter, C.; Dahnz, A.; Brunner, B.; Streiff, S.; Dubon, P.; Helmchen, G. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 1239-1242.

- (37) Welter, C.; Koch, O.; Lipowsky, G.; Helmchen, G. Chem. Commun. 2004, 896-897.
- (38) Parvulescu, A.; De Vos, D.; Jacobs, P. Chem. Commun. 2005, 5307-5309.
- (39) Parvulescu, A. N.; Jacobs, P. A.; De Vos, D. E. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2007**, *13*, 2034-2043.
- Yajima, A.; Qin, Y.; Zhou, X.; Kawanishi, N.; Xiao, X.; Wang, J.; Zhang, D.; Wu, Y.; Nukada, T.; Yabuta, G.; Qi, J. H.; Asano, T.; Sakagami, Y. *Nature Chem. Biol.* 2008, *4*, 235-237.
- (41) Nishimura, T.; Guo, X. X.; Uchiyama, N.; Katoh, T.; Hayashi, T. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2008**, *130*, 1576-+.
- (42) Nakai, T.; Yajima, A.; Akasaka, K.; Kaihoku, T.; Ohtaki, M.; Nukada, T.; Ohrui, H.; Yabuta, G. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* **2005**, *69*, 2401-2408.
- (43) Dandapani, S.; Jeske, M.; Curran, D. P. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 9447-9462.
- (44) Schwartz, B. D.; Hayes, P. Y.; Kitching, W.; De Voss, J. J. *J. Org. Chem.* **2005**, *70*, 3054-3065.
- Mori, K.; Ohtaki, T.; Ohrui, H.; Berkebile, D. R.; Carlson, D. A. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2004, 1089-1096.
- (46) Smith, G. V.; Wang, Y.; Song, R.; Jackson, M. Cat. Today 1998, 44, 119-127.
- (47) Rakoff, H.; Rohwedder, W. K. Lipids 1992, 27, 567-569.
- (48) Smith, G. V.; Roth, J. A.; Desai, D. S.; Kosco, J. L. J. Cat. 1973, 30, 79-85.
- (49) Shi, C.; Ojima, I. Tetrahedron 2007, 63, 8563-8570.
- (50) Reimann, E.; Ettmayr, C. Monatsh. Chem. 2004, 135, 1143-1155.
- (51) It is important that the commercially available IPy₂ reagent has to be freshly recrystallized from CH₂Cl₂/Et₂O before use. Only tetrafluoroboric acid solution from Alfa Aesar gives the desired results.
- (52) Barluenga, J.; Álvarez-Gutiérrez, J. M.; Ballesteros, A.; González, J. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 1281-1283.
- (53) Espinet, P.; Echavarren, A. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 4704-4734.
- (54) Betzer, J. F.; Delaloge, F.; Muller, B.; Pancrazi, A.; Prunet, J. *J. Org. Chem.* **1997**, 62, 7768-7780.
- (55) Grubbs, R. H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 3760-3765.
- (56) Lipowsky, G.; Miller, N.; Helmchen, G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 4595-4597.
- (57) Shu, C. T.; Leitner, A.; Hartwig, J. F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 4797-4800.
- (58) Raskatov, J. A.; Spiess, S.; Gnamm, C.; Brödner, K.; Rominger, F.; Helmchen, G. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2010**, *16*, 6601-6615.
- (59) Spiess, S.; Raskatov, J. A.; Gnamm, C.; Brödner, K.; Helmchen, G. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2009**, *15*, 11087-11090.
- (60) Leitner, A.; Shekhar, S.; Pouy, M. J.; Hartwig, J. F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2005**, *127*, 15506-15514.
- (61) Tissot-Croset, K.; Polet, D.; Gille, S.; Hawner, C.; Alexakis, A. *Synthesis* **2004**, 2586-2590.
- (62) Ueno, S.; Hartwig, J. F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 1928-1931.
- (63) Anslyn, E. V.; Dougherty, D. A. *Modern Physical Organic Chemistry*; University Science Books: Sausalito, 2006.
- (64) Xu, Q. L.; Liu, W. B.; Dai, L. X.; You, S. L. J. Org. Chem. 2010, 75, 4615-4618.
- (65) Zhang, Q. Y.; Tu, G. Z.; Zhao, Y. Y.; Cheng, T. M. *Tetrahedron* **2002**, *58*, 6795-6798.
- (66) Smit, C.; Fraaije, M. W.; Minnaard, A. J. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73, 9482-9485.
- (67) Teichert, J. F.; den Hartog, T.; Hanstein, M.; Smit, C.; ter Horst, B.; Hernandez-Olmos, V.; Feringa, B. L.; Minnaard, A. J. **2010**, submitted.
- (68) Schrock, R. R. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 3748-3759.

- Brisbare-Roch, C.; Dingemanse, J.; Koberstein, R.; Hoever, P.; Aissaoui, H.; Flores, S.; Mueller, C.; Nayler, O.; van Gerven, J.; de Haas, S. L.; Hess, P.; Qiu, C. B.; Buchmann, S.; Scherz, M.; Weller, T.; Fischli, W.; Clozel, M.; Jenck, F. *Nat. Medicine* **2007**, *13*, 150-155.
- (70) Roecker, A. J.; Coleman, P. J. Curr. Top. Med. Chem. 2008, 8, 977-987.
- (71) Tanaka, Y.; Hasui, T.; Suginome, M. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4407-4410.
- (72) Marković, D.; Hartwig, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 11680-11681.
- (73) Liu, G. S.; Wu, Y. C. *Top. Curr. Chem.* **2010**, 292, 195-209.
- (74) Bouffard, J.; Itami, K. Top. Curr. Chem. 2010, 292, 231-280.
- (75) Smith, C. R.; Mans, D. J.; RajanBabu, T. V. Org. Synth. 2008, 85, 238.
- (76) Langer, F.; Schwink, L.; Devasagayaraj, A.; Chavant, P. Y.; Knochel, P. *J. Org. Chem.* **1996**, *61*, 8229-8243.
- (77) Gnamm, C.; Franck, G.; Miller, N.; Stork, T.; Brödner, K.; Helmchen, G. Synthesis **2008**, 3331-3350.

Chapter 3

Chapter 4

Synthetic Approaches towards β-Carbolines

The catalytic asymmetric synthesis of multifunctional chiral β -carboline compounds was attempted through two Ir-catalyzed allylic substitution protocols. The asymmetric allylic amination as well as the allylic amidation were investigated. Synthetic routes towards the required allylic carbonates were developed, however, those compounds could not be transformed to the desired β -carbolines through Ir-catalyzed allylic substitutions.

Parts of this chapter will be published: Teichert, J.F.; Fañanás-Mastral, M.; Feringa, B.L. *submitted*.

1. Introduction

β-Carboline- or tryptoline-derived alkaloids¹⁻³ are a large class of naturally occuring compounds which show a wide variety of biological and therapeutic activities (Figure 1).⁴⁻⁶ As examples of this family⁷ of molecules, the two antihypertensives reserpine (**3**) and ajmalicine (**4**) are displayed.⁸⁻¹⁰ Both **3** and **4** can be isolated from evergreen trees of the *Rauwolfia* species. Reserpine (**3**) acts through the inhibition of accumulation of biologically active amines, *e.g.* serotonin and catecholamines, in the brain and other body organs.⁹ Structurally related ajmalicine (**4**), however, is an inhibitor of α1-andrenergic receptors¹¹ displaying just a small variety of the biological activities associated with this class of compounds. Many synthetic strategies have been developed to make substituted indoles and tryptamines,¹²⁻¹⁴ Pictet-Spengler and Mannich-type condensation reactions being among the most prominent ones.¹⁵⁻¹⁷



Figure 1 Examples of β -carboline compounds

Some of the synthetic approaches to chiral β -carbolines are discussed in the following sections.

An organocatalytic cascade reaction to give the related quinolizidine compounds **8** in straightforward manner was recently reported (Scheme 1).¹⁸ With catalytic amounts of prolinol **7** the desired products **8** were accessible in a one-pot procedure from α , β -unsaturated aldehydes **5** and tryptamine **6**. Compounds **8** were

isolated in up to good yields reaching excellent enantioselectivities. Even though the aryl-substituted tetracyclic compounds are not commonly found in nature, this marks an impressive transformation, generating three stereocenters in one reaction.



Scheme 1 Organocatalytic cascade reaction

The direct asymmetric Pictet-Spengler reaction with tryptamines and aldehydes to chiral β-carbolines represents a major challenge since after imine formation from the aldehyde and the primary amine fast isomerization to the corresponding enamines and subsequent aldol condensations take place.¹⁹ This problem was overcome in related yet different ways recently (Scheme 2).¹⁹⁻²¹ The asymmetric Pictet-Spengler reactions were carried out with catalytic amounts of chiral phosphoric acids 22,23 10 and 13. In the first case (Scheme 2a) the aldol condensation reaction could be suppressed by geminal substitution with esters 9. Via this pathway, the corresponding β -carbolines **11** were isolated in up to very good yields and with good enantioselectivities. In the second case (Scheme 2b), the primary nitrogen was protected as the sulfenylamine 12 preventing the unwanted aldol-condensation from taking place. The sulfenvlamine protecting group could be removed in situ. Like this, chiral β -carbolines **14** bearing no substituents on the piperidine ring were obtained with up to good selectivities. These two reports mark important breakthroughs for the asymmetric Pictet-Spengler reactions, however, it should be noted that the aldehydes and the corresponding R groups in products 11 and 14 are mostly unfunctionalized and hence prevent easy further application in synthesis, such as annulation to tetracyclic compounds. One notable exception to this is the use of an aldehyde bearing an acetal-protected ketone.²⁴


Scheme 2 Catalytic asymmetric Pictet-Spengler reactions

Next to the abovementioned examples of organocatalytic approaches to β -carbolines also some transition metal-catalyzed reactions are known. In Scheme 3, an asymmetric Pd-catalyzed intramolecular allylic substitution is depicted.²⁵ When tryptamines **15** bearing an allylic carbonate moiety were subjected to allylic substitution conditions with catalytic amounts of a Pd/L1 complex, the corresponding chiral β -carbolines **16** were isolated in up to excellent yields and with very good enantioselectivities. It should be noted, however, that if **16** was employed as a chiral building block in further synthesis, deprotection of the *N*-benzyl group under hydrogenolytic conditions would jeopardize the terminal double bond as well and thus would limit the possible further functionalizations at that position.



Scheme 3 Pd-catalyzed asymmetric synthesis of β-carbolines

2. Goal

The aim of this project was to develop a catalytic asymmetric synthesis of chiral β carboline building blocks, in analogy to the asymmetric Ir-catalyzed allylic amidation for the synthesis of chiral tetrahydroisoquinolines (see Chapter 3). β -Carbolines and tetrahydroisoquinolines are related structures, the only difference being the "backbone" of the molecule containing an indole or a phenyl moiety, respectively. We therefore sought to expand the allylic substitution methodology to these structures. In analogy to the previously described catalytic asymmetric methodology, chiral building blocks with a multitude of starting points for further functionalization should be obtained via the envisaged route, furnishing valuable synthetic intermediates for further synthesis.

3. Results and discussion

Two synthetic approaches were taken in this project, the first was to employ a direct allylic amination with a primary amine to construct the chiral piperidine of the β -carboline cores **18** with an unprotected primary nitrogen (path A in Scheme 4). This approach proved to be problematic due to the choice of protecting groups necessary for synthesis as well as incompatibility of the synthetic approach to **18** with the required leaving group for the allylic subsititution, the methyl carbonate. The second approach was to attempt the allylic amidation as outlined in Chapter 3, making use of a TFA *N*-protecting group in **20** that can still act as a nucleophile in

the Ir-catalyzed allylic substitution (path B in Scheme 4). This approach was synthetically more viable, and the desired starting materials **20** for the construction of the chiral β -carbolines **19** were accessible in this way.



Scheme 4 Retrosynthetic approach to chiral β-carbolines

3.1 The direct allylic amination approach

The synthetic approach to primary amine **18** was based upon literature precedents for the preparation of synthetic intermediates **22** to **25**,^{26,27} employing a phthalimide protecting group for the primary amine of tryptamine (Scheme 5). We anticipated that the late-stage deprotection of the phthalimide to the primary amine should be compatible with the allylic carbonate moiety. After protection of both nitrogen atoms of **21** with a Boc and a phthalimide group, respectively, tryptamine **24** was converted to bromide **25** with pyridinium tribromide in excellent yields. Compound **25** served as precursor for the first key step in the synthesis of β -carbolines, since the allyl alcohol moiety would be installed via Pd-catalyzed cross coupling methodology.



Scheme 5 Synthesis of bromide 25

Suzuki cross coupling

Among the first attempts to install the allyl alcohol moiety in the 2-position of the indoles was the investigation of a Suzuki coupling²⁸⁻³² of bromide **25** with boronate **28**,²⁶ which had been prepared from catecholborane (**26**) and TBS-protected propargylic alcohol **27** (Scheme 6).



Scheme 6 Preparation of catecholboronate 28

The results of the Suzuki coupling are summarized in Table 1. First, literature conditions²⁶ were applied for the transformation of **25** (Table 1, entry 1), however, it was observed that only low coversion to the desired coupling product **29** was achieved. Milder conditions (Table 1, entry 2) did not lead to any conversion either. However, when a catalyst comprising of palladium(II) acetate and

triphenylphosphine in the presence of aqueous sodium carbonate solution was investigated under different reaction conditions (Table 1, entries 3,4), it was found that both in propanol/water and THF/water mixtures the corresponding protected allylic alcohols **29** could be obtained with good yields after short reaction times. However, it turned out that these reactions were not reproducible, as the conversion was very low in most of the cases. Unfortunately, even after tedious purification of both **25** and **28**, the Suzuki coupling could not be rendered reproducible, so that it was necessary to investigate other cross coupling reactions.

Table 1 Suzuki coupling of bromide 25



Entry	Conditions	Additive(s)	Comment	Yield of 29
1 ²⁶	5.0 mol% Pd(PPh ₃) ₄	2N NaOH,		n.d.
	toluene, 100 °C	5.0 mol% LiCl	Low conversion	
	5.0 mol% Pd(PPh ₃) ₄		No conversion	-
2	2.0 eq. Na ₂ CO ₃	-		
	THF/H ₂ O 5:1, rt			
	5.0 mol% Pd(OAc) ₂			
	10 mol% PPh ₃		Full conversion in 30 min, reaction is not reproducible	70%
5	2.0 eq. Na ₂ CO ₃	-		1078
	n-propanol/H ₂ O 5:1, reflux			
	5.0 mol% Pd(OAc) ₂			
4	10 mol% PPh ₃	5 drops	Full conversion in 30 min, reaction is not reproducible	78%
	2.0 eq. Na ₂ CO ₃	ethylene glycol		1078
	THF/H ₂ O 5:1, reflux			

Heck cross coupling

The Heck reaction^{31,33,34} of bromide **25** with allyl alcohol or derivatives thereof (**30**) was attempted next. With acetal-protected acrolein (Table 2, entry 1) no turnover was found with the standard catalyst comprising palladium(II) acetate and triphenylphosphine. Under the same conditions, TBS-protected allylic alcohol as well as allylic alcohol itself (Table 2, entries 2,3) were giving full conversion in short reaction times (~1 h), however the desired product **31** was isolated as a mixture with all other double bond isomers (E/Z, terminal/vicinal substitution), which could not be separated, rendering this coupling not useful for the further synthesis. The same result was found when Pd-BIAN³⁵ complex **32**, which had been successfully used in the related oxidative Heck reaction,³⁶ was employed for the Heck reaction with allyl alcohol.



Table 2 Heck reaction of bromide 25



Kumada cross coupling

The Kumada cross coupling³⁷ of **25** with vinyImagnesium bromide was also investigated. The corresponding terminal olefin **34** was anticipated to be further transformed to the desired allyl carbonate by cross metathesis (compare Chapters 2 and 3). However, it was found that under the reaction conditions, the phthalimide protecting group was not tolerated, as a fast and selective attack on the imide to give **35**, was observed.



Scheme 7 Attempted Kumada coupling

Stille cross coupling

As the last option, we attempted the Stille reaction to install the allylic alcohol moiety in the 2-position of the indole. Since it is known that the Stille reaction works best with unsaturated iodides as coupling partners,³⁸⁻⁴⁰ we set out to synthesize the corresponding iodide, starting off from fully protected tryptamine **36**. As illustrated in Table 3, a variety of conditions were investigated. Most of the entries – with the exception of entry 3 – do give conversion to the desired iodide **37**, however, the products are accompanied by side-products or not-separable impurities. Similar results were found with lithiation and subsequent trapping with iodine or 1,2-diiodoethane⁴¹ (Table 3, entries 1,2). With the strongly electrophilic iodonium monochloride, deprotection of the Boc group was observed (Table 3, entry 3), most probably due to a Lewis acid-promoted elimination of the *tert*-butoxy moiety. Using the highly active bispyridine iodonium tetrafluoroborate (Table 3, entry 4),⁴² the 104

desired product **37** was observed in the reaction mixture, but could not be obtained pure. To our delight, a mercury-mediated iodination⁴³ gave excellent results in terms of yields and selectivities, and **37** could be obtained in up to 2 g scale via this method (Table 3, entry 5).

	iodinat Boc 36	ion 🗲	0 N N Boc 37
Entry	Conditions	Conversion	Comment
1	2.4 eq. <i>t</i> BuLi, 2.6 eq. I ₂ THF, -78 °C to rt	Mixture of products	
2	1.1 eq. <i>t</i> BuLi, 1.0 eq. 38 ⁴¹	Mixture of products	ا مر اً 38
3	1.1 eq. ICI, CH ₂ CI ₂ , rt	Full conversion, deprotection of Boc group	
4 ⁴²	1.1 eq. IPy ₂ , 2.2 eq. HBF ₄ , CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt	Mixture of products	П. 1 ^{+.} N. IРу ₂ ВF ₄ -
5 ⁴³	1.3 eq. Hg(OTFA) ₂ , CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt 1.5 eq. l ₂	Selective reaction, quantitative yield	can be scaled to 2g

Table 3 Iodination of tryptamine 36

With iodide **37** in hand, we investigated the Stille coupling reaction (Table 4) with stannane **39**, which was obtained in one step from propargyl alcohol.⁴⁴ We started off optimizing the reaction conditions, employing $Pd(PPh_3)_4$ as catalyst and LiCl as additive.³⁸ However, with various solvents tested, little or no conversion to the coupling product **40** was observed (Table 4, entries 1-3). Addition of CsF and

catalytic amounts of Cul, which had led to improved results in earlier studies,⁴⁵ showed no effect on the envisaged reaction (Table 4, entry 4). However, at elevated temperatures and with a Pd(II) precatalyst, the desired product was obtained in acceptable yield (Table 4, entry 5). Furthermore, this reaction proved to be scalable without compromizing the yields. From the optimization, it is not clear yet whether the temperature or the additive in combination with the Pd precursor was the decisive change for the positive outcome of the reaction.

	→ I + 1.50 eq. _{Bu3} Sn → ОН — Зос 7 39	Stille reaction	о (, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Entry	Conditions	Additives	Comment
1	5.0 mol% Pd(PPh ₃) ₄ , DMF, 50 °C	3.0 eq. LiCl	Low conversion
2	5.0 mol% Pd(PPh ₃) ₄ , THF, 50 °C	3.0 eq. LiCl	Low conversion
3	5.0 mol% Pd(PPh ₃) ₄ , toluene, 50 °C	3.0 eq. LiCl	Low conversion
4 ⁴⁵	5.0 mol% Pd(PPh ₃) ₄ , DMF, 50 °C	2.0 eq. CsF 10 mol% Cul	Low conversion
5	5.0 mol% PdCl ₂ (PPh ₃) ₂ , DMF, 75 °C	3.0 eq. LiCl	65% yield

Table 4 Optimization Stille coupling

Allylic alcohol **40** could be smoothly transformed to the corresponding methyl carbonate **41** (Scheme 8), which bears the necessary leaving group for the anticipated Ir-catalyzed allylic substitution.



Scheme 8 Synthesis of allylic carbonate 41

With allylic carbonate **41** in hand, we set off to investigate the deprotection of the phthalimide protection group. This was expected to be a difficult transformation, since phthalimides are generally cleaved with nucleophilic reagents. However, the allylic carbonate which is also present in **41** should also be susceptible to nucleophilic attack. The same holds true if a reductive pathway should be chosen. Therefore, judicious choice of deprotection conditions was expected to be necessary. As a third requirement, the Boc protection of the indole moiety in **41** should remain intact, since indoles are known to be *N*-nucleophiles in the Ircatalyzed allylic amination.⁴⁶ Protection of this position ensured supression of a competing intermolecular allylic substitution.

We started off by investigating the deprotection of the phthalimide group with hydrazine hydrate (Table 5).⁴⁷ Under standard conditions in ethanol at ambient temperature, it was observed that 41 did not dissolve and with one equivalent of hydrazine, no reaction took place (Table 5, entry 1). When more equivalents of hydrazine were added, little conversion to the desired deprotected primary amine was observed (Table 5, entry 2). However, when the reaction mixture was allowed to stir overnight, full conversion of the primary amine 42 to the ring-closed β carboline 43 was observed, most probably due to the basicity of hydrazine (Table 5, entry 3). Reactions which employed hydrazine stock solutions in either EtOH or THF led to no conversion (Table 5, entries 4-6), with the exception of the reaction using an excess of hydrazine in THF, which led to equal amounts of the desired 42, next to the ring-closed 43 and aminoalcohol 44 (Table 5, entry 7). It is known in literature that phthalimides can also be deprotected with primary amines, 47-49 so we investigated this possibility next. Indeed, this manner of deprotection proved to be more fruitful, since we observed full conversion of phthalimide 41 with an excess of methylamine in water (Table 5, entry 8), albeit with complete conversion to β carboline 43. When the solvent was changed to ethanol, full conversion to the desired primary amine 42 was achieved, however in this case, diamide 45 and semi-deprotected diamide **46** being inseparable impurities (Table 5, entries 9,10). It was compound **42** from these reactions that was used for further studies. Finally, the deprotection with butylamine was attempted to achieve an easier purification of **42**, but these reaction either led to low conversion to **42** overnight, or to complete deprotection to amino alcohol **44** (Table 5, entries 11,12).

	deprotection Boc 41	NH ₂ NH ₂ Boc O-	+ ~_	NH N Boc 43
Entry	Conditions	Comment	42/43 ^a	
1	1.0 eq. H ₂ NNH ₂ •H ₂ O, EtOH, rt	After 1h, no conv.	-	41 does not dissolve
2	3.0 eq. H ₂ NNH ₂ •H ₂ O, EtOH, rt	After 1h, low conv. (~10%)	100/0	41 dissolves
3	3.0 eq. H ₂ NNH ₂ •H ₂ O, EtOH, rt	After 16h, low conv. (~20%)	0/100	41 dissolves
4	1.0 eq. H ₂ NNH ₂ •H ₂ O ^b , EtOH, rt	No conv. after 16h	-	-
5	5.0 eq. H ₂ NNH ₂ •H ₂ O ^b , EtOH, rt	No conv. after 16h	-	-
6	1.0 eq. H ₂ NNH ₂ •H ₂ O ^c , EtOH, rt	No conv. after 16h	-	-
7	4.0 eq. H ₂ NNH ₂ •H ₂ O ^c , EtOH, rt	2h, (50% conv.)	20/20	44 as sideproduct
8	5.0 eq. MeNH ₂ (40% in H ₂ O), EtOH, rt, 16h	Full conv.	0/100	50% 43
9	5.0 eq. MeNH₂ (33% in EtOH), EtOH, rt, 16h	50% conv.	100/0	Major impurities 45 + 46

Table 5 Deprotection of phthalimide 41

Entry	Conditions	Comment	42/43 ^a	
10	10.0 eq. MeNH ₂ (33% in EtOH), EtOH, rt, 16h	Full conv.	100/0	Major impurities 45 + 46
11	10.0 eq. $BuNH_2$, EtOH, rt, 16h	20% conv.	100/0	
12	10.0 eq. BuNH₂ , EtOH, rt, 48h	80% conv.	-	Only 44 found

^aArbitrary units, ratio measured by ¹H NMR. ^bHydrazine hydrate stock solution in EtOH (1M). ^cH₂NNH₂ solution in THF (1M).



From the attempts to deprotect phthalimide **41** selectively, it can be concluded that one the one hand, employing hydrazine the desired selective deprotection could not be achieved due to overreaction to **43**. On the other hand, with methylamine the reaction does work and can be summarized as follows: The first nucleophilic attack on the phthalimide to give diamide **46** is very fast (1 h), the second attack on **46** itself is then much slower, which is accompanied by unwanted side reactions to amino alcohol **44**.

With impure **42** in hand, we attempted the Ir-catalyzed allylic amination with iridacycle **48** (Table 6). Generally, this reaction does not require a base,⁵⁰ but under these conditions, no conversion of **42** was found (Table 6, entry 1). With more drastic conditions employing Cs_2CO_3 as a base and elevated temperatures, which had been employed earlier for the allylic substitution with indoles,⁵¹ also no conversion to **47** was found either (Table 6, entry 2).



Table 6 Attempted Ir-catalyzed allylic amination

From these results is was not clear as to why the anticipated reaction did not work as envisaged. It could be that the impurities of **42** played a role, although a possible coordination of the Boc-group to the Ir-catalyst and subsequent deactivation of the catalyst could not be excluded. It is also interesting to note that under basic conditions during the deprotection of the phthalimide with hydrazine (see Table 5) the corresponding β -carboline **43** was observed, but not in the case of the reaction with Cs₂CO₃ with elevated temperatures. Thus, another possibility of deactivation of the catalyst could be the strong interaction of the allylic carbonate **42** with the catalyst that would lead to deactivation by formation of a catalytically inactive Ir complex.

With the results of the unsuccessful allylic amination to give β -carbolines and the problems associated with the deprotection of the phthalimide protecting group in hand, we decided to adapt our synthetic approach. Having established the key synthetic steps to construct the allylic carbonate via Stille coupling of a 2-iodoindole

(*vide supra*), we decided to change the protecting group strategy, but keep the same synthetic approach. We envisioned to investigate the use of an *N*-substitutent that would serve on the one hand as a protecting group during the Pd-catalyzed cross coupling, and on the other hand act as the nucleophile for an allylic substitution (see also Chapter 3). Furthermore, the protecting group of the indole-nitrogen was varied, so that possible influences of the Boc-group of the previous approach could be investigated.

3.2 The allylic amidation approach

Our synthetic approach started from commercially available tryptamines **21** (Scheme 9). After protection of the indole nitrogen and trifluoroacetylation of the primary amine we obtained the protected tryptamines **48a-c** in very good yields. Furthermore, trifluoroacetamide **47d** without a substituent on the indole nitrogen could be synthesized.



Scheme 9 Synthesis of trifluoroacetamide-protected indoles

We then went on to investigate the possible iodination of **48** in the 2-position of the indole system. The reported Hg-mediated iodination⁴³, that had been used earlier on Boc-protected indoles **36** (*vide supra*) worked also fine for the trifluoroacetamide **48d** with a Boc protecting group (Scheme 10). However, in the case of indoles **48a-c** with a different substitution than Boc on the indole-nitrogen, this transformation proved to be difficult when scaling up the reactions. This outcome was unexpected, and could be explained by solubility problems of either the indoles **48a-c** or the mercury salt, as very high dilutions have been shown to be necessary for the reaction to proceed smoothly. About a further coordination or a stabilizing role of the previously employed Boc-protecting group can only be speculated at this point.



Scheme 10 Hg-mediated iodination of 48

We turned to the use of iodine monochloride as an electrophilic iodination agent for **48**, which we had successfully applied on electron-rich phenylethylamine derivatives (see Chapter 3).^{52,53} In the case of tryptamines **48a** and **47d** this showed to be no feasable synthetic pathway, as the corresponding chlorides **50** were isolated (Scheme 11), resulting from a reaction of the indole moiety of **47d/48a** in the 2-position with ICI. The following Stille reaction (see also Scheme 12) with stannane **52** showed no turnover with the chlorides **50**.



Scheme 11 Attempted Stille reaction with chlorotryptamines

For the synthesis of the desired iodoindoles **49**, suitable reagents for the envisaged Pd-catalyzed carbon-carbon coupling reaction later on in the synthetic route, we refrained to a lithiation-iodination protocol. After metalation of **48** with butyllithium, iodine as electrophile furnishes the desired iodine-substituted indoles **49** in moderate yields. (For the trapping of the lithiated species with another electrophile, see Scheme 16) For the following cross-coupling, the role of the trifluoroacetamide group as a protecting group was exploited. Since Pd-catalyzed couplings only rarely proceed in the presence of primary amines, this feature comes in to our advantage. Subsequently, the allylic alcohol moiety was introduced via Stille coupling with stannane **52**.⁴⁴ In the case of the iodides **49**, the coupling proceeded smoothly to the desired allylic alcohols **51** (68 - 71%). These could be transformed to the corresponding methyl carbonates **53** in a straightforward manner (Scheme 12).



Scheme 12 Synthesis of protected allylic carbonates

With allylic carbonates **53** in hand, we set off to investigate whether they would serve as precursors to a selection of transition metal-catalyzed allylic amidation reactions, based on Ir or Pd catalysts. Both methodologies had been proven viable for the related phenylethylamine derivatives^{53,54} to give tetrahydroisoquinolines, and, in the case of the Ir-catalyzed allylic amidation, also chiral saturated *N*-heterocycles (see Chapter 3).

The results of the attempted Ir-catalyzed allylic amidation are summarized in Table 7. First, the influence of different substitutions on the indole moiety were investigated with a catalyst comprising 2.5 mol% of [Ir(COD)CI]₂, 5.0 mol% phosphoramidite **L2** and two equivalents of DBU (Table 7, entries 2-6). Under these conditions, neither of the allylic carbonates **53** gave any conversion to **54**, supporting the notion that the influence of the Boc-group which was believed to prevent the Ir-catalyzed allylic amination from occuring earlier (Table 6) does not have a major influence on the catalyst. Also, **L3** was employed in one case (Table 7, entry 4) but no improvement was observed. When the temperature was raised to 90 °C, a small amount of the desired product **53** was observed (Table 7, entries 7-10), however, it could be shown that this was the product of a blank reaction

independent of the presence of Ir-catalyst and **54** was thus formed in a racemic fashion (Table 7, entry 8). Finally, the influence of a variety of bases was investigated with benzyl-protected indole **53** (Table 7, entries 11-17). Again, it was found that the influence of the base on the envisaged reaction is remarkable, with TBD leading to decomposition of the starting material (Table 7, entry 11) and K_3PO_4 leading to no conversion at all (Table 7, entry 13). However, it could be established that the blank reaction without Ir catalyst proceeded cleanly to the desired products at elevated temperatures in dioxane with Cs_2CO_3 as a base (Table 7, entry 17). The employment of the much stronger base NaH led to decomposition of allylic carbonate **53** to the corresponding allylic alcohol **51** (Table 7, entries 18,19).

CF₃ 2.5 mol% [lr(COD)Cl]₂ 5.0 mol% **L2** or **L3** CF₃ or 5.0 mol% 48 'n' 'n' 53 54 OMe L2 n P p. റ് H_2 CH₃ OMe ÷ Ph Ph 48 L2 L3

Tahla 7	Attempted	Ir-catalyz	oilylle ha	amidation
able i	Allempleu	II-Calalyz	Leu allylic	amuation

Entry	R	R'	Catalyst	Conditions	Comment
1	Н	Boc	-	2.0 eq. DBU, THF, 50 °C, 16h	no conversion
2	Н	Boc	[lr(COD)Cl] ₂ /L2	2.0 eq. DBU, THF, 50 °C, 16h	no conversion
3	Н	Me	[lr(COD)Cl] ₂ /L2	2.0 eq. DBU, THF, 50 °C, 16h	no conversion
4	Н	Me	[lr(COD)Cl] ₂ /L3	2.0 eq. DBU, THF, 50 °C, 16h	no conversion
5	Н	Bn	[lr(COD)Cl] ₂ /L2	2.0 eq. DBU, THF, 50 °C, 16h	no conversion

114

Entry	R	R'	Catalyst	Conditions	Comment
6	OMe	Bn	[lr(COD)Cl] ₂ /L2	2.0 eq. DBU, THF, 50 °C, 16h	no conversion
7 ^a	Н	Me	48	2.0 eq. DBU, THF, 50 °C to 90 °C, 16h	no conversion
8	Н	Me	-	2.0 eq. DBU, dioxane, 90 °C, 16h	~10% conversion ^b
9	н	Me	48	2.0 eq. DBU, dioxane, 90 °C, 16h	~10% conversion ^b
10	Н	Ме	[lr(COD)Cl] ₂ / L3	2.0 eq. DBU, dioxane, 90 °C, 16h	~10% conversion ^b
11	Н	Bn	48	2.0 eq. TBD, dioxane, 100 °C, 16h	decomposition of 53
12	н	Bn	48	2.0 eq. DABCO, dioxane, 100 °C, 16h	~50% conversion ^{b,c}
13	н	Bn	48	2.0 eq. K₃PO₄, dioxane, 100 °C, 16h	no conversion
14	н	Bn	48	2.0 eq. Cs ₂ CO ₃ , dioxane, 100 °C, 16h	~70% conversion ^{b,c}
15	н	Bn	48	2.0 eq. Cs ₂ CO ₃ , toluene, 100 °C, 16h	~10% conversion ^{b,c}
16	Н	Bn	48	2.0 eq. Cs ₂ CO ₃ , dioxane, 100 °C, ^d 16h	Full conversion ^{b,c}
17	Н	Bn	-	2.0 eq. Cs ₂ CO ₃ , dioxane, 100 °C, 16h	full conversion
18	н	Bn	-	1.0 eq. NaH, THF, rt	full conversion to 51
19	OMe	Bn	-	1.0 eq. NaH, THF, rt	full conversion to 51

^aReaction was carried out in a sealed tube. ^b Determined by ¹H NMR. ^c**53** was isolated as a racemic mixture. ^dMicrowave heating (300W, 2h).

From these results it was concluded that the Ir-catalyzed intermolecular allylic amidation to form β -carbolines was not successful. It could be speculated as to why this reaction did not take place, keeping in mind that the related tetrahydroisoquinolines were easily accessible through this synthetic pathway (see Chapter 3). In the case of 54, the six-membered heterocycles formed is part of a ring system that is annulated to a five membered ring, namely the indole. This is in contrast to the tetrahydroisoguinolines, where a phenyl ring was attached to the piperidine to be formed. This structural change could have lead to steric constraints which prevented the Ir-catalyst to attack, or prevent an intermediate Ir-allyl complex from reacting further to the desired products. Furthermore, it could be speculated that the electronic changes brought about by the indole mojety change the electronic nature of the allylic carbonate in such a way that an allylic substitution is prevented from taking place. A last possibility would be the formation of a catalytically inactive Ir-indole complex which would lower the concentration of active catalyst in the reaction mixture. To probe some of these issues, a variety of test reactions were carried out.

Competition Experiments

To probe as to why the Ir-catalyzed allylic amidation of **53** would not take place, we conducted a competition experiment (Scheme 13). Carbonate 53 was subjected to the standard asymmetric allylic amidation conditions for 1 h, after which 53 was found to be completely unreacted in the mixture. Then, linear allylic carbonate 55 was added and stirred under the same conditions for 5 more hours. After this time, carbonate 55 had been fully converted to chiral piperidine 56 as previously reported (see Chapter 3), whereas tryptamine-derived carbonate 53 was left unreacted in the mixture. From this experiment it can be concluded that no stable Ir complex with tryptamine 53 is formed, since no deactivation of the catalyst was observed when a second substrate was added. The formation of a catalytically active species of the Ir complex with 53 seemed to be prevented due to the steric and/or electronic parameters of 53. The competition experiment was also carried out in deuterated THF and followed by ³¹P NMR spectroscopy, but no catalytically active species was observed, so no clear conclusions could be drawn from this experiment. The observation of an active catalytic species in Ir-catalyzed allylic substitutions has generally been elusive. 55-58



Scheme 13 Competition experiment

Intermolecular allylic amination

To test whether or not an Ir-allyl complex, which is generally accepted to be the key catalytic intermediate in Ir-catalyzed allylic substitutions^{56,58,59} was formed, an intermolecular allylic amination was carried out under previously published reaction conditions (Scheme 14).⁵⁵ When allylic carbonate **53** was reacted with an excess of benzylamine in the presence of iridacycle **48** as catalyst, no conversion of the starting material was observed.⁶⁰ From this observation it can be concluded that most probably there is no Ir-allyl species formed, which is a prerequisite for the allylic substitution to occur. Therefore, it seems that attack of the Ir catalyst on allylic carbonate **53** is prevented either by steric or electronic factors.



Scheme 14 Attempted intermolecular allylic amination

Pd-catalyzed allylic amidation

Finally, an effort was made to examine the allylic amidation with a Pd-phosphoramidite complex as catalyst. This had been published earlier as an

efficient catalyst to prepare a chiral tetrahydroisoquinoline from the corresponding allylic carbonates and trifluoroacetamides.⁵⁴ However, under these conditions (Scheme 15), no conversion of **53** was observed. This hints at a problem with the reactivity of the starting material, since two transition metal-based catalysts, previously successful for the synthesis of tetrahydroisoquinolines, did not achieve any conversion to the desired product **54**.



Scheme 15 Attempted Pd-catalyzed allylic amidation

To make the allylic carbonate more accessible for a potential transition metalbased catalyst, we attempted to synthesize an allylic carbonate with a "reversed" allyl moiety, meaning that the corresponding secondary allylic alcohol would be synthesized. These kind of substrates had been shown to undergo allylic amination with Ir-phosphoramidite catalysts as well.⁶¹ When iodoindole **48b** was lithiated as shown previously and then quenched with acrolein as electrophile, secondary allylic alcohol **58** could be obtained. It was then attempted to transform **58** to the desired carbonate **59**, however the standard conditions for the transformation of an alcohol to a carbonate failed to give any conversion (Scheme 16). When the same experiment was carried out with the stronger base BuLi, the rearranged linear allylic carbonate **53** was isolated. This route was not followed further.



Scheme 16 Attempted synthesis of an indole carrying a secondary allyl carbonate

In the end, racemic β -carbolines were synthesized via the route that had been discovered during the catalyst screening process (compare Table 7). When allylic carbonates **53a-c** were reacted with Cs₂CO₃ as a base at elevated temperatures, the corresponding β -carbolines **60a-c** were obtained in good yield (Scheme 17).



Scheme 17 Racemic synthesis of β-carbolines

It is interesting to note that the products **60a-c** were isolated as mixtures of isomers/rotamers. Whereas **60a** shows two distinct signals in ¹⁹F NMR, which we attribute to the *E/Z* isomers of the trifluoroacetamide, **60b** and **60c** show two additional resonances, giving a set of four signals in ¹⁹F NMR. We assigned these extra signals to two rotamers resulting from the hindered rotation of the benzyl protecting group. To probe this hypothesis, we have conducted variable temperature ¹⁹F NMR measurements of **60b** in DMSO-d₆ (Figure 2). From the NMR spectra can be seen that 2 signals (1 and 3 in Figure 2) coalesce at 80 °C, as can be expected from rotamers. The fourth resonance (4 in Figure 2) gradually disappears at higher temperatures, a phenomenon that can be attributed to *E/Z* isomers of the trifluoroacetamide moiety, since at higher temperature the

thermodynamically more stable species (signal 2 in Figure 2) should be prevalent in the mixture.



Figure 2 VT¹⁹F NMR of 60b in DMSO-d₆, t from 25 °C (= 1) to 95 °C (= 15) in increments of 5 °C

4. Conclusions

It was attempted to develop an Ir-catalyzed intramolecular allylic substitution with nitrogen nucleophiles for the synthesis of chiral β -carboline building blocks. The synthesis of the precursors of the final asymmetric metal-catalyzed step was

achieved and is based upon a key Pd-catalyzed cross coupling to introduce the allyl alcohol moiety in the 2-position of the indole. A direct allylic amination was attempted but this could not be realized through difficulties with the selective synthesis of a primary amine in the presence of the allylic carbonate required for the Ir-catalyzed step. A second approach to develop an allylic amidation circumvented this problem, but suffered from the fact that the Ir-based catalysis did not take place. From a number of test experiments it can be concluded that the formation of the key intermediate for the catalysis, the Ir-allyl species, does not form with the indole precursors due to steric and/or electronic reasons. However, the racemic synthesis of the desired products could finally be achieved. It should be noted that also for this transformation to run smoothly, judicious choice of base is necessary (with Cs_2CO_3 being the base of choice in this case).

It is not clear with the present results whether the envisaged intramolecular allylic amination or amidation can be rendered feasible with transition metal-based catalysts. However, many methods for catalytic asymmetric allylic substitution are known and it could be investigated in how far they are applicable for the synthesis of β -carboline compounds.

5. Experimental section

General

For general remarks, see chapter 3. Stannane **52** was prepared according to literature.⁴⁴ **L3** was prepared according to literature.⁶²

tert-Butyl 3-(2-(1,3-dioxoisoindolin-2-yl)ethyl)-2-iodo-1H-indole-1-carboxylate (37)

tert-Butyl 3-(2-(1,3-dioxoisoindolin-2-yl)ethyl)-1H-indole-1-carboxylate 3663 (1.0 eq.,



4.00 g, 10.25 mmol) was dissolved in 200 mL CH_2Cl_2 at 21 °C. Then 1.3 eq. bis(2,2,2-trifluoroacetoxy)mercury (5.68 g, 13.32 mmol) was added and the mixture was stirred for 20 min. Then it was washed with 2M aq. KI solution (2x 100 mL), dried over Na₂SO₄ and filtered. To the filtrate was added 1.5 eq. iodine (3.90 g, 15.37 mmol) and the mixture was stirred for another 3 h at 21 °C. The red precipitate was filtered and the filtrate was washed with saturated solution of Na₂S₂O₃ (2x 100 mL), dried over Na₂SO₄ and all volatiles were removed under reduced pressure to give tert-butyl 3-(2-(1,3-dioxoisoindolin-2vl)ethyl)-2-iodo-1H-indole-1-carboxylate **37** (3.86 g, 7.48

mmol, 73%) as an off-white solid. ¹H NMR (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.17 – 7.98 (m,

1H), 7.97 – 7.74 (m, 2H), 7.74 – 7.55 (m, 3H), 7.39 – 7.07 (m, 2H), 4.12 – 3.75 (m, 2H), 3.32 – 2.97 (m, 2H), 1.70 (s, 9H). 13 C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.04, 149.20, 137.97, 133.80, 132.05, 129.46, 125.99, 124.36, 123.10, 122.76, 118.02, 115.53, 85.01, 79.15, 36.62, 28.24, 27.34, 27.04. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for $C_{23}H_{21}IN_2O_4~[M+H^+]$: 516.0541, found: 516.0507.

General procedure for the N-protection of tryptamines (Synthesis of 47)

1.0 eq. of the appropriate tryptamine was dissolved in DMF (Volume: 50 ml / 20



mmol) at 21 °C and added to a solution of 1.1 eq. sodium hydride in DMF (Volume: 50 ml / 20 mmol) and the solution was stirred for 30 min. Then, it was cooled to 0 °C and 1.1 eq. methyl iodide was added dropwise. After stirring at 21 °C for 1 h, the reaction was quenched with water and the mixture extracted with EtOAc. After drying over MgSO₄ and removal of all volatiles under reduced pressure, **47** were isolated as brown solids. These products were used without further purification.

N-(2-(1H-Indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide (47d)

Tryptamine 21 (1.0 eq., 1.00 g, 6.24 mmol) was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (Volume: 50



ml) and cooled to 0 °C. Then, 4.0 eq. pyridine (0.530 ml, 6.55 mmol) were added and subsequently, 5.0 eq. trifluoroacetic anhydride (0.926 ml, 6.55 mmol) were added dropwise. The mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and stirred for 16 h. After completion (as judged by TLC), the mixture was washed with 2N aq. HCl (3x 20 mL) and dried over MgSO₄. After filtration and removal of all volatiles under reduced

pressure, *N*-(2-(1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide **47d** (1.567 g, 6.12 mmol, 98%) was obtained as a brown solid. This was used without further purification. ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.46 (s (br), 1H), 7.71 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.51 – 7.20 (m, 3H), 7.17 – 6.97 (m, 2H), 3.70 (q, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 2H), 3.10 (t, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.40 (q, *J* = 36.9 Hz), 136.31, 126.85, 122.28, 122.02, 119.31, 118.19, 115.84 (q, *J* = 286.8 Hz), 111.36, 111.29, 40.17, 24.31. ¹⁹F NMR: (189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -75.89. HRMS: (ESI⁺, m/z) calculated for C₁₂H₁₂F₃N₂O₁ [M+H⁺]: 257.0896, found: 257.0877.

General procedure for the preparation of trifluoroacetamides 48

1.0 eq. **47** was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (Volume: 50 ml / 20 mmol) and the solution was cooled to 0 °C. Then, 1.05 eq. pyridine was added and subsequently 1.05 eq. 2,2,2-trifluoroacetic anhydride was added dropwise. The mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and stirred for 16 h. After completion, the mixture was

washed with 2N aq. HCl (3x 50 mL / 20 mmol) and dried over MgSO₄. After filtration and removal of all volatiles under reduced pressure, compounds 48 were obtained as brown solids. These products were used without further purification.

2,2,2-Trifluoro-N-(2-(1-methyl-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)acetamide (48a)

Following the general procedure, the reaction of 1.0 eg. 2-(1-methyl-1H-indol-3yl)ethanamine 47a (3.48 g, 20 mmol) gave to 2,2,2trifluoro-N-(2-(1-methyl-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)acetamide 48a (4.70 g, 17.40 mmol, 87%). ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.59 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.42 – 7.09 (m, 3H), 6.91 (s, 1H), 6.70 - 6.30 (s (br), 1H), 3.76 (s, 3H), 3.68 (dd, J = 12.9, 6.5 Hz, 2H), 3.15 - 2.97 (m, 2H). ¹³C Me

48a

NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 137.18, 127.37, 126.91, 121.98, 119.16, 118.50, 110.14, 109.44, 40.28, 32.61, 24.56. COCF₃ peaks not observed. ¹⁹F NMR: (189

MHz, CDCl₃) δ -76.00. HRMS: (ESI⁺, m/z) calculated for C₁₃H₁₄F₃N₂O₁ [M+H⁺]: 271.1053. found: 271.1035.

N-(2-(1-Benzyl-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide (48b)

Following the general procedure, the reaction of 1.0 eq. 2-(1-benzyl-1H-indol-3-



vl)ethanamine 47b (5.01 g, 20 mmol) gave N-(2-(1benzyl-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide **48b** (6.44 g, 18.60 mmol, 93%). ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.81 – 7.59 (m, 1H), 7.51 – 7.11 (m, 8H), 7.09 - 6.90 (m, 2H), 5.31 (s, 2H), 3.73 (dd, J = 13.1, 6.7 Hz, 2H), 3.12 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 137.24, 136.68, 128.77, 128.60, 127.58, 127.51, 126.66, 126.13, 122.00, 119.26,

118.59, 110.84, 109.80, 49.68, 40.04, 24.41. COCF₃ peaks not observed. ¹⁹F NMR: (189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -75.74. HRMS: (APCI, m/z) calculated for C₁₉H₁₈F₃N₂O₁ [M+H⁺]: 347.1366. found: 347.1361.

N-(2-(1-Benzyl-5-methoxy-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide (48c)

Following the general procedure, the reaction of 1.0 eq. 2-(1-benzyl-5-methoxy-1H-



indol-3-yl)ethanamine 47c (1.475 g, 5.26 mmol) benzyl-5-methoxy-1H-indol-3gave *N*-(2-(1 yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide 48c (1.657 g, 4.40 mmol, 84%). ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.35 - 7.22 (m, 2H), 7.18 (d, J = 8.9 Hz, 1H), 7.10 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 2H), 7.02 (s, 1H), 6.95 (s, 1H), 6.91 - 6.83 (m, 1H), 6.41 (s (br), 1H), 5.25 (s, 2H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 3.68 (dd, J = 12.7, 6.4 Hz, 2H), 3.02 (t, J = 6.6 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 154.13, 137.31,

132.10, 128.77, 127.89, 127.69, 126.85, 126.73, 112.47, 110.83, 110.23, 100.32, 55.85, 50.14, 40.00, 24.64. COCF₃ peaks not observed. ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -75.97. HRMS: (ESI⁺, m/z) calculated for $C_{20}H_{19}F_3N_2O_2Na$ [M+Na⁺]: 399.1291, found: 399.1277.

General procedure for the iodination of tryptamines 48 (Synthesis of 49)

Trifluoroacetamide **48** (1.0 eq.) was dissolved in Et₂O (Volume: 10 ml / 2 mmol) and the solution cooled to 0 °C. Then, 2.5 eq. BuLi were added dropwise and the reaction was allowed to warm to room temperature. After 2 hours, the reaction mixture was cooled to 0 °C again, and 1.5 eq. iodine was added. After warming to room temperature, the reaction was quenched by addition of a saturated Na₂S₂O₃ solution (10 ml / 2 mmol), the mixture was washed with water (3x 10 mL / 2 mmol) and extracted with Et₂O (2x 20 mL / 2 mmol). After drying over MgSO₄, all volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. Purification of the crude mixture by column chromatography gave **49**.

2,2,2-Trifluoro-N-(2-(2-iodo-1-methyl-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)acetamide (49a)

Following the general procedure, the reaction of 1.0 eq. 2,2,2-trifluoro-N-(2-(1-



methyl-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)acetamide **48a** (0.500 g, 1.850 mmol) gave 2,2,2-trifluoro-*N*-(2-(2-iodo-1-methyl-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)acetamide **49a** (0.403 g, 1.018 mmol, 55%) as a white solid after purification by column chromatography (R_f = 0.80 in pentane/EtOAc 8:2, SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 8:2). ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.60 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.32 (t, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.18 (dd, *J* = 15.9, 7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.07 (s (br), 1H), 3.75 (s, 3H), 3.65

49a = 15.9, 7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.07 (s (br), 1H), 3.75 (s, 3H), 3.65 (q, J = 6.7 Hz, 2H), 3.09 (t, J = 6.9 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 159.29 (q, J = 36.8 Hz), 138.40, 127.36, 122.03, 119.50, 117.49, 116.63, 115.76 (q, J = 288.6 Hz), 109.69, 87.84, 39.92, 33.99, 26.61. ¹⁹F NMR: (189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -75.67. HRMS: (APCI, m/z) calculated for C₁₃H₁₃F₃N₂O₁ [M+H⁺-I]: 270.0980, found: 269.9763.

N-(2-(1-Benzyl-2-iodo-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide (49b)

Following the general procedure, the reaction of 1.0 eq. N-(2-(1-benzyl-1H-indol-3-



yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide **48b** (2.00 g, 5.77 mmol) gave *N*-(2-(1-benzyl-2-iodo-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide **49b** (1.309 g, 2.77 mmol, 48%) as a white solid after purification by column chromatography (R_f = 0.66 in pentane/EtOAc 10:1, SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1). ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.64 – 7.51 (m, 1H), 7.37 – 7.21 (m, 4H), 7.20 – 7.09 (m, 2H), 7.07 – 6.97 (m, 2H), 6.35 (s (br),

1H), 5.44 (s, 2H), 3.69 (q, J = 6.4 Hz, 2H), 3.11 (t, J = 6.6 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.21 (q, J = 36.4 Hz), 138.37, 136.87, 128.65, 127.78, 127.44, 126.24, 122.48, 119.99, 117.74, 117.44, 115.75 (q, J = 286.8 Hz), 110.34, 87.87, 50.60, 39.87, 26.83. ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -75.77. HRMS: (APCI, m/z) calculated for C₁₉H₁₇F₃N₂O₁ [M+H⁺-I]: 346.1293, found: 346.0073.

N-(2-(1-Benzyl-2-iodo-5-methoxy-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide (49c)

Following the general procedure, the reaction of 1.0 eq. N-(2-(1-benzyl-5-methoxy-



1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide **48c** (1.657 g, 4.40 mmol) gave *N*-(2-(1-benzyl-2iodo-5-methoxy-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2trifluoroacetamide **49c** (1.150 g, 2.289 mmol, 52%) as a white solid after purification by column chromatography ($R_f = 0.55$ in pentane/EtOAc 10:1, SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1). ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.43 – 7.21 (m, 4H), 7.15 (d, *J* =

8.9 Hz, 1H), 7.01 (dd, J = 9.3, 2.5 Hz, 2H), 6.78 (dd, J = 8.9, 2.4 Hz, 1H), 6.37 (s (br), 1H), 5.39 (s, 2H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 3.68 (dd, J = 12.7, 6.4 Hz, 2H), 3.07 (t, J = 6.6 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 154.41, 137.00, 133.78, 128.76, 128.56, 127.55, 126.98, 126.27, 116.70, 112.81, 111.30, 99.36, 55.79, 50.92, 39.88, 26.88. COCF₃ peaks not observed. ¹⁹F NMR: (189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -75.88. HRMS: (ESI⁺, m/z) calculated for C₂₀H₁₈F₃IN₂O₂Na [M+Na⁺]: 525.0257, found: 525.0236.

tert-Butyl 2-iodo-3-(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)-1H-indole-1-carboxylate 49d

tert-Butyl 3-(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)-1H-indole-1-carboxylate (1.0 eq.,



0.278 g, 0.780 mmol) **48**⁶⁴ was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (50 ml) at 21 °C. Then 1.3 eq. bis(2,2,2-trifluoroacetoxy)mercury (0.433 g, 1.015 mmol) was added and the mixture was stirred for 20 minutes. Then it was washed with 2M aq. KI solution (2x 30 mL), dried over Na₂SO₄ and filtered. To the filtrate was added 1.5 eq. diiodine (0.297 g, 1.171 mmol) and the mixture was stirred for another 3h at 21 °C. The

red precipitate was filtered and the filtrate was washed with saturated aq. solution of Na₂S₂O₃ (2x 30 ml), dried over Na₂SO₄ and all volatiles were removed under reduced pressure to give the crude product. This was purified by column chromatography (R_f = 0.85 in pentane / EtOAc 8:2, SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1) to yield tert-butyl 2-iodo-3-(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)-1H-indole-1-carboxylate **49d** (0.248 g, 0.515 mmol, 66%) as white solid. ¹H NMR (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.18 – 7.99 (m, 1H), 7.48 (ddd, *J* = 10.3, 6.2, 2.8 Hz, 1H), 7.35 – 7.16 (m, 2H), 6.76 (s (br), 1H), 3.62 (q, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 2H), 3.06 (t, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 1.71 (s, 9H). ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 158.15 (q, *J* = 39.9 Hz), 157.03, 149.15, 138.04, 129.33,

125.58, 124.69, 122.94, 117.77, 115.69 (q, J = 286.1 Hz), 115.61, 85.37, 39.23, 28.21, 26.95. ¹⁹F NMR (189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -75.87.

N-(2-(2-Chloro-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide (50a)

1.0 eq. *N*-(2-(1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide **47d** (2.00 g, 7.81 mmol) was dissolved in CH_2Cl_2 (Volume: 60 ml) at 21 °C. Then, a solution of 1.1 eq. iodine monochloride in CH_2Cl_2 (1N) (11.71 ml, 11.71 mmol) was added dropwise. The reaction mixture was stirred at this temperature, and the progress of the reaction was followed by TLC. After full conversion, the mixture was washed with water and brine and the organic phases were dried over MgSO₄. After removal of all volatiles,

the crude product was purified by column chromatography (R_f = 0.75 in pentane/EtOAc 8:2, SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1) to yield *N*-(2-(2-chloro-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide **50a** (1.807 g, 6.22 mmol, 80%) as a light brown solid. ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.43 (s (br), 1H), 7.56 – 7.43 (m, 1H), 7.38 – 7.06 (m, 3H), 6.60 (s (br), 1H), 3.64 (q, *J* = 6.5 Hz, 2H), 3.03 (t, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 134.49, 127.08, 122.64, 121.71, 120.46, 117.68, 110.75, 107.79, 39.77, 23.15. COCF₃ peaks not observed. ¹⁹F NMR: 189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ - 76.06. HRMS: (APCI, m/z) calculated for C₁₂H₁₀F₃N₂O₁ [M-Cl⁻]: 255.0745, found: 255.0737.

N-(2-(2-chloro-1-methyl-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide (50b)

1.0 eq. 2,2,2-trifluoro-N-(2-(1-methyl-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)acetamide 48a (1.920 g,



7.10 mmol) was dissolved in CH_2CI_2 (Volume: 50 ml) at 21 °C. Then, a solution of 1.1 eq. iodine monochloride (1M in CH_2CI_2) (7.81 ml, 7.81 mmol) was added dropwise. The reaction mixture was stirred at this temperature, and the progress of the reaction was followed by TLC. After full conversion, the mixture was washed with water and brine and the organic phases were dried over MgSO₄. After removal of all volatiles,

the crude product was purified by column chromatography ($R_f = 0.80$ in pentane/EtOAc 8:2, SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1) to yield *N*-(2-(2-chloro-1-methyl-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide **50b** (1.688 g, 5.54 mmol, 78%) as a yellow solid. ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.52 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.35 – 7.25 (m, 2H), 7.24 – 7.08 (m, 1H), 6.48 (s (br), 1H), 3.74 (d, *J* = 2.5 Hz, 3H), 3.64 (q, *J* = 6.4 Hz, 2H), 3.06 (t, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 135.82, 126.20, 124.50, 122.22, 120.19, 117.70, 109.30, 106.86, 39.87, 29.89, 23.58. COCF₃ peaks not observed. ¹⁹F NMR: (189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -76.06. HRMS: (APCI, m/z) calculated for C₁₃H₁₂F₃N₂O₁ [M-Cl⁻]: 269.0902, found: 269.0894.

General procedure for the Stille coupling of iodides 37/49 (Synthesis of 40/51)

1.0 eq. of iodide **49**, 1.5 eq. of (*E*)-3-(tributylstannyl)prop-2-en-1-ol **52**, 5.0 mol% bis(triphenylphosphine)palladium(II) chloride and 3.0 eq. of lithium chloride were dissolved in DMF (Volume: 20 ml / mmol) and the mixture was heated to 75 °C. The reaction mixture was stirred at this temp for 16 h. The reaction was quenched by addition of water (20 ml / mmol), EtOAc (50 ml / mmol) was added and the organic phases were washed with brine (2x 50 mL / mmol). After drying over MgSO₄ and removal of all volatiles the crude mixture was purified by column chromatography to give **51**.

(*E*)-*tert*-Butyl 3-(2-(1,3-dioxoisoindolin-2-yl)ethyl)-2-(3-hydroxyprop-1-enyl)-1H-indole-1-carboxylate (40)

Following the general procedure, 0.304 g (*E*)-*tert*-butyl 3-(2-(1,3-dioxoisoindolin-2yl)ethyl)-2-(3-hydroxyprop-1-en-1-yl)-1H-indole-1-



carboxylate 40 (0.681 mmol, 65%) were isolated from the reaction of tert-butyl 3-(2-(1.3-dioxoisoindolin-2vl)ethvl)-2-iodo-1H-indole-1-carboxvlate 37 (0.541 g. 1.048 purification mmol) after by column chromatography using EtOAc/pentane 1:1 as eluent. (R_f = 0.85 in pentane/EtOAc). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.19 - 7.97 (m, 1H), 7.89 - 7.77 (m, 2H), 7.75 - 7.58 (m, 3H), 7.37 – 7.19 (m, 2H), 6.78 (d, J = 16.1 Hz, 1H), 6.25 (ddd, J = 16.1, 5.7, 4.1 Hz, 1H), 4.42 (d, J = 5.0 Hz, 2H),3.95 – 3.77 (m, 2H), 3.24 – 2.98 (m, 2H), 1.65 (s, 9H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.13, 150.22, 135.33,

134.85, 133.89, 132.89, 131.90, 129.58, 124.48, 123.13, 122.80, 122.36, 118.48, 115.76, 115.44, 83.87, 63.51, 37.71, 28.11, 23.75. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for $C_{26}H_{25}N_2O_5$ [M+H⁺]: 445.1758, found: 445.1761.

(*E*)-2,2,2-Trifluoro-*N*-(2-(2-(3-hydroxyprop-1-enyl)-1-methyl-1H-indol-3yl)ethyl)acetamide (51a)

Following the general procedure, the reaction of 1.0 eq. 2,2,2-trifluoro-N-(2-(2-iodo-



1-methyl-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)acetamide **49a** (0.300 g, 0.757 mmol) gave (*E*)-2,2,2-trifluoro-*N*-(2-(2-(3hydroxyprop-1-en-1-yl)-1-methyl-1H-indol-3yl)ethyl)acetamide **51a** (0.167 g, 0.512 mmol, 68%) as an orange solid after purification by column chromatography ($R_f = 0.30$ in Pentane / EtOAc 1:1, SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 1:1). ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.58 (dd, *J* = 7.8, 0.7 Hz, 1H), 7.44 - 7.22 (m, 3H),

7.20 – 7.07 (m, 1H), 6.69 (d, J = 16.3 Hz, 1H), 6.29 (dd, J = 13.4, 8.1 Hz, 1H), 4.40 (d, J = 5.3 Hz, 2H), 3.69 (s, 3H), 3.59 (dd, J = 13.7, 6.8 Hz, 2H), 3.14 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.44 (q, J = 37.3 Hz), 137.16, 134.46, 133.84, 127.26, 122.17, 119.43, 118.92, 118.09, 115.78 (q, J = 287.9 Hz), 109.19, 109.09,

63.31, 40.45, 30.42, 23.92. ¹⁹F NMR: (189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -75.88. HRMS: (APCI, m/z) calculated for $C_{16}H_{18}F_3N_2O_2$ [M+H⁺]: 327.1320, found: 325.1147.

(*E*)-*N*-(2-(1-Benzyl-2-(3-hydroxyprop-1-enyl)-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide (51b)

Following the general procedure, the reaction of 1.0 eq. N-(2-(1-benzyl-2-iodo-1H-



indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide **49b** (0.285 g, 0.604 mmol) gave (*E*)-*N*-(2-(1-benzyl-2-(3-hydroxyprop-1-en-1-yl)-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide **51b** (0.172 g, 0.427 mmol, 71%) as a white solid after purification by column chromatography ($R_f = 0.50$ in pentane/EtOAc 1:1, SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 1:1). ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.59 (d, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 1H), 7.33 - 7.10 (m, 6H), 7.00 (d, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 2H), 6.71 -

6.54 (m, 2H), 6.18 (dt, *J* = 16.1, 5.3 Hz, 1H), 5.37 (s, 2H), 4.28 (d, *J* = 5.2 Hz, 2H), 3.65 (dd, *J* = 13.4, 6.8 Hz, 2H), 3.19 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 137.61, 137.15, 134.73, 134.59, 128.80, 127.56, 127.37, 125.87, 122.68, 119.98, 118.80, 118.33, 109.88, 109.60, 63.47, 47.31, 40.42, 24.04. COCF₃ peaks not observed. ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -76.00. HRMS: (ESI+, m/z) calculated for $C_{22}H_{21}F_{3}N_2O_2Na$ [M+Na⁺]: 425.1447, found: 425.1432.

(*E*)-*N*-(2-(1-Benzyl-2-(3-hydroxyprop-1-en-1-yl)-5-methoxy-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide (51c)

Following the general procedure, the reaction of N-(2-(1-benzyl-2-iodo-5-methoxy-



1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide **49c** (0.270 g, 0.538 mmol) gave (*E*)-*N*-(2-(1-benzyl-2-(3-hydroxyprop-1-en-1-yl)-5-methoxy-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide **51c** (0.158 g, 0.366 mmol, 68%) as a white solid after purification by column chromatography ($R_f = 0.5$ in pentane/EtOAc 1:1, SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 1:1). ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.26 (d, *J* = 6.7

Hz, 3H), 7.08 (d, *J* = 8.6 Hz, 1H), 7.03 (s, 1H), 6.98 (d, *J* = 6.0 Hz, 2H), 6.91 (s (br), 1H), 6.83 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 6.58 (d, *J* = 16.2 Hz, 1H), 6.15 (d, *J* = 15.8 Hz, 1H), 5.31 (s, 2H), 4.25 (s, 2H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 3.62 (d, *J* = 5.6 Hz, 2H), 3.14 (s (br), 2H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.38 (q, *J* = 37.6 Hz), 154.40, 137.70, 135.12, 134.11, 132.39, 128.75, 127.92, 127.30, 125.80, 118.89, 115.83 (q, *J* = 287.4 Hz), 112.75, 110.70, 109.22, 100.08, 63.40, 55.83, 47.34, 40.29, 24.06. ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -75.94. HRMS: (ESI⁺, m/z) calculated for $C_{23}H_{23}F_3N_2O_3Na$ [M+Na⁺]: 455.1553, found: 455.1539.

(*E*)-*tert*-Butyl 2-(3-hydroxyprop-1-enyl)-3-(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)-1H-indole-1-carboxylate 51d

Following the general procedure, the reaction of 1.0 eq. *tert*-butyl 2-iodo-3-(2-(2.2.2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)-1H-indole-1-carboxylate



49d (0.240 g, 0.498 mmol) gave (*E*)-*tert*-butyl 2-(3hydroxyprop-1-en-1-yl)-3-(2-(2,2,2trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)-1H-indole-1-carboxylate **51d** (0.129 g, 0.314 mmol, 63%) as a white solid after purification by column chromatography ($R_f = 0.5$ in pentane/EtOAc 1:1, SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 2:1). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.79 – 8.54 (m, 1H), 8.14 (dd, *J* = 15.1, 7.4 Hz, 2H), 8.01 – 7.70 (m, 2H), 7.51 – 7.24 (m,

1H), 6.82 - 6.50 (m, 1H), 4.93 (dd, J = 14.8, 8.7 Hz, 2H), 4.11 (d, J = 5.9 Hz, 2H), 3.66 (dd, J = 23.4, 14.9 Hz, 2H), 2.27 (s, 9H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.61 (q, J = 36.0 Hz), 150.40, 135.36, 134.87, 132.45, 129.52, 124.70, 122.96, 122.90, 118.41, 115.89, 115.83 (q, J = 291.0 Hz), 115.58, 84.25, 63.24, 40.06, 28.13, 23.87.

General procedure for the synthesis of allylic carbonates 41/53:

To a solution of allyl alcohol **40** or **51** (1 eq.) and pyridine (3 eq.) in CH_2CI_2 (20 mL / mmol) methyl chloroformate (1.5 eq.) was added dropwise at 0 °C. After 5 min. The solution was warmed to room temperature and stirred for 1 h. Then, it was washed with aq. HCl (2N) (3 x 5 mL/mmol) and dried over Na₂SO₄. The corresponding products **41/53** were obtained as white solids after evaporation of the solvent.

(*E*)-*tert*-Butyl-3-(2-(1,3-dioxoisoindolin-2-yl)ethyl)-2-(3-(methoxycarbonyloxy)prop-1-enyl)-1H-indole-1-carboxylate (41)

Following the general procedure, 0.428 g (E)-tert-butyl 3-(2-(1,3-dioxoisoindolin-2-



yl)ethyl)-2-(3-((methoxycarbonyl)oxy)prop-1-en-1yl)-1H-indole-1-carboxylate **41** (0.848 mmol, 91%) were isolated from the reaction of (E)-tert-butyl 3-(2-(1,3-dioxoisoindolin-2-yl)ethyl)-2-(3hydroxyprop-1-en-1-yl)-1H-indole-1-carboxylate **40** (0.415 g, 0.929 mmol) as a white solid. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.09 (t, J = 13.4 Hz, 1H), 7.82 (dt, J = 6.9, 3.5 Hz, 2H), 7.76 – 7.64 (m, 3H), 7.37 – 7.21 (m, 2H), 6.87 (t, J = 21.8 Hz, 1H), 6.33 – 6.07 (m, 1H), 4.89 (dt, J = 24.2, 12.1 Hz, 2H), 3.97 – 3.86 (m, 2H), 3.82 (s, 3H), 3.07 (dt, J= 32.4, 14.9 Hz, 2H), 1.65 (s, 9H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 167.90, 155.52, 150.12, 135.57,

133.86, 133.78, 132.00, 129.50, 126.26, 125.20, 124.73, 123.06, 122.84, 118.70, 116.55, 115.46, 83.97, 67.93, 54.73, 37.74, 28.08, 24.01. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for $C_{28}H_{28}N_2O_7Na$ [M+Na⁺]: 527.1789, found: 527.1782.

(*E*)-Methyl 3-(1-methyl-3-(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)-1H-indol-2-yl)allyl carbonate (53a)



Following the general procedure, the reaction 1.0 eq. (*E*)-2,2,2-trifluoro-*N*-(2-(2-(3-hydroxyprop-1en-1-yl)-1-methyl-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)acetamide **51a** (0.160 g, 0.490 mmol) gave (*E*)-methyl (3-(1methyl-3-(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)-1Hindol-2-yl)allyl) carbonate **53a** (0.185 g, 0.481 mmol, 98%) as a yellow foam. ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.62 – 7.55 (m, 1H), 7.32 – 7.25 (m, *J* = 8.3, 7.8, 0.9 Hz, 2H), 7.17 – 7.10 (m, *J* =

8.0, 6.6, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 6.84 – 6.72 (m, J = 16.2, 1.3 Hz, 2H), 6.19 (dt, J = 16.2, 6.2 Hz, 1H), 4.85 (dd, J = 6.2, 1.4 Hz, 2H), 3.83 – 3.82 (s, 2H), 3.73 (s, 3H), 3.60 (q, J = 6.8 Hz, 2H), 3.13 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.14 (q, J = 36.5 Hz), 155.47, 137.51, 133.42, 127.18, 126.88, 122.84, 122.70, 119.66, 118.37, 115.73 (q, J = 288.2 Hz), 110.40, 109.30, 68.29, 54.78, 40.41, 30.70, 23.96. ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -75.98. HRMS: (APCI, m/z) calculated for C₁₆H₁₆F₃N₂O₁ [M-OCO₂Me]: 309.1215, found: 309.1199.

(*E*)-3-(1-Benzyl-3-(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)-1H-indol-2-yl)allyl methyl carbonate (13b)



Following the general procedure, the reaction 1.0 eq. (E)-*N*-(2-(1-benzyl-2-(3-hydroxyprop-1-en-1yl)-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide **51b** (0.230 g, 0.572 mmol) gave (*E*)-3-(1-benzyl-3-(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)-1H-indol-2yl)allyl methyl carbonate **53b** (0.257 g, 0.558 mmol, 98%) as a yellow foam. ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.65 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 7.41 –

7.10 (m, 6H), 7.09 – 6.98 (m, 2H), 7.10 – 6.95 (m, 2H), 6.12 (dt, J = 16.2, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 5.38 (s, 2H), 4.76 (d, J = 6.1 Hz, 2H), 3.79 (s, 3H), 3.66 (dd, J = 13.2, 6.7 Hz, 2H), 3.19 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 155.39, 137.39, 137.36, 133.54, 128.74, 127.53, 127.47, 127.34, 125.82, 123.01, 122.57, 120.03, 118.55, 110.79, 109.83, 68.12, 54.76, 47.29, 40.33, 24.10. COCF₃ peaks not observed. ¹⁹F NMR: (189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -75.95. HRMS: (APCI, m/z) calculated for C₂₂H₂₀F₃N₂O₁ [M-OCO₂Me]: 385.1528, found: 385.1507.

(*E*)-3-(1-Benzyl-5-methoxy-3-(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)-1H-indol-2yl)allyl methyl carbonate (53c)

Following the general procedure, the reaction 1.0 eq. (E)-N-(2-(1-benzyl-2-(3-



Teaction 1.0 eq. (*E*)-*N*-(2-(1-ben/2yi-2-(3-hydroxyprop-1-en-1-yi)-5-methoxy-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide
51c (0.137 g, 0.317 mmol) gave (*E*)-3-(1-benzyi-5-methoxy-3-(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)-1H-indol-2-yl)allyl methyl carbonate 53c (0.142 g, 0.290 mmol, 91%) as a yellow foam. ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.35 – 7.20 (m, 3H), 7.11 (d, *J* = 8.9 Hz, 1H), 7.05 (d, *J* = 2.3

Hz, 1H), 7.03 – 6.96 (m, 2H), 6.85 (dd, J = 8.9, 2.4 Hz, 1H), 6.79 – 66.0 (m, 2H), 6.07 (dt, J = 16.2, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 5.33 (s, 2H), 4.74 (dd, J = 6.1, 1.2 Hz, 2H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 3.77 (s, 3H), 3.65 (dd, J = 13.2, 6.7 Hz, 2H), 3.14 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.15 (q, J = 37.0 Hz), 155.41, 154.49, 137.48, 133.95, 132.65, 128.75, 127.82, 127.34, 127.08, 125.79, 122.74, 115.76 (q, J = 287.2 Hz), 113.38, 110.74, 110.39, 100.00, 68.18, 55.70, 54.78, 47.41, 40.24, 24.14. ¹⁹F NMR: (189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -75.93. HRMS: (ESI⁺, m/z) calculated for C₂₅H₂₅F₃N₂O₅Na [M+Na⁺]: 513.1608, found: 513.1585.

(*E*)-*tert*-Butyl 2-(3-(methoxycarbonyloxy)prop-1-enyl)-3-(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)-1H-indole-1-carboxylate 53d

Following the general procedure, (E)-tert-butyl 2-(3-((methoxycarbonyl)oxy)prop-1-



en-1-yl)-3-(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)-1Hindole-1-carboxylate **53d** (0.108 g, 0.230 mmol, 76%) were isolated from the reaction of (*E*)-*tert*butyl 2-(3-hydroxyprop-1-en-1-yl)-3-(2-(2,2,2trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)-1H-indole-1-carboxylate **51d** (0.125 g, 0.303 mmol) as a white solid. ¹H NMR (201 MHz, CDCl₃) $\overline{0}$ 8.12 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.67 - 7.49 (m, 1H), 7.42 - 7.18 (m, 2H), 6.92 (d, *J* = 16.1 Hz, 1H), 6.81 (s (br), 1H), 5.98 (dt, *J* =

16.1, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 4.84 (d, J = 6.1 Hz, 2H), 3.80 (s, 3H), 3.59 (dd, J = 13.9, 6.9 Hz, 2H), 3.02 (dd, J = 17.3, 10.3 Hz, 2H), 1.66 (s, 9H). ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.28 (q, J = 36.9 Hz), 155.65, 150.13, 135.63, 133.99, 129.34, 126.46, 125.90, 125.04, 122.98, 118.53, 116.41, 115.78 (q, J = 288.8 Hz), 115.64, 84.32, 67.92, 54.83, 40.10, 28.13, 23.98. ¹⁹F NMR (189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -75.96.

N-(2-(1-Benzyl-2-(1-hydroxyallyl)-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide (58)

N-(2-(1-benzyl-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide 48b (1.0 eq., 1.00 g,



2.89 mmol) was dissolved in Et₂O (Volume: 10 ml) and cooled to 0 °C. Then, 2.5 eq. BuLi (3.97 ml, 6.35 mmol) were added dropwise and the reaction mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature. After 2 hours, the reaction mixture was cooled to 0 °C again, and 1.5 eq. acrylaldehyde (0.212 ml, 3.18 mmol) were added. After warming to room temperature, the reaction was quenched by addition of 10ml saturated Na₂S₂O₃ solution, washed with water (3x 20ml) and extracted with Et₂O (3x 30 ml). After drying over MgSO₄, all

volatiles were removed under reduced pressure to give the crude product, which was purified by column chromatography ($R_f = 0.90$ in pentane/EtOAc 8:2, SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 7:3) to yield *N*-(2-(1-benzyl-2-(1-hydroxyallyl)-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetamide **58** (0.523 g, 1.299 mmol, 45%) as a yellow solid. ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.14 (s (br), 1H), 7.62 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.37 – 7.10 (m, 6H), 6.97 (d, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 2H), 6.04 (ddd, *J* = 17.0, 10.4, 5.0 Hz, 1H), 5.56 (d, *J* = 5.0 Hz, 1H), 5.44 (d, *J* = 4.6 Hz, 2H), 5.33 – 5.11 (m, 2H), 3.64 (ddd, *J* = 11.9, 5.0 Hz, 3H), 3.37 – 3.08 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.52 (q, *J* = 37.6 Hz), 137.81, 137.69, 136.81, 135.86, 128.63, 127.27, 127.24, 125.66, 122.47, 119.71, 118.37, 115.84 (q, *J* = 288.4 Hz), 115.52, 109.84, 109.69, 67.47, 46.83, 40.60, 22.47. ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -75.67. HRMS: (ESI⁺, m/z) calculated for C₂₂H₂₁F₃N₂O₂Na [M+Na⁺]: 425.1447, found: 425.1456.

General Procedure for the racemic synthesis of β -carbolines 60 from carbonates 53

1.0 eq. allyl carbonate **53** was dissolved in dioxane (5 ml / 0.1 mmol) and 2.0 eq. Cs_2CO_3 was added. The reaction mixture was allowed to stir for 16 hours at 100 °C. After cooling, water (5 ml / 0.1 mmol) was added and the mixture was extracted with Et_2O (2x 10 ml / 0.1 mmol). After drying over $MgSO_4$ and removal of all volatiles under reduced pressure, the crude products were purified by column chromatography to yield **60**.

2,2,2-Trifluoro-1-(9-methyl-1-vinyl-3,4-dihydro-1H-pyrido[3,4-b]indol-2(9H)yl)ethanone (60a)

Following the general procedure, the reaction of 1.0 eq. (E)-methyl (3-(1-methyl-3-



(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)-1H-indol-2-yl)allyl) carbonate **53a** (0.020 g, 0.052 mmol) gave 2,2,2trifluoro-1-(9-methyl-1-vinyl-3,4-dihydro-1Hpyrido[3,4-b]indol-2(9H)-yl)ethanone **60a** (0.013 g, 0.043 mmol, 82%) as a white solid after purification by column chromatography (R_f = 0.95 in pentane/EtOAc 10:1, SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1). The product was isolated as a mixture of two rotamers (ratio 1:7) ¹H NMR: Only signals of the major isomer are given. (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.57 – 7.45 (m, 1H), 7.38 – 7.23 (m, 2H), 7.23 – 7.06 (m, 1H), 6.23 (d (br), *J* = 5.2 Hz, 1H), 6.17 – 5.95 (m, 1H), 5.48 (d, *J* = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 5.09 (d, *J* = 17.0 Hz, 1H), 4.17 (d (br), *J* = 14.1 Hz, 1H), 3.71 – 3.47 (m, 4H), 3.12 – 2.74 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 133.05, 130.56, 129.98, 125.93, 122.02, 121.22, 119.47, 118.26, 109.07, 107.83, 51.60, 39.91, 29.86, 22.15. COCF₃ peaks not observed. ¹⁹F NMR: (189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -68.55 (minor), -68.99 (major). HRMS: (APCI, m/z) calculated for C₁₆H₁₆F₃N₂O₁ [M+H⁺]: 309.1209, found: 309.1220.

1-(9-Benzyl-1-vinyl-3,4-dihydro-1H-pyrido[3,4-b]indol-2(9H)-yl)-2,2,2trifluoroethanone (60b)

Following the general procedure, the reaction of 1.0 eq. (E)-3-(1-benzyl-3-(2-(2,2,2-



trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)-1H-indol-2-yl)allyl methyl carbonate **53b** (0.037 g, 0.080 mmol) gave 1-(9-benzyl-1-vinyl-3,4-dihydro-1H-pyrido[3,4-b]indol-2(9H)-yl)-2,2,2-trifluoroethanone **60b** (0.023 g, 0.061 mmol, 76%) as a white solid after purification by column chromatography ($R_f = 0.85$ in pentane/EtOAc 10:1, SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1). The product was isolated as a mixture of four isomers ratio 1.5 : 5 : 1.5 : 1. Only

signals for the major isomer are given. ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.53 – 7.41 (m, 1H), 7.31 – 7.00 (m, 7H), 6.95 – 6.83 (m, 1H), 6.10 – 1.03 (m, 1H), 6.01 – 5.81 (m, 1H), 5.45 – 5.25 (m, 2H), 5.18 (d, *J* = 10.3 Hz, 1H), 5.13 – 4.87 (m, 1H), 4.20 – 4.00 (m, 1H), 3.63 – 3.42 (m, 1H), 3.08 – 2.72 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 137.19, 136.86, 132.94, 128.99, 128.84, 127.54, 126.08, 125.78, 122.34, 121.24, 120.29, 119.74, 118.34, 109.96, 47.01, 29.70, 22.18. COCF₃ peaks not observed. ¹⁹F NMR: (189 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -68.91 (1.5), -68.97 (5), -69.04 (1.5), -70.17 (1). HRMS: (ESI⁺, m/z) calculated for C₂₂H₂₀F₃N₂O₁ [M+H⁺]: 385.1522, found: 385.1511.

1-(9-Benzyl-6-methoxy-1-vinyl-3,4-dihydro-1H-pyrido[3,4-b]indol-2(9H)-yl)-2,2,2-trifluoroethanone (60c)

Following the general procedure, the reaction of 1.0 eq. (E)-3-(1-benzyl-5-methoxy-



3-(2-(2,2,2-trifluoroacetamido)ethyl)-1H-indol-2vl)allvl methyl carbonate 53c (0.025 g. 0.051 mmol) gave 1-(9-benzyl-6-methoxy-1-vinyl-3,4dihydro-1H-pyrido[3,4-b]indol-2(9H)-yl)-2,2,2trifluoroethanone 60c (0.017 g, 0.042 mmol, 82%) as a white solid after purification by column chromatography (R_f 0.65 = in pentane/EtOAc 10:1, SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc

10:1). The product was isolated as four isomers (ratio 2:6:2:1). ¹H NMR: Only
major resonances are reported. (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.44 – 6.77 (m, 8H), 6.11 (d, *J* = 5.4 Hz, 1H), 6.07 – 5.93 (m, 1H), 5.50 – 4.98 (m, 4H), 4.25 – 4.12 (m, 1H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 3.67 – 3.54 (m, 1H), 3.11 – 2.94 (m, 1H), 2.93 – 2.78 (m, 1H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 155.97 (q, *J* = 35.2 Hz), 154.29, 136.96, 132.96, 131.19, 128.98, 128.83, 127.52, 126.06, 125.95, 121.13, 116.52 (q, *J* = 287.7 Hz), 112.17, 110.77, 108.02, 100.46, 55.90, 51.76, 47.14, 39.92, 22.23 ¹⁹F NMR: (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -68.91 (2), -68.96 (6), -69.02 (2), -70.18 (1). HRMS: (ESI⁺, m/z) calculated for C₂₃H₂₂F₃N₂O₂ [M+H⁺]: 415.1628, found: 415.1631.

6. References

- (1) Cao, R. H.; Peng, W. L.; Wang, Z. H.; Xu, A. L. *Curr. Med. Chem.* **2007**, *14*, 479-500.
- (2) Dewick, P. M. *Medicinal Natural Products A Biosynthetic Approach*; 2nd ed.; Wiley: Chichester, 2001.
- (3) Somei, M.; Yamada, F. Nat. Prod. Rep. 2005, 22, 73-103.
- (4) Kochanowska-Karamyan, A. J.; Hamann, M. T. *Chem. Rev.* **2010**, *110*, 4489-4497.
- (5) Prevatt-Smith, K. M.; Prisinzano, T. E. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **2010**, *27*, 23-31.
- (6) Aygun, A.; Pindur, U. *Curr. Med. Chem.* **2003**, *10*, 1113-1127.
- (7) Even though beta-carboline is the aromatic derivative of this compound class and therefore cannot bear any chiral center on the piperidine moiety like tryptolines, this class of compounds is generally referred to as beta-carbolines as well.
- (8) Shamon, S. D.; Perez, M. I. Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. 2009.
- (9) Chen, F. E.; Huang, J. Chem. Rev. 2005, 105, 4671-4706.
- (10) Lewis, S. E. *Tetrahedron* **2006**, *62*, 8655-8681.
- (11) Roquebert, J.; Demichel, P. *Eur. J. Pharm.* **1984**, *106*, 203-205.
- (12) Bandini, M.; Eichholzer, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 9608-9644.
- (13) Borschberg, H. R. Curr. Org. Chem. 2005, 9, 1465-1491.
- (14) Scholz, U.; Winterfeldt, E. Nat. Prod. Rep. 2000, 17, 349-366.
- (15) Marques-Lopez, E.; Diez-Martinez, A.; Merino, P.; Herrera, R. P. *Curr. Org. Chem.* **2009**, *13*, 1585-1609.
- (16) Martin, S. F. Acc. Chem. Res. 2002, 35, 895-904.
- (17) Padwa, A.; Heidelbaugh, T. M.; Kuethe, J. T.; McClure, M. S.; Wang, Q. J. Org. Chem. **2002**, 67, 5928-5937.
- (18) Franzén, J.; Fisher, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 787-791.
- (19) Seayad, J.; Seayad, A. M.; List, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 1086-1087.
- Sewgobind, N. V.; Wanner, M. J.; Ingemann, S.; de Gelder, R.; van Maarseveen, J. H.; Hiemstra, H. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73, 6405-6408.
- (21) Wanner, M. J.; van der Haas, R. N. S.; de Cuba, K. R.; van Maarseveen, J. H.; Hiemstra, H. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2007**, *46*, 7485-7487.
- (22) Terada, M. Chem. Commun. 2008, 4097-4112.
- (23) Akiyama, T.; Itoh, J.; Fuchibe, K. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2006, 348, 999-1010.
- (24) Wanner, M. J.; Boots, R. N. A.; Eradus, B.; de Gelder, R.; van Maarseveen, J. H.; Hiemstra, H. *Org. Lett.* **2009**, *11*, 2579-2581.
- (25) Bandini, M.; Melloni, A.; Piccinelli, F.; Sinisi, R.; Tommasi, S.; Umani-Ronchi, A. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2006**, *128*, 1424-1425.
- (26) Sydorenko, N.; Zificsak, C. A.; Gerasyuto, A. I.; Hsung, R. P. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 2140-2144.
- (27) Luo, S. J.; Zificsak, C. A.; Hsung, R. P. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 4709-4712.
- 134

- (28) Suzuki, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 576, 147-168.
- (29) Kotha, S.; Lahiri, K.; Kashinath, D. *Tetrahedron* **2002**, *58*, 9633-9695.
- (30) Bellina, F.; Carpita, A.; Rossi, R. Synthesis 2004, 2419-2440.
- (31) Kantchev, E. A. B.; O'Brien, C. J.; Organ, M. G. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2007**, *46*, 2768-2813.
- (32) Chemler, S. R.; Trauner, D.; Danishefsky, S. J. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2001**, *40*, 4544-4568.
- (33) Amatore, C.; Jutand, A. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 314-321.
- (34) Beletskaya, I. P.; Cheprakov, A. V. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 3009-3066.
- (35) BIAN = bis(aryl)acenaphthenequinonediimine.
- (36) Gottumukkala, A. L.; Teichert, J. F.; Heijnen, D.; Eisink, N.; van Dijk, S.; Ferrer, C.; van den Hoogenband, A.; Minnaard, A. J., submitted.
- (37) Netherton, M. R.; Fu, G. C. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2004, 346, 1525-1532.
- (38) Espinet, P.; Echavarren, A. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 4704-4734.
- (39) Duncton, M. A. J.; Pattenden, G. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin 1 1999, 1235-1246.
- (40) Fu, G. C. Acc. Chem. Res. 2008, 41, 1555-1564.
- (41) Bergman, J.; Venemalm, L. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 2495-2497.
- (42) Barluenga, J.; Álvarez-Gutiérrez, J. M.; Ballesteros, A.; González, J. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 1281-1283.
- (43) Mingoia, Q. Gazz. Chim. Ital. **1930**, 60, 509.
- (44) Betzer, J. F.; Delaloge, F.; Muller, B.; Pancrazi, A.; Prunet, J. J. Org. Chem. **1997**, 62, 7768-7780.
- (45) Mee, S. P. H.; Lee, V.; Baldwin, J. E. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 1132-1136.
- (46) Stanley, L. M.; Hartwig, J. E. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 7841-7844.
- (47) Wuts, P. G. M.; Greene, T. W. *Protective groups in organic synthesis*; 4 ed.; Wiley: New York, 2006.
- (48) Gerpe, A.; Bollini, M.; Gonzalez, M.; Cerecetto, H. Synth. Commun. 2009, 39, 29-47.
- (49) Motawia, M. S.; Wengel, J.; Abdelmegid, A. E. S.; Pedersen, E. B. *Synthesis* **1989**, 384-387.
- (50) Teichert, J. F.; Feringa, B. L. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 2486-2528.
- (51) Liu, W. B.; He, H.; Dai, L. X.; You, S. L. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 1815-1818.
- (52) Teichert, J. F.; Fañanás-Mastral, M.; Feringa, B. L. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, accepted.
- (53) Teichert, J. F.; Fañanás-Mastral, M.; Feringa, B. L. **2010**, submitted for publication.
- (54) Shi, C.; Ojima, I. *Tetrahedron* **2007**, *63*, 8563-8570.
- (55) Kiener, C. A.; Shu, C. T.; Incarvito, C.; Hartwig, J. F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2003**, *125*, 14272-14273.
- (56) Marković, D.; Hartwig, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 11680-11681.
- (57) Spiess, S.; Welter, C.; Franck, G.; Taquet, J. P.; Helmchen, G. *Angew. Chem.* **2008**, *120*, 7764-7767.
- (58) Raskatov, J. A.; Spiess, S.; Gnamm, C.; Brödner, K.; Rominger, F.; Helmchen, G. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2010**, *16*, 6601-6615.
- (59) Spiess, S.; Raskatov, J. A.; Gnamm, C.; Brödner, K.; Helmchen, G. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2009**, *15*, 11087-11090.
- (60) The same batch of catalyst gave full conversion of cinnamyl carbonate with benzylamine, the benchmark reaction for Ir-catalyzed allylic amination, demonstrating that the prepared catalyst was of good quality.
- (61) Stanley, L. M.; Bai, C.; Ueda, M.; Hartwig, J. F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2010**, *132*, 8918-8919.
- (62) Tissot-Croset, K.; Polet, D.; Gille, S.; Hawner, C.; Alexakis, A. *Synthesis* **2004**, 2586-2590.
- (63) Yasui, Y.; Takeda, H.; Takemoto, Y. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 2008, 56, 1567-1574.

(64) White, J. D.; Li, Y.; Ihle, D. C. J. Org. Chem. **2010**, 75, 3569-3577.

Chapter 5

Asymmetric Allylic Alkylation in Combination with Ring-Closing Metathesis for the Preparation of chiral *N*-Heterocycles

Asymmetric copper-catalyzed allylic substitution with methylmagnesium bromide is employed in combination with ring-closing olefin metathesis or ene-yne metathesis to achieve the synthesis of chiral, unsaturated nitrogen heterocycles. The resulting six- to eight-membered chiral heterocycles are accessible in high yields and with excellent enantioselectivities. Preliminary studies to extend this concept to the synthesis of chiral lactams have been conducted.

Parts of this chapter have been published:

Teichert, J.F.; Zhang, S.; van Zijl, A.W., Slaa, J.W.; Minnaard, A.J.; Feringa, B.L. *Org. Lett.* **2010**, *12*, 4658 – 4660.

1. Introduction

Nitrogen-containing heterocycles are ubiquitous in naturally occurring compounds, in particular alkaloids, and they are also key structural features in many biologically active products.¹⁻⁴ Among these, nitrogen heterocycles with various ring sizes bearing stereogenic centers are frequently observed.⁵⁻¹⁰ For example, poison dart frogs (*Dendrobatidae*) produce a wide variety of biologically active alkaloids in their secretions and thus on their skin. Many of these compounds are poisonous and are part of the frog's defense mechanism. Among these alkaloids, chiral piperidines featuring methyl substituents at the stereogenic centers are often found.^{11,12} As examples for this class of structures, bicyclic deoxypumiliotoxin 251H (1)¹³ and tricyclic indolizidine 251F (2)¹⁴ are shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1 Alkaloids from poison dart frogs

Chiral nitrogen-containing heterocycles represent interesting targets for synthesis,¹⁵⁻¹⁸ imposing particular challenges with regard to the construction of the stereogenic centers with high selectivity. One approach that has been frequently exploited is the use of ring-closing metathesis for the construction of *N*-heterocycles.^{16,19-22}

In the synthesis of marine alkaloid manzamine A (7), which shows some antitumor activity,²³ two ring-closing metathesis reactions with Ru-based catalysts²⁴ have been used to construct the two large nitrogen-containing heterocycles,²⁵ showcasing the potential of this transformation (Scheme 1). Starting with tetracyclic precursor **3** the 13-membered heterocycle was constructed with catalytic amounts of Grubbs 1st generation catalyst to give **4** in 67% yield. At a later stage of the synthesis, the eight-membered heterocycle was constructed from **5** using the same catalyst. However, in the latter case, very low conversion to the desired product **6**, which contained the pentacyclic core of manzamine A, was observed even with equimolar amounts of the ruthenium catalyst.



Scheme 1 Ring-closing metathesis in the synthesis of manzamine A

The combination of asymmetric allylic substitution reactions with ring-closing metathesis is a powerful synthetic pathway to chiral hetero- or carbocycles (Scheme 2). The allylic substitution furnishes a chiral compound with a terminal double bond **9**. Compound **9** is an ideal starting point for further functionalization by metathesis. If either the backbone R of allylic compound **8** or the backbone of the nucleophile carries an olefin (or an alkyne), then different ring structures **10** or **11** are available by ring-closing metathesis (or ene-yne metathesis, respectively). This approach has been applied in a variety of cases (see also Chapter 2), some of which are presented in the following.



Scheme 2 Combination of asymmetric allylic substitution and ring-closing metathesis

The combination of Ir-catalyzed allylic amination and ring-closing metathesis for the synthesis of chiral pyrrolines **15** was reported.²⁶ When chiral primary allylic amine **12** (also a product of an Ir-catalyzed allylic amination) was reacted with allylic carbonate **13** in the presence of catalytic amounts of an Ir/L1 complex, the corresponding diallylamine **14** was obtained in good yields and excellent diastereoselectivity (Scheme 3). This compound could, after protection as the HBr salt, be transformed to chiral pyrroline **15** with catalytic amounts of Grubbs 2nd generation catalyst. The choice of salt proved to be crucial for the latter transformation, as the corresponding HCI salt of **14** led to partial decomposition of **14**. It is important to note that the other diastereomer of **14** (and hence also of **15**) is available in high stereoselectivity via this synthetic route as well, simply by employing the opposite enantiomer of phosphoramidite ligand L1.



Scheme 3 Ir-catalyzed allylic amination in combination with ring-closing metathesis

An example of an asymmetric allylic substitution in combination with ring-closing metathesis was developed in our laboratories.²⁷ When α , β -unsaturated ester **16** posessing an allylic bromide moiety was subjected to Cu-catalyzed allylic alkylation conditions with ethylmagnesium bromide, the corresponding chiral ester **17** was obtained in good yield and excellent enantioselectivity (Scheme 4). Compound **17** could subsequently be transformed to chiral lactone **18** without loss of *ee* and in good yields employing Hoveyda-Grubbs 2nd generation catalyst. In this case, styrene is produced as a by-product.



Scheme 4 Cu-catalyzed allylic alkylation in combination with ring-closing metathesis

A final example of the abovementioned strategy to synthesise chiral cyclic structures is a combination of Cu-catalyzed allylic alkylation with Grignard reagents to furnish chiral carbocycles (Scheme 5).²⁸ Allylic chlorides (**19**) bearing terminal olefins (**19**) were transformed to the corresponding chiral compounds **20** with a Cu-phosphoramidite complex as catalyst. It was shown that these intermediates **20** could be transformed to chiral carbocycles **21** in a one-pot protocol employing catalytic amounts of Grubbs 1st generation catalyst. The products **21** are available in very good enantioselectivities.



Scheme 5 Cu-catalyzed allylic alkylation in combination with ring-closing metathesis

2. Goal

The aim of this research was to develop a synthetic route to chiral nitrogencontaining heterocycles with various ring sizes. The proposed approach is to comprise two transition metal-based catalytic transformations: First, the Cucatalyzed allylic alkylation with Grignard reagents, and second, a ring-closing metathesis employing Ru-based catalysts (Scheme 6).

Allylic bromides with terminal alkenes or alkynes **22** and **25** at the protected nitrogen (PG = protecting group) should undergo transformation to chiral amines **23** and **26** in a straightforward manner. These chiral building blocks bear two terminal olefins (**23**) or an olefin/alkyne substitution (**26**) that are suitable for a subsequent ring-closing or ene-yne metathesis, respectively. This should give rise to the chiral *N*-heterocycles **24** and **27** with various ring sizes. Furthermore, a similar approach can be taken to synthesize chiral lactams **30**, when starting off from the corresponding α , β ,-unsaturated amides **28**.



Scheme 6 Envisaged synthetic approaches to chiral N-heterocycles

The envisaged approach has several advantages; it is short and the substituents on the stereogenic center stem from the Grignard reagents, which allow for easy variation at this position. Furthermore, different ring sizes should be accessible with the same approach, making this synthetic route very versatile.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1 Synthesis of starting materials

The tosyl-protected allylic bromides **36** bearing olefin substituents with different chain lengths for the allylic alkylation were synthesized as depicted in Scheme 7. Tosyl-allylamine **32a** (n = 1) was prepared from allylamine **31** directly, whereas the longer chains (**32b** and **c**, n = 2,3) were introduced via a Mitsunobu reaction²⁹ from the corresponding commercially available alcohols and *N*-Boc-tosylamine (**34**) to give double protected amines **35b**,**c** in good yields. The Boc group was subsequently removed to give tosylamides **32b** and **32c**, which were transformed to the allyl bromides **36** with dibromobutene in good yields. The double protection route to amines **32** (via **35**) was chosen because of the higher yields of the Mitsunobu reaction, even though two extra synthetic steps (protection of **33** with a Boc group, deprotection of the Boc group to give **32**) are necessary. These transformations, however, run smoothly with high yields.





For the preparation of allyl bromides **41** posessing a terminal alkyne substituent a similar approach was taken (Scheme 8). The amine (**38a**) with the shortest chain length could be prepared directly from commercially available propargyl bromide **37** with tosylamide to give **38a**, albeit in low yields due to the formation of the double substituted tosylamide **39**. For substrates bearing longer chains, the Mitsunobu approach from the corresponding alcohols with Tosyl-Boc-amine **34** (see Scheme 7) was followed. The Mitsunobu reaction to give **40b**,**c** followed by subsequent deprotection of the Boc group gave the desired products **38b** and **38c** in good yields. Subsequent substitution with dibromobutene gave the allylic bromides with alkyne substituents **41** in good yields.



Scheme 8 Synthesis of starting materials for allylic alkylation II

The synthesis of allyl bromide **44** with an α , β -unsaturated amide substituent was carried out in a straightforward manner based on a decarboxylative amidation protocol developed in our group (Scheme 9).³⁰ Cinnamic acid **42** was reacted with tosylisocyanate to give tosylamide **43**. Compound **43** was then transformed to the corresponding allyl bromide **44** by substitution with dibromobutene in moderate yield.



Scheme 9 Synthesis of starting material for allylic alkylation III

3.2 Cu-catalyzed allylic alkylation of allyl bromides bearing terminal olefins substituents

The conditions for the allylic alkylation of allyl bromide **36a** had been described in earlier studies,³¹ and were similar to those reported earlier.³²⁻³⁴ During further investigations, we found that lower temperatures of -80 °C (instead of -78 °C)³¹

were necessary to ensure full regioselectivity. When allyl bromides 36 with terminal olefin substituents were subjected to allylic alkylation conditions (3.0 mol% CuBr • SMe₂, 4.0 mol% L2 (Taniaphos³⁵⁻³⁷), 1.2 eq. MeMqBr in CH₂Cl₂ at -80 °C), the desired chiral products 45 were obtained in good yields and up to excellent enantioselectivities (reaching 99% ee. Table 1, entry 1). Furthermore, at this temperature, the product distribution of branched (45) to linear (46) was very good, exceeding 92:8 favoring the branched products 45. To reach full conversion of 36c (n = 3) (Table 1, entry 3), a higher catalyst loading of 6.0 mol% CuBr • SMe₂ and 8.0 mol% L2 was required. One could speculate that with this particular chain length the coordination of the substrate or the corresponding product to the catalyst is much stronger, due to the possible coordination of **36c** or **45c** to the Cu catalyst through the terminal olefin moiety. Therefore, a higher catalyst loading was necessary to overcome catalyst deactivation. It is remarkable that 45a and 45c are formed with excellent enantioselectivity, whereas 45b with an intermediate chain length is formed with significantly lower ee. This, hints towards a secondary coordination or steric effect of 36b to the catalyst, which interferes with the stereodiscriminating step of the transformation.

Tc I M M n	os Br	3.0 mol% CuBr • SMe₂ 4.0 mol% L2 1.2 eq. MeMgBr CH₂Cl₂, -80 °C	Tos Me	Tos N Me Me
3	6а-с		45a-c 4	6а-с
Entry	n	Branched (45)/linear (46)	Isolated yield (for 45)	ee
1	1 (36a)	95:5	62% (45a)	99%
2	2 (36b)	98:2	84% (45b)	90%

Table 1 Asymmetric allylic alkylation of allylic bromides 36

^a6.0 mol% CuBr • SMe₂ and 8.0 mol% L2 were used.

3.3 Cu-catalyzed allylic alkylation of allyl bromides bearing terminal alkyne substituents

For the synthesis of chiral *N*-heterocycles carrying a diene motif (**27**), the synthesis started from allylic bromides **41** bearing terminal alkyne substituents of various chain lengths. Under standard allylic substitution conditions, the desired chiral 146

products **47** were isolated in good yields (Table 2). In all cases, excellent regioand enantioselectivities were achieved (**47/48** >95:5, 99% *ee*). Since the terminal alkyne protons of **41** are acidic and have to be deprotonated first, 2.2 equivalents of methylmagnesium bromide were necessary for this transformation to achieve full conversion of bromides **41**. One exception in this particular series of transformations is the reaction of the alkyne **41b**, which only went to 75% conversion. Remarkably, the reaction to the desired chiral homoallylic tosylamides **47** still proceeds in the presence of the Mg-acetylidene moiety, in spite of the fact that Cu-acetylide complexes are known to be very stable.^{38,39} In this case, the stability of the Cu-bisphosphine complex seems to be high enough for the reaction to proceed with acceptable yields providing excellent enantioselectivities. As in the case of the olefinic substrates **36** (Table 1), the longest spacer length (**41c**, n = 3) required a slightly higher catalyst loading to achieve full conversion to **47c** (Table 2, entry 3).

To N Mn	s Br	3.0 mol% CuBr • SMe ₂ 4.0 mol% L2 2.2 eq. MeMgBr CH ₂ Cl _{2,} -80 °C	Tos Me	Tos N n Me
4	1а-с		47а-с	48a-c
Entry	n	Branched (47)/linear (48)	Isolated yield for 47	ee
1	1 (41a)	95:5	77% (47 a)	99%
2	2 (41b)	96:4	53% (47b) ^a	99%
3	3 ^b (41c)	95:5	82% (47c)	99%

Table 2 Asymmetric allylic alkylation of allylic bromides 41

^aReaction reaches 75% conversion of **41b**, no side products were observed. ^b6.0 mol% CuBr • SMe₂ and 8.0 mol% **L2** were used.

3.4 Cu-catalyzed allylic alkylation of cinnamide 44

The allylic alkylation of cinnamide **44** was investigated next, which required a more thorough optimization of the reaction conditions. At first, the transformation of **44** to the corresponding addition products **49** and **50** with a catalyst comprising 6.0 mol% CuBr • SMe₂ and 8.0 mol% bisphosphine ligand at -80 °C was investigated (Table 3). From earlier studies, it was known that ferrocenyl-based ligands **L2** and **L4** are generally the best-performing in terms of enantioselectivities and yields for allylic

alkylations,^{31,33,34} and thus they were tested in a variety of solvents (Table 3). Dichloromethane outperforms MTBE and Et_2O in terms of regio- and enantioselectivities (Table 3, entries 1,4; regioselectivity **49/50**: >95:5). The low conversion in Et_2O could be explained by the fact that cinnamide **44** does not fully dissolve in this solvent under the reaction conditions. It is also apparent that the Taniaphos ligand **L2** outperforms Josiphos **L4** with regard to enantioselectivity (97% (**L2**) *vs.* 67% *ee* (**L4**)), however, at the expense of conversion (27% (**L2**) *vs.* full conversion (**L4**)). It is important to note that this reaction, just as in the case of the conjugate addition to coumarins (see Chapter 6), had to be quenched with a HCI solution in Et_2O . This was necessary to prevent the desired product **49** from decomposing during workup. When the reaction was quenched with MeOH, quick and complete esterification to methyl cinnamate was observed.

Table 3 Cu-catalyzed allylic alkylation of 44^a

Ph	G. Br —	0 mol% CuBr • SMe ₂ 8.0 mol% L2 or L4 1.5 eq. MeMgBr solvent, -80 °C		+ ^{Ph}	N N Me
	44		49		50
	Ph ₂ P Fe ((R,f	Ph_2P $R,R_{Fe})-L2$ R-Taniaphos)	$(R,S_{Fe})-L4$ (R,S-Josiphos)		
Entry	L	Solvent	Conversion ^b	49:50 ^b	ee ^c
Entry 1	L L2	Solvent CH ₂ Cl ₂	Conversion ^b	49:50 ^b >95:5	ee ^c 97%
Entry 1 2	L L2 L2	Solvent CH ₂ Cl ₂ MTBE	Conversion ^b 27% 16%	49:50 ^b >95:5 83:17	ee ^c 97% 56%
Entry 1 2 3	L L2 L2 L2 L2	Solvent CH ₂ Cl ₂ MTBE Et ₂ O	Conversion ^b 27% 16% 7%	49:50 ^b >95:5 83:17 57:43	ee ^c 97% 56% 87%
Entry 1 2 3 4	L L2 L2 L2 L2 L4	Solvent CH ₂ Cl ₂ MTBE Et ₂ O CH ₂ Cl ₂	Conversion ^b 27% 16% 7% full	49:50 ^b >95:5 83:17 57:43 >95:5	ee ^c 97% 56% 87% 67%
Entry 1 2 3 4 5	L L2 L2 L2 L4 L4	Solvent CH ₂ Cl ₂ MTBE Et ₂ O CH ₂ Cl ₂ MTBE	Conversion ^b 27% 16% 7% full 85%	49:50 ^b >95:5 83:17 57:43 >95:5 71:29	ee ^c 97% 56% 87% 67% 11%

^aReaction conditions: MeMgBr (1.5 eq.), **44** (1.0 eq., added slowly (~1h) after all the other reagents), CuBr•SMe₂ (6.0 mol%) and L (8.0 mol%), -80 °C, 17h, reaction quenched with HCl (3M in Et₂O). ^bDetermined by ¹H NMR. ^cDetermined by chiral HPLC. To further improve the allylic alkylation of **44** in terms of enantioselectivity and conversion, some structurally related ferrocenyl-based ligands were tested under the optimized reaction conditions (compare Table 3). As can be seen from Table 4, none of the ligands could outperform the two orginally tested ones Taniaphos **L2** and Josiphos **L4** in terms of enantioselectivity and conversion (Table 4, entries 1,3). The structurally related ligands **L5** – **L7** (Table 4, entries 2,4,5) gave much lower conversion, and, with the exception of **L6**, lower enantioselectivity as well. This shows that even small structural and/or electronic changes of the ligands, especially of the aryl-substituents on the phosphorus atoms, have a large impact on the outcome of the reaction. Other ligand classes, like the Mandyphos (**L8**) and the Walphos (**L9**) class as well as the Cul/tolBINAP (**L10**) catalyst⁴⁰ (Table 4, entries 6-8) could not compete with the previous chiral ligands, again emphasizing the special spatial requirements of the allylic alkylation catalyst for this particular transformation.



full

>95:5

Table 4 Ligand screening for allylic alkylation of cinnamide 44^a

4

L6

64%

Entry	L	Conversion ^b	49:50 ^b	ee ^c
5	L7	66%	69:31	30%
6	L8	30%	70:30	0%
7	L9	15%	47:53	23%
8 ^d	L10	95%	70:30	21%

^aReaction conditions: MeMgBr (1.5 eq.), **44** (1.0 eq., added slowly (~2h) after all the other reagents), CuBr•SMe₂ (6.0 mol%) and **L** (8.0 mol%), -80 °C, 17h, reaction quenched with HCl (3M in Et₂O). ^bDetermined by ¹H NMR. ^cDetermined by chiral HPLC. ^d 6.0 mol% of CuI was used.

Summarizing the attempts to develop an efficient allylic alkylation of cinnamide 44, it can be said that the results display a dilemma: The desired product 49 is either available in very good enantioselectivity, but with low yield, employing L2, or with moderate enantioselectivity and high yields, using L4. The regioselectivity in both cases is very good, favouring the branched product. Attempts to improve the conversion with L2 by employing higher amounts of Grignard reagent or by changing the order of addition of substrates and Grignard reagent did not lead to better results. Furthermore, it was established that chiral amide 49 is stable under the reaction conditions, so that *in situ* deterioration of the desired product can be excluded.

3.5 Ring-closing metathesis of chiral diolefins

Chiral diolefins **45** could subsequently be transformed to the corresponding *N*-heterocycles **51** by ring-closing metathesis (Table 5). With 5.0 mol% Hoveyda-Grubbs 2nd generation catalyst,²⁴ the six- to eight-membered rings were obtained in moderate to good yields. The best result was found for the eight-membered unsaturated azocane **51c** (77%, Table 5, entry 3). It is important to note that the *ee* of the desired products **51** was not compromized during the reaction.

Tos Me , N 45a-c	5.0 mol% Hoveyda-Grubbs 2 nd CH ₂ Cl _{2,} reflux	Tos N Me 51a-c	Mes-N-N-Mes Cl///,Ru- Cl- Cl- Hoveyda-Grubbs 2 nd
Entry	n	Yield	ee
1	1 (45 a)	54% (51a)	99%
2	2 (45b)	46% (51b)	90%
3	3 (45c)	77% (51c)	98%

Table 5 Ring-closing metathesis of chiral diolefins

The yield of chiral piperidine **51a** (Table 5, entry 1) is comparatively low, even though the reaction reaches full conversion. In the crude reaction mixture, one unidentified side product is present. It is known from studies of ring-closing metathesis of related lactams⁴¹ that the concentration of the starting materials has an influence on the reaction since theoretically, also the homodimer of **45a** could be obtained. In general, higher concentrations (40 mM) of the starting materials yield homodimers, whereas lower concentrations (1 mM) of the starting materials in the reaction mixture afford the desired ring-closed products. The ring-closing metathesis reactions in Table 5 were run at a concentration of 5 mM and therefore the formation of homodimers (and polymers) of **45a** could not be excluded, but it was unlikely. From the crude ¹H NMR, no such products were observed, an thus the side-products observed must arise from another reaction pathway.

3.6 Ring-closing ene-yne metathesis of chiral terminal alkynes

For the ene-yne metathesis of compounds **47** to reach full conversion, 5.0 mol% Grubbs 1st generation catalyst under an ethene atmosphere was employed.³¹ The addition of ethene was found to be essential for the reaction to proceed to **52**, as in its absence, no conversion was observed (see section 3.7).⁴² The resulting six- and seven-membered nitrogen-containing rings with diene motifs **52a,b** were isolated in good yields (Table 6). Again, no loss of *ee* was observed in this transformation,

making this a viable pathway for the construction of chiral nitrogen-containing heterocycles with various ring sizes.

Tos Me N N 47a-c	5.0 mol% Grubbs 1 st ethene (1 atm.) CH ₂ Cl _{2,} reflux	Tos N Me 52a-c	PCy ₃ CI, Ru CI Ph PCy ₃ Grubbs 1 st	
Entry	n	Yield	ee	
1	1 (47a)	77% (52a)	99%	
2	2 (47b)	65% (52b)	99%	
3	3 (47c)	N/A	N/A	

Table 6 Ene-yne metathesis of chiral terminal alkynes

The reaction of **47c** under the given conditions did not produce the desired eightmembered ring **52c**. The ene-yne metathesis proceeded to the linear product **53** in moderate yields (Table 7, entries 1,2), where the alkyne moiety of **52c** reacted in an intermolecular fashion with ethene instead of intramolecularly with the terminal olefin. Product **53** did not react any further to the desired ring system under the reaction conditions. Furthermore, this reaction could not be improved in terms of conversion to **53**, as other Ru-based metathesis catalysts under a variety of conditions⁴³ did not give any conversion to neither **52c** nor **53** (Table 7). It is known in literature that the synthesis of eight-membered rings via cross-metathesis is difficult, due to steric restraints of the products as well as the kinetics of the ringclosing reactions.⁴⁴ This can lead to unwanted side-reactions such as polymerization of the starting materials and/or products.

Table 7 Ene-yne metathesis of 47c

	Ts Me Ru-based cat.		+ 52c		Ts Me N 53
Entry	Catalyst (mol%)	Solvent	Atm.	Temp.	Yield (53)
1	Grubbs 1 st (5.0)	CH_2CI_2	ethene	40 °C	9% ^{a,b}
2	Grubbs 1 st (10.0)	CH_2CI_2	ethene	40 °C	35% ^{a,b}
3	Grubbs 1 st (5.0)	CH_2CI_2	-	40 °C	n.d. ^a
4	Grubbs 1 st (5.0)	toluene	ethene	70 °C	n.d. ^a
5	Grubbs 1 st (5.0)	toluene	-	70 °C	n.d. ^a
6	Hoveyda-Grubbs 2 nd (5.0)	CH_2CI_2	ethene	40 °C	n.d. ^a
7	Hoveyda-Grubbs 2 nd (5.0)	toluene	ethene	70 °C	n.d. ^a
8	Grubbs 2 nd (5.0)	CH_2CI_2	ethene	40 °C	n.d. ^a

^aLow conversion. ^bComplex mixture of products.

3.7 Role of the ethene atmosphere for the ene-yne metathesis

It was found that an ethene atmosphere was crucial for the ene-yne metathesis of terminal alkynes 47 to cyclic dienes 52, an observation that had been made in earlier studies of ene-yne metathesis reactions.⁴² The necessity for the ethene atmosphere can be explained with the various equilibria present in an ene-yne metathesis reaction (Scheme 10). The Ru-alkylidene catalyst A reacts, due to the higher electron density, first with the terminal alkyne of 47a to yield a ruthenacyclobutene 54. This undergoes cycloreversion to yield Ru-alkylidene 55. The intramolecular olefin metathesis leads to diene **52a** via ruthenacyclobutane **56**. The driving force of this reaction pathway is the thermodynamic stability of the diene 52a. However, the Ru-catalyst A can enter a non-productive olefin cross metathesis with the terminal diene of **52a** leading to ruthenacycle **57**, and finally to Ru-alkylidene 58 and ethene. This last equilibrium is affected by an ethene atmosphere, as it should lie on the side of 57, and therefore also further on the side of the desired product, and free alkylidene **A**. Through the unproductive pathway, the effective amount of active catalyst in the reaction mixture is lowered. If an ethene atmosphere is present, any ruthenacycle 57 formed is quickly reacted back to the free Ru-alkylidene catalyst **A** (and possibly onward to ruthenacycle **B**) and the desired product **52a**, and thus removed from the unproductive pathway.



Scheme 10 Ene-yne metathesis in the presence of ethene atmosphere

3.8 Ring-closing metathesis for the synthesis of a chiral lactam

Enantioenriched amide **49**, from the reaction with ligand **L4** (*vide supra*), was subjected to ring-closing metathesis conditions to probe whether the anticipated pathway to synthesize chiral lactams was viable. When **49** was reacted in the presence of catalytic amounts of Hoveyda-Grubbs 2nd generation catalyst, the corresponding chiral lactam **59** was isolated in good yields without compromizing the ee (Scheme 11). This shows that the general approach to chiral lactams is indeed feasible as anticipated.



Scheme 11 Ring-closing metathesis for the synthesis of chiral lactam

4. Conclusions and future prospects

In summary, we have demonstrated that chiral unsaturated heterocycles are available in excellent enantiomeric excess and good yields via a combination of Cu-catalyzed allylic substitution and Ru-catalyzed ring-closing metathesis. Six- to eight-membered chiral nitrogen-containing rings are easily available through this short synthetic pathway in high enantioselectivity. By employing terminal olefins, singly unsaturated rings are accessible, while terminal alkynes were transformed to the corresponding dienes in good yields and 99% ee. The obtained compounds are ideal chiral building blocks for further functionalization through the olefinic bonds. It should be noted that the synthesis of an eight-membered diene was not achieved via this synthetic route, since a side reaction to a linear diene moiety was found.

It has been demonstrated that the same pathway can be employed for the synthesis of chiral lactams, when allylic bromides with amide substituents are used. The allylic substitution has yet to be optimized, since either high enantioselectivity accompanied by low yields, or high yields accompanied with moderate enantioselectivities are obtained with the tested catalysts. However, it has been shown that the subsequent ring-closing metathesis proceeds without endangering the chiral information.

For further extension of this project, some follow-up studies could be envisaged. To improve the results of the allylic alkylation of amides different *N*-protecting groups (like Boc) or no *N*-protecting group of **60** could be tested in the enantioselective reaction to give **61**. It is possible that the tosyl group used in this study is interfering with the catalyst and therefore reducing the catalytic activity. Further transformation to chiral lactam **62** (Scheme 12) has been shown to work well and it is not expected to encounter problems with different *N*-protecting groups.



Scheme 12 Change of protecting group for the synthesis of chiral lactams

Secondly, the newly developed allylic alkylation-ring-closing metathesis protocol could be extended to the use of functionalized Grignard reagents, ideally ones bearing terminal olefins (Scheme 13). Through this approach, a multifunctional chiral building block **64** would be accessible. Posessing three terminal double bonds, a variety of chiral carbo- or heterocycles **65** and **66** would be accessible,

and it would be interesting to probe whether the ring-closing metathesis step could be rendered selective towards one of the products.



Scheme 13 Allylic alkylation with functionalized Grignard reagents

One of the most interesting future prospects of this work would be to examine the asymmetric alkylation to enamides **68** (Scheme 14). The trifluoroacetamide **67** is accessible,⁴⁵ and conversion to the corresponding allyl bromide **68** could be envisaged. If the asymmetric allylic alkylation of enamides could be accomplished, it would not only be the aza-version of the already reported work with esters,²⁷ but **69** itself is an important multifunctional building block. By deprotection of the trifluoroacetamide,⁴⁶ chiral primary allylic amines **70** would be accessible. Secondly, **69** could be used to prepare chiral aminoacids **71** and **72** by oxidation of the double bond either by a hydroboration-oxidation sequence or by ozonolysis with oxidative workup.



Scheme 14 Synthesis of chiral nitrogen-containing building blocks

As a last possible extension of this project, one could envisage the use of the chiral building blocks **73**, products of the asymmetric allylic alkylation to substrates bearing terminal alkynes, in new transformations such as for example the Pauson-Khand reaction,⁴⁷ which would furnish chiral bicyclic systems **74** (Scheme 15). Reduction of the α , β ,-unsaturated ketone⁴⁸ would furnish bicyclic compound **75** with three stereocenters.



Scheme 15 Possible further reactions of 73

5. Experimental Section

General remarks:

¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on a Varian AMX400 (400 and 100 MHz. respectively), a Varian VXR300 (300 and 75 MHz, respectively), or a Varian VXR200 NMR spectrometer (200 MHz and 75 MHz, respectively) with CDCl₃ as solvent. Chemical shifts were determined relative to the residual solvent peaks (CHCl₃, δ = 7.26 ppm for ¹H NMR, δ = 77.0 ppm for ¹³C NMR). The following abbreviations are used to indicate signal multiplicity: s, singlet; d, doublet; t, triplet; q, quartet; qi, quintet; m, multiplet; br, broad, app, apparent. Enantiomeric excesses were determined by chiral HPLC using a Shimadzu LC-10ADVP HPLC equipped with a Shimadzu SPD-M10AVP diode array detector, in comparison with racemic products or, in some cases, mixtures of both enantiomers, Racemic products were obtained by the same procedure as the enantioselective allylic alkylation only using CuBr SMe₂ (10 mol%), PPh₃ (20 mol%) and MeMaBr (1.15 eq.) at -40 °C in CH₂Cl₂. The opposite enantiomer of a product is obtained by using the enantiomer of L2, following the general procedure D. Regioselectivities were determined by ¹H NMR. Optical rotations were measured on a Schmidt + Haensch polarimeter (Polartronic MH8) with a 10 cm cell (c given in g/100 mL) at 20 °C. Thin-layer chromatography (TLC) was performed on Merck TLC Silica gel 60 Kieselguhr F₂₅₄ Flash chromatography was performed on silica gel Merck Type 9385 230-400 mesh. Mass spectra were recorded on a AEI-MS-902 mass spectrometer (EI⁺) or a LTQ Orbitrap XL (ESI⁺).

N-Allyl-4-methylbenzenesulfonamide (32a)¹

p-Toluenesulfonyl chloride (37.9 mmol, 7.23 g, 0.95 eq.) and pyridine (44 mmol,

Н

3.5 g, 1.1 eq.) were added to a solution of allylamine (40 mmol, 2.28 g, 1.0 eq.) in dry CH_2CI_2 (25 mL). The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 16 h and washed with aqueous 0.5 M HCl (3 x 5 mL). The combined aqueous phases were extracted with CH_2CI_2 (10 mL) and the organic layer was dried and concentrated

under reduced pressure to afford product **32a** (75% yield, 6.3 g, R_f (1:5 EtOAc/heptane) = 0.51) as a white solid. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.75 (d, J =

8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.29 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 5.76-5.63 (m, 1H), 5.10 (dd, J = 24.9 Hz, 13.7 Hz, 2H), 4.92 (br, 1H), 3.55 (t, J = 5.9 Hz, 2H), 2.41 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 145.81, 143.51, 128.66, 127.49, 126.37, 113.35, 43.44, 21.00. HRMS calcd. for C₁₀H₁₄NO₂S [M+H⁺]: 212.0745, found 212.0740.

4-Methyl-*N*-(prop-2-yn-1-yl)benzenesulfonamide (38a)²

A mixture of p-toluenesulfonamide (22 mmol, 3.77 g, 1.1 eq.) and K₂CO₃ (50 mmol,

₩, N._{Ts}

38a

6.9 g, 2.5 eq.) in MeCN (500 mL) was stirred at room temperature. To this mixture a solution of propargyl bromide (20 mmol, 2.38 g, 1.0 eq.) in MeCN (20 mL) was added dropwise. The mixture was heated to reflux for 16 h, cooled to room temperature and filtered. The filtrate was concentrated under reduced pressure and purified

by flash chromatography (SiO₂, 1:7 EtOAc/heptane, R_f (1:5 EtOAc/heptane) = 0.37) to yield the product (39% yield, 1.64 g) as a colorless oil. The disubstituted side product **38a** (38%, 1.63 g, R_f (1:5 EtOAc/heptane) = 0.45) was obtained as a pale yellow solid. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.77 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.32 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 4.53 (br, 1H), 3.83 (dd, *J* = 6.1 Hz, 2.5 Hz, 2H), 2.44 (s, 3H), 2.11 (t, *J* = 2.5 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.83, 139.31, 129.93, 126.68, 98.20, 74.22, 36.39, 21.73. HRMS calcd. for C₁₀H₁₂NO₂S [M+H⁺]: 210.0589, found 210.0583.

tert-Butyl tosylcarbamate (34)³

p-Toluenesulfonamide (30 mmol, 5.14 g, 1.0 eq.) was suspended in CH₂Cl₂ (25 mL) containing Et₃N (33 mmol, 3.34 g, 1.1 eq.) and DMAP (3 mmol, 0.37 g, 0.1 eq.). A solution of di-(t-butyl) dicarbonate (36 mmol, 7.86 Boc N-Ts g, 1.2 eq.) in CH₂Cl₂ (40 mL) was added dropwise with stirring over 8 min. After 2 h, the solution was concentrated under reduced 34 pressure and the residue treated with EtOAc (100 mL) and 2 M aq. HCI (60 mL). The organic phase was washed successively with water and brine, dried and concentrated under reduced pressure to afford a solid. Heating in pentane (30 mL), cooling to room temperature and filtration provided the product as a white solid (87% yield, 7.06 g, R_f (1:5 EtOAc/heptane) = 0.57). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.90 (d, J = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.34 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.45 (s, 3H), 1.38 (s, 9H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 149.19, 144.97, 136.15, 129.71, 128.46, 84.28, 28.09, 21.88. HRMS calcd. For C12H18NO4S [M+H⁺]: 272.0957, found 272.0951.

N-Tosylcinnamamide (43)⁴

E-Cinnamic acid (6.8 mmol, 1.0 g, 1.0 eq.) was dissolved in dry THF (20 mL) under nitrogen and tosyl isocyanate (7.4 mmol, 1.46 g, 1.1 eq.) was added to the solution. After stirring at room temperature for 10 min the inert atmosphere was disconnected and triethylamine (7.4 mmol, 0.75 g, 1.1 eq.) was added dropwise to the open flask, allowing the release of the formed CO₂. After stirring for 1h at room temperature the solution was diluted with 20 mL of EtOAc and washed with 2M aq. HCl and brine. After

drying and filtration the organic phase was concentrated *in vacuo* and the product was precipitated by addition of pentane to a saturated ether solution followed by decantation and washing with pentane. Compound **43** was obtained as a pale yellow solid (71% yield, 1.4 g). ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.01 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.69 (d, *J* = 15.7 Hz, 2H), 7.49 – 7.32 (m, 7H), 6.44 (d, *J* = 15.7 Hz, 2H), 2.42 (d, *J* = 4.5 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 163.65, 145.94, 145.10, 135.64, 133.69, 130.82, 129.62, 128.88, 128.40, 128.36, 117.51, 21.61. HRMS calcd. for C₁₆H₁₅NO₃SNa [M+Na⁺]: 324.0665, found 324.0659.

General procedure A: Preparation of olefinic and propargylic *N*-Boc protected sulfonamides⁵ (35b,c and 40b,c)

N-Boc *p*-toluenesulfonamide **34** (7.37 mmol, 2.0 g, 1.5 eq.) was dissolved in dry THF (3 mL) and triphenylphosphine (14.7 mmol, 3.87 g, 3.0 eq.) was added. The solution was stirred under nitrogen atmosphere and the olefinic or propargylic alcohol (4.9 mmol, 1.0 eq.) was added followed by diethyl azodicarboxylate (12.2 mmol, 2.12 g, 2.5 eq.). The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 3h, concentrated under reduced pressure and the product was purified by flash chromatography (SiO₂).

(N-tert-Butoxycarbonyl)(but-3-enyl)tosylamide (35b)⁶

The title compound was prepared from 3-buten-1-ol (5.5 mmol, 0.40 g) following general procedure **A**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 1:8 EtOAc/heptane, R_f (1:5 EtOAc/heptane) = 0.54) afforded product **35b** as a yellow oil (86% yield, 1.54 g). ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.79 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.30 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 5.91 – 5.71 (m, 1H), 5.20 – 5.02 (m, 2H), 3.92 – 3.85 (m, 2H), 2.58 – 2.46 (m, 2H), 2.44 (s, 3H), 1.34 (s, 9H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 151.14, 144.26, 137.74, 134.62, 129.42, 128.08, 117.64, 84.34, 46.60, 34.80, 28.09, 21.81. HRMS calcd. for C₁₆H₂₃NO₄SNa [M+Na⁺]: 348.1245, found 348.1240.

(*N-tert*-Butoxycarbonyl)(but-3-ynyl)tosylamide (35c):

The title compound was prepared from 4-penten-1-ol (0.81 mmol, 70 mg) following



general procedure **A**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 1:8 EtOAc/pentane, R_f (1:6 EtOAc/pentane) = 0.44) afforded product **35c** as a colorless oil (97% yield, 266 mg). ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.74 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.27 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 5.81 (ddt, *J* = 16.7 Hz, 10.2 Hz, 6.5 Hz, 1H), 5.11 – 4.91

(m, 2H), 3.85 – 3.73 (m, 2H), 2.40 (s, 3H), 2.16 – 2.05 (m, 2H), 1.91 – 1.80 (m, 2H), 1.30 (s, 9H). ^{13}C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 150.91, 144.02, 137.47, 137.41, 129.19, 127.72, 115.17, 84.04, 46.71, 30.82, 29.18, 27.83, 21.54. HRMS calcd. for $C_{17}H_{26}NO_4S[M+H^+]$: 340.1583, found 340.1577.

(*N-tert*-Butoxycarbonyl)(but-3-ynyl)tosylamide (40b)⁷

The title compound was prepared from 3-butyn-1-ol (1.4 mmol, 95 mg) following general procedure **A**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 5:1 heptane/EtOAc, $R_f = 0.24$) afforded product **40b** as an opaque oil (89% yield, 391 mg). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.80 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 7.31 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 4.03 – 3.98 (m, 2H), 2.69 – 2.63 (m, 2H), 2.44 (s, 3H), 2.03 – 2.01 (m, 1H), 1.35 (s, 9H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 150.93, 144.46, 137.45, 129.47, 128.11, 84.74, 80.65, 70.60, 45.42, 28.06, 21.82, 20.21. HRMS calcd. for C₁₆H₂₁NO₄SNa [M+Na⁺]: 346.1089. found 346.1084.

(*N-tert*-Butoxycarbonyl)(pent-4-ynyl)tosylamide (40c)

The title compound was prepared from 4-pentyn-1-ol (0.64 mmol, 54 mg) following general procedure Α. Purification by column Τs chromatography (SiO₂, 5:1 heptane/EtOAc, $R_f = 0.27$) afforded product **40c** as an opaque oil (76% vield, 165 mg). Boc ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.76 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 7.28 40c **40c** (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 3.90 (t, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 2.26 (td, J = 7.1 Hz, 2.4 Hz, 2H), 1.97 (m, 3H), 1.32 (s, 9H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 151.07, 144.36, 137.53, 129.46, 128.00, 84.42, 83.24, 69.23, 46.48, 29.10, 28.05, 21.75, 16.20. HRMS calcd. for C₁₂H₁₆NO₂S [M-Boc+H⁺]: 238.0896,

found 238.0889.

General procedure B: Preparation of olefinic and propargylic tosylamides (32b,c and 38b,c)⁸

To a solution of the *N*-Boc olefinic or propargylic tosylamide **35** or **40** (0.62 mmol, 1.0 eq.) in CH_2CI_2 (10 mL) was added trifluoroacetic acid (12.4 mmol, 1.41 g, 20 eq.) at 0 °C, and the mixture was stirred at rt for 3 h. The mixture was diluted with EtOAc, and the organic layer was washed with saturated aq. NaHCO₃ solution and 160

saturated aq. NaCl solution, dried and concentrated to afford the products as colorless oils.

N-3-Buten-1-yl-4-methyl-benzenesulfonamide (32b)⁹

The title compound was prepared from 35b (4.74 mmol, 1.54 g) following general



procedure **B** (70% yield, 744 mg). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.74 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 7.30 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 5.69 – 5.55 (m, 1H), 5.07 – 4.98 (m, 2H), 4.66 (t, *J* = 5.7 Hz, 1H), 3.00 (app q, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 2H), 2.42 (s, 3H), 2.19 (app q, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.63, 137.21, 134.39, 129.92,

127.34, 118.31, 42.31, 33.83, 21.73. HRMS calcd. for $C_{11}H_{16}NO_2S$ [M+H⁺]: 226.0902, found 226.0896.

N-4-Penten-1-yl-4-methyl-benzenesulfonamide (32c)⁹

The title compound was prepared from **35c** (0.77 mmol, 260 mg) following general procedure **B** (86% yield, 157 mg). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.75 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz,



ald, 157 mg). H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.75 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.29 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 5.68 (ddt, J = 16.9 Hz, 10.2 Hz, 6.7 Hz, 1H), 5.01 (t, J = 6.1 Hz, 1H), 4.97 – 4.89 (m, 2H), 2.91 (dd, J = 13.5 Hz, 6.8 Hz, 2H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 2.02 (app q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.54 (app qi, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.29, 137.25, 136.95, 129.66, 127.06,

115.44, 42.58, 30.60, 28.63, 21.48. HRMS calcd. for $C_{12}H_{17}NO_2SNa$ [M+Na⁺]: 262.0878, found 262.0872.

N-3-Butyn-1-yl-4-methyl-benzenesulfonamide (38b)¹⁰

The title compound was prepared from **40b** (0.62 mmol, 200 mg) following general procedure **B** (74% yield, 103 mg). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.75 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.29 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 5.13 (t, J = 6.2 Hz, 1H), 3.08 (app q, J = 6.6 Hz, 2H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 2.32 (td, J = 6.7 Hz, 2.6 Hz, 2H), 1.98 (t, J = 2.6 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.81, 137.13, 130.00, 127.29, 80.61, 71.02, 41.89, 21.74, 20.00. HRMS calcd. for C₁₁H₁₄NO₂S[M+H⁺]: 224.0745, found 224.0740.

N-4-Pentyn-1-yl-4-methyl-benzenesulfonamide (38c)¹¹

The title compound was prepared from **40c** (0.50 mmol, 170 mg) following general procedure **B** (83% yield, 99 mg). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.75 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 7.31 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 4.54 (br, 1H), 3.08 (app q, J = 6.6 Hz, 2H), 2.43 (s, 3H), 2.22 (td, J = 6.8 Hz, 2.5 Hz, 2H), 1.95 (s, 1H), 1.69 (qi, J = 6.8 Hz, 2H).

¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.42, 136.86, 129.71,

127.07, 82.89, 69.39, 42.11, 28.12, 21.50, 15.69. HRMS calcd. for $C_{12}H_{16}NO_2S$ [M+H⁺]: 238.0902, found 238.0896.

General procedure C: Preparation of allylic bromide substrates (36a-c, 41a-c)

To a suspension of olefinic or propargylic tosylamide **32** or **38** (19.2 mmol, 1.0 eq.) and K_2CO_3 (28.8 mmol, 3.98 g, 1.1 eq.) in 20 mL MeCN was added 1,4dibromobut-2-ene (77.0 mmol, 16.5 g, 4.0 eq.) and the mixture was heated to reflux for 24 h. The mixture was then concentrated under reduced pressure and water (10 mL) and Et₂O (10 mL) were added. The organic layer was separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with Et₂O (2 x 5 mL). The combined organic layers were dried, filtered and concentrated under reduced pressure. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂) yielded desired products.

(*E*)-*N*-(4-Bromo-2-buten-1-yl)-4-methyl-N-2-propen-1-yl-benzenesulfonamide (36a)¹²

The title compound was prepared from 32a (19.2 mmol, 4.06 g) following general



procedure **C**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 1:5 EtOAc/Pentane, $R_f = 0.38$) afforded **36a** (70% yield, 4.63 g) as an opaque oil. ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.68 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.29 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 5.85 – 5.68 (m, 1H), 5.66 – 5.43 (m, 2H),

5.20 – 5.08 (m, 2H), 3.85 (d, J = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 3.78 (d, J = 6.2 Hz, 4H), 2.41 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.63, 137.36, 132.73, 130.71, 129.99, 129.84, 127.38, 119.57, 49.94, 47.94, 31.67, 21.75. HRMS calcd. for C₁₄H₁₉BrNO₂S [M+H⁺]: 344.0320, found 344.0314.

(*E*)-*N*-(4-Bromo-2-buten-1-yl)-4-methyl-N-3-buten-1-yl-benzenesulfonamide (36b)

The title compound was prepared from 32b (2.87 mmol, 734 mg) following general



procedure **C**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 1:5 EtOAc/Pentane, R_f = 0.23) afforded **36b** (74% yield, 762 mg) as an opaque oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.68 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 7.30 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 5.87 - 5.76 (m, 1H), 5.74 - 5.54 (m, 2H), 5.11 - 4.98 (m, 2H), 3.87 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H),

3.81 (d, J = 6.3 Hz, 2H), 3.17 (t, J = 6.5 Hz, 2H), 2.42 (s, 3H), 2.27 (app q, J = 6.4 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.56, 137.15, 134.77, 130.42, 130.37, 129.94, 127.39, 117.41, 49.37, 47.32, 33.22, 31.51, 21.73. HRMS calcd. for C₁₅H₂₁BrNO₂S [M+H⁺]: 358.0476, found 358.0471.

(*E*)-*N*-(4-Bromo-2-buten-1-yl)-4-methyl-N-4-penten-1-yl-benzenesulfonamide (36c)

The title compound was prepared from 32c (0.648 mmol, 155 mg) following



general procedure **C**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 1:7 Et₂O/Pentane, R_f (1:6 Et₂O/Pentane) = 0.23) afforded **36c** (47% yield, 116 mg) as an opaque oil. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.67 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.29 (d, *J* =

8.1 Hz, 2H), 5.87 – 5.69 (m, 2H), 5.65 – 5.55 (m, 1H), 5.04 – 4.92 (m, 2H), 3.86 (d, J = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 3.78 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 2H), 3.09 (t, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 2.42 (s, 3H), 2.02 (dd, J = 14.2 Hz, 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.64 – 1.57 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.28, 137.42, 136.83, 130.24, 130.09, 129.70, 127.13, 115.27, 49.10, 47.25, 31.33, 30.66, 27.49, 21.49. HRMS calcd. for C₁₆H₂₃BrNO₂S [M+H⁺]: 372.0633, found 372.0627.

(*E*)-*N*-(4-Bromo-2-buten-1-yl)-4-methyl-N-2-propyn-1-yl-benzenesulfonamide (41a)¹³

The title compound was prepared from 38a (1.20 mmol, 250 mg) following general



procedure **C**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 1:15 EtOAc/Heptane, R_f (1:9 EtOAc/Heptane) = 0.25) afforded **41a** (73% yield, 299 mg) as a colorless oil. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.73 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.30 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 5.98-5.90 (m, 1H), 5.75 – 5.64 (m, 1H), 4.09 (d, *J* = 2.4 Hz, 2H), 3.92 (d, *J* = 7.5

Hz, 2H), 3.85 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 2H), 2.43 (s, 3H), 2.03 (t, J = 2.5 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.73, 135.75, 131.46, 129.55, 128.71, 127.72, 76.31, 74.01, 47.39, 36.03, 31.15, 21.57. HRMS calcd. for C₁₄H₁₆BrNO₂SNa [M+Na⁺]: 363.9983, found 363.9977.

(*E*)-*N*-(4-Bromo-2-buten-1-yl)-4-methyl-N-3-butyn-1-yl-benzenesulfonamide (41b)

The title compound was prepared from 38b (0.34 mmol, 76 mg) following general



procedure **C**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 1:7 EtOAc/Heptane, R_f (1:5 EtOAc/Heptane) = 0.22) afforded **41b** (71% yield, 85 mg) as an opaque oil. ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.69 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.31 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 5.84 (dt, *J* =

14.8 Hz, 7.4 Hz, 1H), 5.69 – 5.55 (m, 1H), 3.93 – 3.81 (m, 4H), 3.28 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 2.46 (m, 2H), 2.43 (s, 3H), 1.97 (t, J = 2.4 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.79, 136.93, 130.76, 130.11, 130.03, 127.40, 81.13, 70.51, 49.92, 46.53, 31.32, 21.74, 19.66. HRMS calcd. for C₁₅H₁₉BrNO₂S [M+H⁺]: 356.0320, found 356.0314.

(*E*)-*N*-(4-Bromo-2-buten-1-yl)-4-methyl-N-4-pentyn-1-yl-benzenesulfonamide (41c)

The title compound was prepared from **38c** (0.12 mmol, 28 mg) following general



procedure **C**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 1:8 EtOAc/Heptane, R_f (1:5 EtOAc/Heptane) = 0.29) afforded **41c** (72% yield, 78 mg) as an opaque oil. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.68 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.30 (d,

J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 5.83 (dt, J = 15.0 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1H), 5.66 − 5.55 (m, 1H), 3.87 (d, J = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 3.80 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 2H), 3.20 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.42 (s, 3H), 2.20 (dt, J = 7.0 Hz, 2.6 Hz, 2H), 1.95 (t, J = 2.6 Hz, 1H), 1.75 (app qi, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.41, 136.60, 130.44, 129.96, 129.75, 127.18, 83.13, 69.11, 49.49, 46.65, 31.25, 27.38, 21.51, 15.73. HRMS calcd. for C₁₆H₂₀BrNO₂SNa [M+Na⁺]: 392.0296, found 392.0290.

N-((E)-4-Bromobut-2-en-1-yl)-N-tosylcinnamamide (44)

The title compound was prepared from 43 (6.2 mmol, 1.86 g) following general



procedure **C**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 1:5 EtOAc/heptane, R_f (1:3 EtOAc/heptane) = 0.48) afforded **44** (75% yield, 2.02 g) as a pale yellow oil. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.82 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.66 (d, *J* = 15.4 Hz, 1H), 7.51 – 7.49

(m, 2H), 7.43 – 7.37 (m, 3H), 7.34 – 7.28 (m, 3H), 6.05 – 5.96 (m, 1H), 5.93 – 5.84 (m, 1H), 4.56 (d, J = 5.5 Hz, 2H), 3.95 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 2.42 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 3H).¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 165.62, 146.11, 144.90, 136.70, 134.30, 130.59, 130.27, 129.78, 128.87, 128.26, 127.65, 126.59, 117.83, 46.94, 31.38, 21.53. HRMS calcd. for C₂₀H₂₁BrNO₃S [M+H⁺]: 434.0426, found 434.0420.

General procedure D: Enantioselective Cu-catalyzed allylic alkylation with methylmagnesium bromide (45a-c, 47a-c)

In a dry Schlenk tube equipped with septum and stirring bar, CuBr-SMe₂ (15 µmol, 3.1 mg, 1.0 mol%) and **L2** (18 µmol, 12.4 mg, 1.2 mol%) were dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (2.0 mL) and stirred under nitrogen atmosphere at room temperature for 10 min. The mixture was cooled to -80 °C and a solution of methylmagnesium bromide (1.73 mmol, 3M solution in Et₂O, 1.15 eq.) in 1.0 mL CH₂Cl₂ was added dropwise over 20 min via syringe pump. Subsequently, a solution of allylic bromide **36** or **41** (1.5 mmol) in 1.0 mL CH₂Cl₂ was added dropwise over 30 min via syringe pump. Once the addition was complete, the resulting mixture was stirred at -80 °C for 16h. The reaction was quenched by addition of MeOH (2.0 mL) and was allowed to warm up to rt. Aqueous NH₄Cl solution (1M, 10 mL) was added and the organic phase separated. The aqueous phase was extracted with Et₂O (2 x 10 mL). The combined organic phases were dried over MgSO₄ and concentrated under reduced

pressure to yield the crude product which was purified by flash chromatography SiO_2 .

(S)-N-Allyl-4-methyl-N-(2-methylbut-3-en-1-yl)benzenesulfonamide (45a)

The title compound was prepared from 36a (1.50 mmol, 516 mg) following general



procedure **D**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, EtOAc/pentane 1:9, $R_f = 0.44$) afforded **45a** (74% yield, 277 mg, ratio **45a:46a** = 95:5, 99% *ee*, $[\alpha]_D = -1.1$ (*c* 17.4, CHCl₃)) as a yellow oil. Enantiomeric excess determined by chiral HPLC analysis. Chiralpak AD (99% *n*-heptane/1% *i*-

PrOH, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), 40 °C, retention times (min) 16.1 (major) and 17.4 (minor). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.65 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.25 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 5.75 – 5.41 (m, 2H), 5.13– 4.92 (m, 4H), 3.76 (d, *J* = 6.4 Hz, 2H), 3.10 – 2.86 (m, 2H), 2.51 – 2.42 (m, 1H), 2.36 (s, 3H), 0.96 (d, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.38, 141.27, 137.31, 133.25, 129.85, 127.38, 119.11, 115.01, 52.92, 51.32, 36.71, 21.67, 17.62. HRMS calcd. for C₁₅H₂₂NO₂S [M+H⁺]: 280.1371, found 280.1366.

(S)-*N*-(But-3-en-1-yl)-4-methyl-*N*-(2-methylbut-3-en-1-yl)benzenesulfonamide (45b)

The title compound was prepared from **36b** (0.017 mmol, 3.4 mg) following general



procedure **D**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, EtOAc/Pentane 1:7, R_f (EtOAc/pentane 1:5) = 0.64) afforded **45b** (84% yield, 69 mg, ratio **45b:47b** = 98:2, 90% *ee*, $[\alpha]_D = +1.2$ (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃)) as a yellow oil. Enantiomeric excess determined by chiral HPLC

analysis, Chiralcel OJ (99% *n*-heptane/1% *i*-PrOH, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), 40 °C, retention times (min) 9.3 (major) and 11.6 (minor). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.68 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 7.28 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 5.76 – 5.59 (m, 2H), 5.07 – 4.95 (m, 4H), 3.15 (m, 2H), 3.09 – 2.93 (m, 2H), 2.54 – 2.44 (m, 1H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 2.32 – 2.17 (m, 2H), 1.02 (d, J = 6.7 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.30, 141.21, 137.20, 134.94, 129.79, 127.44, 117.14, 115.13, 54.26, 48.47, 37.06, 33.16, 21.69, 17.70. HRMS calcd. for C₁₆H₂₄NO₂S [M+H⁺]: 294.1528, found 294.1522.

(S)-4-Methyl-N-(2-methylbut-3-en-1-yl)-N-(pent-4-en-1-yl)benzenesulfonamide (45c)

The title compound was prepared from **36c** (0.11 mmol, 42 mg) following general procedure **D**. Purification by column chromatography



procedure **D**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, Et₂O/pentane 1:8, R_f = 0.39) afforded **45c** (72% yield, 25 mg, ratio **45c:46c** = 92:8, 98% ee, $[\alpha]_D$ = +0.7 (*c* 0.8, CHCl₃)) as a yellow oil. Enantiomeric excess determined by chiral HPLC analysis,

Chiralpak OD-H (99.5% n-heptane/0.05% i-PrOH, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), 40 °C,

retention times (min) 45.4 (minor) and 47.9 (major). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl ₃) δ 7.68 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.29 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 5.80 – 5.63 (m, 2H), 5.06 – 4.94 (m, 4H), 3.11 – 3.05 (m, 2H), 3.05 – 2.94 (m, 2H), 2.53 – 2.43 (m, 1H), 2.42 (s, 3H), 2.00 (dd, J = 14.2 Hz, 7.4 Hz, 2H), 1.67 – 1.57 (m, 2H), 1.02 (d, J = 6.7 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.22, 141.27, 137.67, 137.14, 129.76, 127.45, 115.47, 115.08, 54.35, 48.71, 37.17, 31.13, 27.75, 21.69, 17.72. HRMS calcd. for C₁₇H₂₅NO₂SNa [M+Na⁺]: 330.1504, found 330.1498.

(S)-4-Methyl-N-(2-methylbut-3-en-1-yl)-N-(prop-2-yn-1-yl)benzenesulfonamide (47a)

The title compound was prepared from 41a (22 mmol, 75 mg) following general



procedure **D**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, EtOAc/petroleum ether 40-60 1:9, R_f = 0.59) afforded **47a** (77% yield, 47 mg, 99% ee, $[\alpha]_D$ = -4.9 (*c* 1.4, CHCl₃)) as a colorless oil. Enantiomeric excess determined by chiral HPLC analysis, Chiralpak AD (99% *n*-heptane/1% *i*-PrOH,

flow rate 0.5 mL/min), 40 °C, retention times (min) 17.6 (major) and 19.1 (minor). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.71 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.28 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 5.72 (ddd, *J* = 17.5 Hz, 10.3 Hz, 7.5 Hz, 1H), 5.11 – 5.01 (m, 2H), 4.20 – 4.06 (m, 2H), 3.14 – 3.02 (m, 2H), 2.57 – 2.44 (m, 1H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 1.99 (t, *J* = 2.5 Hz, 1H), 1.04 (d, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.63, 141.04, 136.21, 129.62, 127.95, 115.28, 76.68, 73.99, 51.74, 36.92, 36.35, 21.73, 17.71. HRMS calcd. for C₁₅H₂₀NO₂S [M+H⁺]: 278.1215, found 278.1209.

(S)-N-(But-3-yn-1-yl)-4-methyl-N-(2-methylbut-3-en-1-yl)benzenesulfonamide (47b)

The title compound was prepared from 41b (84 µmol, 30 mg) following general



procedure **D**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 1:7 Et₂O/ petroleum ether 40-60, R_f (1:5 Et₂O/ petroleum ether 40-60) = 0.43) afforded **47b** (53% yield, 13 mg, 99% ee, $[\alpha]_D = -1.4$ (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃)) as an opaque oil. Enantiomeric excess determined by chiral HPLC

analysis, Chiralpak AD (95% *n*-heptane/5% *i*-PrOH, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), 40 °C, retention times (min) 8.1 (major) and 9.6 (minor). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.69 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.29 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 5.74 – 5.59 (m, 1H), 5.08 – 4.93 (m, 2H), 3.33 – 3.20 (m, 2H), 3.12 – 2.99 (m, 2H), 2.54 – 2.47 (m, 1H), 2.47 – 2.43 (m, 2H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 1.99 – 1.92 (m, 1H), 1.01 (d, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.58, 141.03, 136.78, 129.91, 127.45, 115.39, 81.22, 70.44, 54.82, 47.94, 37.17, 21.73, 19.47, 17.73. HRMS calcd. for C₁₆H₂₂NO₂S [M+H⁺]: 292.1371, found 292.1366.

(S)-4-Methyl-N-(2-methylbut-3-en-1-yl)-N-(pent-4-yn-1-yl)benzenesulfonamide (47c)

The title compound was prepared from 41c (0.26 mmol, 80 mg) following general



procedure **D**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 1:7 EtOAc/heptane, R_f (1:6 EtOAc/heptane) = 0.45) afforded **47c** (82% yield, 66 mg, 99% ee, $[\alpha]_D = -3.2$ (*c* 1.1, CHCl₃)) as an opaque oil. Enantiomeric excess determined by chiral HPLC analysis,

Chiralcel OJ (97% *n*-heptane/3% *i*-PrOH, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), 40 °C, retention times (min) 11.7 (major) and 13.7 (minor). ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.69 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.29 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 5.69 (ddd, J = 17.5 Hz, 10.3 Hz, 7.4 Hz, 1H), 5.10 – 4.95 (m, 2H), 3.25 – 3.13 (m, 2H), 3.12 – 2.91 (m, 2H), 2.61 – 2.45 (m, 1H), 2.42 (s, 3H), 2.18 (td, J = 6.9 Hz, 2.6 Hz, 2H), 1.96 (t, J = 2.6 Hz, 1H), 1.85 – 1.67 (m, 2H), 1.02 (d, J = 6.7 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.13, 140.97, 136.60, 129.59, 127.25, 115.00, 69.03, 54.52, 48.02, 44.41, 36.91, 27.35, 21.47, 17.55, 15.92. HRMS calcd. for C₁₇H₂₃BrNO₂SNa [M+Na⁺]: 328.1347, found 328.1342.

(S)-N-(2-Methylbut-3-en-1-yl)-N-tosylcinnamamide (49)

The title compound was prepared from 44 (0.114 mmol, 50 mg) following general



procedure **D**, except that the reaction was quenched with 3.0 M HCl solution in Et₂O (1 mL). Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, Et₂O/Pentane 1:9, R_f (Et₂O/Pentane 1:7) = 0.43) afforded **49** (71% yield, 30 mg, ratio **49:50** = 95:5, 67% *ee*, $[\alpha]_D$ = +20.5 (*c* 0.7, CHCl₃)) as a colorless oil. Enantiomeric excess determined by chiral HPLC analysis, Chiralpak OJ-H

(99% *n*-heptane/1% *i*-PrOH, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), 40 °C, retention times (min) 17.3 (major) and 19.1 (minor). ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.80 – 7.24 (m, 11H), 5.85 – 5.62 (m, 1H), 5.15 – 4.95 (m, 2H), 3.96 – 3.70 (m, 2H), 2.80 – 2.65 (m, 1H), 2.39 (s, 3H), 1.10 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.32, 145.57, 144.68, 140.56, 137.22, 134.53, 130.51, 129.78, 128.91, 128.29, 127.30, 118.70, 115.53, 51.39, 38.50, 21.58, 17.53. HRMS calcd. for C₂₁H₂₃NO₃SNa [M+Na⁺]: 392.1291, found 392.1275.

General procedure E: Ru-catalyzed olefin ring-closing metathesis (51a-c)

Substrate (**45a-c**) was dissolved in degassed CH_2CI_2 (5 mL) and Hoveyda-Grubbs 2^{nd} generation catalyst (5.0 mol%) was added to the solution under a N_2 atmosphere. The mixture was stirred at rt until full conversion (3h) was achieved, as judged by TLC. The mixture was concentrated under reduced pressure and purified by column chromatography to yield the desired product **51a-c** as colorless oils.

(S)-3-Methyl-1-tosyl-1.2.3,6-tetrahydropyridine (51a)

The title compound was prepared from 45a (0.80 mmol, 223 mg) following general



51a

procedure E. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 1:9 EtOAc/heptane, R_f (1:5 EtOAc/heptane) = 0.45) afforded **51a** (54%) yield, 80 mg, 99% ee, $[\alpha]_{D} = -0.4$ (c 5.2, CHCl₃)) as a colorless oil. Enantiomeric excess determined by chiral HPLC analysis, Chiralpak AS-H (95% n-heptane/5% i-PrOH, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), 40 °C, retention times (min) 17.1 (minor) and 17.8 (major). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.66 (d, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 7.31 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 5.63 -5.54 (m, 2H), 3.68 (d, J = 16.4 Hz, 1H), 3.45 – 3.33 (m, 1H), 2.55 – 2.45 (m, 2H), 2.42 (s. 3H), 0.99 (d. J = 6.4 Hz. 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz. CDCl₃) δ 143.68, 133.56. 131.63, 129.84, 127.85, 121.84, 49.60, 44.94, 30.49, 21.72, 18.49. HRMS calcd. for C₁₃H₁₈NO₂S [M+H⁺]: 252.1058, found 252.1053.

(S)-3-Methyl-1-tosyl-2.3.6.7-tetrahydro-1H-azepine (51b)

The title compound was prepared from 45b (0.14 mmol, 34 mg) following general



procedure E. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 1:9 EtOAc/heptane, $R_f = 0.34$) afforded **51b** (61% yield, 19 mg, 90% ee, $[\alpha]_{D} = -1.8$ (c 1.0, CHCl₃)) as a colorless oil. Enantiomeric excess determined by chiral HPLC analysis, Chiralpak OJ-H (99% nheptane/1% i-PrOH, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), 40 °C, retention times (min) 40.9 (minor) and 42.2 (major). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.69 – 7.63 (m. 2H), 7.30 – 7.28 (m. 2H), 5.69 – 5.62 (m. 1H), 5.55 –

5.49 (m, 1H), 3.55 – 3.45 (m, 2H), 2.97 (ddd, J = 13.1 Hz, 7.4 Hz, 4.0 Hz, 1H), 2.76 (dd, J = 13.0 Hz, 9.1 Hz, 1H), 2.57 (br, 1H), 2.42 (s, 3H), 2.35 – 2.25 (m, 2H), 1.05 (d. J = 7.2 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.24, 137.29, 129.86, 128.40. 127.23, 77.42, 54.58, 48.63, 35.63, 29.98, 21.69, 19.47. HRMS calcd. for C₁₄H₂₀NO₂S [M+H⁺]: 266.1215, found 266.1209.

(S)-7-Methyl-1-tosyl-1,2,3,4,7,8-hexahydroazocine (51c)

The title compound was prepared from 45c (34 µmol, 10.5 mg) following general procedure E. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 1:8 Τs Et_2O /pentane, R_f (1:7 Et_2O /pentane) = 0.37) afforded **51c** (77%) yield, 7.0 mg, 98% ee, $[\alpha]_D = +5.7$ (c 0.7, CHCl₃)) as a colorless oil. Enantiomeric excess determined by chiral HPLC analysis, Chiralpak OD-H (98% n-heptane/2% i-PrOH, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), 40 °C, retention times (min) 26.2 (major) and 27.6 (minor). ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.68 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.28 (d, J = 9.1 Hz, 2H), 51c 5.70 - 5.54 (m, 1H), 5.40 - 5.30 (m, 1H), 3.54 - 3.43 (m, 1H), 3.36

(dt, J = 14.8, 4.1 Hz, 1H), 2.87 (ddd, J = 14.8, 10.7, 4.1 Hz, 1H), 2.75 – 2.63 (m, 1H), 2.47 – 2.34 (m, 2H), 2.47 – 2.31 (m, 5H), 2.10 – 1.99 (m, 2H), 1.52 – 1.39 (m, 1H), 1.01 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 142.85, 135.46, 129.57, 129.55, 126.84, 57.39, 48.42, 33.21, 29.84, 29.68, 24.09, 21.46, 18.80. HRMS calcd. for C₁₅H₂₁NO₂SNa [M+Na⁺]: 302.1202, found 302.1181. 168

(R)-5-Methyl-1-tosyl-5,6-dihydropyridin-2(1H)-one (59)

The title compound was prepared from **49** (43 mmol, 16 mg) following general procedure **E**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 1:30 MeOH/toluene, R_f (1:25 MeOH/toluene) = 0.53) afforded **59** (65% yield, 7.5 mg, % ee, $[\alpha]_D = +36.0$ (*c* 1.2, CHCl₃)) as a colorless oil. Enantiomeric excess could not be determined by chiral HPLC analysis or chiral GC analysis. ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.93 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.31 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 6.65 (dd, J = 9.7, 3.6 Hz, 1H), 5.77 (dd, J = 9.8, 1.9 Hz, 1H), 4.16 (dd, J = 12.2, 5.1 Hz, 1H), 3.65 (dd, J = 12.2, 8.2 Hz, 1H), 2.83 – 2.71 (m, 1H), 2.42 (s, 3H), 1.18 (d, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.98, 150.46, 144.94, 136.13, 129.57, 128.77, 124.00, 50.39, 30.69, 21.86, 17.08. HRMS calcd. for

 $C_{13}H_{16}NO_3S [M+H^+]: 266.0845, found 266.0842.$

General procedure F: Ru-catalyzed ene-yne metathesis (52a-b)

Substrate (**47a-b**) was dissolved in degassed CH_2CI_2 (5 mL) and Grubbs 1st generation catalyst (1.0 mol% per hour during 5 h) was added to the solution. The mixture was refluxed under an ethylene atmosphere (1 atm, balloon) until full conversion was reached, as judged by TLC. The mixture was concentrated under reduced pressure and purified by column chromatography to yield the desired products **52a-b** as a colorless oils.

(S)-3-Methyl-1-tosyl-5-vinyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (52a)

The title compound was prepared from 47a (0.15 mmol, 42 mg) following general



52a

procedure **F**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 1:9 Et₂O/petroleum ether 40-60, R_f (5:95 Et₂O/ petroleum ether 40-60) = 0.15) afforded **52a** (77% yield, 31 mg, 99% *ee*, $[\alpha]_D = +33.6$ (*c* 0.6, CHCl₃)) as a colorless oil. Enantiomeric excess determined by chiral HPLC analysis, Chiralpak AS-H (99% *n*-heptane/1% *i*-PrOH, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), 40 °C, retention times (min) 29.6 (minor) and 31.3 (major). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) $\overline{\delta}$

7.70 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 7.33 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 6.24 (dd, J = 17.8 Hz, 11.0 Hz, 1H), 5.63 (s, 1H), 5.11 – 4.93 (m, 2H), 3.88 (d, J = 15.4 Hz, 1H), 3.51 – 3.46 (m, 2H), 2.52 – 2.46 (m, 2H), 2.43 (s, 3H), 1.02 (d, J = 6.7 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.71, 136.57, 132.97, 131.59, 129.89, 127.85, 118.71, 111.91, 49.65, 44.26, 30.79, 21.71, 18.36. HRMS calcd. for C₁₅H₂₀NNaO₂S [M+Na⁺]: 300.1046, found 300.1026
(S)-3-Methyl-1-tosyl-5-vinyl-2,3,6,7-tetrahydro-1H-azepine (52b)

The title compound was prepared from **47b** (38 µmol, 11 mg) following general procedure **F**. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 1:6 Et₂O/ petroleum ether 40-60, R_f (1:4 Et₂O/ petroleum ether 40-60) = 0.38) afforded **52b** (65% yield, 7 mg, 99% *ee*, $[\alpha]_D = -8.4$ (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃)) as a colorless oil. Enantiomeric excess determined by chiral HPLC analysis, Chiralpak OJ-H (95% *n*-heptane/5% *i*-PrOH, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), 40 °C, retention times (min) 22.5 (minor) and 25.4 (major). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.65 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.29 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 6.24 (dd, *J* = 17.5, 10.8 Hz, 1H), 5.55 (d, *J*

= 3.4 Hz, 1H), 5.07 – 4.93 (m, 2H), 3.67 (ddd, J = 13.1, 8.0, 2.3 Hz, 1H), 3.60 – 3.53 (m, 1H), 2.89 (ddd, J = 13.0, 8.9, 1.9 Hz, 1H), 2.71 – 2.66 (m, 2H), 2.59 – 2.50 (m, 1H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 1.08 (d, J = 6.3 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.38, 140.37, 139.20, 138.82, 136.13, 129.90, 127.31, 111.41, 53.80, 47.10, 34.37, 27.55, 21.73, 19.98. HRMS calcd. for C₁₆H₂₂NO₂S [M+H⁺]: 292.1371, found 292.1366.

(S)-4-Methyl-*N*-(2-methylbut-3-en-1-yl)-*N*-(4-methylenehex-5-en-1-yl) benzenesulfonamide (53)

The title compound was prepared from 47c (43 µmol, 13 mg) following general



procedure **F** with the following modification: Grubbs 1st generation catalyst was added to the reaction mixture (2.0 mol%) and the same amount again after 8 h and the reaction was heated to reflux for 7 days. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, 1:7 Et₂O/ petroleum ether

40-60, $R_f = 0.42$) afforded **53** (35% yield, 5 mg, $[\alpha]_D = +4.0$ (*c* 0.3, CHCl₃)) as a colorless oil. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.68 (d, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 2H), 7.27 (dd, *J* = 9.9, 4.7 Hz, 2H), 6.34 (dd, *J* = 17.0, 10.1 Hz, 1H), 5.67 (dd, *J* = 17.2, 7.4 Hz, 1H), 5.14 (d, *J* = 17.7 Hz, 1H), 5.09 – 4.88 (m, 5H), 3.10 (t, *J* = 10.3 Hz, 2H), 3.05 – 2.89 (m, 2H), 2.53 – 2.43 (m, 1H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 2.14 (t, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 1.70 (dd, *J* = 14.8, 6.9 Hz, 2H), 1.01 (d, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 145.09, 143.00, 141.05, 138.59, 136.98, 129.56, 127.23, 116.00, 114.88, 113.39, 54.00, 48.63, 36.92, 28.50, 26.45, 21.46, 17.52. HRMS calcd. for C₁₉H₂₈NaNO₂S [M+Na⁺]: 370.1823, found 370.1801.

6. References

- (1) Fattorusso, E.; Taglialatela-Scafati, O. *Modern Alkaloids: Structure, Isolation, Synthesis and Biology*; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2007.
- (2) Michael, J. P. Nat. Prod. Rep. 2005, 22, 603-626.
- (3) Mitchinson, A.; Nadin, A. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 2000, 2862-2892.
- (4) Ohagan, D. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **1997**, *14*, 637-651.

170

- (5) Boger, D. L.; Turnbull, P. *J. Org. Chem.* **1997**, *62*, 5849-5863.
- (6) Martin, S. F.; Liao, Y. S.; Wong, Y. L.; Rein, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1994**, *35*, 691-694.
- (7) Pilli, R. A.; de Oliveira, M. D. C. F. Nat. Prod. Rep. 2000, 17, 117-127.
- (8) Sakai, R.; Higa, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1986**, 108, 6404-6405.
- (9) Smith, A. B.; Cho, Y. S.; Pettit, G. R.; Hirschmann, R. *Tetrahedron* **2003**, *59*, 6991-7009.
- (10) Wipf, P.; Spencer, S. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 225-235.
- Daly, J. W.; Noimai, N.; Kongkathip, B.; Kongkathip, N.; Wilham, J. M.; Garraffo, H. M.; Kaneko, T.; Spande, T. F.; Nimit, Y.; Nabhitabhata, J.; Chan-Ard, T. *Toxicon* 2004, *44*, 805-815.
- (12) Daly, J. W.; Spande, T. F.; Garraffo, H. M. J. Nat. Prod. 2005, 68, 1556-1575.
- Jain, P.; Garraffo, H. M.; Spande, T. F.; Yeh, H. J. C.; Daly, J. W. J. Nat. Prod. 1995, 58, 100-104.
- (14) Spande, T. F.; Garraffo, H. M.; Yeh, H. J. C.; Pu, Q. L.; Pannell, L. K.; Daly, J. W. *J. Nat. Prod.* **1992**, *55*, 707-722.
- (15) Alibes, R.; Figueredo, M. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2009, 2421-2435.
- (16) Arisawa, M.; Nishida, A.; Nakagawa, M. *J. Organomet. Chem.* **2006**, *691*, 5109-5121.
- (17) Laschat, S.; Dickner, T. Synthesis **2000**, 1781-1813.
- (18) Naito, T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 2008, 56, 1367-1383.
- (19) Deiters, A.; Martin, S. F. *Chem. Rev.* **2004**, *104*, 2199-2238.
- (20) Felpin, F. X.; Lebreton, J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 3693-3712.
- (21) Pandit, U. K.; Overkleeft, H. S.; Borer, B. C.; Bieraugel, H. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **1999**, 959-968.
- (22) Mutlak, H.; Hassan, A. Chem. Commun. 2010, asap, DOI: 10.1039/c0cc03122d.
- (23) Tsuda, M.; Kobayashi, J. *Heterocycles* **1997**, *46*, 765-794.
- (24) Grubbs, R. H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 3760-3765.
- (25) Humphrey, J. M.; Liao, Y. S.; Ali, A.; Rein, T.; Wong, Y. L.; Chen, H. J.; Courtney, A. K.; Martin, S. F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2002**, *124*, 8584-8592.
- (26) Weihofen, R.; Tverskoy, E.; Helmchen, G. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2006**, *45*, 5546-5549.
- (27) Geurts, K.; Fletcher, S. P.; Feringa, B. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 15572-15573.
- (28) Giacomina, F.; Riat, D.; Alexakis, A. Org. Lett. 2010, 12, 1156-1159.
- (29) Henry, J. R.; Marcin, L. R.; McIntosh, M. C.; Scola, P. M.; Harris, G. D.; Weinreb, S. M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1989**, *30*, 5709-5712.
- (30) Pinho, P.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 259-261.
- (31) van Zijl, A. W. *Enantioselective copper-catalyzed allylic alkylation using Grignard reagents*; PhD Thesis: Groningen, 2009.
- (32) van Zijl, A. W.; Szymanski, W.; López, F.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. *J. Org. Chem.* **2008**, 73, 6994-7002.
- (33) van Zijl, A. W.; López, F.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. *J. Org. Chem.* **2007**, *7*2, 2558-2563.
- (34) López, F.; van Zijl, A. W.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. *Chem. Commun.* **2006**, 409-411.
- (35) Ireland, T.; Grossheimann, G.; Wieser-Jeunesse, C.; Knochel, P. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1999, 38, 3212-3215.
- (36) Fukuzawa, S.; Yamamoto, M.; Hosaka, M.; Kikuchi, S. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2007**, 5540-5545.
- (37) Ireland, T.; Grossheimann, G.; Wieser-Jeunesse, C.; Knochel, P. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 3666.
- (38) Lang, H.; George, D. S. A.; Rheinwald, G. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2000, 206, 101-197.

- (39) Long, N. J.; Williams, C. K. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 2586-2617.
- (40) Wang, S. Y.; Ji, S. J.; Loh, T. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 276-277.
- (41) Hassan, H. M. A.; Brown, F. K. Chem. Commun. 2010, 46, 3013-3015.
- (42) Mori, M.; Sakakibara, N.; Kinoshita, A. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 6082-6083.
- (43) Bieniek, M.; Michrowska, A.; Usanov, D. L.; Grela, K. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2008**, *14*, 806-818.
- (44) Miller, S. J.; Kim, S. H.; Chen, Z. R.; Grubbs, R. H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1995**, *117*, 2108-2109.
- (45) Brice, J. L.; Meerdink, J. E.; Stahl, S. S. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 1845-1848.
- (46) Teichert, J. F.; Fañanás-Mastral, M.; Feringa, B. L. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, accepted.
- (47) Gibson, S. E.; Stevenazzi, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 1800-1810.
- (48) Kavanagh, Y.; Chaney, C. M.; Muldoon, J.; Evans, P. *J. Org. Chem.* **2008**, 73, 8601-8604.

Chapter 6

Catalytic Asymmetric Conjugate Addition of Grignard Reagents to Coumarins – Synthesis of Versatile Chiral Building Blocks

A new protocol for the Cu-catalysed asymmetric conjugate addition of Grignard reagents to coumarins has been developed. The corresponding products are formed in high yields and enantioselectivites. Through a sequential protocol involving conjugate addition followed by nucleophilic ring opening of the chiral enolate, chiral esters and amides are readly accessible.

Parts of this chapter will be published: Teichert, J.F.; Feringa, B.L. Chem. Commun. 2011, DOI: 10.1039/C0CC05160H.

1 Introduction

1.1 Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition of organometallic reagents

The Cu-catalyzed asymmetric conjugate addition of organometallic reagents, such as diorganozinc, triorganoaluminum and organomagnesium compounds, to unsaturated carbonyl compounds is a well-established synthetic methodology that has been studied extensively and reviewed thoroughly.¹⁻⁸ A wide variety of chiral copper catalysts, based on various ligands has been reported. Notable are the catalysts based on *N*-heterocyclic carbene,⁹⁻¹³ phosphoramidite,^{5,14-18} peptide-derived,^{14,15,19} BINAP-derived²⁰ and ferrocenyl-based²¹⁻²⁴ ligands.

As a representative example, the asymmetric Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition of Grignard reagents to α,β -unsaturated esters based on a chiral Cu-Josiphos complex is depicted in Scheme 1.²¹ This reaction is especially suited for the transformation of alkyl Grignard reagents, leading to the corresponding chiral conjugate addition products in high yields and with excellent enantiomeric excesses. A wide variety of alkyl- as well as aryl-substituted esters **1** are transformed to β -chiral esters.



Scheme 1 Cu-catalyzed asymmetric 1,4-addition of Grignard reagents with Josiphos

1.2 Asymmetric Cu-catalyzed conjugate reduction reactions

A related synthetic methodolgy is the conjugate reduction of α,β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds based on copper hydride complexes.²⁵ This marks an extension of the previously reported asymmetric catalytic reduction of ketones with

the same catalysts.^{26,27} If a stoichiometric external reducing agent, for example a silane,²⁸ is employed, the conjugate reduction of α , β ,-unsaturated carbonyl compounds can be conducted with catalytic amounts of Cu-H complexes.^{29,30} Furthermore, if the α , β ,-unsaturated substrate bears substituents either in the α - or the β -position, this transformation can be rendered enantioselective. As an example, the Cu-catalyzed asymmetric conjugate reduction of cyclopentenones and cyclohexenones **3** is depicted (Scheme 2).²⁹ When **3** is subjected to conjugate reduction conditions with a catalyst comprising of [(PPh₃)CuH]₆ ("Stryker's reagent")³¹ and SEGPHOS ligand L2, the resulting chiral ketones **4** are available in excellent yields and enantioselectivities. In this case, polymethylhydrosiloxane (PMHS) is employed as a stoichiometric reducing agent.



Scheme 2 Cu-catalyzed asymmetric conjugate reduction

This methodology has recently been applied to the asymmetric conjugate reductions of coumarin derivatives.³² A variety of 3-aryl coumarins **5** could be reduced with the abovementioned catalyst. However, overreduction to the corresponding lactols could not be suppressed, so that an additional oxidation step was necessary to obtain the desired chiral lactones **6** reaching excellent yields and enantioselectivities (Scheme 3). In this transformation, diethoxymethylsiloxane (DEMS) was used as the stoichiometric reducing agent. The products **6** were shown to be valuable chiral building blocks for the synthesis of a variety of biologically active compounds. In this study, the reactivity of the chiral lactones **6** and the corresponding lactols was exploited in various ways *e.g.* ring-opening, demonstrating the synthetic utility of those structures.



Scheme 3 Cu-catalyzed conjugate reduction of coumarins

1.3 Rh-catalyzed asymmetric conjugate addition of boronic acids to coumarins

The Rh-catalyzed conjugate addition is a well-established synthetic methodology to construct chiral β -aryl carbonyl compounds, which is especially well suited for cyclic enones and arylboronic acids as substrates.^{33,34} This transformation has also been applied in the asymmetric conjugate addition to coumarins, employing chiral Rh complexes with diene and phosphine ligands.^{35,36} The application of this methodology for the synthesis of (*R*)-Tolterodine (**9**), a drug against incontinence, was recently disclosed.³⁶ When 6-methyl coumarin **7** was reacted with a large excess of phenylboronic acid in the presence of a chiral rhodium catalyst, the corresponding lactone **8**, a synthetic intermediate for the synthesis of (R)-Tolterodine, was isolated with excellent enantioselectivities (Scheme 4).





Other asymmetric approaches to chiral coumarin derivatives include asymmetric electrochemical reduction,^{37,38} or asymmetric sparteine-mediated lithiation of amides followed by ring-closing³⁹ or Cu-catalyzed asymmetric conjugate addition to α -nitrocoumarins **10**.⁴⁰ The latter reaction is depicted in Scheme 5. When 3-nitrocoumarins **10** were subjected to conjugate addition with dialkylzinc reagents using a Cu/L4 complex, the corresponding addition products **11** were accessible in good yields and stereoselectivities (up to 20:1 d.r. and 92% *ee*). The presence of the nitro group is crucial for this reaction to occur, as most likely a conjugate addition to the nitroolefin moiety⁵ takes place. When we studied this particular catalytic system with the unsubstituted coumarin (see Table 1 below), no reaction took place.



Scheme 5 Cu-catalyzed conjugate additions to 3-nitrocoumarins

2 Goal

The aim of this research project was to develop an asymmetric conjugate addition protocol of Grignard reagents to coumarins. It has been shown that the corresponding chiral lactones are versatile chiral building blocks in synthesis. By employing the asymmetric Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition, it would be possible to introduce alkyl chains at the sterogenic center of the coumarin derivatives. These products are not accessible via Rh-catalyzed conjugate additions of boronic acids, since this methodology is limited to arylboronic acids. Furthermore, this new approach would offer a substantial advantage over the related conjugate reduction, since it would be much more modular and thus circumvent the necessity to introduce the substituents at the stereogenic center in earluer stages of the synthesis.

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Catalyst screening and optimization

The low reactivity of coumarin (12) made it necessary to develop a new catalyst system. Our investigation started with the conjugate addition of dialkylzinc reagents to **12** employing phosphoramidite ligands.^{5,17} This catalytic system did not prove to be reactive enough and did not result in any turnover (Table 1, entry 1). When we turned our attention to the conjugate addition reaction with the more reactive Grignard reagents^{2,3} employing Josiphos ligand L1 (compare Scheme 1), full conversion to the desired 1.4-adduct **13a** with 82% ee was observed.⁴¹ when **12** was reacted with ethylmagnesium bromide (Table 1, entry 3). Ligand L6, which had been previously employed in the related 1,6-conjugate addition,⁴² proved to be the ligand of choice to reach high levels of enantiocontrol. At -78 °C, the conjugate addition product **13a** was formed with 96% ee, albeit in a low yield (Table 1, entry 4). Neither Taniaphos (L7) nor the Cu-tolBINAP (L5) catalyst, which had previously been reported for conjugate addition reactions with Grignard reagents,²⁰ could compete with our findings in terms of conversion or enantioselectivity (Table 1. entries 2,8). It appeared that fine-tuning of the electronic properties of the ligand was necessary to obtain the conjugate addition product with high enantioselectivity. To achieve full conversion with L6, higher amounts of Grignard reagent were necessary along with a slightly higher reaction temperature of -72 °C (Table 1. entry 7).⁴³ Furthermore, the catalyst loading could be lowered to 2.5 mol% of Cu without compromising the yield or the enantioselectivity. The absolute configuration of the conjugate addition product 13a was established by comparison of the sign of the optical rotation values to literature sources.^{44,45} All other absolute configurations were assigned in accordance to this compound.



Table 1 Ligand Screening / Optimization^a

Entry	Ligand	Solvent	Temperature	Conversion (yield)	ee ^b
1 ^{<i>c</i>}	L4	toluene	-40 °C	-	-
2 ^{<i>d</i>}	L5	MTBE	-40 °C	Full (55%)	21% (<i>R</i>)
3	L1	MTBE	-78 °C	Full (57%)	82% (<i>R</i>)
4	L6	MTBE	-78 °C	50% (26%)	96% (<i>R</i>)
5	L6	CH_2CI_2	-78 °C	40% (25%)	81% (<i>R</i>)
6 ^{<i>e</i>}	L6	MTBE	-78 °C	80% (62%)	95% (<i>R</i>)
7 ^e	L6	MTBE	-72 °C	Full (92%)	95% (<i>R</i>)
8	L7	MTBE	-78 °C	Traces (-)	-

^a Reaction conditions: CuBr • SMe₂ (0.01 mmol, 5.0 mol%, 2.1 mg) and 5.5 mol% (0.0105 mmol) of the appropriate ligand were dissolved in 5 mL solvent and stirred at RT for 15 min. After cooling to the appropriate temperature, 1.2 eq. of EtMgBr solution (c = 3.0M in Et₂O, 0.24 mmol, 0.08 mL) were added dropwise over 10 min. Then, 1.0 eq. of a coumarin solution (0.20 mmol, 0.029 g) in 2.5 mL solvent was

added dropwise over a period of 1 h. Quenching with 2.0 mL of HCl in Et₂O (2M). ^{*b*} Determined by chiral HPLC. ^c11.0 mol% of ligand, and 5.0 mol% of Cu(OTf)₂ and 2.0 eq. ZnEt₂ were used. ^{*d*} 5.0 mol% Cul were used. ^{*e*} 2.5 eq. EtMgBr were used.

During the catalyst optimization experiments, it was observed that, in contrast to the high conversion, the isolated yields of the desired addition product **13a** was low. It was found that the cause of this problem was the quenching method employed, which led to the unwanted transformation of the intermediate magnesium enolate to a side product. The standard quenching protocol, by adding methanol at low temperatures (usually -78 °C) followed by warming to room temperature and washing with saturated aq. NH₄Cl solution, led to the formation of considerable amounts of side products, one of which was identified to be ester **15** (Scheme 6). Under those conditions, varying amounts of the ring-opened ester **15** were isolated next to the desired product **13a**. To overcome this problem, a different procedure for quenching the reaction had to be devised. When the reaction was quenched with methanol and stirred at room temperature longer than 1 hour before the wash/extraction with NH₄Cl was carried out, full conversion to ester **15** was found. However, the enantiomeric excess of the product remained the same (97% ee).



Scheme 6 Nucleophilic ring opening of enolate 14 during quenching

This reaction can be explained as follows: The intermediate magnesium enolate **14** and/or the excess of Grignard reagent in solution leads to deprotonation of methanol to form methoxide, which acts as a nucleophile to faciliate the ring opening of lactone **13a** to give ester **15** (Scheme 7). To prevent the subsequent ring-opening during workup, the reaction could simply been quenched by addition of HCI solution (2M) in Et_2O at low temperatures followed by the usual extraction/workup protocol. However, it was found that this side reaction could be exploited to develop a sequential conjugate addition/nucleophilic ring opening for the synthesis of chiral esters and amides (*vide infra*).



Scheme 7 Plausible mechanism for the formation of ester 15

3.2 Scope of Grignard reagents

With the optimised conditions in hand, we set off to investigate the scope of the reaction. A variety of alkyl Grignard reagents are compatible with this transformation (Table 2). Similar trends in reactivity to our previously reported conditions with ferrocenyl-based ligands were observed, 21-23 which implied high catalyst control of the envisaged transformation. There is a preference for linear unfunctionalized alkyl Grignard reagents, which could be transformed to chiral lactones 13 in high yields and enantioselectivites reaching 99% ee (Table 2, entries 1,3,5-8). Use of the relatively unreactive methylmagnesium bromide gave no conjugate addition product. As previously observed, α-branched reagents such as isopropylmagnesium bromide gave low enantioselectivity for 13d, whereas the β-branched reagent was smoothly incorporated into the desired chiral products 13e with high ee (Table 2, entries 4.5). One key feature of the catalyst is the fact that it tolerates functionalized Grignard reagents; an important advantage with foresight to possible synthetic applications of this method. However, slightly higher catalyst loadings were necessary to achieve acceptable results in terms of yields. Butenylsubstituted 13f as well as halogenated products 13h were accessible with excellent enantioselectivities when a higher catalyst loading was employed (Table 2, entries 6.8). The attempt to employ aryl Grignard reagents such as phenylmagnesium bromide gave only trace amounts of the desired product (Table 2, entry 9).

Table 2 Scope of Grignard reagents^a



^{*a*} For reaction conditions, see experimental section. ^{*b*} Isolated yields. ^{*c*} Determined by chiral HPLC. ^{*d*} 5.0 mol% CuBr • SMe₂ and 5.5 mol% L6 were used. ^{*e*} The product was isolated as a mixture with traces of the dehalogenated product.

From Table 2 can be seen that higher catalyst loadings were necessary to achieve acceptable yields with functionalized Grignard reagents (Table 2, entries 6-8). To probe whether the conversion and thus the isolated yield could be improved by raising the temperature, a series of experiments with varying temperatures were carried out (Table 3). Coumarin (**12**) was reacted under optimized catalyst loading and amount of Grignard reagent with phenylethylmagnesium bromide. At -78 °C,

13g was formed with 94% ee, however turnover was low (Table 3, entry 1). When the temperature was raised slightly to -72 °C, a remarkable improvement in conversion was observed, and **13g** was isolated in 73% yield with the same ee (Table 3, entry 2). Raising the temperature even further led to full conversion to **13g** but this improvement in yield was accompanied by a decrease of enantioselectivity (Table 3, entry 3), thus all reactions with various Grignard reagents were carried out at -72 °C, which seemed to be acceptable in terms of enantioselectivity and yield.

Table 3 Temperature dependence of conjugate addition

	2.50 mol% 0 3.00 m 3.00 eq. PhC	Ph	
	MTBE,		
10			11g
Entry	Temp	Conversion	ee
1	-78 °C	~ 40% (TLC)	94%
2	-72 °C	~ 90% (TLC) ^a	94%
3	-60 °C	Full	80%

^a73% isolated yield.

3.3 Coumarin Scope

Subsequently, the scope of our new catalytic transformation with regard to substituted coumarins **16** was investigated (Table 4). Methyl substituents in positions 6 and 7 were readily tolerated as the desired conjugate addition products could be isolated with very good yields and enantioselectivities (Table 4, entries 1,2). Furthermore, halogen substituents are tolerated and give addition products **17c** and **17d** with similarly good results (Table 4, entries 3,4). Dimethoxycoumarins **16e** and **16f** could also be converted to the corresponding conjugate addition products, albeit with lower yield and enantioselectivity (Table 4, entries 5,6). This marks a limitation of this transformation. Two electron-donating groups on the aromatic ring result in a lower reactivity to conjugate addition reactions compared to coumarin itself. The lower enantioselectivity of **17f** compared to **17e** could be

explained by the fact that the methoxy-substituent in the 5-position of 16f interferes with the Cu-catalyst. To overcome this problem the conjugate addition was attempted with 6.7-dihydroxy coumarin 16h. A higher amount of Grignard reagent was employed, but the reaction did not yield the desired product (Table 4, entry 8), possibly due to strong coordination of the dioxycoumarin dianion to the Cu catalyst through a chelating effect, and subsequent deactivation of the catalyst. This problem could be overcome in the future by preparing the corresponding coumarin boronate.⁴⁶ followed by the conjugate addition, as the conjugate addition reaction is known to tolerate boron-based functional groups.⁴⁷ The strongly electronwithdrawing nitro-group of 16g (Table 4, entry 7) is not tolerated due to fast decomposition of the starting material under the reaction conditions.

Table 4 Scope of coumarins^a



16a-h

Entry	Coumarin 3	Product	Yield ^b	ee ^c
1	Me	17a	92%	94%
2	Me	17b	93%	97%
3		17c	80%	95%
4	Br	17d	86%	96%
5 ^{<i>d</i>}	MeO MeO	17e	55%	64%
6 ^{<i>d</i>}	MeO O O Me	17f	66%	48%

Entry	Coumarin 3	Product	Yield ^b	ee ^c
7 ^{<i>d</i>}	O ₂ N C OFO	17g	traces	-
8 ^e	HOLOCO	17h	-	-

^{*a*} For reaction conditions, see experimental section. ^{*b*} Isolated yields. ^{*c*} Determined by chiral HPLC. ^{*d*} 5.0 mol% CuBr • SMe₂ and 5.5 mol% **L6** were used. ^{*e*} 5.0 eq. of EtMgBr were used.

3.4 Synthesis of coumarins

The two 6-halosubstituted coumarins 16c and 16d were not commercially available, and were therefore synthesized. The synthesis was carried out according to а modified literature procedure for а tandem phenol ether deprotection/lactonization reaction (Scheme 8).48 Starting from the commercially available salicylaldehydes 18, O-methylation with Mel and a subsequent Wittig reaction yielded α,β -unsaturated esters **20** in very good yields. It was reported⁴⁸ that one equivalent of BBr₃ and refluxing CHCl₃ was sufficient to facilitate the lactone formation, however, in our hands, the reaction proceeded smoothly only with 2.0 equivalents of BBr₃ in refluxing toluene to give the desired halocoumarins 21 in good yields.



Scheme 8 Synthesis of 6-halocoumarins

3.5 Trapping of intermediates / nucleophilic ring opening

One of the major advantages of the conjugate addition reaction to coumarins was discovered during the course of this study: The intermediate chiral magnesium

enolate **14** is a highly versatile chiral building block and can be converted *in situ* to a variety of important chiral products. The absence of a fully conjugated enone results in a higher reactivity of intermediate **14**, which can be exploited by reactions with nucleophiles to invoke a ring-opening, as well as electrophiles to trap the enolate. When **14** was quenched with ethanol at -72 °C and then warmed up to room temperature, the resulting chiral ester **22** was isolated in very good yields without compromising the stereogenic center (Scheme 9). It is important to note that *ortho*-phenol esters like **22** were previously not accessible via the conjugate addition methodology,^{2-4,21-23} rendering this transformation a valuable addition to the present conjugate addition protocols.



Scheme 9 Synthesis of chiral ortho-phenolic ester 22

By intercepting the chiral magnesium enolate **14** with an excess of propylamine, amide **24** could be obtained in good yield (Scheme 10). This result marks the first formal catalytic asymmetric conjugate addition to amides, a reaction pathway that was previously elusive, since α , β -unsaturated amides are not known to be susceptible to catalytic asymmetric conjugate additions with Cu-catalysts.

It is known in literature that the enolates of conjugate addition reactions can be trapped with a variety of electrophiles.^{5,18,49,50} Along those lines, enolate **14** could be trapped with benzaldehyde to give the corresponding aldol product **23** with three contiguous stereocenters in good yields. Two diastereomers of **23** could be detected, (in a ratio 3:1) which were attributed to an incomplete stereoinduction at the exocyclic stereocenter formed, *i.e.* the benzylic alcohol. For the relative configuration of the first two stereocenters formed, it is expected with inference to related reactions in literature^{17,18,49,51-53} that those will be formed with *trans* configuration.



Scheme 10 Trapping / ring opening reactions of enolate 14

4 Conclusion and Future Prospects

To conclude, we have developed a new, highly selective Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition of Grignard reagents to coumarins. The corresponding chiral products are available with up to excellent enantioselectivities. Furthermore, we have demonstrated that the corresponding enolate is a highly versatile starting point for the synthesis of a variety of chiral products such as esters and amides which were previously not readily available.

The presented findings on the asymmetric conjugate additions to coumarins could lead to some further research: first of all, the generality of the sequential conjugate addition/amide formation could be investigated. Since an asymmetric conjugate addition protocol to amides is elusive, this could be a viable pathway towards β -chiral amides (Scheme 11). Esters **25** could be converted to amides **27** in a one-pot procedure via their corresponding enolates **26**.



Scheme 11 Proposed synthesis of chiral amides

Secondly, the conjugate addition to 2H-pyranone **28** could be studied. This would be the extension of the conjugate addition reaction to coumarins, except that the aromatic ring of coumarin would be replaced by just a double bond. This could open a variety of interesting routes towards chiral products **31** and **32** among others, since pyranone adduct **29** could be transformed in various ways to give chiral multifunctional building blocks (Scheme 12). Another interesting question would arise if both regio- and enantioselective 1,4- and 1,6-conjugate additions are possible on pyranone to give **29** or **30**. Both the new 1,4 conjugate addition to coumarin as well as the known 1,6 addition to enoates⁴² use the same catalytic system, namely reverse Josiphos (**L6**), so it would be interesting to see whether there would be a selectivity towards either one of the products. Furthermore, this experiment could give important insight to the mechanism of the conjugate addition reaction, since 1,6-addition reactions to cyclic systems have not yet been investigated and it would be interesting to determine if the catalyst can compete with such a variety of possible coordinating groups in the vicinity of the catalyst.



Scheme 12 Suggested conjugate addition to pyranone

Finally, it could be investigated if the ring-opened esters such as **22** could undergo oxidative ring closing after conversion to their corresponding ester-enolates **33**, a reaction that has been developed in our group (Scheme 13).⁵⁴ This would yield ketones with an α -cyclopropyl moiety **34**.



Scheme 13 Suggested synthesis of α -cyclopropyl ketones

5 Experimental section

General

Chromatography: Merck silica gel type 9385 230-400 mesh, TLC: Merck silica gel 60,0.25 mm. Components were visualized by UV and cerium/molybdenum staining. Progress and conversion of the reaction were determined by GC-MS (GC, HP6890: MS HP5973) with an HP1 or HP5 column (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA). Mass spectra were recorded on a AEI-MS-902 mass spectrometer (EI⁺) or a LTQ Orbitrap XL (ESI⁺). ¹H, ¹⁹F and ¹³C NMR were recorded on a Varian AMX400 (400 and 100.59 MHz, respectively), a Varian VXR300 (300 and 75 MHz, respectively) or a Varian Gemini 200, using CDCI3 as solvent. Chemical shift values are reported in ppm with the solvent resonance as the internal standard (CHCI₃: δ 7.26 for ¹H, δ 77.0 for ¹³C). Data are reported as follows: chemical shifts, multiplicity (s = singlet, d = doublet, t = triplet, q = quartet, br = broad, m = multiplet), coupling constants (Hz), and integration. Optical rotations were

measured on a Schmidt + Haensch polarimeter (Polartronic MH8) with a 10 cm cell (c given in g/100 mL). Enantiomeric excesses (ee values) were determined by HPLC analysis using a Shimadzu LC-10ADVP HPLC equipped with a Shimadzu SPD-M10AVP diode array detector and chiral columns as indicated. Ees were determined by comparison of the racemic mixture with the corresponding chiral compounds or the mixtures of both R and S enantiomers. All reactions were carried out under a nitrogen atmosphere using oven dried glassware and using standard Schlenk techniques. CH₂Cl₂ was dried and distilled over calcium hydride, THF and Et₂O were dried and distilled over Na/benzophenone. Toluene was dried and distilled over Na. MTBE was dried and distilled over CaH₂. CuBr•SMe₂ was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, and used without further purification. Grignard reagents were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (MeMgBr, EtMgBr, n-HexMgBr, i-BuMgBr), all other Grignard reagents were prepared from the corresponding bromides with Mg in Et₂O. All Grignard reagents were titrated using s-BuOH and catalytic amounts of 1,10-phenanthroline before use. L4 was prepared according to literature,⁵⁵ L5-L7 were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich.

General procedure for the methylation of salicylic aldehydes

Salicylic aldehyde (1.0 eq.) was dissolved in DMF (Volume: 100 mL/10 mmol) and the solution was cooled to 0 °C. Then, 1.0 eq. sodium hydride (as 60% suspension in mineral oil) was added slowly and the reaction was stirred for 15 min at 0 °C (or until gas evolution ceased). Then, 2.0 eq. methyl iodide was added dropwise, and the reaction mixture was allowed to warm to 21 °C. When TLC showed full consumption of the starting material, the reaction was quenched by addition of water (100 mL/10 mmol). The mixture was washed with water and brine (50 mL / 10 mmol each), extracted with EtOAc (2x 50 mL / 10 mmol) and dried over MgSO₄. Removal of all volatiles under reduced pressure yielded the crude product, which was used without further purification.

5-Chloro-2-methoxybenzaldehyde (19a)

Following the general procedure for methylation of salicylic aldehydes, 2.167 g 5-chloro-2-methoxybenzaldehyde **19a** (12.70 mmol, 99 % yield) was isolated as a

pale yellow solid from the reaction of 5-chloro-2hydroxybenzaldehyde (2.00 g, 12.77 mmol) with methyl iodide (1.597 ml, 25.5 mmol). ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 10.30 (s, 1H), 7.64 (s, 1H), 7.46 – 7.34 (m, 1H), 6.87 (d, *J* = 8.8 Hz, 1H), 3.84 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 188.12, 160.07, 135.16, 127.53, 126.00, 125.37, 113.18, 55.79. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₈H₈ClO₂ [M+H⁺]:

171.0207, found: 171.0204.

19a

O

5-Bromo-2-methoxybenzaldehyde (19b)

Following the general procedure for methylation of salicylic aldehydes, 2.097 g 5-



19b

bromo-2-methoxybenzaldehyde **19b** (9,75 mmol, 98 % yield) was isolated as a pale yellow solid from the reaction of 5bromo-2-hydroxybenzaldehyde (2.00 g, 9.95 mmol) with methyl iodide (1.244 ml, 19.90 mmol). ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 10.31 (s, 1H), 7.83 (d, J = 2.6 Hz, 1H), 7.56 (dd, J = 8.9, 2.6Hz, 1H), 6.84 (d, J = 8.9 Hz, 1H), 3.86 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 188.13. 160.57. 138.12. 130.70. 125.83.

113.63, 113.19, 55.82. HRMS: (ESI^{+}) calculated for $C_8H_8BrO_2$ [M+H⁺]: 214.9702, found: 214.9696.

General procedure for the Wittig reaction of methyl 2-(triphenylphosphoranylidene)acetate with salicylic aldehydes

Salicylic aldehyde **19** (1.0 eq.) was dissolved in toluene (Volume: 50 mL/ 10 mmol), and 1.2 eq. methyl 2-(triphenylphosphoranylidene)acetate was added to the mixture. This was heated to 110 °C until TLC showed full conversion of the starting material. After cooling, diethylether (50 mL/10 mmol) was added to precipitate any triphenylphosphine oxide, which was subsequently filtered off. All volatiles were removed under reduced pressure to give the crude product **20**, which was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 8:2) to yield the desired products as a mixture of E/Z isomers.

Methyl 3-(5-chloro-2-methoxyphenyl)acrylate (20a)

Following the general procedure for the Wittig reaction with salicylic aldehydes, 2.384 g methyl 3-(5-chloro-2-methoxyphenyl)acrylate



2.384 g methyl 3-(5-chloro-2-methoxyphenyl)acrylate **20a** (10.52 mmol, 90 % yield) was isolated as a white solid from the reaction of 5-chloro-2methoxybenzaldehyde **19a** (2.00 g, 11.72 mmol) with methyl 2-(triphenylphosphoranylidene)acetate (4.70 g,

20a 14.07 mmol). ($R_f = 0.80$ in pentane/EtOAc 8:2). ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.86 (d, J = 16.2 Hz, 1H), 7.41 (d, J = 2.6 Hz, 1H), 7.23 (dd, J = 8.9, 2.6 Hz, 1H), 6.79 (d, J = 8.8 Hz, 1H), 6.45 (d, J = 16.2 Hz, 1H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 3.77 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 167.25, 156.61, 138.50, 130.70, 129.68, 127.97, 125.57, 124.64, 119.30, 112.28, 55.62, 51.50. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₁H₁₂ClO₃ [M+H⁺]: 227.0470, found: 227.0465.

Methyl 3-(5-bromo-2-methoxyphenyl)acrylate (20b)



Following the general procedure for the Wittig reaction with salicylic aldehydes, 1.977 g methyl 3-(5-bromo-2-methoxyphenyl)acrylate **20b** (7.29 mmol, 78 % yield)

was isolated as a white solid from the reaction of 5-bromo-2-methoxybenzaldehyde 19b (2.00 g, 9.30 mmol) with methyl 2-(triphenylphosphoranylidene)acetate (3.73 g, 11.16 mmol). (R_f = 0.65 in pentane/EtOAc 8:2). ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.87 (d, J = 16.2 Hz, 1H), 7.57 (d, J = 2.5 Hz, 1H), 7.39 (dd, J = 8.8, 2.5 Hz, 1H), 6.76 (d, J = 8.8 Hz, 1H), 6.46 (d, J = 16.2 Hz, 1H), 3.83 (s, 3H), 3.78 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 167.32, 157.14, 138.52, 138.49, 133.68, 130.99, 125.20, 119.39, 112.85, 112.78, 55.66, 51.61. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₁H₁₂BrO₃ [M+H⁺]: 270.9964, found: 270.9969.

General procedure for the synthesis of coumarin derivatives 21 from methyl acrylates 20

According to a modified literature procedure,⁴⁸ 1.0 eq. methyl acrylate 20 was dissolved in toluene (Volume: 50 mL/ 5 mmol) and cooled to 0 °C. Then, 2.0 eq. boron tribromide was added dropwise. The reaction was heated to 110 °C for 4h. After cooling to room temperature, water (50 mL / 5 mmol) was added and the aqueous layer was extracted twice with CHCl₃ (30 mL / 5 mmol). After drying over MgSO₄ and removal of all volatiles under reduced pressure, the crude mixture was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 8:2) to yield the desired coumarin 21.

6-Chloro-2H-chromen-2-one (21a)

Following the general procedure for the synthesis of coumarin derivatives from



esters, 0.613 g 6-chloro-2H-chromen-2-one 21a (3.40 mmol, 77 % yield) was isolated as a pale yellow solid from the reaction of methyl 3-(5-chloro-2-methoxyphenyl)acrylate 20a (1.00 g, 4.41 mmol) with boron tribromide (0.834 ml, 8.82 mmol). ($R_f = 0.75$ in pentane/EtOAc 8:2). ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.63 (d, J = 9.6 Hz, 1H), 7.44 (dt, J = 4.9, 2.3

Hz, 2H), 7.30 – 7.18 (m, 1H), 6.44 (d, J = 9.6 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 159.94, 152.32, 142.15, 131.65, 129.58, 127.05, 119.72, 118.20, 117.74. HRMS: (ESI^{+}) calculated for C₉H₆ClO₂ [M+H⁺]: 181.0051, found: 181.0051.

6-Bromo-2H-chromen-2-one (21b)

Following the general procedure for the synthesis of coumarin derivatives from



21b

esters, 0.522 g 6-bromo-2H-chromen-2-one 21b (2.32 mmol, 63 % yield) was isolated as an orange solid from the reaction of methyl 3-(5-bromo-2-methoxyphenyl)acrylate 20b (1.00 g, 3.69 mmol) with boron tribromide (0.697 ml, 7.38 mmol). ($R_f = 0.90$ in pentane/EtOAc 8:2). ¹H NMR: (201 **21b** MHz, $CDCI_3$) δ 7.68 - 7.55 (m, 3H), 7.29 - 7.15 (m, 1H), 6.45 (d, J = 9.6 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCI₃) δ 164.90, 159.88, 142.04,

134.54, 130.13, 120.28, 118.60, 117.83, 116.94. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for $C_9H_6BrO_2$ [M+H⁺]: 224.9546, found: 224.9548.

General procedure for the asymmetric Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition of Grignard reagents to coumarins

5.0 mol % Copper bromide dimethyl sulfide complex and 5.5 mol % ($R.S_{Fo}$)-reverse Josiphos were dissolved in MTBE (Volume: 15 mL / 1 mmol substrate) and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 15 min. The mixture was then cooled to -72 °C and subsequently 2.5 eq. of the appropriate Grignard reagent were added. The mixture was stirred for an additional 10 min at -72 °C. A solution of 1.0 eq. of the appropriate coumarin in MTBE (Volume: 5 mL / 1 mmol) was added dropwise over a period of 1 h. The reaction mixture was stirred until TLC showed full conversion. The reaction was guenched by adding HCl solution in Et₂O (2.0 mL / 1 mmol substrate) at -72 °C. Saturated aqueous NH₄CI solution (20 mL / 1 mmol) was added at low temperature and the reaction mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature. The mixture was diluted with Et₂O (30 mL / 1 mmol). After washing two times with aqueous saturated NH₄Cl solution (2x 50 mL / 1 mmol) and reextraction of the aqueous layer with Et₂O (20 mL / 1 mmol), the combined organic layers were dried over MgSO₄. All volatiles were removed under reduced pressure to give the crude product, which was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, EtOAc/Pentane) to yield the desired compounds.

General procedure for the synthesis of racemic products of the Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition to coumarins

The appropriate coumarin (1.0 eq., 0.485 mmol) and 30.0 mol % Copper bromide dimethyl sulfide complex (0.030 g, 0.145 mmol) and 60.0 mol % triphenylphosphine (0.076 g, 0.291 mmol) were dissolved in MTBE (Volume: 15 ml), cooled to -40 °C and the mixture was stirred for 10 min. The appropriate Grignard reagent (2.5 eq., 1.212 mmol) was added dropwise. The reaction mixture was stirred overnight at -40 °C. The reaction was quenched by addition of 2.0 mL HCl in Et₂O (2N), before 20 mL saturated aqueous NH₄Cl solution was added at low temperature and the reaction mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature. The mixture was diluted with Et₂O (30 mL). After washing two times with aqueous saturated NH₄Cl solution (2x 50 mL) and reextraction of the aqueous layer with Et₂O (20 mL), the combined organic layers were dried over MgSO₄. All volatiles were removed under reduced pressure to give the crude product, which was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, EtOAc/Pentane) to yield the desired compounds.

(R)-4-Ethylchroman-2-one (13a)

Following the general procedure for the asymmetric Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition, 0.135 g (R)-4-ethylchroman-2-one **13a** (0.768 mmol, 96% yield) was isolated as a pale yellow oil from the reaction of 2H-chromen-2-one **12** (0.117 g, 0.80 mmol) with ethylmagnesium bromide solution (3.0 molar in Et₂O) (0.67 ml, 2.00 mmol). The

product was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1, R_f = 0.68 in pentane/EtOAc 10:1, 95% ee). ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.29 – 7.21 (m, 1H), 7.21 – 7.15 (m, 1H), 7.11 (dd, *J* = 10.7, 4.2 Hz, 1H), 7.04 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 2.96 – 2.86 (m, 1H), 2.78 (qd, *J* = 15.8, 4.9 Hz, 2H), 1.64 (tdd, *J* = 14.0, 11.3, 6.2 Hz, 3H), 0.95 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.48, 151.22, 128.17, 127.84, 126.42, 124.20, 117.00, 36.52, 34.35, 27.50, 11.11. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₁H₁₂O₂Na [M+Na⁺]: 199.0730, found: 199.0730. [α]_p²⁰ = 53.6 (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃), [α]_p²⁰ = 114.6 (c = 1.0 in PhH). The two [α]_p²⁰ values have been used for determination of the absolute configuration by comparison with literature.^{44,45} ee determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak AD: n-heptane/2-propanol 95:5, 40 °C isotherm, 220 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 8.3 min (major), 8.9 min (minor).

(R)-4-Hexylchroman-2-one (13c)

Following the general procedure for the asymmetric Cu-catalyzed conjugate



13c

addition, 0.177 g (*R*)-4-hexylchroman-2-one **13c** (0.760 mmol, 95 % yield) was isolated as a pale yellow solid from the reaction of 2H-chromen-2-one **12** (0.117 g, 0.80 mmol) with hexylmagnesium bromide solution (2.0 molar in Et₂O) (1.00 ml, 2.00 mmol). The desired product was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1, R_f = 0.78 in pentane/EtOAc 10:1, 99% ee). ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.30 – 6.95 (m, 4H), 3.04 – 2.87 (m, 1H), 2.81 – 2.61 (m, 2H), 1.66 –

1.45 (m, 2H), 1.44 – 1.02 (m, 8H), 0.84 (t, J = 6.4 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.26, 151.09, 127.99, 127.65, 126.72, 124.10, 116.85, 34.94, 34.54, 34.47, 31.47, 28.94, 26.44, 22.41, 13.88. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₅H₂₀O₂Na [M+Na⁺]: 255.1356, found: 255.1356. [α]₀²⁰ = 47.6 (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃). ee determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak OB-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 95:5, 40 °C isotherm, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 10.5 min (minor), 12.4 min (major).

(S)-4-Isopropylchroman-2-one (13d)



Following the general procedure for the asymmetric Cucatalyzed conjugate addition, 0.145 g (*S*)-4-isopropylchroman-2-one **13d** (0.760 mmol, 95 % yield) was isolated as a pale yellow oil from the reaction of 2H-chromen-2-one **12** (0.117 g, 0.80 mmol) with isopropylmagnesium bromide solution (1.5 molar in Et₂O) (1.33 ml, 2.00 mmol). The desired product was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1,

13d purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1, R_f = 0.90 in pentane/EtOAc 10:1, 63% ee). ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.27 – 7.19 (m, 1H), 7.14 (dd, *J* = 7.5, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 7.11 – 7.04 (m, 1H), 7.01 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 2.85 (dd, *J* = 10.7, 8.9 Hz, 1H), 2.78 – 2.63 (m, 2H), 1.82 (dd, *J* = 13.5, 6.7 Hz, 1H), 0.93 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H), 0.88 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.65, 151.46, 128.84, 128.09, 125.30, 123.87, 116.81, 41.61, 32.05, 31.96, 20.00, 19.00. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for $C_{12}H_{15}O_2$ [M+H⁺]: 191.1067, found: 191.1066. $[\alpha]_{D}^{20} = 21.6$ (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃) ee determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak OB-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 98:2, 40 °C isotherm, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 15.5 min (major), 17.2 min (minor).

(*R*)-4-lsobutylchroman-2-one (13e)

Following the general procedure for the asymmetric Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition, 0.118 g (R)-4-isobutylchroman-2-one **13e** (0.576 mmol, 72 % yield) was



isolated as a pale yellow solid from the reaction of 2H-chromen-2-one **12** (0.117 g, 0.80 mmol) with isobutylmagnesium bromide solution (2.0 molar in Et₂O) (1.00 ml, 2.00 mmol). The desired product was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1, R_f = 0.78 in pentane/EtOAc 10:1, 93% *ee*). ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.29 – 7.20 (m, 1H), 7.20 – 7.15 (m, 1H), 7.09 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 7.04 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 3.07 (dd, *J* = 5.3, 3.9 Hz, 1H), 2.76 (ddd, *J* = 19.5, 15.8, 4.7 Hz, 2H), 1.63 (dt, *J* = 13.4, 6.7 Hz, 1H), 1.42 (dtd, *J* = 21.2, 13.9, 7.5 Hz,

2H), 0.98 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 3H), 0.89 (d, J = 6.6 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.34, 151.20, 128.12, 127.48, 127.17, 124.25, 117.09, 43.62, 34.69, 32.76, 24.84, 22.59, 22.22. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₃H₁₇O₂ [M+H⁺]: 205.1223, found: 205.1223. [α]_p²⁰ = 72.0 (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃). *ee* determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak OB-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 98:2, 40 °C isotherm, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 13.8 min (major), 15.4 min (minor).

(R)-4-(But-3-enyl)chroman-2-one (13f)

Following the general procedure for the asymmetric Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition, 0.106 g (R)-4-(but-3-en-1-yl)-3,4-dihydronaphthalen-2(1H)-one **13f** (0.528



mmol, 66 % yield) was isolated as a pale yellow oil from the reaction of 2H-chromen-2-one **12** (0.117 g, 0.80 mmol) with butenylmagnesium bromide solution (2.4 molar in Et₂O) (0.84 ml, 2.00 mmol). The desired product was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1, $R_f = 0.85$ in pentane/EtOAc 10:1, 93% *ee*). ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.38 – 6.93 (m, 4H), 5.93 – 5.62 (m, 1H), 5.24 – 4.83 (m, 2H), 3.10 – 2.93 (m, 1H), 2.91 – 2.61 (m, 2H), 2.25 – 1.95 (m, 2H),

1.79 – 1.55 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.20, 151.23, 137.18, 128.27, 127.76, 126.42, 124.26, 117.09, 115.61, 34.57, 34.28, 33.51, 30.54. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for $C_{13}H_{14}O_2Na$ [M+Na⁺]: 225.0886, found: 225.0884. [α]_p²⁰ = 72.6 (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃). ee determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak OD-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 99:1, 40 °C isotherm, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 20.4 min (minor), 21.6 min (major).

(*R*)-4-Phenethylchroman-2-one (13g)

Following the general procedure for the asymmetric Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition, 0.126 g (R)-4-phenethylchroman-2-one 13g (0.499 mmol, 73% yield) was isolated as an orange solid from the reaction of 2H-chromen-2-one 12 (0.117 g, 0.80 mmol) with phenylethylmagnesium bromide solution (1.50 molar in Et₂O) (1.14 ml, 2.00 mmol). The desired product was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1, $R_f = 0.65$ in 13g Ρh pentane/EtOAc 10:1, 94% ee). ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.36 - 7.26 (m, 3H), 7.25 - 7.04 (m, 6H), 3.11 - 2.98 (m, 1H), 2.90 - 2.80 (m, 2H), 2.79 – 2.58 (m. 2H). 2.04 – 1.85 (m. 2H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.06. 151.17. 140.68. 128.39. 128.25. 128.14. 127.68. 126.30. 126.01. 124.23. 117.02. 35.86, 34.48, 34.35, 32.56. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₇H₁₆O₂Na [M+Na⁺]: 275.1043, found: 275.1042. $[\alpha]_{p}^{20} = 57.0$ (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃). *ee* determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak AD: n-heptane/2-propanol 95:5. 40 °C isotherm. 210 nm. flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 8.3 min (minor), 9.0 min (major).

(R)-4-(4-Chlorobutyl)chroman-2-one (13h)

Following the general procedure for the asymmetric Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition, 0.075 g (R)-4-(4-chlorobutyl)chroman-2-one **13h** (0.315 mmol, 46 % yield)



was isolated as a yellow oil from the reaction of 2H-chromen-2one **12** (0.117 g, 0.80 mmol) with (4-chlorobutyl)magnesium bromide solution (2.3 molar in Et₂O) (0.744 ml, 2.00 mmol). The desired product was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1, R_f = 0.65 in pentane/EtOAc 10:1, 98% *ee*). The product contains traces of dehalogenated product. ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.31 – 7.23 (m, 1H), 7.18 (dd, *J* = 7.5, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 7.11 (td, *J* = 7.4, 1.1 Hz, 1H), 7.06 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 3.52 (dt, *J* = 6.5, 5.1 Hz, 2H), 2.99 (dd, *J* = 5.8, 3.8 Hz, 1H), 2.80

(ddd, J = 19.7, 15.9, 4.8 Hz, 2H), 1.77 (ddd, J = 7.7, 6.1, 3.7 Hz, 2H), 1.68 – 1.52 (m, 4H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.20, 151.21, 128.39, 127.79, 126.33, 124.35, 117.18, 44.58, 35.10, 34.75, 33.87, 32.25, 24.05. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₃H₁₆O₂ [M+H⁺]: 239.0833, found: 239.0842. [α]_D²⁰ = 84.6 (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃). *ee* determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak OD-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 98:2, 40 °C isotherm, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 26.0 min (major), 27.0 min (minor).

(*R*)-4-Ethyl-6-methylchroman-2-one (17a)

Following the general procedure for the asymmetric Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition, 0.140 g (*R*)-4-ethyl-6-methylchroman-2-one **17a** (0.736 mmol, 92 % yield)



was isolated as a pale yellow oil from the reaction of 6-methyl-2H-chromen-2-one **16a** (0.128 g, 0.80 mmol) with ethylmagnesium bromide solution (3.0 molar in Et₂O) (0.67 ml, 2.00 mmol). The desired product was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1, R_f = 0.85 in pentane/EtOAc 10:1, 94% ee). ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.09 – 6.85 (m, 3H), 2.90 – 2.78 (m, 1H), 2.77 – 2.61 (m, 2H), 2.30 (s, 3H), 1.70 – 1.44 (m, 2H), 0.93 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.51, 149.05, 133.63, 128.50, 128.15, 126.03, 116.53, 36.42, 34.26, 27.43, 20.59, 11.00. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₂H₁₅O₂ [M+H⁺]: 191.1067, found: 191.1067. [α]_D²⁰ = 19.0 (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃). ee determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak OJ-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 98:2, 40 °C isotherm, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 15.8 min (major), 17.3 min (minor).

(R)-4-Ethyl-7-methylchroman-2-one (17b)

Following the general procedure for the asymmetric Cu-catalyzed conjugate



addition, 0.141 g (R)-4-ethyl-7-methylchroman-2-one **17b** (0.741 mmol, 93 % yield) was isolated as a pale yellow oil from the reaction of 7-methyl-2H-chromen-2-one **16b** (0.128 g, 0.80 mmol) with ethylmagnesium bromide solution (3.0 molar in Et₂O) (0.67 ml, 2.00 mmol). The desired product was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc

10:1, $R_f = 0.70$ in pentane/EtOAc 10:1, 97% ee). ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.04 (d, J = 7.7 Hz, 1H), 6.90 (dd, J = 7.7, 0.8 Hz, 1H), 6.84 (s, 1H), 2.89 – 2.81 (m, 1H), 2.74 (qd, J = 15.7, 4.9 Hz, 2H), 2.31 (s, 3H), 1.59 (qt, J = 13.9, 7.2 Hz, 2H), 0.93 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.54, 151.05, 138.28, 127.47, 124.84, 123.22, 117.30, 36.09, 34.45, 27.50, 20.89, 11.00. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₂H₁₅O₂ [M+H⁺]: 191.1067, found: 191.1062. [α]_D²⁰ = 37.0 (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃). ee determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak OJ-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 98:2, 40 °C isotherm, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 16.9 min (major), 18.2 min (minor).

(R)-6-Chloro-4-ethylchroman-2-one (17c)

Following the general procedure for the asymmetric Cu-catalyzed conjugate



addition, 0.135 g (*R*)-6-chloro-4-ethylchroman-2-one **17c** (0.641 mmol, 80 % yield) was isolated as an orange oil from the reaction of 6-chloro-2H-chromen-2-one **16c** (0.144 g, 0.80 mmol), which was added as a solution in 7 mL MTBE/CH₂Cl₂ (5:2), with ethylmagnesium bromide solution (3.0 molar in Et₂O) (0.67 ml, 2.00 mmol). The desired

product was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1, R_f = 0.55 in pentane/EtOAc 10:1, 95% ee). ¹H NMR: (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.24 – 7.11 (m, 2H), 6.95 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 2.93 – 2.83 (m, 1H), 2.82 – 2.66 (m, 2H), 1.73 – 1.47 (m, 2H), 0.94 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR: (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 167.55, 149.73, 129.16, 128.09, 127.57, 118.27, 97.86, 36.36, 33.81, 27.23, 10.91. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₁H₁₂ClO₂ [M+H⁺]: 211.0520, found: 211.0517. [α]₀²⁰ = 16.8 (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃). ee determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak OB-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 98:2, 40 °C isotherm, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 27.0 min (major), 33.1 min (minor).

(R)-6-Bromo-4-ethylchroman-2-one (17d)

Following the general procedure for the asymmetric Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition, 0.175 g (R)-6-bromo-4-ethylchroman-2-one 17d (0.686 mmol, 86 % yield) was isolated as a yellow oil from the reaction of 6-bromo-2H-chromen-2-one 16d (0.180 g, Br 0.80 mmol), which was added as a solution in 8 mL MTBE/CH₂Cl₂ (5:3), with ethylmagnesium bromide solution (3.0 molar in Et₂O) (0.67 ml, 2.00 mmol). The desired 17d product was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1, R_f = 0.55 in pentane/EtOAc 10:1, 96% ee). ¹H NMR: (300 MHz, $CDCl_3$) δ 7.41 – 7.23 (m, 2H), 6.90 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 2.94 – 2.81 (m, 1H),

2.81 – 2.61 (m, 2H), 1.60 (td, J = 14.5, 7.0 Hz, 2H), 0.94 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 167.44, 150.25, 131.04, 130.48, 128.54, 118.67, 116.68, 36.31, 33.80, 27.26, 10.93. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₁H₁₂BrO₂ [M+H⁺]: 255.0015, found: 255.0010. $[\alpha]_{0}^{20} = 5.40$ (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃). ee determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak OB-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 98:2, 40 °C isotherm, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 24.1 min (major), 28.4 min (minor).

(R)-4-Ethyl-6,7-dimethoxychroman-2-one (17e)



17f

Following the general procedure for the asymmetric Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition, 0.063 g (R)-4-ethyl-6,7-dimethoxychroman-2-one 17e (0.267 mmol, 55 % vield) was isolated as a brown oil from the reaction of 6.7-dimethoxy-2H-chromen-2-one 16e (0.100 g. 0.485 mmol), which was added as a solution in 5.0 mL MTBE/CH₂Cl₂ (1:1), with ethylmagnesium bromide solution (3.0 molar in Et₂O) (0.404 ml, 2.00 mmol). The desired product was purified by column chromatography

 $(SiO_2, pentane/EtOAc 8:2, R_f = 0.50 in pentane/EtOAc 8:2, 64\% ee)$. ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 6.63 (s, 1H), 6.60 (s, 1H), 3.85 (d, J = 3.3 Hz, 6H), 2.88 - 2.63 (m, 3H), 1.60 (dd, J = 13.2, 6.6 Hz, 2H), 0.95 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.56, 148.72, 145.46, 145.00, 117.27, 110.41, 101.28, 56.41, 56.07, 36.34, 34.49, 27.80, 11.12. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₃H₁₇O₄ [M+H⁺]: 237.1121, found: 237.1118. $[\alpha]_{D}^{20} = 20.8$ (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃). ee determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak AD-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 98:2, 40 °C isotherm, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 32.0 min (major), 44.1 min (minor).

(R)-4-Ethyl-5,7-dimethoxychroman-2-one (17f)

Following the general procedure for the asymmetric Cu-catalyzed conjugate addition, 0.125 g (R)-4-ethyl-5,7-dimethoxychroman-2-one 17f (0.528 mmol. 66 % vield) was isolated as a pale vellow solid from the reaction .0__0 MeO. of 5,7-dimethoxy-2H-chromen-2-one 16f (0.165 g, 0.80 mmol), which was added as a solution in 5.0 mL ÓMe

MTBE/CH₂Cl₂ (1:1), with ethylmagnesium bromide solution (3.0 M in Et₂O) (0.667 ml, 2.00 mmol). The desired product was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 8:2, R_f = 0.75 in pentane/EtOAc 8:2, 48% ee). ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 6.22 (dd, *J* = 7.8, 2.3 Hz, 2H), 3.78 (d, *J* = 6.2 Hz, 6H), 3.30 – 3.08 (m, 1H), 2.71 (qd, *J* = 15.9, 4.1 Hz, 2H), 1.66 – 1.33 (m, 2H), 0.89 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.64, 159.96, 157.28, 152.52, 107.63, 94.69, 93.82, 55.53, 55.42, 33.82, 30.22, 27.30, 11.03. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₃H₁₇O₄ [M+H⁺]: 237.1121, found: 237.1121. [α]_D²⁰ = 10.6 (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃). ee determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak OJ-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 95:5, 40 °C isotherm, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 24.0 min (major), 27.4 min (minor).

(R)-Ethyl 3-(2-hydroxyphenyl)pentanoate (22)

In a flame-dried Schlenk tube, 2.5 mol% copper bromide dimethyl sulfide complex (4.11 mg, 0.02 mmol) and 3.0 mol% reverse Josiphos (0.014 g, 0.024 mmol) were



dissolved in MTBE (Volume: 10.0 ml) and stirred at room temperature for 15 min. Then, the mixture was cooled to -72 °C and 2.5 eq. ethylmagnesium bromide solution (c = 3.0 M in Et₂O, 0.80 ml, 2.4 mmol) were added and the mixture stirred for 10 more min. Then, a solution of 1.0 eq. 2H-chromen-2-one **12** (0.117 g, 0.80 mmol) in MTBE (Volume: 5.0 ml) was added dropwise over a period of 1 h. The reaction was stirred until TLC showed full

conversion to the 1,4-addition product (~2 h). Then, 5.0 eg. ethanol (0.234 ml, 4.00 mmol) were added and the reaction mixture was warmed to room temperature and stirred at that temperature for 5 h. Then, the reaction was guenched by adding saturated ag. NH₄Cl solution (50 mL) and the reaction mixture was diluted with Et₂O (50 mL). After separation of the organic phase it was dried over MgSO₄ and all volatiles were removed under reduced pressure to give the crude product as a vellow oil. This was further purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 10:1, $R_f = 0.55$ in pentane/EtOAc 10:1, 95% ee) to yield (R)-ethyl-3-(2-hydroxyphenyl)pentanoate 22 (0.154 g, 0.693 mmol, 87 %) as a colourless oil. ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.19 – 6.98 (m, 3H), 6.96 – 6.82 (m, 2H), 4.30 – 3.91 (m, 2H), 3.36 (dtd, J = 13.1, 7.6, 5.3 Hz, 1H), 2.70 (gd, J = 16.4, 7.3 Hz, 2H), 1.89 – 1.59 (m, 2H), 1.18 (t, J = 7.22 Hz, 3H), 0.84 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 174.74, 154.14, 130.49, 127.22, 120.78, 117.03, 60.86, 40.90, 35.98, 27.77, 13.92, 12.02. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₃H₁₈O₃Na [M+Na⁺]: 245.1148, found: 245.1149. $[\alpha]_{D}^{20} = -2.0$ (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃). ee determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak AD-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 99:1, 40 °C isotherm, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 76.2 min (minor), 80.0 min (major).

(3S,4R)-4-Ethyl-3-(hydroxy(phenyl)methyl)chroman-2-one (23)

In a flame-dried Schlenk tube, 2.5 mol% copper bromide dimethyl sulfide complex



(4.11 mg, 0.02 mmol) and 3.0 mol% reverse Josiphos (0.014 g, 0.024 mmol) were dissolved in MTBE (Volume: 10.0 ml) and stirred at room temperature for 15 min. Then, the mixture was cooled to -72 °C and 2.5 eq. ethylmagnesium bromide solution (c = 3.0 M in Et₂O, 0.80 ml, 2.4 mmol) were added and the mixture stirred for 10 more min. Then, a solution of 1.0 eq. 2H-chromen-2-one **12** (0.117 g, 0.80 mmol) in MTBE (Volume: 5.0 ml) was added dropwise over a period of 1 h. The reaction was stirred until TLC showed full conversion to the 1.4-addition product (~2 h). Then, 5.0 eq.

benzaldehyde (0.405 ml, 4.00 mmol) were added and the reaction mixture was warmed to room temperature and stirred at that temperature for 4 h. Next, the reaction was guenched by adding saturated ag. NH₄Cl solution (50 mL) and the reaction mixture was diluted with Et₂O (50 mL). After separation of the organic phase it was dried over MgSO₄ and all volatiles were removed under reduced pressure to give the crude product as a yellow oil. This was further purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, toluene/MeOH 30:1, R_f = 0.45 (major), 0.35 (minor) in toluene/MeOH 30:1) to yield (3S,4R)-4-ethyl-3-(hydroxy(phenyl)methyl)chroman-2-one 23 (0.176 g, 0.624 mmol, 78 %) as a colourless oil. Compound 23 was isolated as a mixture of 2 diastereomers (ratio 3:1), signals are assigned where resolved. ¹H NMR: (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.48 – 6.92 (m, 9H, major + minor), 4.59 (d, J = 9.4 Hz, 1H, major), 4.43 (d, J = 10.0 Hz, 1H, minor), 3.27 - 3.03 (m, 2H, major + minor), 2.73 (s (br), 1H, major + minor), 2.24 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 1H, minor), 1.49 (gd, J = 14.4, 7.3 Hz, 2H, major + minor), 0.90 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 3H, major), 0.77 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 3H, minor). ¹³C NMR: (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.46 (minor), 167.92 (major), 150.48 (minor), 150.45 (major), 140.77 (major), 140.47 (minor), 129.22, 128.87 (minor), 128.83 (major), 128.61 (major), 128.55 (minor), 128.36, 128.31 (minor), 128.26 (major), 128.09, 127.38, 126.80, 126.34, 125.89, 124.87, 124.32 (minor), 124.26 (major), 116.64 (minor), 116.34 (major), 72.58 (major), 64.91 (minor), 53.93 (major), 53.29 (minor), 39.70 (minor), 39.07 (major), 28.59 (major), 28.18 (minor), 11.07 (major), 10.87 (minor). HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for $C_{18}H_{18}O_3Na [M+Na^+]$: 305.1148, found: 305.1149. $[\alpha]_{D}^{20} = 72.4$ (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃).

(R)-3-(2-Hydroxyphenyl)-N-propylpentanamide (24)

In a flame-dried Schlenk tube, 2.5 mol% copper bromide dimethyl sulfide complex



(4.11 mg, 0.02 mmol) and 3.0 mol% reverse Josiphos (0.014 g, 0.024 mmol) were dissolved in MTBE (Volume: 10.0 ml) and stirred at room temperature for 15 min. Then, the mixture was cooled to -72 °C and 2.5 eq. ethylmagnesium bromide solution (c = 3.0 m in

Et₂O, 0.80 ml, 2.4 mmol) were added and the mixture stirred for 10 more min. Then, a solution of 1.0 eq. 2H-chromen-2-one 12 (0.117 q. 0.80 mmol) in MTBE (Volume: 5.0 ml) was added dropwise over a period of 1 h. The reaction was stirred until TLC showed full conversion to the 1,4-addition product (~2 h). Then, 5.0 eq. propan-1-amine (0.33 ml, 4.00 mmol) were added and the reaction mixture was warmed to room temperature and stirred at that temperature for 16 h. Then, the reaction was guenched by adding saturated ag. NH₄CI solution (50 mL) and the reaction mixture was diluted with Et₂O (50 mL). After separation of the organic phase it was dried over MgSO₄ and all volatiles were removed under reduced pressure to give the crude product as a yellow oil. This was further purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane/EtOAc 1:1, R_f = 0.60 in pentane/EtOAc 1:1, 96% ee) to yield (R)-3-(2-hydroxyphenyl)-N-propylpentanamide 24 (0.154 g, 0.656 mmol, 82 %) as a colourless oil. ¹H NMR: (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.71 (s (br), 1H), 7.12 - 7.02 (m, 2H), 6.94 - 6.83 (m, 2H), 6.26 (s (br), 1H), 3.34 (dd, J = 11.5, 7.3 Hz, 1H), 3.07 (dd, J = 13.3, 6.7 Hz, 2H), 2.65 (dd, J = 15.3, 4.3 Hz, 1H), 2.45 (dd, J = 15.3, 10.2 Hz, 1H), 1.72 (td, J = 14.2, 6.5 Hz, 2H), 1.48 - 1.28 (m, 2H),0.81 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 3H), 0.75 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR: (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.76, 154.50, 130.74, 127.19, 127.01, 120.50, 117.24, 43.32, 41.32, 36.21, 27.77, 22.33, 12.15, 11.03. HRMS: (ESI⁺) calculated for C₁₄H₂₂NO₂ [M+H⁺]: 236.1645, found: 236.1644. $[\alpha]_{p}^{20} = -38.4$ (c = 1.0 in CHCl₃). ee determination by chiral HPLC (Chiralpak AB-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 95:5, 40 °C isotherm, 210 nm, flow rate 0.5 mL/min), retention times: 25.9 min (minor), 32.4 min (major).

6 References

- (1) Feringa, B. L.; Naasz, R.; Imbos, R.; Arnold, L. A. In *Modern Organocopper Chemistry*; Krause, N., Ed.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2002, p 225-255.
- (2) Jerphagnon, T.; Pizzuti, M. G.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2009**, *38*, 1039-1075.
- (3) Harutyunyan, S. R.; den Hartog, T.; Geurts, K.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. *Chem. Rev.* **2008**, *108*, 2824-2852.
- (4) Alexakis, A.; Bäckvall, J. E.; Krause, N.; Pàmies, O.; Diéguez, M. *Chem. Rev.* **2008**, *108*, 2796-2823.
- (5) Teichert, J. F.; Feringa, B. L. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 2486-2528.
- (6) López, F.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. Acc. Chem. Res. 2007, 40, 179-188.
- (7) Krause, N.; Hoffmann-Roder, A. Synthesis **2001**, 171-196.
- (8) Christoffers, J.; Koripelly, G.; Rosiak, A.; Rossle, M. Synthesis 2007, 1279-1300.
- (9) Winn, C. L.; Guillen, F.; Pytkowicz, J.; Roland, S.; Mangeney, P.; Alexakis, A. *J. Organomet. Chem.* **2005**, *690*, 5672-5695.
- (10) Alexakis, A.; Winn, C. L.; Guillen, F.; Pytkowicz, J.; Roland, S.; Mangeney, P. Adv. Synth. Catal. **2003**, 345, 345-348.
- (11) Guillen, F.; Winn, C. L.; Alexakis, A. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2001, 12, 2083-2086.
- (12) Pytkowicz, J.; Roland, S.; Mangeney, P. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2001**, *12*, 2087-2089.
- (13) Fraser, P. K.; Woodward, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 2747-2749.
- (14) Degrado, S. J.; Mizutani, H.; Hoveyda, A. H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2001**, *123*, 755-756.
- (15) Degrado, S. J.; Mizutani, H.; Hoveyda, A. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 13362-13363.

- (16) Maciá, B.; Fernández-Ibáñez, M. A.; Mršić, N.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2008**, *49*, 1877-1880.
- (17) Feringa, B. L.; Pineschi, M.; Arnold, L. A.; Imbos, R.; de Vries, A. H. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **1997**, *36*, 2620-2623.
- (18) Arnold, L. A.; Naasz, R.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2001**, *123*, 5841-5842.
- (19) Hird, A. W.; Hoveyda, A. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 14988-14989.
- (20) Wang, S. Y.; Ji, S. J.; Loh, T. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 276-277.
- (21) López, F.; Harutyunyan, S. R.; Meetsma, A.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2005**, *44*, 2752-2756.
- Mazery, R. D.; Pullez, M.; López, F.; Harutyunyan, S. R.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 9966-9967.
- López, F.; Harutyunyan, S. R.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 12784-12785.
- (24) Feringa, B. L.; Badorrey, R.; Peña, D.; Harutyunyan, S. R.; Minnaard, A. J. *Proc. Nat. Ac. Sci.* **2004**, *101*, 5834-5838.
- (25) Deutsch, C.; Krause, N.; Lipshutz, B. H. Chem. Rev. 2008, 108, 2916-2927.
- (26) Lipshutz, B. H.; Noson, K.; Chrisman, W.; Lower, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 8779-8789.
- (27) Lipshutz, B. H.; Chrisman, W.; Noson, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 624, 367-371.
- (28) Those reactions should be regarded as a hydrosilylation followed by a sequential desilylation during basic aqueous workup.
- (29) Lipshutz, B. H.; Servesko, J. M.; Petersen, T. B.; Papa, P. P.; Lover, A. A. *Org. Lett.* **2004**, *6*, 1273-1275.
- (30) Lipshutz, B. H.; Servesko, J. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 4789-4792.
- (31) Brestensky, D. M.; Huseland, D. E.; McGettigan, C.; Stryker, J. M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1988**, *29*, 3749-3752.
- (32) Gallagher, B. D.; Taft, B. R.; Lipshutz, B. H. Org. Lett. 2009, 11, 5374-5377.
- (33) Hayashi, T.; Yamasaki, K. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 2829-2844.
- (34) Fagnou, K.; Lautens, M. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 169-196.
- (35) Defieber, C.; Paquin, J. F.; Serna, S.; Carreira, E. M. Org. Lett. **2004**, *6*, 3873-3876.
- (36) Chen, G.; Tokunaga, N.; Hayashi, T. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 2285-2288.
- (37) Nielsen, M. F.; Batanero, B.; Lohl, T.; Schäfer, H. J.; Würthwein, E. U.; Fröhlich, R. *Chem. Eur. J.* **1997**, *3*, 2011-2024.
- (38) Abe, S.; Nonaka, T.; Fuchigami, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 3630-3632.
- (39) Lutz, G. P.; Du, H.; Gallagher, D. J.; Beak, P. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 4542-4554.
- (40) Versleijen, J. P. G.; van Leusen, A. M.; Feringa, B. L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, *40*, 5803-5806.
- (41) Trace amounts of direct 1,2-addition products were observed.
- (42) den Hartog, T.; Harutyunyan, S. R.; Font, D.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2008**, *47*, 398-401.
- (43) The enantioselectivity was unaffected up to a temperature of -65 °C
- (44) Meyers, A. I.; Whitten, C. E. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1976**, 1947-1950.
- (45) Stephan, E.; Rocher, R.; Aubouet, J.; Pourcelot, G.; Cresson, P. *Tetrahedron:* Asymmetry **1994**, *5*, 41-44.
- (46) Ketuly, K. A.; Hadi, A. H. A. Molecules 2010, 15, 2347-2356.
- (47) Carosi, L.; Hall, D. G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2007**, *46*, 5913-5915.
- (48) Dubuffet, T.; Loutz, A.; Lavielle, G. Synth. Commun. **1999**, *29*, 929-936.
- (49) Rathgeb, X.; March, S.; Alexakis, A. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 5737-5742.
- (50) Howell, G. P.; Fletcher, S. P.; Geurts, K.; ter Horst, B.; Feringa, B. L. *J. Am. Chem.* Soc. **2006**, *128*, 14977-14985.
- (51) Li, K. Y.; Alexakis, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2005**, *46*, 5823-5826.

- (52) Degrado, S. J.; Mizutani, H.; Hoveyda, A. H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2001**, *123*, 755-756.
- (53) Keller, E.; Maurer, J.; Naasz, R.; Schrader, T.; Meetsma, A.; Feringa, B. L. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **1998**, *9*, 2755-2755.
- (54) Rudolph, A.; Bos, P. H.; Feringa, B. L. *unpublished results*.
- (55) Smith, C. R.; Mans, D. J.; RajanBabu, T. V. Org. Synth. 2008 85, 238.

Chapter 7

Ni-catalyzed Reductive Coupling Reactions – Application of Phosphoramidite Ligands bearing chiral *N*-Heterocycles

A new asymmetric nickel-catalyzed reductive coupling of isoprene and benzaldehyde has been developed. The corresponding products bear 1,3-stereogenic centers and are available with excellent diastereoselectivity, albeit with moderate enantioselectivity. An extensive ligand screening has been carried out to identify leading ligand structures. Furthermore, mechanistic studies based on ³¹P and ¹H NMR experiments give evidence to support the proposed mechanism.

1. Introduction

Transition metal-catalyzed reductive carbon-carbon bond formations represent an emerging field of organic synthesis and catalysis. Next to hydrogenative coupling catalyzed by rhodium and iridium catalysts,¹⁻³ nickel-⁴⁻⁸ and cobalt-catalyzed^{4,9,10} reductive coupling reactions are among the most prominent. One of the most important advantages of these reaction is the fact that they do not require an organometallic reagent as carbon nucleophile to faciliate the C-C bond formation, what considerably reduces the waste generated during those transformations. (It should be noted, though, that some of the reactions employ organometallic reagents as reducing agents. See below.) The general approach can be summarized as follows: a compound bearing an unsaturated C-C bond such as an alkene or alkyne 1 is coupled to a suitable electrophile, in this case an aldehyde or a ketone 2 (Scheme 1). For this reaction to occur, a reducing agent is necessary to deliver an β -H atom to the alkene/alkyne. The obtained products **3** are highly functionalized and bear at least one stereogenic center adjacent to the alcohol. Furthermore, through judicious choice of the catalyst, different stereoisomers (*cis/trans* and E/Z) are available through this methodology.



Scheme 1 Reductive coupling reactions

One example of this transformation is depicted in Scheme 2. When internal or terminal alkynes **4** were reacted with aldehydes **5** in the presence of catalytic amounts of a Ni/phosphine complex employing triethylborane as the reducing agent, the corresponding allylic alcohols **6** were obtained reaching very good yields, albeit with relatively high catalyst loadings.¹¹



Scheme 2 Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling of alkynes with aldehydes

The proposed catalytic cycle for these transformations⁶ is depicted in Scheme 3. The alkyne (4) first coordinates to Ni(0) to give intermediate I. Then Ni can add to the alkyne in an oxidative fashion, triggering the nucleophilic attack on the activated aldehyde (5) to give nickelacycle II. It is important to note that here BEt₃ serves as a Lewis acid to activate the aldehyde, whereas it will serve as the reducing agent later on, so the role of BEt₃ is twofold. In the following step, one alkyl group of the boron reagent is transmetallated to nickel to give intermediate III. Then, a β -hydride elimination can occur, yielding a nickel-hydride complex (IV). Subsequent reductive elimination furnishes the desired product as the boroxide complex V. Ni(0) can be liberated from intermediate V to enter a new catalytic cycle. During workup, the boroxide is protonated to yield the desired product 6.



Scheme 3 Proposed catalytic cycle for the formation of allyl alcohol 6
A wide variety of related reactions has been developed,⁶ including an intramolecular Ni-catalyzed coupling reaction of alkynes with aldehydes leading to nitrogen-containing bicyclic compounds **8** (Scheme 4).^{12,13} In this case triethylsilane is employed as the reducing agent, which leads to *in situ* TMS protection of the corresponding alcohols **8**. When piperidines **7** were reacted in the presence of a Ni catalyst, the corresponding bicyclic TMS-protected alcohols **8** were obtained in very good yields and diastereoselectivities (Scheme 4).



Scheme 4 Intramolecular Ni-catalyzed coupling reaction

Some enantioselective variants of the Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling reactions are known, employing chiral phosphine^{14,15} or *N*-heterocyclic carbene¹⁶ ligands. While this research project was in progress, the application of spiro-phosphoramidites **L1** in a nickel-catalyzed reductive coupling of dienes to aldehydes (Scheme 5) was reported.¹⁷ Using diethylzinc as the reducing agent, 1,4-diphenyl-butadiene **9** was coupled to aromatic aldehydes **10** to yield the products **11** in excellent yields and *ee*. In all cases, the 1,2-*anti*-products **11** were obtained.



Scheme 5 Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling reactions

This methodology was extended to a 3-component coupling reaction¹⁸ of dimethylzinc, phenylpropyne **12** and aldehydes **13** to yield chiral allylic alcohols **14** bearing a tetrasubstituted olefin with excellent enantioselectivities (Scheme 6).¹⁹ In this case, $ZnMe_2$ does not furnish a reducing equivalent in the form of a Ni-H complex, since no β -hydrogens are available in $ZnMe_2$. Instead, the methyl group is incorporated into the corresponding products **14** and thus serves the role of a reducing agent (compare Scheme 3). Again, a phosphoramidite ligand (**L2**) with a spirobiindane backbone gave the best results.



Scheme 6 Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling of alkynes and aldehydes

2. Goal

Background

The aim of this research project was to develop an asymmetric nickel-catalyzed reductive coupling reaction. We became interested in the reductive coupling reaction of 1,3-dienes, especially of isoprene, with aldehydes. This reaction had been reported in a non-stereoselective fashion earlier.^{20,21} When an excess of isoprene (**15**) was reacted with benzaldehyde **16** in the presence of Ni(acac)₂ as catalyst (acac = acetylacetonato), the corresponding homoallylic alcohol **17** could be isolated with very good diastereoselectivity favoring the *anti* isomer (Scheme 7). Both BEt₃ and ZnEt₂ were examined as reducing agents and were shown to give the same product, however, BEt₃ as the reducing agent was giving **17** in a considerably higher yield. The diastereoselectivity appeared to be unaffected by the reducing agent.



Scheme 7 Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling of isoprene with benzaldehyde

The proposed mechanism⁷ of this reaction has close analogy to the previously described one (compare Scheme 3), and can generally be described as the vinylogous variant thereof. In this reaction, BEt₃ (or ZnEt₂) serves three purposes: first it reduces the Ni(II) precursor to Ni(0), second it activates the aldehyde and finally it acts as the reducing agent for the whole transformation. Isoprene (15) can coordinate to nickel(0) and subsequently can undergo an oxidative insertion/cyclization reaction (A in Scheme 8) with the activated aldehyde 16 to give oxallylnickel(II) intermediate II. This reaction represents already the key C-C bond forming step and should therefore govern the stereoselectivity at the benzylic position. It can be represented as an oxidative insertion of Ni(0) to the terminal, sterically less demanding, double bond of isoprene, which will subsequently attack the electrophile (16) (A in Scheme 8). The resulting alkoxide can then coordinate to Ni(II) to form the neutral cyclic intermediate II. In analogy to the mechanism discussed earlier, a transmetallation of one of the alkyl substituents of BEt₃ to nickel can take place, giving intermediate III. β-Hydride elimination furnishes a nickel-hydride complex (IV), which can undergo reductive elimination to form boroxide adduct V of the desired product 17. Ni(0) can subsequently enter a new catalytic cycle. During the reductive elimination step both the regioselectivity of the double bond position as well as the stereoselectivity of the second stereogenic center formed at the allylic position are determined. Alternatively, intermediate III can be the starting point for a reductive elimination reaction to give the threecomponent coupling products **18** and **19**.⁵



Scheme 8 Proposed catalytic cycle for the formation of 17

Goal

This Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling reaction is interesting for a variety of reasons. First, it uses cheap and readily available starting materials and takes place at ambient temperatures. Second, the products like **17** are highly functional building blocks posessing a terminal olefin moiety, a secondary alcohol and an aromatic ring. Third, this reaction creates two stereocenters in a 1,3-relationship in only one synthetic step. No asymmetric variant of this transformation was known in literature, therefore we decided to explore this possible extension. We envisaged to start off our study with the investigation of Ni/phosphoramidite complexes as chiral catalysts for the reductive coupling of isoprene with aldehydes, since phosphoramidite ligands are, due to their modular design, ideally suited for fine-tuning of their electronic and steric parameters.^{22,23} As already mentioned, during the course of this research project, it was demonstrated that those complexes were

indeed suitable to induce enantioselectivity in related reactions (see Scheme 5 and Scheme 6). It was to be investigated in how far different ligands and/or reducing agents would affect the diastereo- as well as the enantioselectivity of the reductive coupling of isoprene with aldehydes. Ideally, chiral bishomoallylic alcohols **17** would be available in high enantiomeric excess and accessible selectively as either the *syn* or the *anti* diastereomer.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1 Initial screening results

Preliminary screening experiments of the envisaged reductive coupling of isoprene (15) with benzaldehyde (16) in the presence of Ni/phosphoramidite complexes as catalysts revealed several important aspects of this transformation (for selected experiments, see Table 1). First of all, we were delighted to observe that the envisaged coupling reaction took place with catalvsts comprising Ni/phosphoramidite complexes with chiral BINOL backbones (Table 1, entries 3-6). Even though comparable results in terms of diastereoselectivity with the previously published work^{20,21} were found, no stereoinduction was observed with simple phosphoramidites L3-L5. With bidentate phosphine ligands, such as BINAP or ferrocenyl-based ligands (Josiphos, Taniaphos) no reaction was observed. These findings indicated that monodentate ligands are required for the Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling to occur.

A second observation made in preliminary experiments was that dialkylzinc reagents had to be employed as reducing agents. When trialkylborane compounds were used as reducing agents, no conversion to the desired coupling product **17** was found (Table 1, entry 3). This is a remarkable observation, since in the original reports employing Ni(acac)₂ as catalyst, BEt₃ had been employed as the reducing agent for this particular reaction (also compare Table 1, entry 1).^{20,21} This result shows that the electronic properties of the nickel/phosphoramidite complexes differ significantly from the properties of their precursors, Ni(acac)₂ and Ni(COD)₂. Also, in terms of yields and enantioselectivity for **17**, using a nickel(II) precursor (namely Ni(acac)₂) or a nickel(0) precursor (Ni(COD)₂) did not give different results. This suggests a reduction of the Ni(II) precatalyst to Ni(0) by the dialkylzinc reagent prior to the actual catalytic cycle, which is consistent with the proposed mechanism (see also Scheme 8).^{7,20,21} In the following experiments, Ni(acac)₂ was employed due to its higher air-stability.

To achieve enantioselectivity in the formation of the desired product **17**, phosphoramidites bearing chiral amine moieties had to be used. Therefore we chose bisphenylethylamine-derived phosphoramidite **L6**, which had been successfully employed in a variety of reactions²³ as the benchmark ligand (Table 1, entry 7). With **L6** and diethylzinc as the reducing agent, **17** was formed in 56% yield and 15% *ee.* It should be noted that in all cases employing $ZnEt_2$ as the reducing agent, full conversion of isoprene (**15**) was observed. Along with the desired product **17**, a variety of side products were observed (**20** – **22**, see Table 2), including 1-phenylpropanol (**22**) resulting from nucleophilic attack of $ZnEt_2$ on benzaldehyde (**16**).

	• • H	2.0 r 2.0 ec `Ph	2.0 mol% Ni(acac)₂ 2.2 mol% L 2.0 eq. reducing agent THF, rt				
15	16	5			17		
		P-N, I-N, R	-N	 -N	Ph -N Ph		
		L3	L4	L5	L6		
Entry	Ligand	Reducing agent	Yield of 17		d.r. ^b /ee ^c		
1	-	BEt ₃	92%		20:1 / -		
1 2	-	BEt ₃ ZnEt ₂	92% 55%		20:1 / - 20:1 / -		
1 2 3	- - L4	BEt ₃ ZnEt ₂ BEt ₃	92% 55% -		20:1 / - 20:1 / - - / -		
1 2 3 4	- - L4 L4	BEt ₃ ZnEt ₂ BEt ₃ ZnEt ₂	92% 55% - 71%		20:1 / - 20:1 / - - / - 10:1 / 0%		
1 2 3 4 5	- - L4 L4 L3	BEt ₃ ZnEt ₂ BEt ₃ ZnEt ₂ ZnEt ₂	92% 55% - 71% 45%		20:1 / - 20:1 / - - / - 10:1 / 0% 18:1 / 0%		
1 2 3 4 5 6	- - L4 L4 L3 L5	BEt ₃ ZnEt ₂ BEt ₃ ZnEt ₂ ZnEt ₂ ZnEt ₂	92% 55% - 71% 45% 61%		20:1 / - 20:1 / - - / - 10:1 / 0% 18:1 / 0% 18:1 / 0%		

Table 1 Initial screening of ligands and reducing agents^a

^aReaction conditions: 0.50 mmol isoprene (**15**), 0.60 mmol benzaldehyde (**16**), 0.01 mmol Ni(acac)₂ and 0.011 mmol **L** were dissolved in 2.5 mL THF at rt. Then, 1.0 mmol of $ZnEt_2$ solution (c = 1.0 M in THF) was added dropwise and the reaction mixture was stirred until TLC showed full conversion of **15** (~ 2h).

The reaction was quenched with sat. aq. NH₄Cl solution, and the product obtained by extraction with Et₂O. ^bDetermined by GC. The *syn* diastereomer is the major one. ^cDetermined by chiral GC or HPLC.

We found that the nickel to ligand ratio needs to be close to 1:1 for the coupling reaction to proceed smoothly to **17**, with compounds **20** to **22** observed as sideproducts (Table 2, entry 1). **22** is the product of the direct addition of ZnEt₂ to benzaldehyde (**16**), the formation of **21** could be explained by the double reaction of isoprene with two equivalents of benzaldehyde. When a Ni/L ratio of 1:2 was employed (Table 2, entry 2), the envisaged coupling reaction still took place, but the desired coupling product **17** was accompanied by equal amounts of sideproducts **20** to **22**. Compound **20** results from the three-component coupling (compare intermediate III in Scheme 8). Importantly, **20** is also formed with 15% *ee*, suggesting that **17** and **20** are formed from the same catalytic intermediate in which the stereoinformation at the benzylic position is already fixed (intermediate **III** in Scheme 8).

+ 15	2.0 mol% 2.2 or 4.4 2.0 eq H Ph THF, 16	$\frac{\text{Ni}(\text{acac})_2}{\text{temp}} \rightarrow 17$	$\begin{array}{ccc} & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & &$
Entry	Ni/L6	Temperature	17/20/21/22 ^a
1	1 : 1	rt	60 : 20 : 5 : 10
2	1:2	rt	20 : 25 : 30 : 20
3	1:1	0°0	0:70:0:30

Table 2 Influence of the Ni/L ratio

^aDetermined by both, ¹H NMR and GC/MS. Arbitrary units.

The abovementioned results suggest that several nickel/L6 complexes with different catalytic behaviour are present in solution. Most probably there are equilibria present between the various species, since even with a 1:2 Ni/L6 ratio, compound **17** is still formed. A 1:1 ratio of metal and ligand favours the formation of the desired product **17**, a 1:2 ratio leads to the conversion of **15** and **16** to several by-products in an unselective manner. This behaviour could be supported by the

proposed mechanism presented in Scheme 8, in which the three Ni(II) intermediates II to IV leave only one further coordination site to be occupied by a ligand to give rise to a 16 electron complex. The data presented in Table 2 suggest that a Ni/L₂ complex could be catalytically inactive and/or enter different catalytic pathways (for mechanistic investigations, see also section 3.6).

An important finding is reported in Table 2, entry 3. When the reaction was carried out at 0 °C with a Ni/L6 ration of 1:1, no formation of **17** was observed, however, **20** was formed as the major product. This gives important insight to the proposed mechanism, as the crucial β -hydride elimination seems to be prevented at lower temperatures.²⁴ This observation can be explained by the fact that eliminations are generally favoured at higher temperatures due to the increase in entropy.

3.3 Screening of reducing agents

Other reducing agents were investigated in the following studies (Table 3). We found that in terms of selectivity, similar results as with ZnEt₂ could be observed with AlEt₃ (Table 3, entry 2). Remarkably, Zn/Pr₂ gave a much more selective reaction towards 17 accompanied by a slightly higher ee (Table 3, entry 3). These two examples hint towards the fact that the enantiodiscriminating step does depend on the metal reagent employed, and sterics of the organic substitutents of the organometallic reagent. The related *iso*-propylzinc bromide (Table 3, entry 4), showed similar results in terms of product distribution. However, in this case, the syn/anti ratio of 17 was found to be 1:1, and the ee dropped to 17%. These two results (Table 3, entries 3,4) demonstrate that with secondary organozinc reagents much more selective reactions can be carried out. This could stem from the higher steric bulk that the iso-propyl substituents create around the Ni(II)-center. As expected, the corresponding Grignard reagent led to only 1,2-addition product (Table 3, entry 5). The reactions employing aluminum hydrides or lithium triethylborohydride (Table 3, entries 6-8) led to reduction of benzaldehyde (16) to benzylalcohol 23. The use of borane gave traces of the desired product 17 along with its double bond isomer 20 (R = H), but also in this case, benzylalcohol 23 was the major product (Table 3, entry 9). The use of sodium borohydride and sodium cyanoborohydride did not lead to any conversion (Table 3, entries 10, 11). Attempts to use poly(methylhydrosiloxane (PMHS) as reductant,²⁵ as well as the attempt to carry out a hydrogenative coupling did not lead to conversion to 17 (Table 3, entries 12, 13). Since the reaction with $ZniPr_2$ led to higher *ee* along with a considerably higher selectivity for 17 (Table 3, entry 3), we continued to optimize the asymmetric Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling reaction employing this reducing agent.

Table 3 Screening of reducing agents

15	2.0 mol% Ni 2.2 mol% + H Ph 2.0 eq. reducin THF, r 16	$(acac)_{2}$ $L_{b}^{(acac)_{2}}$ $I_{t}^{(acac)_{2}}$ $I_{t}^{(acac)_{$	Ph 20 0H R → Ph 20 0H R → Ph 24
Entry	Reducing agent	17/20/23/24 ^ª	Comment
1	ZnEt ₂	60 : 20 : 0 : 10	-
2	AIEt ₃	60 : 20 : 0 : 10	17 : 14% ee
3	Zn <i>i</i> Pr ₂	80 : 10 : 0 : 0	17 : 23% ee
4	Zn <i>i</i> PrBr	80 : 10 : 0 : 0 ^b	17 : 17% ee
5	<i>i</i> PrMgCl	0:0:100	-
6	DIBAL-H	0:0:100:0	-
7	LiAIH ₄	0:0:100:0	-
8	LiHBEt ₃	0:0:100:0	-
9	BH ₃	10 : 10 : 30	23 = 24
10	NaBH₄	-	no reaction
11	$NaCNBH_3$	-	no reaction
12	PMHS ^c	-	no reaction
13	H_2^d	-	no reaction

^aDetermined by both, ¹H NMR and GC/MS. Arbitrary units. ^bSyn/anti of **17**: 1:1. ^cPMHS = Poly(methylhydrosiloxane). ^dNi(COD)₂ was used as Ni precursor.

3.4 Screening of solvents

With the optimized results for the reducing agents in hand, we went on to investigate the influence of the solvent (Table 4). It was found that the envisaged transformation is relatively robust with respect to the choice of solvent, as conversion to the desired product **17** was found under most conditions tested. The majority of the solvents gave the *anti* diastereomer of **17** as the main product (Table 4, entries 1,2 and 4-6), with toluene giving the highest *ee* for *anti*-**17** (35%). Similar results in terms of enantioselectivity were only found with MeCN as solvent (Table 4, entry 3), however, in this case accompanied by a reversed diastereoselectivity to give the *syn* diastereomer of **17** as the major one. This could be explained by the ability of MeCN to act as a ligand for the Ni catalyst, leading to a catalyst with different spatial constraints. It is remarkable, though, that the opposite effect is observed employing THF as the solvent, which one could also expect to act as a ligand for Ni (Table 4, entry 2).

15	+ 0 H Ph	2.0 mol% Ni(acac) ₂ 2.2 mol% L6 2.0 eq. Zn/Pr ₂ solvent, rt	→ >	OH Ph + i	Pr Ph
Entry	Solvent	Conversion ^b	anti/syn ^b	ee of 17	Comment
1	toluene	full	19 : 1	35%	95% yield
2	THF	full	20 : 1	23%	
3	MeCN	65%	1:2	37%	
4	CH_2Cl_2	full	14 : 1	25%	10% 20
5	TBME	full	8 : 1	30%	traces 20
6	EtOAc	80%	10 : 1	26%	

Table 4 Solvent screening^a

^aReaction conditions: 0.50 mmol isoprene (**15**), 0.60 mmol benzaldehyde (**16**), 0.01 mmol Ni(acac)₂ and 0.011 mmol **L6** were dissolved in 2.5 mL THF at rt. Then, 1.0 mmol of a $ZniPr_2$ solution (c = 1.0 M in THF) was added dropwise and the reaction mixture was stirred until TLC showed full conversion (~ 2h). The reaction was quenched with sat. aq. NH₄Cl solution, and the product obtained by extraction with Et₂O. ^{*b*}Determined by both, ¹H NMR and GC/MS.

3.5 Ligand screening

One of the major advantages of phosphoramidite ligands is because of their modularity they can be easily varied and screened for activity and stereoselectivity in catalysis.^{23,26-28} With the optimized conditions, we set off to investigate the influence of a variety of phosphoramidite ligands, some of which are reported in Table 5. Starting off from the benchmark ligand (S.R.R)-L6, we first investigated the influence of its diastereomer, (R, R, R)-L6, which gave significantly worse results in terms of conversion and stereoselectivity (Table 5, entry 2). This clearly shows a matched/mismatched relationship of the two diastereomers of L6 for the envisaged reaction. Replacement of one phenylethyl substituent with an isopropyl group led to slightly higher enantioselectivity (Table 5, entry 3), the Ph-substituted derivative gave the three-component coupling product **20** as the major one (Table 5, entry 4). The octahydroBINOL-backbone of L9 as well as 3,3'-substitution as in L10 led to lower enantioselectivity (Table 5, entries 5,6). As observed before (see Table 1), phosphoramidites with non-chiral amines L11 and L12 gave no enantioselectivity (Table 5, entries 7,8). Ligands bearing (S)-prolinate as the amine substituent (Table 5, entries 9,14), posessing an ester moiety which could act as a second coordination unit, were favouring the three-component coupling product **20**. Both 17 and 20 were formed in a racemic fashion. Higher enantioselectivities were observed employing smaller or more flexible diol backbones, as in the case of biphenol-derived L14 (43% ee, Table 5, entry 10) and catechol-derived L16 (46% ee, Table 5, entry 12). However, structural variatons of these two ligands L15 and L17 led to lower enantioselectivities (Table 5, entries 11,13). The same holds for TADDOL-derived L19 (Table 5, entry 15). It is remarkable, though, that some of the ligands investigated gave exceptional levels of diastereoselectivity, as in the case of L15 and azepine-derived ligand L20 (Table 5, entries 11,16). It has been reported in the literature that the olefin moiety in L20 can have a remarkable effect on catalysis, most probably due to a flexible, or labile coordination to the metal.²⁹ A similar trend was observed when comparing the two 2,5-dinaphthylpyrrolidinederived³⁰ ligands L21 and L22 (see also Chapter 2, Table 5, entries 17, 18). Whereas both give excellent diastereoselectivities, it can be seen that L22, bearing the unsaturated pyrroline moiety gives higher enantioselectivity (40% ee vs 33% ee), which could be attributed to an additional hemi-labile coordination of the olefin moiety to the Ni.

In summary, it can be concluded that the screening of phosphoramidite ligands led to some insights with respect to preferred and less preferred structural features of the ligands, but the *ee* reached remained rather low (46%, **L16**, Table 5, entry 12).

Further structural elaboration of these ligands did not lead to improvements in terms of enantioselectivity. It should be noted though, that some of the reactions achieved outstanding diastereoselectivity favouring the *anti*-product **17**.

15	+ H Ph 2.0 mo 2.2 2.0 to tol	I% Ni(acac) ₂ ! mol% L eq. Zn/Pr ₂ luene, rt		H `Ph + iPr	OH Ph 20
Entry	Ligand		Comment	anti/syn ^b	ee ^b
1	Ph O Ph Ph	L6	Full conversion	19 : 1	+35%
2	O Ph O P-N Ph	L6	~40% conversion	3 : 1	rac.
3		L7	-	19 : 1	+39%
4	Ph O Ph Ph Ph	L8	Mostly 20	n.d.	+6%
5	Ph OP-N Ph	L9	-	16 : 1	+29%

Table 5 Ligand Screening^a

Chapter 7

Entry	Ligand		Comment	anti/syn ^b	ee ^b
6	Ph OP-N Ph	L10	-	14 : 1	-22%
7	Ph O Ph Ph	L11	-	15 : 1	rac.
8	TMS OP-NO TMS	L12	-	15 : 1	rac.
9	O P-N MeO ₂ C	L13	17 / 20 1:2	n.d.	rac.
10	Ph O P-N Ph	L14	-	18 : 1	+43%
11	Ph O P-N Ph	L15	-	>99 : 1	+22%
12	O P-N Ph Ph	L16	-	19 : 1	+46%

Entry	Ligand		Comment	anti/syn ^b	ee ^b
13	Ph OP-N Ph	L17	-	16 : 1	-24%
14	O MeO ₂ C	L18	17 / 20 1:1	n.d.	rac.
15	Ph Ph O', P-N Ph Ph	L19	-	23 : 1	+18%
16		L20	-	>99 : 1	+17%
17		L21	-	>99 : 1	+33%
18		L22	-	>99 : 1	+40%

^aReaction conditions: 0.50 mmol isoprene (**15**), 0.60 mmol benzaldehyde (**16**), 0.01 mmol Ni(acac)₂ and 0.011 mmol ligand were dissolved in 2.5 mL THF at rt. Then, 1.0 mmol of $ZniPr_2$ solution (c = 0.5 M in toluene) was added dropwise and the reaction mixture was stirred until TLC showed full conversion (~

2h). The reaction was quenched with sat. aq. NH_4Cl solution, and the product isolated by extraction with Et_2O . ^bDetermined by both, ¹H NMR and GC/MS.

Besides investigating the influence of various phosphoramidite ligands on the Nicatalyzed reductive coupling reaction, we also studied other types of chiral ligands. The results are summarized in Table 6. The related BINOL-derived phosphite L23 gave 20 as the major product (Table 6, entry 1), whereas chiral phosphines L24 and L25 led to low conversion to 17 and low or no enantioselectivity (Table 6, entries 2,3). Remarkably, aminophosphine L26, coined SimplePhos,³¹ led to 17 with 23% ee and excellent diastereoselectivity favouring the anti isomer of 17 (Table 6, entry 4). Secondary phosphine oxide L27³² gave only compound 20 (Table 6, entry 5). An interesting result is shown in entry 6, as chiral diene L28³³ also led to some stereoinduction, albeit low (15% ee). To the best of our knowledge this marks the first example of an catalytic asymmetric transformation with Ni catalysts bearing a chiral diene ligand.³⁴ Furthermore, this example demonstrates that a coordination of olefins can have an important influence on the catalyst, as has been seen in the case of some phosphoramidite ligands bearing olefins as additional coordination sites (vide supra). Finally, it was shown that N-heterocyclic carbene (NHC) ligands can be successfully applied to this kind of transformation, as the reaction employing L29³⁵ gave 17 in 15% ee and with excellent diastereoselectivity (Table 6, entry 7). It has to be noted, though, that in the case of NHC ligands, Ni(COD)₂ has to be employed. Using Ni(acac)₂ as the Ni precursor in those cases lead to considerably lower conversion.

15	+ 0 H H Ph	2.0 mol 2.2 2.0 e	% Ni(acac) ₂ mol% L q. Zn <i>i</i> Pr ₂ uene, rt	→ → 17	PH Ph + iPr	OH Ph 20
Entry	L	.igand		Comment	anti/syn ^b	ee ^b
1) P-0	L23	80% 20	n.d.	17: rac.

Table 6 Ligand screening II^a

Entry	Ligand		Comment	anti/syn ^b	ee ^b
2	P-Ph L	.24	Slow reaction (2d)	18 : 1	+6%
3		.25	Low conversion, only 20	-	-
4	Ph Ph Ph Ph Ph	.26	-	>99 : 1	+23%
5		.27	only 20	-	-
6	iPr Ph L	.28	-	15 : 1	-15%
7 ^c	$\overset{Ph}{\underset{Cl^{\Theta}}{\bigvee}}\overset{N}{\underset{Cl^{\Theta}}{\bigvee}}\overset{Ph}{\underset{El^{\Theta}}{\bigvee}} L$.29	-	>99 : 1	+15%

^aReaction conditions: 0.50 mmol isoprene (**15**), 0.60 mmol benzaldehyde (**16**), 0.01 mmol Ni(acac)₂ and 0.011 mmol ligand were dissolved in 2.5 mL THF at rt. Then, 1.0 mmol of $ZniPr_2$ solution (c = 0.5 M in toluene) was added dropwise and the reaction mixture was stirred until TLC showed full conversion (~ 2h). The reaction was quenched with sat. aq. NH₄Cl solution, and the product isolated by extraction with Et₂O. ^{*b*}Determined by both, ¹H NMR and GC/MS. ^{*c*}Ni(COD)₂ was used instead of Ni(acac)₂.

Summarizing the results of the ligand screening, we were able to demonstrate that a variety of chiral monodentate ligands as well as a chiral diene ligand can be successfully employed in the Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling reaction of isoprene with benzaldehyde. With some ligands excellent diastereoselectivities have been achieved, however, the *ee* of this transformation could not be improved to more than 46%.

3.6 Mechanistic studies

Since we found that generally in the Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling of isoprene with benzaldehyde only the use of monodentate ligands led to conversion to the desired coupling product, we decided to study the mechanism of this reaction using Ni/phosphoramidite complexes as a probe for NMR spectroscopy. We anticipated that we could employ ³¹P NMR spectroscopy to study the reaction in more detail, which might give some support to the proposed mechanism (see Scheme 8).

We started off by carrying out a titration experiment, where various equivalents of catechol-based phosphoramidite L16 were added to Ni(COD)₂ (Figure 1). We observed a fast coordination of L16 to Ni(0) which was accompanied by a change of colour from bright vellow to orange. We observed that with Ni/L ratios of 1:1 and 1:2 a signal at 197 ppm in the ³¹P NMR could be observed. When more equivalents of L16 were added, a second peak at 179 ppm appeared. With an even larger excess of L16, the peak at 197 ppm disappeared and a new one became visible at 158 ppm. This can be attributed to the free ligand **L16**. We conclude from these results that more than one Ni/L16 complex is formed, most probably with a different stoichiometry. The complex with the signal at 197 ppm should have a higher Ni/L ratio in comparison to the one having a signal at 179 ppm, since the latter appears at higher concentrations of L16 and seems to have a higher number of ligands coordinated to Ni, as with higher concentrations of L16 the uncoordinated ligand (at 158 ppm) starts to appear. This behaviour is similar to Ni/PPh₃ complexes.³⁶ It is important to note that the complex with a lower Ni/L ratio (at 179 ppm) seems to be symmetric with respect to the coordinating ligands, as only a singlet is observed. If the ligands would be inequivalent, one would expect a P-P coupling between the ligands,^{37,38} which had been observed with other Ni/phosphoramidite complexes (vide infra).

Figure 1 ³¹P NMR of Ni/L6 complexes^a



^aReaction conditions: 0.02 mmol Ni(COD)₂ and n eq. **L16** were dissolved in toluene-d₈ at rt and the solution stirred for 5 min. At every stage, samples were taken and analyzed by ³¹P NMR.

When the complexation of Ni(COD)₂ with different equivalents of BINOL-derived **L5** in CDCl₃ was followed by ³¹P NMR, different results were obtained (Figure 2). It should be noted that these experiments were carried out in CDCl₃ and therefore a different chemical shift in the ³¹P NMR is observed. With 1 and 2 equivalents of **L5** with respect to Ni, the corresponding complexes seemed to have a low stability, as quick deposition of elementary Ni on the wall of the NMR tube was observed. When we went to higher equivalents of **L5**, the complexes seemed more stable, and could be detected by ³¹P NMR. Two doublets with a roof effect (*J* = 115 Hz) were observed at 137 ppm, which can be interpreted as a Ni/L_x complex with x ≥ 2, in which the ligands are not equivalent and therefore couple to each other. This is an often observed feature with phosphorus-chelating ligands and transition metals.³⁷⁻⁴¹ Again, when more **L5** was added, the signal of the free ligand (146 ppm) started to increase. When the spectra of Figure 1 and Figure 2 are compared,

it can be seen that the structure of the phosphoramidite ligand has a remarkable effect on the symmetry of the corresponding complexes. This could be due to the fact that the BINOL backbone of **L5** is both, sterically more demanding and axially chiral, when compared to the catechol backbone of **L6**.

Figure 2 ³¹P NMR of Ni/L5 complexes^a



^aReaction conditions: 0.05 mmol Ni(COD)₂ and n eq. 0.05 mmol **L5** were dissolved in CDCl₃ at rt and the solution stirred for 5 min. At every stage, samples were taken and analyzed by ³¹P NMR.

Next, we turned our attention to following the Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling reaction of **15** with **16** under the optimized reaction conditions by ³¹P NMR (Figure 3). The only change compared to the benchtop reaction that was made was the change of solvent to toluene-d₈. As expected, when the Ni(II) precursor, Ni(acac)₂, and **L16** were mixed we only observed the signal of the free ligand **L16** (158 ppm),

and no Ni/L16 coordination took place (A in Figure 3). When the reducing agent Zn/Pr₂ was added, two new species could be observed, at 179 and 177 ppm (B in Figure 3) with full consumption of uncoordinated L16. When finally the reagents were added and the reaction was run in the NMR tube, two resonances, at 179 and 158 ppm were observed (C in Figure 3). The latter can be attributed to the uncoordinated ligand. This result is somewhat surprising, as we have found a Ni/L16 complex at 179 ppm with most probably more than one L16 coordinated to Ni in previous experiments as well (compare Figure 1). From the optimization of the reaction, we know that a Ni/L16 ratio of close to 1:1 is ideal for good selectivity towards the desired coupling product. One could speculate on the basis of these results that during the reaction a resting state exists in which the Ni is coordinated by more than one ligand L16.

Furthermore, we carried out the same experiment with $Ni(COD)_2$ as the Ni precursor (Figure 4), which had been shown to give the same results in terms of selectivity towards the coupling product (*vide supra*). In this case, we found the same results, except that already during the mixing of **L16** and Ni(COD)₂, two complexes with signals at 197 and 179 ppm were formed (A in Figure 4), which is consistent with our previous findings (see Figure 1). Interestingly, when both the reducing agent and the substrates were added (C in Figure 4), the same resting state at 179 ppm as in the case of Ni(acac)₂ was observed. This leads to the conclusion that both reactions have the same catalytic cycle with the same resting states, independent of the Ni precursor used. This has also been shown during the optimization of the reaction, as the same results in terms of product distribution and selectivity were found with both Ni(0) and Ni(II) precursors (see section 3.1). Therefore, the ligands of the Ni precursor (acac or COD) seem not to play a role during the reaction.



Figure 3 ³¹P NMR of Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling reaction with L16^a

^aReaction conditions: 0.01 mmol Ni(acac)₂ and 0.011 mmol **L16** were dissolved in toluene-d₈ at rt and the solution stirred for 5 min. (= **A**). Then, 2.0 eq. $ZniPr_2$ (0.40 mmol) was added (= **B**). 1.0 eq. isoprene (0.20 mmol) and 1.2 eq. benzaldehyde (0.24 mmol) were added (= **C**). At every stage, samples were taken and analyzed by ³¹P NMR.





^aReaction conditions: 0.01 mmol Ni(COD)₂ and 0.011 mmol **L16** were dissolved in toluene-d₈ at rt and the mixture stirred for 5 min. (= **A**). Then, 2.0 eq. $ZniPr_2$ (0.40 mmol) was added (= **B**). Subsequently, 1.0 eq. isoprene (0.20 mmol) and 1.2 eq. benzaldehyde (0.24 mmol) were added (= **C**). At every stage, samples were taken and analyzed by ³¹P NMR.

Besides following the reaction with ³¹P NMR, we also used ¹H NMR for the investigation of the Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling. As in the proposed mechanism for this reaction (Scheme 8), nickel-hydride intermediates were postulated, we were interested in observing those by ¹H NMR (Figure 5). Indeed, we were able to

observe resonances at around -12 ppm, which is typical for Ni-hydrides.⁴²⁻⁴⁴ Employing $ZniPr_2$ as the reducing agent, a resonance was observed at -12.0 ppm (A in Figure 5), whereas two signals at -11.5 and -13.5 ppm were found employing ZniPrBr as the reducing agent (B in Figure 5). In the benchtop experiment, it was found that ZniPrBr gave both *syn* and *anti* diastereomers of the product in a 1:1 ratio, whereas $ZniPr_2$ gave the *anti* coupling product in about 20:1 selectivity (compare Table 1). Therefore, we assign the two signals in B to two diastereomeric Ni-H complexes leading to *syn*-**17** and *anti*-**17**, and the signal in A to an intermediate Ni-H complex leading to *anti*-**17**.



Figure 5 ¹H NMR of Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling reaction with L16^a

^aReaction conditions: 0.01 mmol Ni(acac)₂ and 0.011 mmol **L16** were dissolved in toluene-d₈ at rt and the mixture stirred for 5 min. Then, 2.0 eq. $ZniPr_2$ (= **A**) or ZniPrBr (= **B**) (0.40 mmol) was added. Subsequently, 1.0 eq. isoprene (0.20 mmol) and 1.2 eq. benzaldehyde (0.24 mmol) were added.

The observation of nickel-hydride complexes as reaction intermediates in the Nicatalyzed reductive coupling reaction gives some evidence for the proposed mechanism (Scheme 9). To the best of our knowledge, no further study has been carried out so far to support this mechanism. Based on our detection of intermediate nickel-hydride complexes, we suggest that the mechanism does go via a nickel-hydride intermediate (such as **IV** in Scheme 9). However, since we observed two diastereomeric Ni-H complexes with Zn*i*PrBr, and only one with Zn*i*Pr₂ as the reducing agent, we suggest to adapt the scheme providing the reaction intermediates: since previously drawn intermediate **IV** shows a π -Ni-oxallyl compound that has no specified stereochemistry at the second stereocenter, **IV** should be replaced by the σ -Ni-oxallyl complex **IVa**. Complex **IVa** represents a resonance structure of **IV**, but displays the stereogenic center bearing the methyl group. Therefore, the *syn* and *anti* diastereomers of **IVa** should posess different chemical shifts in ¹H NMR.



Scheme 9 Some intermediates from the proposed mechanism

To further gain some insight in the catalytic intermediates of the Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling of isoprene and benzaldehyde, we carried out high resolution mass spectrometry (ESI-TOF) of the reaction mixture. However, no conclusive data could be obtained. We attribute this to the fact that the reaction intermediates as shown in Scheme 3 and Scheme 9 are not charged particles and therefore need to

be ionized first. Most probably the intermediate Ni-complexes fragment during ionization and therefore cannot give any further evidence with regards to the catalytic cycle.

4. Conclusions and Future Prospects

In conclusion, we have developed a new asymmetric Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling reaction of isoprene and benzaldehyde. We were able to demonstrate that a variety of chiral Ni complexes could catalyze this transformation, and that monodentate phosphorus-based ligands were beneficial for conversion to the desired products. In an extensive screening of phosphoramidite ligands we were able to identify some leading ligand structures, however, the maximal enantioselectivity in the envisaged reaction remained at 46% ee with **L16**. It should be noted though that unprecedented levels of diastereoselectivity favouring the *anti* product were achieved with some ligands, including *N*-heterocyclic carbene (NHC) ligands. Furthermore, the use of phosphoramidite and NHC ligands allowed for lowering the catalyst loading to 2 mol%.

Furthermore, it was shown that phosphoramidites bearing a second labile coordination moiety generally showed good results with regards to stereoselectivity. Along the same lines, it was shown that chiral diene ligands lead to effective Ni catalysts for the envisaged reductive coupling reaction. These findings could serve as a starting point for a more sophisticated ligand design. The nature of the reducing agent was also shown to be highly influencial on the outcome of the reaction, as the employment of dialkylzinc reagents was found to be beneficial in terms of product selectivity and stereoselectivity.

Based on Ni/phosphoramidite complexes, mechanistic studies showed that the reactions with different Ni precursors run via the same reaction intermediates or resting states, an observation consistent with our experimental findings. Second, ¹H NMR analysis of the reactions gave evidence for the presence of Ni-hydride species that had previously been postulated. We were able to produce evidence for a postulated nickel-hydride catalytic intermediate by means of ¹H NMR spectroscopy.

A good starting point for future research would be the investigation of chiral NHC ligands for the Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling reaction. It was demonstrated that these ligands lead to some *ee* in the coupling product in our case. Many

applications of chiral NHC complexes have been reported in the literature,⁴⁵⁻⁴⁹ leaving much room for further investigation and optimization of the Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling reactions with these chiral complexes.

As for the reaction itself, a further extension could be the study of the reductive coupling reaction of isoprene (**15**) to imines **25** or related structures (Scheme 10). Since it is expected that the intermediate amines would coordinate well to the Nicatalyst during the reaction, this could lead to higher enantioselectivity. The nonenantioselective variant has been reported in the literature, demonstrating that in principle Ni catalysts are able to catalyze these transformations.⁵⁰ Chiral secondary amines **26** with a 1,3-chiral motif could be valuable chiral building blocks for further functionalization.



Scheme 10 Suggested reductive coupling of isoprene with imines

5. Experimental Section

For general remarks, see Chapter 3. Ligands were prepared according to the literature procedures: $L3^{51}$, $L4^{52}$, $L5^{53}$, $L6^{54}$, $L7^{55}$, $L8^{55}$, $L9^{55}$, $L10^{56}$, $L11^{56}$, $L12^{57}$, $L13^{53}$, $L14^{26}$, $L15^{58}$, $L16^{59}$, $L17^{59}$, $L18^{53}$, $L19^{60}$, $L20^{29}$, $L21^{30}$, $L22^{30}$, $L23^{61}$, $L26^{31}$, $L27^{32}$, $L29^{35}$. L28 was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. L24 and L25 were kindly donated by DSM.

Ni-catalyzed reductive coupling reaction of isoprene and benzaldehyde

In a flame-dried Schlenck tube, 2.0 mol% Ni(acac)₂ (2.59 mg, 10.0 µmol) and 2.1 mol% **L16** (3.82 mg, 10.5 µmol) were dissolved in 2.5 mL dry toluene. Then, 1.00 eq. isoprene (**15**) (0.050 ml, 0.50 mmol) and benzaldehyde (**16**) (0.061 ml, 0.600 mmol) were added. Subsequently, 2.00 eq. diisopropylzinc solution (c = 0.5 M in toluene) (1.0 ml, 1.0 mmol) was added slowly. The colour changed from pale green via yellow to orange/red. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 2h (or until TLC and/or GC/MS showed full conversion). The reaction mixture was quenched with a sat. aq. solution of NH₄Cl (5 mL) and extracted with EtOAc (3x 10 mL). The combined organic phases were dried over MgSO₄ and all volatiles were removed *in vacuo*. The resulting yellow oil was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane / EtOAc 40:1, R_f = 0.60 in Pentane / EtOAc 10:1) to yield **17** (0.085 g, 0.480 mmol, 96%) as a colorless oil. The ligand screening described in Table 5

was carried out with half of the amounts given using stock solutions for Ni(acac)₂, Isoprene and Benzaldehvde in toluene.

Anti-3-methyl-1-phenylpent-4-en-1-ol (17)

¹H NMR (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.42 – 7.22 (m, 5H), 5.79 (ddd, J = 17.8, 10.2, 7.8 Hz, 1H), 5.09 - 4.91 (m, 2H), 4.73 (t, J = 6.8 Hz, 1H), 2.23 (dt, J =OH 13.7, 6.8 Hz, 1H), 1.97 (s (br), 1H), 1.95 - 1.77 (m, 1H), 1.67 (dt, J = 13.4, 4.8 Hz, 2H), 1.04 (d, J = 6.7, 3H). ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 144.67, 144.54, 128.46, 127.58, 126.01, 113.24, 73.04, 45.92, 35.18, 20.46. The enantiomeric excess anti-17 was determined by chiral GC or chiral HPLC. GC: CP-Chiralsil-

Dex-CB (25m x 0.25 mm), 95 °C isotherm. Retention times 61.5 min and 62.8 min. HPLC: (Chiralpak OD-H: n-heptane/2-propanol 99:1, 40 °C isotherm, 200 nm), retention times: 30.8 min, 34.6 min. GC/MS: 158 (17%), 143 (80%), 128 (73%), 120 (33%), 115 (33%), 107 (100%), 91 (23%), 79 (60%).

Syn-3-methyl-1-phenylpent-4-en-1-ol (17)

Isolated from the reaction with ZniPrBr as reducing agent (0.031 g, 0.175 mmol,

OH

syn-17

35%) as a colorless oil. Purification by column chromatography (SiO₂, pentane / EtOAc 40:1, Rf = 0.65 in pentane / EtOAc 10:1) gave 17 as a colorless oil. ¹H NMR (201 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.47 – 7.19 (m, 5H), 5.93 – 5.61 (m, 1H), 5.21 – 4.94 (m, 2H), 4.72 (dd, J = 9.2, 3.9 Hz, 1H), 2.55 – 2.28 (m, 1H), 1.87 (s (br), 1H), 1.86 – 1.71 (m, 1H), 1.60 (ddd, J = 13.7, 9.5, 4.0 Hz, 2H), 1.05 (d, J = 6.8 Hz,

3H). ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 145.11, 143.84, 128.45, 127.42, 125.70, 113.70, 72.32, 46.03, 34.87, 20.93. The enantiomeric excess was determined by chiral GC: CP-Chiralsil-Dex-CB (25m x 0.25 mm), 95 °C isotherm. Retention times 57.6 min and 61.6 min. GC/MS: 158 (19%), 143 (80%), 128 (82%), 120 (45%), 115 (41%), 107 (100%), 91 (24%), 79 (72%),

6. References

- Bower, J. F.; Kim, I. S.; Patman, R. L.; Krische, M. J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, (1) 48.34-46.
- Jang, H. Y.; Krische, M. J. Acc. Chem. Res. 2004, 37, 653-661. (2)
- (3) Jang, H. Y.; Krische, M. J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 3953-3958.
- Jeganmohan, M.; Cheng, C. H. Chem. Eur. J. 2008, 14, 10876-10886. (4)
- (5) Montgomery, J. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 467-473.
- Montgomery, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 3890-3908. (6)
- (7) Tamaru, Y. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 576, 215-231.
- (8) Ho, C. Y.; Schleicher, K. D.; Chan, C. W.; Jamison, T. F. Synlett 2009, 2565-2582.
- (9) Hess, W.; Treutwein, J.; Hilt, G. Synthesis 2008, 3537-3562.

232

- (10) Hilt, G.; Weske, D. F. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2009, 38, 3082-3091.
- (11) Huang, W. S.; Chan, J.; Jamison, T. F. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 4221-4223.
- (12) Tang, X. Q.; Montgomery, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 6950-6954.
- (13) Tang, X. Q.; Montgomery, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1999**, *121*, 6098-6099.
- (14) Miller, K. M.; Huang, W. S.; Jamison, T. F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2003**, *125*, 3442-3443.
- (15) Colby, E. A.; Jamison, T. F. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 156-166.
- (16) Chaulagain, M. R.; Sormunen, G. J.; Montgomery, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 9568-9569.
- (17) Yang, Y.; Zhu, S. F.; Duan, H. F.; Zhou, C. Y.; Wang, L. X.; Zhou, Q. L. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2007**, *129*, 2248-2249.
- (18) Also the previously mentioned examples represent a three component coupling reaction, as the hydride originates from the organometallic reagent after betahydride elimination. In the following, the term 'three component coupling' will designate reactions where the alkyl substituent of the organometallic reagent is transferred to the product as a whole, without undergoing beta-hydride elimination.
- (19) Yang, Y.; Zhu, S. F.; Zhou, C. Y.; Zhou, Q. L. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2008**, *130*, 14052-14053.
- (20) Kimura, M.; Ezoe, A.; Shibata, K.; Tamaru, Y. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1998**, *120*, 4033-4034.
- (21) Kimura, M.; Fujimatsu, H.; Ezoe, A.; Shibata, K.; Shimizu, M.; Matsumoto, S.; Tamaru, Y. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **1999**, *38*, 397-400.
- (22) Feringa, B. L. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 346-353.
- (23) Teichert, J. F.; Feringa, B. L. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 2486-2528.
- (24) Further investigation showed that the crucial temperature for the beta-hydride elimination to take place is around 10C.
- (25) Manolikakes, G.; Gavryushin, A.; Knochel, P. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73, 1429-1434.
- (26) Monti, C.; Gennari, C.; Piarulli, U.; de Vries, J. G.; de Vries, A. H. M.; Lefort, L. Chem. Eur. J. 2005, 11, 6701-6717.
- (27) Jagt, R. B. C.; Toullec, P. Y.; Geerdink, D.; de Vries, J. G.; Feringa, B. L.; Minnaard, A. J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2006**, *45*, 2789-2791.
- (28) Jagt, R. B. C.; Toullec, P. Y.; Schudde, E. P.; de Vries, J. G.; Feringa, B. L.; Minnaard, A. J. J. Comb. Chem. 2007, 9, 407-414.
- (29) Defieber, C.; Ariger, M. A.; Moriel, P.; Carreira, E. M. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2007**, *46*, 3139 3143.
- (30) Teichert, J. F.; Feringa, B. L. Synthesis 2010, 1200-1204.
- (31) Palais, L.; Mikhel, I. S.; Bournaud, C.; Micouin, L.; Falciola, C. A.; Vuagnouxd'Augustin, M.; Rosset, S.; Bernardinelli, G.; Alexakis, A. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2007**, *46*, 7462-7465.
- (32) Holt, J.; Maj, A. M.; Schudde, E. P.; Pietrusiewicz, K. M.; Sieron, L.; Wieczorek, W.; Jerphagnon, T.; Arends, I. E.; Hanefeld, U.; Minnaard, A. J. Synthesis 2009, 2061-2065.
- (33) Paquin, J. F.; Defieber, C.; Stephenson, C. R. J.; Carreira, E. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 10850-10851.
- (34) Defieber, C.; Grützmacher, H.; Carreira, E. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 4482-4502.
- (35) Herrmann, W. A.; Goossen, L. J.; Köcher, C.; Artus, G. R. J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1996, 35, 2805-2807.
- (36) Mynott, R.; Mollbach, A.; Wilke, G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1980, 199, 107-109.
- (37) Kermagoret, A.; Braunstein, P. Dalton Trans. 2008, 822-831.
- (38) Lejeune, M.; Semeril, D.; Jeunesse, C.; Matt, D.; Peruch, F.; Lutz, P. L.; Ricard, L. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2004**, *10*, 5354-5360.

- (39) Rufinska, A.; Goddard, R.; Weidenthaler, C.; Buhl, M.; Porschke, K. R. Organometallics 2006, 25, 2308-2330.
- (40) Nelson, J. H. Concept. Magnetic Res. 2002, 14, 19-78.
- (41) Nelson, J. H. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1995, 139, 245-280.
- (42) Liang, L. C.; Chien, P. S.; Lee, P. Y. Organometallics 2008, 27, 3082-3093.
- (43) Holscher, M.; Francio, G.; Leitner, W. Organometallics 2004, 23, 5606-5617.
- (44) Bertozzi, S.; Iannello, C.; Barretta, G. U.; Vitulli, G.; Lazzaroni, R.; Salvadori, P. *J. Mol. Cat.* **1992**, *77*, 1-6.
- (45) Fürstner, A.; Ackermann, L.; Gabor, B.; Goddard, R.; Lehmann, C. W.; Mynott, R.; Stelzer, F.; Thiel, O. R. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2001**, *7*, 3236-3253.
- (46) Cesar, V.; Bellemin-Laponnaz, S.; Gade, L. H. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2004**, *33*, 619-636.
- (47) Herrmann, W. A.; Schutz, J.; Frey, G. D.; Herdtweck, E. Organometallics 2006, 25, 2437-2448.
- (48) Nair, V.; Vellalath, S.; Babu, B. P. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2008, 37, 2691-2698.
- (49) Jerphagnon, T.; Pizzuti, M. G.; Minnaard, A. J.; Feringa, B. L. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2009**, *38*, 1039-1075.
- (50) Kimura, M.; Miyachi, A.; Kojima, K.; Tanaka, S.; Tamaru, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 14360-14361.
- (51) van den Berg, M.; Haak, R. M.; Minnaard, A. J.; de Vries, A. H. M.; de Vries, J. G.; Feringa, B. L. Adv. Synth. Cat. 2002, 344, 1003-1007.
- (52) Arnold, L. A.; Imbos, R.; Mandoli, A.; de Vries, A. H. M.; Naasz, R.; Feringa, B. L. *Tetrahedron* **2000**, *56*, 2865-2878.
- Bernsmann, H.; van den Berg, M.; Hoen, R.; Minnaard, A. J.; Mehler, G.; Reetz, M. T.; De Vries, J. G.; Feringa, B. L. *J. Org. Chem.* 2005, *70*, 943-951.
- (54) Smith, C. R.; Mans, D.; RajanBabu, T. V. Org. Synth. 2008, 85, 238-247.
- (55) Smith, C. R.; RajanBabu, T. V. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 1657-1659.
- (56) Rimkus, A.; Sewald, N. Synthesis 2004, 135-146.
- (57) Dalton, D. M.; Oberg, K. M.; Yu, R. T.; Lee, E. E.; Perreault, S.; Oinen, M. E.; Pease, M. L.; Malik, G.; Rovis, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 15717-15728.
- (58) Alexakis, A.; Rosset, S.; Allamand, J.; March, S.; Guillen, F.; Benhaim, C. *Synlett* **2001**, 1375-1378.
- (59) Hoen, R.; van den Berg, M.; Bernsmann, H.; Minnaard, A. J.; de Vries, J. G.; Feringa, B. L. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 1433-1436.
- (60) Pfretzschner, T.; Kleemann, L.; Janza, B.; Harms, K.; Schrader, T. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2004**, *10*, 6048-6057.
- (61) Jiang, X. B.; Lefort, L.; Goudriaan, P. E.; de Vries, A. H. M.; van Leeuwen, P.; de Vries, J. G.; Reek, J. N. H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 1223-1227.

English Summary

Heterocycles are ubiquitous structural features of naturally occurring and/or biologically active chemical compounds. Among these, nitrogen- and oxygencontaining heterocycles with various ring sizes bearing stereogenic centers are frequently observed. The selective construction of these stereogenic centers imposes a particular challenge for chemists.

In this work, a variety of synthetic approaches towards nitrogen- and oxygencontaining heterocycles have been developed. All methods developed rely on asymmetric transition metal catalysis. These methodologies bear the advantage that both enantiomers of an envisaged product are accessible, since - in most cases - both enantiomers of the chiral catalysts are available. Literature-known asymmetric transformations have been applied to new targets to open up new routes to chiral heterocyclic compounds, but also new methodologies have been developed. In general, the approaches investigated during this work fall into three different categories:

- 1) The installation of the stereocenter of interest on a linear substrate followed by the construction of the ring through a later transformation (*e.g.* ring-closing metathesis). (see Chapters 2, 5)
- An asymmetric ring-closing reaction is carried out, which furnishes both the stereocenter and the ring structure in the same transformation. (see Chapters 3, 4)
- 3) A catalytic asymmetric reaction on a prochiral heterocyclic structure is carried out. (see Chapter 6)

In Chapter 2, the application of iridium-catalyzed allylic amination of allylic carbonates with ammonia has been used to construct 2,5-arylpyrrolidines. These products are used as chiral auxiliaries, organocatalysts and as key structural motifs of phosphoramidite ligands. Ammonia as nitrogen source is a cheap, atom-economic nucleophile. In the course of the reaction, a double allylic amination takes place, as the first addition product, a primary amine, is much more reactive than ammonia and directly undergoes a subsequent reaction with another allylic carbonate molecule. This particular reaction pathway is exploited, as the resulting chiral secondary amine - available in excellent yields and stereoselectivities - can be further transformed to a pyrroline by ring-closing metathesis. The desired products are obtained by a mild and selective organocatalytic reduction with a flavin-derived catalyst. During the course of this research, the latter catalytic transformation has been optimized and a new reaction protocol was developed.







1.) ring-closing metathesis 2.) organocatalytic reduction



Chapter 3 marks one of the highlights of the present work. It describes the development of the first intramolecular asymmetric Ir-catalyzed allylic amidation. This methodology employs chiral Ir/phosphoramidite complexes and exploits the use of the trifluoroacetamide group both as a protecting group in the preparation of the allylic carbonates as well as nucleophiles for the key asymmetric Ir-catalyzed reaction. This transformation furnishes chiral tetrahydroisoquinolines and saturated nitrogen heterocyclic compounds in a highly stereoselective fashion. The products are useful building blocks, as they can easily be modified through the terminal olefin, which has been demonstrated in two attempted syntheses of a naturally occurring compound, Crispine A, as well as a biologically active compound, Almorexant.



The attempted extension of allylic amidation methodology to the preparation of chiral β -carboline compounds is described in chapter 4. Even though ultimately the desired transformation could not be rendered feasible, a number of synthetic approaches to substituted indole compounds are presented. These investigations gave important insights that influenced the development of the asymmetric allylic amidation presented in chapter 3. Finally, the desired products could be prepared in a racemic fashion via a non-catalyzed pathway.



In Chapter 5, the development of a new entry to nitrogen heterocycles with various ring sizes is presented. Here, a similar approach to the one in chapter 2 is followed.

An allylic substitution reaction furnishes a stereogenic center and a terminal double bond of which the latter is subsequently employed for the construction of a heterocycle through a metathesis reaction. By combining copper-catalyzed allylic substitution reactions with Grignard reagents with a subsequent olefin or ene-yne ring-closing metathesis the corresponding chiral products are available in excellent stereoselectivities. One advantage of this variable approach is that six- to eightmembered heterocycles become available. The products from the ene-yne metathesis bear a diene motif, which is perfectly suited for further modifications. It has been demonstrated that his methodology can been extended to the construction of chiral lactams, however, some more investigations are needed to improve yields and enantioselectivities.



In Chapter 6, another approach to chiral heterocycles is taken, as in this case the starting materials already possess a heterocycle: the development of an asymmetric copper-catalyzed conjugate addition reaction of Grignard reagents to coumarins is presented. These substrates had been elusive for this particular catalytic transformation, since they are relatively unreactive towards Michael addition. However, through judicious choice of ligands, the corresponding chiral lactones are accessible in excellent stereoselectivities. One important feature of this transformation was discovered in the course of the investigations: the intermediate chiral magnesium enolates can be trapped with amines or alcohols to give the ring-opened phenol-derived chiral esters and amides. On the one hand, these particular chiral esters were previously not accessible, on the other hand, this marks the development of a new formal asymmetric conjugate addition to amides.



The research described in chapter 7 was directed towards the development of an asymmetric nickel-catalyzed reductive coupling of dienes with aldehydes yielding chiral bis-homoallylic alcohols. One of the major advantages of this reaction is that it generates two stereocenters in one catalytic transformation. The chiral products are highly functional and perfectly suited for further modification through their terminal olefin, the alcohol and the aromatic group. It was found that chiral nickel complexes with monodentate phosphoramidite or *N*-heterocyclic carbene ligands

lead to the desired products in unprecedented diastereoselectivity, but with only moderate enantioselectivity. ¹H NMR and ³¹P NMR studies were carried out to provide some evidence for the postulated reaction mechanism via nickel-hydride complexes.



Nederlandse Samenvatting

Heterocyclische substructuren zijn in een groot aantal in de natuur voorkomende en/of biologisch actieve chemische stoffen te vinden. In de natuur komt men vaak stik- en zuurstof bevattende heterocycli van verschillende ring groottes tegen die een stereocentrum in de ring hebben. Vooral het selectief maken van deze stereocentra in heterocycli is een grote uitdaging voor chemici.

In dit proefschrift wordt de ontwikkeling van een verscheidenheid aan synthetische methoden beschreven die het mogelijk maken stik- en zuurstof bevattende heterocycli te synthetiseren. Asymmetrische katalyse, gebruik makend van overgangsmetalen, wordt in de hier beschreven methoden gebruikt voor het vormen van het gewenste stereocentrum. Een attractief aspect van de nieuw ontwikkelde methoden is dat via deze nieuwe methoden beide enantiomeren van het product gesynthetiseerd kunnen worden, aangezien -in de meeste gevallenbeide enantiomeren van de chirale katalysatoren beschikbaar zijn. Naast het toepassen van in de literatuur bekende asymmetrische transformaties op nieuwe uitgangsstoffen, om op deze manier nieuwe routes te ontwikkelen voor de synthese van chirale heterocyclische stoffen, zijn in dit proefschrift ook nieuwe methoden ontwikkeld voor het synthetiseren van deze klasse van verbindingen. De beschreven methoden kunnen worden onderverdeeld in drie categoriën:

- Eerst wordt een stereocentrum in een lineair substraat geintroduceerd, waarna in een opvolgende reactie de ring gevormd wordt (bijvoorbeeld via 'ringclosing metathesis'). (Zie hoofdstukken 2 en 5)
- Een asymmetrische ring-sluitende reactie wordt uitgevoerd om én het stereocentrum én de ring structuur te vormen in een enkele transformatie. (Zie hoofdstukken 3 en 4)
- 3) Een katalytische asymmetrische reactie wordt uitgevoerd op een prochiraal heterocyclisch substraat. (Zie hoofdstuk 6)

In hoofdstuk 2 wordt iridium-gekatalyseerde allylische aminering van allylische carbonaten met ammonium als nucleofiel gebruikt om 2,5-arylpyrrolidines te synthetiseren. De gevormde producten worden gebruikt als chirale 'auxiliaries', als organokatalysatoren en als de belangrijkste structuureenheid van verscheidene fosforamidiet liganden. Het gebruik van ammonium als stikstof nucleofiel is én kostenefficiënt én atoom efficiënt. Tijdens de reactie vindt een dubbele aminering plaats waarbij als eerste additieproduct een primair amine gevormd wordt. Dit primaire amine is veel reactiever dan ammonium en voert direct de volgende additie uit aan een ander allylisch carbonaat molecuul. Deze specifieke manier van synthese wordt gebruikt omdat het aldus gevormde chirale secondaire amine -dat wordt verkregen met excellente opbrengst en selectiviteit- via een 'ring-closing metathesis' kan worden omgezet naar het pyrroline. Het gewenste eindproduct wordt vervolgens verkregen door het gebruik van een milde en selectieve organocatalytische reductie met een katalysator wiens structuur gebaseerd is op flavine. Tijdens het hier beschreven onderzoek werd de laatstgenoemde

gekatalyseerde transformatie geoptimaliseerd en werd er voor deze omzetting een nieuw reactieprotocol ontwikkeld.



Hoofdstuk 3 is een van de hoogtepunten van het hier beschreven werk. In dit hoofdstuk wordt de ontwikkeling van de eerste intramoleculaire asymmetrische Irgekatalyseerde allylische amidering beschreven. Voor deze transformatie worden chirale Ir/fosforamidiet complexen gebruikt als katalysator. Verder wordt de trifluoroacetamide groep gebruikt als beschermgroep én als nucleofiel voor de asymmetrische Ir-gekatalyseerde reactie. De ontwikkelde transformatie vormt chirale tetrahydroisoquinolines en verzadigde stikstof-bevattende heterocyclische verbindingen met uitstekende stereoselectiviteit. De producten zijn bruikbare chemische bouwstenen en kunnen bovendien makkelijk verder worden gefunctionaliseerd door het omzetten van het eindstandige olefine. De vele mogelijkheden voor het gebruik van deze producten wordt geillustreerd door twee, ondernomen maar niet voltooide, syntheseroutes van een in de natuur voorkomende stof, crispine A, en de synthese van een biologisch actieve stof, Almorexant.



Pogingen tot het gebruik van de ontwikkelde allylische amiderings methodologie voor de vorming van β -carboline verbindingen worden beschreven in hoofdstuk 4. Ondanks dat het uiteindelijke doel, een asymmetrische formatie van de gewenste verbindingen, niet haalbaar bleek, worden toch een aantal syntheseroutes voor het vormen van indol verbindingen beschreven. De studies naar de asymmetrische transformatie hebben ook tot belangrijke inzichten geleid die het mogelijk maakten om de asymmetrische allylische amidering te ontwikkelen die is beschreven in hoofdstuk 3. Uiteindelijk is het ook gelukt om de gewenste produkten racemisch te synthetiseren via een niet-gekatalyseerde route.



In hoofdstuk 5 wordt een nieuwe route voor het synthetiseren van stikstof heterocycli gepresenteerd. Voor deze nieuwe route wordt een aanpak gebruikt die erg lijkt op de aanpak beschreven in hoofdstuk 2. Een allylische substitutie reactie geeft een stereogeen centrum én een eindstandige dubbele binding, waarna het gevormde olefine wordt gebruikt om een heterocyclisch product te vormen door middel van een metathese reactie. Door de koper-gekatalyseerde allylische substitutie reactie met Grignard reagentia te combineren met een opeenvolgende olefinische of een-yn 'ring-closing metathesis' worden de overeenkomstige chirale producten verkregen met excellente stereoselectiviteit. Een voordeel van de modulaire aanpak is dat heterocycli met een grootte van zes tot acht atomen gevormd kunnen worden. Verder kunnen de gevormde producten van de een-yn metatheses, die een dieen functionele groep bezitten, makkelijk verder worden gefunctionaliseerd. Ook wordt gedemonstreerd dat deze methodologie kan worden gebruikt om chirale lactamen te vormen, wel moet door verder onderzoek de opbrengsten en selectiviteiten van de laatst genoemde reacties worden verbeterd.



In hoofdstuk 6 wordt gebruik gemaakt van een andere aanpak om chirale heterocycli te vormen. In dit hoofdstuk wordt beschreven hoe door middel van een koper-gekatalyseerde asymmetrische geconjugeerde additie reactie van Grignard reagentia aan coumarines, waarbij het substraat dus al een heterocyclus is, chirale heterocycli gevormd worden. De gekozen substraten werden nog niet gebruikt voor dit soort katalytische transformaties aangezien de coumarines een relatief lage reactiviteit als Michael acceptor hebben. Door het kiezen van de juiste katalysator kunnen de overeenkomstige chirale lactonen worden verkegen met excellente stereoselectiviteit. Een belangrijke eigenschap van deze transformatie werd ontdekt tijdens dit onderzoek: het chirale magnesium enolaat, dat gevormd wordt als intermediair, kan in-situ verder reageren met alcoholen of amines tot ring geopende chirale phenol esters en amides. Voor deze specifieke ring geopende chirale esters bestond nog geen syntheseroute voordat dit onderzoek plaatsvond.
Verder betekend de ring-opening door amines de eerste in literatuur beschreven formele asymmetrische geconjugeerde additie aan amides.



Het onderzoek dat beschreven wordt in hoofdstuk 7 was gericht op het ontwikkelen van een asymmetrische nikkel-gekatalyseerde reductieve koppeling van diënen met aldehyden dat zou moeten leiden tot chirale bis-homoallylische alcoholen. Een van de grote voordelen van deze reactie is dat twee stereocentra in één gekatalyseerde transformatie gevormd worden. De chirale producten zijn verscheidende malen gefunctionaliseerd en uitstekend geschikt voor verdere modificatie via het eindstandige olefine, het alcohol en de aromatische groep. Het werd ontdekt dat de chirale nikkel complexen met monodentaat fosforamidiet of *N*-heterocyclische carbeen liganden leiden tot het gewenste product met een nog nooit vertoonde hoge diastereoselectiveit, maar met slechts middelmatige enantioselectiveit. ¹H NMR en ³¹P NMR studies werden uitgevoerd om bewijs voor het gepostuleerde mechanisme via nikkel-hydride complexen te verkrijgen.



Deutsche Zusammenfassung

Heterozyklische Strukturelemente sind in einer großen Anzahl in natürlich vorkommenden und/oder biologisch aktiven Substanzen zu finden. Darunter finden sich häufig stickstoff- oder sauerstoffhaltige Ringsysteme variabler Größe mit Stereozentren. Der selektive Aufbau letzterer stellt eine Herausforderung für die organische Synthese dar.

In der vorliegenden Arbeit ist die Entwicklung synthetischer Routen zur Konstruktion stickstoff- und sauerstoffhaltiger chiraler Heterozyklen beschrieben. Alle angewandten Synthesestrategien greifen auf die asymmetrische Katalyse mit Übergangsmetallen zurück. Dies ermöglicht den selektiven Aufbau beider Enantiomere des gewünschten Stereozentrums, da in den hier diskutierten Fällen beide Enantiomere des jeweils verwendeten chiralen Liganden erhältlich sind. Dies stellt einen deutlichen Vorteil gegenüber anderen asymmetrischen Synthesemethoden, wie z.B. des Rückgriffs auf den "chiral pool" dar. In dieser Arbeit wurden sowohl literaturbekannte Synthesemethoden auf neue Substrate angewendet als auch neue Methoden für die Synthese von heterozyklischen Verbindungen entwickelt. Die Synthesewege lassen sich in drei Kategorien klassifizieren:

- Die Konstruktion des gewünschten Stereozentrums an einem linearen Substrat, welches in der Folge durch Ringschlussreaktionen (wie z.B. der Ringschlussmetathese) zu einem Heterozyklus umgesetzt wurde (siehe Kapitel 2 und 5).
- 2) Sowohl das Stereozentrum als auch der Heterozyklus werden in einer einzigen Reaktion aufgebaut (siehe Kapitel 3 und 4).
- 3) Eine katalytisch asymmetrische Transformation an einem prochiralen Heterozyklus wird durchgeführt (siehe Kapitel 6).

In Kapitel 2 wird die Synthese von 2,5-Diraylpyrrolidinen mittels asymmetrischer iridium-katalysierter allylischer Aminierung von Allylcarbonaten mit Ammoniak beschrieben. Die so zugänglichen Produkte finden als chirale Auxiliare, Organokatalvsatoren sowie Schlüsselbestandteile von chiralen Phosphoramiditliganden Anwendung in der organischen Chemie. Die Verwendung von Ammoniak als Stickstoffnukleophil ist vorteilhaft, da es günstig und atomökonomisch ist. Im Verlauf der Reaktion kommt es zu einer zweifachen allylischen Aminierung, da das intermediär auftretende primäre Amin ein deutlich besseres Nukleophil als Ammoniak ist und sofort mit einem weiteren Äquivalent Allylcarbonat abreagiert. In unserem Fall ist dieser Reaktionsweg erwünscht, da das resultierende chirale sekundäre Amin – zugänglich in exzellenten Stereoselektivitäten und sehr guter Ausbeute – mittels Ringschlussmetathese zu einem chiralen Pyrrolidin umgesetzt werden kann. Die Synthese der gewünschten chiralen Pyrrolidine wird durch eine organokatalytische Olefinreduktion mit einem Flavinderivat abgeschlossen. Letztere Reaktion wurde anhand der vorliegenden Reaktion optimiert und daraus ein neues Reaktionsprotokoll entwickelt.





Ein Höhepunkt der vorliegenden Arbeit ist in Kapitel 3 beschrieben. Dort wird die Entwicklung der ersten asymmetrischen intramolekularen iridiumkatalysierten allylischen Amidierung vorgestellt. Diese neue Methode basiert auf der Verwendung von chiralen Iridium-phosphoramiditkomplexen sowie der Ausnutzung der Reaktivität der Trifluoracetamidgruppe als Schutzgruppe zum einen und als Nukleophil in der allylischen Amidierung zum anderen. Die Zielmoleküle dieser Umsetzung, chirale Tetrahydroisoquinoline und gesättigte Stickstoffheterozyklen, sind mit sehr guter Stereoselektivität zugänglich. Beide Produktklassen stellen nützliche Synthesebausteine dar, da sie durch die terminalen Olefine leicht zu modifizieren sind. Die Vielseitigkeit dieser Moleküle wurde in zwei versuchten Synthesen eines natürlich vorkommenden Alkaloid, Crispine A, sowie eines Arzneistoffs, Almorexant, demonstriert.



Die angestrebte Erweiterung dieser Methode auf die Synthese von chiralen β -Carbolinverbindungen ist in Kapitel 4 beschrieben. Auch wenn letztendlich die gewünschte Umsetzung nicht erreicht wurde, stellt dieses Kapitel einige mögliche Ansätze für die Synthese von substituierten Indolverbindungen vor. Diese Untersuchungen ergaben wichtige Erkenntnisse, die sich auch für die Entwicklung der in Kapitel 3 vorgestellten Tetrahydroisoquinolinsynthese wertvoll erwiesen haben. Die angestrebten β -Carbolinverbindungen konnten letztendlich auf einem nicht-katalysierten Syntheseweg in racemischer Form hergestellt werden.



In Kapitel 5 wird die Entwicklung einer neuen Synthese von chiralen Stickstoffheterozyklen variaber Ringgröße diskutiert. Ähnlich der in Kapitel 2 vorgestellten Syntheseroute wird hier zunächst ein Stereozentrum an einem linearen Substrat mittels asymmetrischer allylischer Substitution eingeführt, wonach das Ringsystem per Metathese aufgebaut wird. Diese wird durch die terminale Doppelbindung, das Produkt der allvlischen Substitution, ermöglicht, Die Kombination von asymmetrischer kupferkatalysierter allylischer Alkylierung mit Ringschlussmetathese liefert die aewünschten sechsbis achtaliedrigen Heterozvklen in exzellenten Stereoselektivitäten. Diese Variabilität der Syntheseroute stellt einen großen Vorteil dar. Falls eine Enin-metathese verwendet wird, entstehen Heterozyklen mit einem Dienmotiv, welches sich gut für die spätere Funktionalisierung, z.B. durch eine Diels-Alder-Reaktion, eignet. Es konnte gezeigt werden, dass sich diese Methode auch auf die Synthese von chiralen Laktonen erweitern lässt. Allerdings sind weitere Untersuchungen notwendig, um die Ausbeuten und Stereoselektivitäten dieser Umsetzung zu verbessern.



Kapitel 6 beschreibt die Entwicklung einer asymmetrischen kupferkatalysierten konjugierten Additionsreaktion von Grignardreagenzien an Coumarinderivate. Coumarine konnten bisher nicht mit diesem Reaktionstyp umgesetzt werden, da sie verhältnismäßig reaktionsträge sind. Durch die richtige Ligandenwahl sind die Additionsprodukte jedoch in guten Stereoselektivitäten und Ausbeuten erhältlich. Während der Untersuchung dieser Reaktion wurde eine weitere Eigenschaft dieser Substratklasse entdeckt: Die intermediären chiralen Magnesiumenolate lassen sich mit Aminen oder Alkoholen per Ringöffnungsreaktion zu den entsprechenden *ortho*-Phenolestern oder –amiden umsetzen. Zum einen waren diese Ester mit der bisher bekannten Methode nicht herstellbar und zum anderen stellt dies eine neue formale konjugierte Additionsreaktion an α , β -ungesättigte Amide dar.



Im letzten Abschnitt dieser Arbeit (Kapitel 7) werden die Untersuchungen zur Entwicklung einer neuen nickelkatalysierten reduktiven Kupplungsreaktion von Dienen mit Aldehyden zur Herstellung von chiralen Bishomoallylalkoholen vorgestellt. Ein großer Vorteil dieser Reaktion ist die Tatsache, dass in dieser katalytischen Umsetzung zwei Stereozentren zugleich aufgebaut werden können. Die chiralen Produkte sind durch das terminale Olefin, den sekundären Alkohol sowie durch den Aromaten hochfunktional und damit wertvolle chirale Chirale Nickelkomplexe mit Phosphoramidit- oder Synthesebausteine. Nheterozyklischen Carbenliganden konnten als sinnvolle Katalysatoren zur Herstellung der gewünschten Produkte identifiziert werden. Diese konnten mit exzellenter Diastereoselektivität, jedoch mit nur mäßiger Enantioselektivität isoliert werden. ¹H NMR- und ³¹P NMR-Studien der Reaktion konnten wichtige Messdaten Unterstützung des vorgeschlagenen Reaktionsmechanismus zur via Nickelhydridkomplexe liefern.

Acknowledgements

The work summarized in this book would not have been possible without the help and input of a lot of people. Furthermore, my personal development would not have been the way it has been without them.

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisor Ben Feringa, for giving me the opportunity to work under his guidance and in the research surrounding that he creates. Ben, your enthusiasm about science has taught me a lot, and without it many days in the last four and a half years would have been less enjoyable. Also, the support not only in difficult times was crucial. The way you bring people together and encourage scientific discussions is unique, and I certainly have and will profit from it.

I would also like to thank Adri Minnaard, who I feel has been like a second promotor to me. It was always possible to approach you with questions and discuss scientific problems. Many of the findings in this book came together with your help, and I am very grateful for all the things you have taught me.

I acknowledge the members of my reading committee, Prof. Günter Helmchen, Prof. Adri Minnaard and Prof. Gerard Roelfes for their quick corrections and their suggestions for the manuscript.

A number of people have been very special to me during my time in Groningen, either in a personal or scientific way, in most cases both, and I would like to say thank you for the time we spent together to: Mike, Steve, Koen, Jérôme, Tati and Bjorn.

I would like to thank my friends and members of the workweek committee 2009, Lachlan and Pieter, for holding out with the organization of the "worstweek". I think we put together a great program and I enjoyed it a lot, especially the organization dinners. I am very happy about the workweek and I appreciate our friendship deeply.

I have had the pleasure to work in the most infamous of all labrooms: Vyscom! All past and present inhabitants I would like to acknowledge here for creating the best possible working atmosphere, including all those things that bring about that special feeling of Vyscom. Tieme (also for teaching me the first dutch sentence), Qian, Jeroen, Gabriella (it took me a while to accept electronic music – but I think I am cured now), Chris, Maria, Manuel, Peter, Miro, Felix, Dorus, Simon and Cati. Especially I would like to thank those three gentlemen, with whom I have spent the most time in the lab: Thomas, thank you for the time together, and for everything you have taught me about organometallic chemistry and reaggae music. Bas, thanks a lot for so many things, including how to give the right introductory speech to students in the practical courses and teaching me what it means to be Sheriff of Vyscom ("You can take a man out of Vyscom, but you can never take Vyscom out of a man."). Ashoka, through your presence I have learned many things about you, but certainly many things about myself as well. It was a pleasure working alongside all of you.

A big thank you to all the people in the other labs, and I am sure I forgot a few here. You guys have been special to me and made the time in the lab and the office most enjoyable: Aditya, Danny, Miriam, Jeffrey B. (2x), Eva, Francesca (2x), Davide, David and Karelle, Nataša, Pieter, Bjorn, Nicolas, Jérôme, Martín, Stella, Céline, Bin, Wiktor, Valentin, Alena, Anne, Annick, Bea, Tati, Toon, Jack, Wim, Massimo, Lachlan, Pieter, Núria, Tim (also for the big help you have been with all the things in Zürich and the moving), Tiziana, Lorina, Fiora, Steve, Hella, Barbara, Chris, Nop, Jochem, Jurica, Johan, Arjen, Jos, Hans, Robert (also for for joining me to the choir), Wesley, Manolo, Petra, Tibor, Nathalie, Jetsuda, Arnaud, Jort, Mike, Steve, and Koen. To all the members of the asymmetric catalysis subgroup thank you for your endless help and all the useful discussions, both of which I have both highly depended upon.

With most of the research work I was helped by other members of the lab. Thomas, Martín and Jose, thank you for collaborating with me. I especially thank Stella, whom I had the honour of guiding through her master thesis. You have done an excellent job and your work came out to be one of the chapters in this book. I wish you all the best with your future and your career, which I have no doubts will be successful.

Lachlan, Alena, Martín and Wiktor I would like to acknowledge for the proofreading of the manuscript and all the useful suggestions. Pieter and Nop, thanks for all your help with the design of the cover of this book. Tim and Pieter, many thanks for the last-minute dutch translations.

During my time I had the pleasure to supervise three HBO students with their master research: Martin, Simon, and Dorus. Thank you all for the time in the lab and the patience with my corrections. I wish you all the best for your future.

A great pleasure for me were the Tuesday evenings with the FC Venus 69, formerly known as the football subgroup, which has grown to be an institution in the lab. Thank you guys, especially to the manager, Danny. Somehow, it is still difficult for me to score goals...

No Wednesday night would be complete without the pubquiz team of Pimpmaster Fred & the magic sticks around it's leader Jochem. Thanks a lot for all the fun we had together and (with the earlier teammates) teaching me dutch. That the nights normally did not end at the Toeter is partly due to Jochem, and I have enjoyed the late night discussions with you a lot.

All the members of the choir "A Capelli" I would like to thank for the great joy of making music together with you, and for being patient while teaching me dutch. You guys are one of the things I will miss the most when I leave Groningen.

I would like to thank Aditya and Ashoka for putting together an extremely eventful and enjoyable trip to India. It was wonderful travelling with you through your home country. Thanks a lot for all your efforts.

Ein großer Dank geht an meine Familie, ohne eure Unterstützung wäre diese Arbeit so nicht möglich gewesen. Vielen Dank für eure Großzügigkeit in so vielerlei Hinsicht. Am Schluss, Danke Judit. Es fällt mir schwer, an dieser Stelle die richtigen Worte zu finden. Vielen Dank für die tolle gemeinsame Zeit bisher. Die letzen viereinhalb Jahre sind nicht immer leicht gewesen, aber deine stete Zuneigung und Unterstützung haben mich durch die schwierigen Tage getragen. Ich möchte die Zeit mit dir nicht missen wollen und freue mich, dass wir endlich zusammen am gleichen Ort wohnen können. *Without you it's a waste of time...*

The book is finished:

I especially enjoyed this one, let's see what's next...

Johannes